
By receiving this Agenda Pack electronically you have saved the Authority approx. £5.93 in printing costs

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg

AGENDA

Committee PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date and Time 
of Meeting

WEDNESDAY, 13 JUNE 2018, 1.30 PM

Venue COMMITTEE ROOM 4 - COUNTY HALL

Membership Councillor Keith Jones (Chair)
Councillors Lay, Ahmed, Asghar Ali, Congreve, Driscoll, Gordon, 
Hudson, Jacobsen, Jones-Pritchard and Murphy

1  Apologies for Absence

2  Appointment of Chairperson & Deputy Chairperson

To note that at the Annual Council Meeting on 24 May 2018, appointed Councillor 
Keith Jones as Chairperson of this Committee and Councillor Chris Lay as the 
Deputy Chairperson of this Committee.

3  Appointment of Committee and Terms of Reference

The Annual Council meeting on 24 May 2018, appointed this Committee with the 
following Membership and Term of Reference.

Membership:

Councillors Ahmed, Asghar Ali, Congreve, Driscoll, Gordon, Hudson, Jacobson, 
Keith Jones, Jones-Pritchard, Lay, Murphy and Sattar.

Terms of Reference:

Those functions listed in Section A of Schedule 1 of the Local Authorities 
Executive Arrangements (Function and Responsibilities) (Wales) Regulations 
2001 and any amendments thereto and any matters ancillary thereto as defined in 
Regulation 4(2) to (6) of the Regulations.

Those functions listed in paragraphs 1 – 12 of Section 1 of Schedule 1 of the 
Local Authorities Executive Arrangements (Function and Responsibilities) (Wales) 
Regulations 2001 and any amendments thereto and any matters ancillary thereto 
as defined in Regulation 4(2) to (6) of the Regulations.



This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg

4  Minutes

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 9 May 2018

5  Declarations of Interest

To be made at the commencement of the agenda item in question, in accordance 
with the Members Code of Conduct.

6  Petitions

Petitions have been received in relation to the following applications in 
accordance with  Committee Meeting Procedural Rule 14.2.  The petitioners have 
been advised of their right to speak and the applicants/agents of their right to 
reply:

18/762/MNR – 304A Caerphilly Road, Birchgrove, Cardiff, CF14 4ND

7  Development Control Applications

a  304A Caerphilly Road, Birchgrove, Cardiff, CF14 4NS

b  42 Treherbert Street, Cathays, Cardiff, CF24 4JN

c  Land at Rover Way, Pengam, Cardiff

8  Applications decided by Delegated Powers - May 2018

9  Urgent Items (if any)

10  Date of next meeting - 11 July 2018

Davina Fiore
Director Governance & Legal Services
Date:  Thursday, 7 June 2018
Contact:  Kate Rees, 029 2087 2427, krees@cardiff.gov.uk



This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg

WEBCASTING 

This meeting will be filmed for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the 
Council’s website.  The whole of the meeting will be filmed, except 

where there are confidential or exempt items, and the footage will be on 
the website for 6 months.  A copy of it will also be retained in 

accordance with the Council’s data retention policy.

If you make a representation to the meeting you will be deemed to have 
consented to being filmed.  By entering the body of the Chamber you 
are also consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those 

images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes.  
If you do not wish to have your image captured you should sit in the 

public gallery area.

If you have any queries regarding webcasting of meetings, please 
contact Committee Services on 02920 872020 or 

email Democratic Services

mailto:democraticservices@cardiff.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg

PLANNING COMMITTEE

9 MAY 2018

Present: Councillor Keith Jones(Chairperson)
Councillors Gordon, Ahmed, Asghar Ali, Congreve, Driscoll, 
Hudson, Jacobsen, Jones-Pritchard and Lay

85 :   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Councillor Goddard and Lay 

86 :   MINUTES 

The minutes of the 19 April 2018 were approved as a correct record. 

87 :   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

None

88 :   PETITIONS 

Application, Land at De Clare Drive, Radyr 

In relation to the above the petitioner spoke and the agent replied. 

89 :   DEVELOPMENT CONTROL APPLICATIONS 

The Committee considered the schedule of development control applications 
submitted in accordance with the Town & Country Planning Act 1990: RESOLVED: 
That pursuant to this Committee’s delegated powers the following development 
control applications be determined in accordance with recommendations as set out in 
the report of the Director of City Operations subject to any further amendments as 
detailed below and notification be given of the decision in accordance with Section 74 
of the Planning (Listed Building & Conservation Area Act 1990).

APPLICATIONS GRANTED ON EXECUTION OF A 
PLANNING OBLIGATION UNDER SECTIONN 106 OF THE 
TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990:

17/03026/MJR – CATHAYS 

LAND AT JUNCTION OF NORTH ROAD AND MAINDY ROAD
Total demolition of the existing buildings and redevelopment for student 
accommodation (approx. 3.644M2) comprising studios and clusters, common 
amenity areas, external open space amenity areas, 1 no A1/A3 unit and associated 
landscaping and highways works. 

Subject to an amendment to Condition 2 to read:

Agenda Item 4



This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg

‘Documents – Bat Scoping Survey Report’

Subject to an amendment to Condition 11:

‘Removal of the word “highway” from penultimate line’

Subject to an amendment to Condition 19:

‘Deletion of (i) not required and renumbering remaining points’

Subject  to an amendment to Condition 21:

‘Reference to Condition 17 should be Condition 20’

17/03034/MJR – RADYR

LAND AT DE CLARE DRIVE
Erection of 36 affordable housing units, bin store, buggy and bicycle store, surface 
level car park and associated works.

Subject to an amendment to Condition 11 to read:

‘Beneficial occupation shall not take place until details…’

Subject to an amendment to Condition 15:

‘Deletion of (i) not required and renumbering remaining points’

APPLICATIONS REFUSED

18/00034/MNR – CANTON

105 ROMILLY ROAD
Change of use from 3 bed dwelling to 7 bed HMO and construct single storey 
extension and dormer loft conversion.

REASON:

1. The proposal will further exacerbate the unacceptable cumulative adverse 
impacts on the amenities of the area by virtue of:

 A higher number of transient residents leading towards less community 
cohesion and undermining the objectives of securing a sustainable mixed 
use community, contrary to Policy KP5 (Good Quality and Sustainable 
Design) and H5 (Sub-Division or Conversion of Residential Properties of 
the Cardiff Local Development Plan (2006-2026) and the Houses in 
Multiple Occupation (HMOs) Supplementary Planning Guidance (2016)



This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg

 A higher portion of transient residents leading to an increase of cumulative 
demand on social, community and physical infrastructure, contrary to 
Policy KP5 (Good Quality and Sustainable Design) and H5 (Sub-Division 
or Conversion of Residential Properties of the Cardiff Local Development 
Plan (2006-2016) and the Houses bin Multiple Occupation (HMOs) 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (2016). 

2. The change of use of the property from a C3 dwelling to C4 House in Multiple 
Occupation will further exacerbate the negative impacts caused by Houses in 
Multiple Occupation in respect of crime and antisocial behaviour, contrary to 
Policy H5 (Sub-Division or Conversion of Residential Properties of the Cardiff 
Local Development Plan (2006-2026) and the Houses in Multiple Occupation 
(HMOs) Supplementary Planning Guidance (2016).

90 :   APPLICATIONS DECIDED BY DELEGATED POWERS - APRIL 2018 

91 :   URGENT (ITEMS) IF ANY 

None

92 :   DATE OF NEXT MEETING - 13 JUNE 2018 



This page is intentionally left blank



PETITION, A.M. OBJECTION AND LOCAL MEMBER OBJECTION 
 

COMMITTEE DATE: 13/06/2018 
 
APPLICATION No. 18/00762/MNR APPLICATION DATE:  04/04/2018 
 
ED:   HEATH 
 
APP: TYPE:  Full Planning Permission 
 
APPLICANT:  Mr RUSSELL 
LOCATION:  THANE & MEARS, 304A CAERPHILLY ROAD,    
   BIRCHGROVE, CARDIFF, CF14 4NS 
PROPOSAL:  PROPOSED DEMOLITION OF 304A CAERPHILLY RD &   
   ERECTION OF NEW DEVELOPMENT TO FORM A3   
   COMMERCIAL UNIT TO GROUND FLOOR WITH 5 NO   
   FLATS OVER     
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

RECOMMENDATION 1: That, subject to relevant parties entering into a binding 
legal agreement with the Council under the provisions of SECTION 106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990, within 6 months of the date of this 
Resolution unless otherwise agreed by the Council in writing, in respect of matters 
detailed in paragraph 5.5 of this report, planning permission be GRANTED subject 
to the following conditions: 

 
1. C01 Statutory Time Limit 
 
2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans and documents:  
 

P551A L_001    Location Plan    
P551A L_003 C Site Plan as Proposed  
P551A L_004 B Ground Floor Site Plan  
P551A L_200 A Ground Floor Plan as Proposed  
P551A L_201 A   First Floor Plans as Proposed    
P551A L_202 A    Second Floor Plans as Proposed    
P551A L_210 A    Elevations 1 of 3 as Proposed    
P551A L_211 A   Elevations 2 of 3 as Proposed    
P551A L_212 A  Elevations 3 of 3 as Proposed    
P551A L_214 A   Street View as Proposed    
P551A L_220 A    Perspective Views as Proposed    

 
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt as to the extent of the permission. 
 
3. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, prior to the 

commencement of development details of cycle parking facilities shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
submitted details shall show that a minimum of 6 no. secure and sheltered 
cycle parking spaces shall be provided for residents of the flats and at least 

Agenda Item 7a



2 no. cycle parking spaces (1 no. long-stay for staff and 1 no. short-stay for 
customers) shall be provided for the commercial unit. The approved cycle 
parking/storage spaces shall be installed before the development hereby 
approved is brought into beneficial use and shall be maintained thereafter 
and shall not be used for any other purpose. 

 Reason: To ensure that adequate provision is made for the secure and 
sheltered parking of cycles in accordance with policies KP5 and T5 of the 
Cardiff Local Development Plan. 

 
4. Prior to the commencement of development details of the highway access 

onto Caerphilly Road, including any changes to the existing parking bays, 
bollards and crossovers, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The approved details shall be implemented 
prior to the development being put into beneficial use. 

 Reason: To ensure that the use of the proposed development does not 
interfere with the safety and free flow of traffic passing along the highway, in 
accordance with policies T5 and T6 of the Cardiff Local Development Plan. 

 
5. Prior to the commencement of development a scheme shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to provide that all 
habitable rooms exposed to external road traffic noise in excess of 63 dBA 
Leq 16 hour [free field] during the day [07.00 to 23.00 hours] or 57 dBA Leq 
8 hour [free field] at night [23.00 to 07.00 hours] shall be subject to sound 
insulation measures to ensure that all such rooms achieve an internal noise 
level of 40 dBA Leq 16 hour during the day and 35 dBA Leq 8 hour at night. 
The submitted scheme shall ensure that habitable rooms subject to sound 
insulation measures shall be provided with acoustically treated active 
ventilation units. Each ventilation unit (with air filter in position), by itself or 
with an integral air supply duct and cowl (or grille), shall be capable of giving 
variable ventilation rates ranging from : 

 
 1) an upper rate of not less than 37 litres per second against a back 

pressure of 10 newtons per square metre and not less than 31 litres per 
second against a back pressure of 30 newtons per square metre, to 

 2) a lower rate of between 10 and 17 litres per second against zero back 
pressure. 

 
 No habitable room shall be occupied until the approved sound insulation 

and ventilation measures have been installed in that room. Any private 
open space (excepting terraces or balconies to any apartment) shall be 
designed to provide an area which is at least 50% of the area for sitting out 
where the maximum day time noise level does not exceed 55 dBA Leq 16 
hour [free field]. 

 Reason: To ensure that the amenities of future occupiers are protected, in 
accordance with policies KP5 and EN13 of the Cardiff Local Development 
Plan. 

 
6. A scheme of sound insulation works to the floor/ceiling structure between 

the ground floor commercial premises and first floor residential units shall 
be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and 



implemented prior to occupation. 
 Reason: To ensure that the amenities of future occupiers are protected, in 

accordance with policies KP5 and EN13 of the Cardiff Local Development 
Plan. 

 
7. No member of the public shall be admitted to or allowed to remain on the 

ground floor commercial premises, and no preparation and/or cooking of 
hot food shall take place, between the hours of 18:00 and 08:00 Monday 
to Saturday or at any time on Sundays. 

 Reason: To ensure that the amenities of future occupiers are protected, 
in accordance with policies KP5 and EN13 of the Cardiff Local 
Development Plan. 

 
8. There shall be no arrival, departure, loading or unloading of delivery 

vehicles between the hours of 18:00hrs and 08:00hrs. 
 Reason: To ensure that the amenities of future occupiers are protected, in 

accordance with policies KP5 and EN13 of the Cardiff Local Development 
Plan. 

 
9. Prior to the installation of any fixed, noise-emitting plant and equipment on 

the site, a noise assessment shall be carried out and submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority to ensure the noise emitted from the fixed plant and 
equipment achieves a rating noise level of background -10dB at the nearest 
noise sensitive premises when measured and corrected in accordance with 
BS 4142: 2014 (or any British Standard amending or superseding that 
standard).  

 Reason:  To ensure that the amenities of occupiers of nearby properties 
are protected, in accordance with policies KP5 and EN13 of the Cardiff 
Local Development Plan. 

 
10. If at any time the use of the ground floor premises is to involve the 

preparation and cooking of hot food, the extraction of all fumes from the 
food preparation areas shall be mechanically extracted to a point to be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority, and the extraction system shall be 
provided with a de-odorising filter. Details of the above equipment shall be 
submitted to, and approved by, the Local Planning Authority in writing and 
the equipment installed prior to the commencement of use for the cooking of 
food. The equipment shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the 
manufacturers' guidelines, such guidelines having previously been agreed 
by the Local Planning Authority in writing. 

 Reason:  To ensure that the amenities of occupiers of nearby properties 
are protected, in accordance with policies KP5 and EN13 of the Cardiff 
Local Development Plan. 

 
11. No surface water and/or land drainage shall be allowed to connect directly 

or indirectly with the public sewerage network. 
 Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, 

to protect the health and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution 
of or detriment to the environment, in accordance with policy EN10 of the 
Cardiff Local Development Plan. 



 
12. Prior to the commencement of any development works a scheme to 

investigate and monitor the site for the presence of gases* being generated 
at the site or land adjoining thereto, including a plan of the area to be 
monitored, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for its 
approval. 

 
 Following completion of the approved monitoring scheme, the proposed 

details of appropriate gas protection measures to ensure the safe and 
inoffensive dispersal or management of gases and to prevent lateral 
migration of gases into or from land surrounding the application site shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing to the LPA.  If no protection measures 
are required than no further actions will be required. 

 
 All required gas protection measures shall be installed and appropriately 

verified before occupation of any part of the development which has been 
permitted and the approved protection measures shall be retained and 
maintained until such time as the Local Planning Authority agrees in writing 
that the measures are no longer required. 

 
 * ‘Gases’  include landfill gases, vapours from contaminated land sites, and 

naturally occurring methane and carbon dioxide, but does not include radon 
gas.  Gas Monitoring programmes should be designed in line with current 
best practice as detailed in CIRIA 665 and or BS8485 year 2007 Code of 
Practice for the Characterization and Remediation from Ground Gas in 
Affected Developments,.  

 
 Reason: To ensure that the safety of future occupiers is not prejudiced, in 

accordance with policy EN13 of the Cardiff Local Development Plan. 
 
13. Prior to the commencement of the development an assessment of the 

nature and extent of contamination shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  This assessment must be carried 
out by or under the direction of a suitably qualified competent person * in 
accordance with BS10175 (2011) Code of Practice for the Investigation of 
Potentially Contaminated Sites and shall assess any contamination on the 
site, whether or not it originates on the site.   

 
 The report of the findings shall include:  
 

(i)       A desk top study to identify all previous uses at the site and potential 
contaminants associated with those uses and the impacts from 
those contaminants on land and controlled waters.  The desk study 
shall establish a ‘conceptual site model’ (CSM) which identifies and 
assesses all identified potential source, pathway, and receptor 
linkages;  

 
(ii)       An intrusive investigation to assess the extent, scale and nature of 

contamination which may be present, if identified as required by the 
desk top study; 



 
(iii)      An assessment of the potential risks to: 

-  human health,  
-  ground waters and surface waters 
-  adjoining land, 
-  property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, 

livestock, pets, woodland and service lines and pipes, 
-  ecological systems,  
  archaeological sites and ancient monuments; and 
-  any other receptors identified at (i) 

(iv) An appraisal of remedial options, and justification for the preferred 
remedial option(s).  

 
 All work and submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition must 

be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s 
‘Model procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ 
(September 2004) and the WLGA / WAG / EA guidance document ‘ Land 
Contamination: A guide for Developers’ (2012), unless the Local Planning 
Authority agrees to any variation. 

 * A ‘suitably qualified competent person’ would normally be expected to be 
a chartered member of an appropriate professional body (such as the 
Institution of Civil Engineers, Geological Society of London, Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors, Institution of Environmental 
Management) and also have relevant experience of investigating 
contaminated sites. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that information provided for the assessment of the risks 

from land contamination to the future users of the land, neighbouring land, 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems is sufficient to enable a 
proper assessment in accordance with policy EN13 of the Cardiff Local 
Development Plan.  

 
14. Prior to the commencement of the development a detailed remediation 

scheme and verification plan to bring the site to a condition suitable for the 
intended use by removing any unacceptable risks to human health, 
controlled waters, buildings, other property and the natural and historical 
environment shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall include all works to be undertaken, 
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, a timetable of 
works and site management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the 
site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the 
land after remediation. 

 
 All work and submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition must 

be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s 
‘Model procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ 
(September 2004) and the WLGA / WAG / EA guidance document ‘ Land 
Contamination: A guide for Developers’ (July 2006), unless the Local 
Planning Authority agrees to any variation. 



 
 Reason: To ensure that any unacceptable risks from land contamination to 

the future users of the land , neighbouring land, controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems are minimised, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 
and other offsite receptors in accordance with policy EN13 of the Cardiff 
Local Development Plan. 

 
15. The remediation scheme approved by condition 14 must be fully 

undertaken in accordance with its terms prior to the occupation of any part 
of the development unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks 
written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works.  

 
 Within 6 months of the completion of the measures identified in the 

approved remediation scheme, a verification report that demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
 All work and submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition must 

be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s 
‘Model procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ 
(September 2004) and the WLGA / WAG / EA guidance document ‘ Land 
Contamination: A guide for Developers’ (July 2006), unless the Local 
Planning Authority agrees to any variation. 

 
 Reason : To ensure that any unacceptable risks from land contamination to 

the future users of the land , neighbouring land, controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems are minimised, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 
and other offsite receptors in accordance with policy EN13 of the Cardiff 
Local Development Plan. 

 
16.   In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 

approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 
in writing within 2 days to the Local Planning Authority, all associated works 
must stop, and no further development shall take place unless otherwise 
agreed in writing until a scheme to deal with the contamination found has 
been approved.  An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken 
and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme and verification 
plan must be prepared and submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the 
approved remediation scheme a verification report must be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The timescale for 
the above actions shall be agreed with the LPA within 2 weeks of the 
discovery of any unsuspected contamination.  

 
 Reason: To ensure that any unacceptable risks from land contamination to 

the future users of the land , neighbouring land, controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems are minimised, and to ensure that the development 



can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 
and other offsite receptors in accordance with policy EN13 of the Cardiff 
Local Development Plan. 

 
17. Any topsoil [natural  or manufactured],or subsoil, to be imported shall be 

assessed for chemical or other potential contaminants in accordance with a 
scheme of investigation which shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority in advance of its importation. Only material 
approved by the Local Planning Authority shall be imported. All measures 
specified in the approved scheme shall be undertaken in accordance with 
the relevant Code of Practice and Guidance Notes.  

 
 Subject to approval of the above, sampling of the material received at the 

development site to verify that the imported soil is free from contamination 
shall be undertaken in accordance with a scheme and timescale to be 
agreed in writing by the LPA.  

 
 Reason: To ensure that the safety of future occupiers is not prejudiced in 

accordance with policy EN13 of the Cardiff Local Development Plan. 
 
18. Any aggregate  (other than virgin quarry stone) or recycled aggregate 

material to be imported shall be assessed for chemical or other potential 
contaminants in accordance with a scheme of investigation which shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
advance of its importation. Only material approved by the Local Planning 
Authority shall be imported. All measures specified in the approved scheme 
shall be undertaken in accordance with the relevant Code of Practice and 
Guidance Notes.  

 
 Subject to approval of the above, sampling of the material received at the 

development site to verify that the imported material is free from 
contamination shall be undertaken in accordance with a scheme and 
timescale to be agreed in writing by the LPA.  

 
 Reason: To ensure that the safety of future occupiers is not prejudiced in 

accordance with policy EN13 of the Cardiff Local Development Plan. 
 
19. Any site won material including soils, aggregates, recycled materials shall 

be assessed for chemical or other potential contaminants in accordance 
with a sampling scheme which shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority in advance of the reuse of site won 
materials. Only material which meets site specific target values approved by 
the Local Planning Authority shall be reused.  

 Reason: To ensure that the safety of future occupiers is not prejudiced in 
accordance with policy EN13 of the Cardiff Local Development Plan. 

 
20. The means of site enclosure shall be constructed in accordance with the 

approved details prior to the development being put into beneficial use.     
 Reason: to ensure that the amenities of the area are protected, in 

accordance with policy KP5 of the Cardiff Local Development Plan. 



 
RECOMMENDATION  2 : To protect the amenities of occupiers of other premises 
in the vicinity attention is drawn to the provisions of Section 60 of the Control of 
Pollution Act 1974 in relation to the control of noise from demolition and 
construction activities. Further to this the applicant is advised that no noise audible 
outside the site boundary adjacent to the curtilage of residential property shall be 
created by construction activities in respect of the implementation of this consent 
outside the hours of 0800-1800 hours Mondays to Fridays and 0800 - 1300 hours 
on Saturdays or at any time on Sunday or public holidays. The applicant is also 
advised to seek approval for any proposed piling operations. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 3: The developer is advised that, as mentioned in section 
3.11 of the Waste Collection and Storage Facilities Supplementary Planning 
Guidance, it is considered best practice to have a Site Waste Management Plan 
for demolition projects. Materials should be reused and recycled as much as 
possible. Further information is available in the Supplementary Planning Guidance 
“Waste Collection and Storage Facilities”, which can be found on the Council’s 
website. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 4:The applicant is advised that the owners/developers of 
new residential units are required to purchase the bins required for each unit.  The 
bins have to meet the Council’s specifications and can be purchased directly by 
contacting the Waste Management’s commercial team on 029 20717501. Further 
information regarding waste/recycling and the types of bins required is available in 
the Supplementary Planning Guidance “Waste Collection and Storage Facilities”, 
which can be found on the Council’s website. If communal bins for the flats are 
preferred, the development will require 1 x 660 litre bin for general waste, 1 x 240 
litre bin for food waste and 1 x 660 litre bin for mixed recycling. If communal bins 
are used the waste can be collected from the bin store providing the distance from 
the refuse vehicle to the bin store is less than 25 metres. Individual bins for each 
flat would need to be presented on Caerphilly Road. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 5: The applicant is advised that a commercial contract is 
required for the collection and disposal of all commercial waste. By law 
(Environmental Protection Act, 1990, section 34) all commercial premises have a 
duty of care to ensure that their waste is transferred to and disposed of by a 
registered waste carrier. Owners or developers of commercial 
developments/properties who require Cardiff County Council to collect and 
dispose of their waste can contact the commercial services department on 029 
20717500. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 6: The applicant is advised that any required access 
junction and highway works relating to the adopted highway will be subject to an 
agreement under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 between the developer 
and the Local Highway Authority.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 7: The applicant is advised that they may need to apply to 
Dwr Cymru / Welsh Water for any connection to the public sewer under S106 of the 
Water industry Act 1991. If the connection to the public sewer network is either via 
a lateral drain (i.e. a drain which extends beyond the connecting property 



boundary) or via a new sewer (i.e. serves more than one property), it is now a 
mandatory requirement to first enter into a Section 104 Adoption Agreement 
(Water Industry Act 1991). The design of the sewers and lateral drains must also 
conform to the Welsh Ministers Standards for Gravity Foul Sewers and Lateral 
Drains, and conform with the publication "Sewers for Adoption"- 7th Edition. 
Further information can be obtained via the Developer Services pages of 
www.dwrcymru.com. Some public sewers and lateral drains may not be recorded 
on maps of public sewers because they were originally privately owned. Under the 
Water Industry Act 1991 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water has rights of access to its 
apparatus at all times. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 8 : The contamination assessments and the effects of 
unstable land are considered on the basis of the best information available to the 
Planning Authority and are not necessarily exhaustive.  The Authority takes due 
diligence when assessing these impacts, however you are minded that the 
responsibility for  
 
(i)  determining the extent and effects of such constraints and; 
(ii)  ensuring that any imported materials (including, topsoils, subsoils, 

aggregates and recycled or manufactured aggregates / soils) are 
chemically suitable for the proposed end use.  Under no circumstances 
should controlled waste be imported.  It is an offence under section 33 of 
the environmental Protection Act 1990 to deposit controlled waste on a site 
which does not benefit from an appropriate waste management license.  
The following must not be imported to a development site: 
• Unprocessed / unsorted demolition wastes. 
• Any materials originating from a site confirmed as being 

contaminated or potentially contaminated by chemical or radioactive 
substances. 

• Japanese Knotweed stems, leaves and rhizome infested soils.  In 
addition to section 33 above, it is also an offence under the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 to spread this invasive weed; and 

 
(iii)  the safe development and secure occupancy of the site rests with the 

developer. 
 
Proposals for areas of possible land instability should take due account of the 
physical and chemical constraints and may include action on land reclamation or 
other remedial action to enable beneficial use of unstable land. 
 
The Local Planning Authority has determined the application on the basis of the 
information available to it, but this does not mean that the land can be considered 
free from contamination. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 9: The applicant is advised to contact Western Power 
Distribution (WPD) with regard to the possible presence of underground services 
associated with the electricity substation in the vicinity of the application site. 
 



1. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
1.1 The application seeks full planning permission for the demolition of a 

 commercial garage and the construction in its place of a three storey 
 building containing a 98 square metre class A3 (i.e. “food and drink”) 
 commercial unit at ground floor level with 5 no. flats above, comprising 
 four 1 bedroom flats at the front of the building on the first and second 
 floors and one 2 bedroom flat at the rear which would have its bedrooms  at 
first floor level and living room/kitchen on the second floor. 

 
1.2 Five car parking spaces would be provided, accessed via a new crossover and 

a drive passing between the new building and 304 Caerphilly Road. Two of the 
parking spaces would be in an undercroft below the rear flat. Cycle parking 
facilities would also be provided and there would be more than 70 square 
metres of shared outdoor amenity space at the rear of the site along with a 14 
sq.m single storey pitched roofed storage building. To the front of the 
commercial premises, on Caerphilly Road, there would be a 3m deep area for 
outdoor seating enclosed by a low wall and railings. 

 
1.3 The building will be three storeys in height, with the upper storey partly within 

the roof space. The roof will be pitched and finished in slate grey tiles and there 
will be two projecting flat-roofed gables to the front which will be finished in grey 
cladding. The main walls will be white render. Windows and doors will be grey 
and the front and rear facing windows will have glazed external balustrades.  

 
2. DESCRIPTION OF SITE 

 
2.1  The application site measures approximately 460 square metres in area and 

lies on the eastern side of Caerphilly Road, between two end-of –terrace 
properties (an estate agent’s office to the south and a hot food takeaway to the 
north). There are detached dwellings to the rear of the site, located within a 
modern housing estate. A public footpath runs along the northern boundary, 
linking Caerphilly Road and Milestone Close and there is an electricity 
substation between the footpath and the north eastern section of the 
application site. 

 
2.2 The site currently contains a commercial garage/workshop with detached office 

cabin to the side and associated forecourt which is used for the parking of 
customers’ vehicles. 

 
2.3 Directly opposite is a large site which formerly contained warehouse and depot 

buildings and is now being redeveloped as a 1254 sq.m retail unit with 
associated car park. 

 
3. SITE HISTORY 

 
3.1 14/00455/DCO – Construction of single storey extension to create additional 

service bay with relocation of office unit. 
 
3.2 09/00805/E – Single storey side extension of existing garage /workshop.  



 
4. POLICY FRAMEWORK 

 
4.1  Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2021: 
 

KP5 (Good Quality and Sustainable Design); 
KP7 (Planning Obligations); 
KP13 (Responding to Evidenced Social Needs); 
H3 (Affordable Housing); 
H6 (Change of Use or Redevelopment to Residential Use);  
EC3 (Alternative Use of Employment Land and Premises); 
EN10 (Water Sensitive Design); 
EN13 (Air, Noise, Light Pollution and Land Contamination); 
T5 (Managing Transport Impacts); 
R8 (Food and Drink Uses); 
C3 (Community Safety/Creating Safe Environments); 
W2 (Provision for Waste Management Facilities in Development). 

 
4.2  Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
 

Following the adoption of the Cardiff Local Development Plan, some existing 
Supplementary Planning Guidance documents are no longer linked to adopted 
development plan policies. However, where existing SPG is considered 
consistent with the new LDP policy framework, it will continue to be material to 
the Development Management process. The following Supplementary 
Planning Guidance is considered relevant to the determination of this 
application as it is either adopted or considered consistent with LDP policies 
KP5, H6 and T5 and can be used to help inform the assessment of relevant 
matters -  

 
Waste Collection and Storage Facilities (October 2016); 
Planning Obligations (January 2017); 
Access, Circulation and Parking Standards (January 2010); 
Infill Sites (April 2011); 
Food, Drink and Leisure Uses (November 2017). 

4.3  Planning Policy Wales (November 2016): 
 

3.1.4: Factors to be taken into account in making planning decisions (material 
considerations) must be planning matters; that is, they must be relevant to the 
regulation of the development and use of land in the public interest, towards the 
goal of sustainability. The planning system does not exist to protect the private 
interests of one person against the activities of another. Proposals should be 
considered in terms of their effect on the amenity and existing use of land and 
buildings in the public interest. When determining planning applications local 
planning authorities must take into account any relevant view on planning 
matters expressed by neighbouring occupiers, local residents and any other 
third parties. While the substance of local views must be considered, the duty is 
to decide each case on its planning merits. 
4.4.3: In contributing to the Well-being of Future Generations Act goals, 



planning policies, decisions and proposals should (inter alia): 
• Promote resource-efficient and climate change resilient settlement 

patterns that minimise land-take and urban sprawl, especially through 
preference for the re-use of suitable previously developed land and 
buildings, wherever possible avoiding development on greenfield sites  

• Support initiative and innovation and avoid placing unnecessary burdens 
on enterprises (especially small and medium sized firms) so as to 
enhance the economic success of both urban and rural areas, helping 
businesses to maximise their competitiveness  

• Promote access to employment, shopping, education, health, community, 
leisure and sports facilities and open and green space, maximising 
opportunities for community development and social welfare. 

• Promote quality, lasting, environmentally-sound and flexible employment 
opportunities.  

• Respect and encourage diversity in the local economy. 
• Locate developments so as to minimise the demand for travel, especially 

by private car  
• Ensure that all local communities – both urban and rural – have sufficient 

good quality housing for their needs, including affordable housing for local 
needs and for special needs where appropriate, in safe neighbourhoods. 

4.11.9 The visual appearance of proposed development, its scale and its 
relationship to its surroundings and context are material planning 
considerations. Local planning authorities should reject poor building and 
contextual designs. However, they should not attempt to impose a particular 
architectural taste or style arbitrarily and should avoid inhibiting opportunities 
for innovative design solutions. 
4.11.11: Local planning authorities and developers should consider the issue of 
accessibility for all.  
4.11.12: Local Authorities are under a legal obligation to consider the need to 
prevent and reduce crime and disorder in all decisions that they take. 
7.1.3 The planning system should support economic and employment growth 
alongside social and environmental considerations within the context of 
sustainable development.  
7.2.4 Mixed use development should be promoted in and adjoin existing 
settlements, where appropriate. Policies and supplementary planning guidance 
should support mixed use developments, including flexible workplace/dwellings 
and commercial premises, where these are appropriate. 
7.6.1 Local planning authorities should adopt a positive and constructive 
approach to applications for economic development. In determining 
applications for economic land uses authorities should take account of the likely 
economic benefits of the development based on robust evidence. In assessing 
these benefits, key factors include: 
• the numbers and types of jobs expected to be created or retained on the site; 
• whether and how far the development will help redress economic 
disadvantage or support regeneration priorities, for example by enhancing 
employment opportunities or upgrading the environment; 
• a consideration of the contribution to wider spatial strategies, for example for 
the growth or regeneration of certain areas. 
8.1.5 Land use planning can help to achieve the Welsh Government’s 
objectives for transport through (inter alia) 



- reducing the need to travel, especially by private car, by locating development 
where there is good access by public transport, walking and cycling;  
- locating development near other related uses to encourage multi-purpose 
trips and reduce the length of journeys; 
8.2.3 Cycling should also be encouraged for short trips and as a substitute for 
shorter car journeys or, as part of a longer journey when combined with public 
transport.  
8.4.2: Local Authorities should ensure that new developments provide lower 
levels of parking than have generally been achieved in the past. Minimum 
parking standards are no longer appropriate. 
8.7.5 Where necessary, planning conditions may legitimately be imposed on 
the grant of planning permission to secure on-site transport measures and 
facilities as part of the proposed development. Planning obligations may also 
be used in appropriate circumstances to secure off-site improvements in 
walking, cycling and public transport, where such measures would be likely to 
influence travel patterns to the site involved. 
9.1.1 The Welsh Government will seek to ensure that: previously developed 
land is used in preference to greenfield sites; new housing and residential 
environments are well designed, meeting national standards for the 
sustainability of new homes and making a significant contribution to promoting 
community regeneration and improving the quality of life; and that the overall 
result of new housing development in villages, towns or edge of settlement is a 
mix of affordable and market housing that retains and, where practical, 
enhances important landscape and wildlife features in the development.  
9.1.2 Local planning authorities should promote sustainable residential 
environments, avoid large housing areas of monotonous character and make 
appropriate provision for affordable housing. Local planning authorities should 
promote (inter alia): development that is easily accessible by public transport, 
cycling and walking; mixed use development so communities have good 
access to employment, retail and other services; attractive landscapes around 
dwellings;  greater emphasis on quality, good design and the creation of 
places to live that are safe and attractive; the most efficient use of land;  well 
designed living environments, where appropriate at increased densities;   
9.2.12 Strong pressure for development may give rise to inappropriately high 
densities if not carefully controlled. Higher densities should be encouraged on 
easily accessible sites, where appropriate, but these will need to be carefully 
designed to ensure a high quality environment. In particular, local planning 
authorities should adopt a flexible approach to car parking standards. 
9.2.14 A community’s need for affordable housing is a material planning 
consideration. 
9.3.3 Insensitive infilling, or the cumulative effects of development or 
redevelopment, including conversion and adaptation, should not be allowed to 
damage an area’s character or amenity. This includes any such impact on 
neighbouring dwellings, such as serious loss of privacy or overshadowing. 
12.7.3: Adequate facilities and space for the collection, composting and 
recycling of waste materials should be incorporated into the design of any 
development and waste prevention efforts at the design, construction and 
demolition stage should be made by developers. 
13.15.1: Noise can be a material planning consideration, e.g. where proposed 
new development is likely to generate noise or in proposals to use or develop 



land near an existing source of noise. Local planning authorities should make a 
careful assessment of likely noise levels and have regard to any relevant Noise 
Action Plan before determining such planning applications and in some 
circumstances it will be necessary for a technical noise assessment to be 
provided by the developer. 

 
4.4  Technical Advice Note 11 – Noise (1997): 
 
 10. Local planning authorities should consider whether proposals for new 

noise-sensitive development would be incompatible with existing activities, 
taking into account the likely level of noise exposure at the time of the 
application and any increase that may reasonably be expected in the 
foreseeable future. Such development should not normally be permitted in 
areas which are, or are expected to become, subject to unacceptably high 
levels of noise and should not normally be permitted where high levels of noise 
will continue throughout the night. 

 
4.5 Technical Advice Note 12 - Design (March 2016) 
 
4.6 Technical Advice Note 18 – Transport  (2007) 
 
5. INTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
 
5.1 Transportation: The revised car parking layout is generally acceptable, 

although the space furthest south does not have a full 6m space in front of it as 
stated, however there should be room for residents to access it by turning in the 
area marked on the plan as ‘Tarmacadam’. There are still concerns with the 
proposed cycle storage. The facility needs to be covered, and it does not 
appear that a door is proposed. Also, semi-vertical systems can be more 
difficult for some cyclists to access. However, it would be acceptable if an 
appropriate cycle storage facility were provided within the rear garden/amenity 
area (but within close proximity to its entrance to ensure distance from the 
residential area is not too great), as there are less space issues there. On that 
basis cycle storage can be dealt with via condition. A minimum of 6 cycle 
spaces should be provided for the residents (1 per bedroom), as well as a 
long-stay space for the commercial unit. In addition, a short-stay space should 
be provided for customers, although there should be space for this in front of 
the unit. More details of the cycle parking should be provided, showing the 
locations of cycles and the type of building/access point. 

 
5.2 The principle of highway access onto Caerphilly Road from the southern part of 

the site (adjacent to Hern & Crabtree) is likely to be acceptable, subject to the 
provision of further details, and a Section 278 agreement would be required, 
given that there are a number of highway issues, including TRO’s. It appears 
that the proposed access road would cut across an existing parking bay, and 
this would need to be moved, although the existing crossover towards the north 
of the site would be closed. In addition, some of the bollards could be removed. 
The details of the access junction/works for the Aldi store opposite the site are 
currently at an advanced stage, and this residential application would need to 
tie in with those works. 



 
5.3 Pollution Control (Noise & Air): Request conditions requiring the submission of 

a road traffic noise assessment,  a scheme of sound insulation between the 
ground floor commercial use and the flats, restriction of opening hours of the A3 
use to 08:00 – 18:00, restrictions on delivery times, submission of an 
assessment of plant noise, insulation works for any room in which amplified 
music will be played, and details of kitchen extraction if the premises is to be 
used for the preparation of hot food.  

 
5.4 Waste Strategy & Minimisation Officer: The amended plans detailing waste 

storage are acceptable.  These facilities must be retained for future use for 
waste storage. As mentioned in section 3.11 of the Waste Collection and 
Storage Facilities Supplementary Planning Guidance it is considered best 
practice to have a Site Waste Management Plan for demolition projects. 
Materials should be reused and recycled as much as possible. 

 
5.5  Housing Strategy: In line with the Local Development Plan (LDP), an affordable 

housing contribution of 20% of the 5 units (1 unit) is sought on this brown-field 
site. Our priority is to deliver on-site affordable housing, in the form of affordable 
rented accommodation, built to Welsh Government Development Quality 
Requirements. However, given the proposed design and the type of units on 
the scheme, we would be prepared to accept a financial contribution in lieu of 
on-site affordable housing provision. On that basis of the above, we would seek 
a financial contribution of £69,426 in lieu of 1 x 1 bedroom apartment) which is 
calculated in accordance with the formula in the Planning Obligations– 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG)(2017). 

 
5.6 Pollution Control (Contaminated Land): Not consulted on this application but 

provided detailed requirements at pre-application stage, including conditions 
relating to ground gas and remediation works. 

 
6. EXTERNAL CONSULTEES RESPONSES 
 
6.1  Welsh Water: Request conditions and advisory notes relating to surface water / 

land drainage and connection to the public sewer. 
 
6.2  Western Power Distribution: No response to consultation. 
 
7. REPRESENTATIONS 
 
7.1 The application has been advertised by site notice and neighbour notification. 3 

individual representations have been received objecting to the development as 
follows: 
1.  The A3 use will lead to the same problems as caused by other A3 uses 

in the area, i.e. parking congestion in Milestone Close, litter and vermin. 
2.  Existing parking spaces will be lost and there will be limited parking 

places for the residents of the flats. Any additional residents’ and visitors’ 
cars are likely to be parked on Milestone close leading to increased 
congestion in a residential road.  

3.  Groups of teenagers congregate in the footpath between Caerphilly 



Road and Milestone close, drinking alcohol etc. The new building will 
cause the footpath to become more secluded, leading to an increase in 
anti-social behaviour. 

4.  Loss of sunlight to the house at the rear. 
5.  Loss of privacy. 
6.  The building is too tall and won’t fit in with neighbouring 2 storey 

buildings. 
7.  The nature of the A3 use is uncertain and could lead to more parking 

problems.  
8.  Windows will open over the access lane. 
9.  Existing small businesses have already suffered due to loss of 

short-term parking following the creation of the bus lane. This 
development will result in the loss of another parking bay and the 
businesses may suffer further. 

 
7.2 A petition of 75 signatures has been received, opposing the development on 

the grounds of further loss of parking provision (the removal of the northerly 
parking bay outside 304A Caerphilly Road) “in an area already under serious 
parking pressures by reason of the bus lane – 5 bays were lost on the Aldi side”. 
The petitioners urge the local authority to require compensatory provision to 
replace the lost space and are also concerned about the lack of detail about the 
A3 use and the impact this could have on parking.  

 
7.3 Two individual representations have also been received raising concerns 

 that at least 5 parking spaces should be provided (one per flat) and stating that 
replacing the current garage with a new building would be a good thing, that 
they are pleased that the building will be further away from the house at the rear 
and that the building will not be too tall, but raising concerns that the developer 
has not contacted them regarding the shared boundary wall, that the opening 
times of the A3 use should be restricted, it should be prevented from serving 
alcohol and a former CCTV camera should be re-instated (due to existing 
problems of anti-social behaviour in the area), the parking spaces should be 
restricted to residents only, any increase in parking on Milestone Close should 
be monitored, construction traffic should not be allowed to use Milestone Close, 
all waste should be removed from the site and the developer should take care 
not to damage the underground cables associated with the adjacent substation. 

 
7.4 Julie Morgan, Assembly Member for Cardiff North, has asked that the following 

points be taken into consideration: 
 

1.  The proposed building is too high and overbearing. It is out of character 
with other buildings. 

2.  There is a paucity of detail on the proposed A3 commercial unit. Within 
the use class what activities will be carried out? This is important for 
determining the intensity of the proposed use. What will be the opening 
hours? There is concern that a takeaway with late hours will exacerbate 
existing anti-social behaviour in the vicinity of the nearby public footpath, 
putting community safety at risk. (Gating the lane has been suggested 
as well as restoring cctv to the street light pole, removed a few years 
ago). 



3.  Moreover, an A3 use will generate significant parking needs for the 
proposed 8 staff and customers for which there is no provision. There is 
concern that the proposed development will exacerbate parking and 
congestion in Milestone Close by visitors to this site who access it via the 
lane. I welcome the 10 cycle spaces but being realistic most customers 
are unlikely to be cyclists. 

4.  Overall the parking provision is insufficient. Only 5 bays for 5 residential 
units and nothing proposed for the other site use. 

5.  The position of the proposed entrance/exit results in the loss of a 1 hour 
restricted parking bay only designated as such in January 2018. There is 
no evidence of this factor being taken into account and provision to 
compensate proposed. 

6.  The width of the new vehicular access to/from the main road is 
insufficient. Traffic needs to be able to enter whilst other traffic is exiting 
otherwise there is a danger of vehicles backing up on the main road, 
creating a traffic hazard – see point 7. 

7.  This development should be considered in conjunction with the 
uncontrolled crossing being constructed across main road between the 
public footpath on the east side and the new entrance to Aldi’s on the 
west side. There is no evidence of such consideration in the application. 

8.  Windows of the proposed unit overhang the public footpath, projecting 
into the local authority’s super-incumbent airspace. At a minimum a 
certificate B is surely required. 

9.  There is an electricity substation in the corner of the plot on which the 
site is located and the cables which run to and fro are under the site. I 
also understand water mains run close by, if not under the site. 

 It is therefore clear that there are a number of very unsatisfactory 
features to this development which requires complete rethinking. It is a 
pity that the applicant’s agent did not undertake any consultation with the 
local community before submission. The creation of the bus lane and 
associated loss of parking in Caerphilly Road and the subsequent 
approval of the Aldi planning application, which includes the 
uncontrolled crossing over the main road, has aggravated a site already 
under pressure. Although the obligation to file a Design and Access 
Statement under the Town and Country Planning (Development 
management) Procedure Order 2012 as amended has not been 
triggered this is clearly a case where there is a need for more information 
and where the applicant should be encouraged to  submit a voluntary 
statement in accordance with section 6 Design and Access Statements 
in Wales published by the Welsh Government in April 2017. 

 
7.5 Councillor Graham Hinchey has submitted the following objections: 
 
 Please refuse the A3 element as this will cause significant problems of noise, 

litter and parking issues for local families. It contravenes our own SPG 
Guidance on locating all A3 (takeaway and evening fast food outlets) to within 
the local shopping centre where there are currently a number of vacant units 
within the nearby Birchgrove Shopping Centre, where adequate bins and 
parking exist to support any A3 fast food proposal.  

 



7.6 If A3 is not rejected it should have a limited range of daytime hours and usage – 
not open after 17.30 and not fast food take away. For example a coffee shop 
may be more appropriate   

 
7.7 The height and scale of the this 3 Storey development is out of keeping with 

other building in the street scene. The height should be reduced in accord with 
two storey buildings. 

 
7.8  The angled side windows overhang the public area of the through lane between 

Caerphilly Rd and Milestone Close estate and directly view the private 
neighbouring property of 314A Caerphilly Rd. These windows should be made 
flat to the building and opaquely glazed to ensure privacy is protected. 

 
7.9 The side doorways on the same north elevation access directly onto the above 

public lane. This access should be redesigned or moved to a front facing 
Caerphilly Rd elevation. 

 
7.10 I do not have any objection to the introduction of suitable housing / apartments 

to replace the existing garage business, providing all other conditions, as set 
out above and below, are accepted and introduced as conditions for granting 
this application.  

 
7.11 The electrical substation is located alongside the development and served from 

Caerphilly Rd side. It and serves a wide community. In order to prevent 
potential access should be maintained but the development covers the line of 
power which serves the community.  

 
7.12 Parking and right turn into the proposed development would be reduced by the 

extended / moved access crossover into the site. The narrow access to the 
parking bays at the rear would cause vehicles to reverse onto the busy 
Caerphilly Rd. A wider passing passage is needed under the development to 
ensure safe access and egress to the off street parking bays. 

 
8. ANALYSIS 
 
8.1 The application site falls within the settlement boundary as defined by the LDP 

Proposals Map and has no specific designation or allocation. The existing 
commercial garage has no protection in land use policy terms. The application 
site is outside of a defined shopping centre and not located in an area where A3 
uses are considered most appropriately located (Policy R8). However the site is 
already in commercial use as a garage/mot centre and car sales. In addition 
there are commercial premises adjacent (including an A3 use) and a retail unit 
is under construction opposite. Taking the above factors into account, the 
application raises no land use policy concerns.  

 
8.2 The appearance of the proposed building is acceptable. A three storey 

development will not appear out of place on this site as the street is wide, there 
is a satisfactory gap between the new development and existing properties and 
there are buildings of a different heights and designs in the surrounding area. 
The development will respect the frontage building line and will include an 



enclosed space to the front of the A3 unit which, whilst differing from existing 
commercial units in the area, which have open frontages, will reflect the 
enclosed front gardens of the houses on Caerphilly Road and is considered to 
be appropriate. The proposed development will replace a less attractive 
commercial use and will add interest to the street scene. The finishing materials 
will be appropriate to the site’s context. 

 
8.3 With regard to impact on adjoining residents, the rear-facing bedroom windows 

will overlook only a blank side wall of the neighbouring house and the 
side-facing windows will not overlook habitable room windows. Those in the 
southern side elevation will be angled and partially obscure to provide a 
reasonable outlook whilst protecting the neighbours’ privacy. A 2.1m high brick 
wall will be erected around the rear boundary to screen the outdoor amenity 
area. 

 
8.4 The standard of accommodation for future residents will be satisfactory – the 

flats are of an acceptable size, each will have an off-street parking space and 
cycle storage facility and the outdoor amenity space accords with the 
requirements of the Residential Design Guidance SPG. This SPG states that 
there should be a minimum of 75 sq.m of communal outdoor amenity space for 
up to 5 flats. The plans show that there will be 73 sq.m of garden, which will be 
will be secure, private and accessible to all occupants, plus an outdoor storage 
building, separate bin storage space and car/cycle parking areas.  

 
8.5 In response to the objections set out in section 7 above: 

1.  No concerns have been raised by highways or pollution control officers 
with regard to parking, congestion or public health. Litter is subject to 
separate control under the Environmental Protection Act 1990. A 
potential increase in litter in the vicinity of A3 premises is not usually 
considered adequate grounds in itself for refusal of a planning 
application. 

2.  One existing on-street parking bay will be lost. However, the highway 
arrangements on this part of Caerphilly Road are to be altered as part of 
the Aldi development and Highways officers have indicated that the 
space could be moved elsewhere. This is an issue that will be resolved 
as part of the S278 process under the Highways Act. The number of 
parking spaces provided for residents of the flats complies with the 
relevant Supplementary Planning Guidance and 
Highways/Transportation officers have raised no concerns. 

3.  The new building will have windows overlooking the footpath, which will 
provide better surveillance and a deterrent to anti-social behaviour. 

4.  Houses at the rear of the site will be to the east of the new building and 
will still receive an acceptable amount of sunlight. 

5.  Habitable room windows will not overlook adjoining properties at short 
distances and there will be a high wall around the new amenity space 
(see 8.3 above). 

6.  The scale of the building is considered to be acceptable in this context 
(see 8.2 above). 

7.  Neither Planning Policy Wales nor Cardiff Council’s own Supplementary 
Planning Guidance on parking standards require a minimum number of 



parking spaces for any type of A3 development and 
Highways/Transportation officers have raised no concerns regarding 
parking. The site is in a sustainable location with good public transport 
links and there will be a 103-space car park (related to the Aldi 
development) on the opposite side of the road. 

8.  The plans have been amended so that windows will not project over the 
lane. 

9.  Businesses should not rely on customers always being able to park on 
the public highway directly outside their premises. Local Authorities 
often need to amend highways by adding bus lanes etc and it would be 
unreasonable to prevent such measures, which have city-wide public  
benefits, just to retain parking spaces close to private commercial 
premises. In this case, it should also be noted that this proposal will 
result in the loss of only one parking bay (which is likely to be replaced 
elsewhere as part of the future highway works) and that there will be a 
large new car park on the opposite side of the road. 

 
8.6 The petition relates only to the loss of one on-street parking space and the lack 

of detail about the A3 use. These issues are discussed above. 
 
8.7  The concerns raised by the two neighbours have also been addressed – there 

will be 5 parking spaces for residents of the development, the boundary wall will 
have to be erected before the flats are occupied, the opening times of the A3 
use will be restricted so that it cannot open late at night or on Sundays, the 
serving of alcohol is controlled by other legislation (a licence would be needed), 
the footpath will be overlooked by new windows, highways officers have no 
concerns about increased parking problems, the disposal of waste is covered 
by other legislation and the developer can be advised to contact Western 
Power Distribution regarding the substation. With regard to construction traffic, 
it is unlikely that Milestone Close would be used to access the site as there is no 
road link between the two. It would not be possible to prohibit vehicles 
associated with the development from parking on the public highway (including 
on Milestone Close) but this would be a temporary situation and any illegal, 
dangerous or obstructive parking would be controllable under other legislation. 

 
8.8 Considering the points raised by Julie Morgan AM: 

1.  This issue is dealt with at 8.2 above. 
2.  Further detail of the A3 use is not required – the possibility that it may be 

used for any type of food and drink use (coffee shop, café, hot food 
takeaway etc) has been considered. There is no difference in the parking 
requirements for different A3 uses and pollution control officers have 
considered the possibility that hot food may be cooked on the premises 
and have requested a suitable condition. Consideration has been given 
to opening hours and a condition is recommended preventing late night 
opening. These hours (08:00 to 18:00) are more restrictive than those 
imposed on the adjacent hot food takeaway, which can open from 9am 
to 10.30pm. The footpath alongside the site will be overlooked by 
windows and as a result will become a less attractive venue for 
anti-social behaviour. The proposed development will not make it a more 
dangerous place and it would therefore be unreasonable to require the 



developer to provide additional security arrangements. Gating the path 
would severely reduce permeability within the surrounding area and 
would discourage walking and cycling. Use of the path by local residents 
is likely to increase substantially once the Aldi supermarket is built. 

3.  Planning Policy Wales (paragraph 8.4.2) states that Local Authorities 
should ensure that new developments provide lower levels of parking 
than have generally been achieved in the past. Minimum parking 
standards are no longer appropriate. The Council’s Supplementary 
Planning Guidance also indicates that there is no minimum requirement 
for parking for A3 uses and Highways/Transportation officers have not 
requested that any off-street parking be provided for the A3 unit. The site 
is in a sustainable location close to an existing residential area from 
which customers and staff will be drawn, and which is well served by 
public transport and accessible by bicycle. The Council wishes to 
encourage non-car modes of transport and therefore a condition can be 
used to ensure that cycle parking facilities are provided. 

4.  Five off-street parking spaces for 5 small flats is considered to be 
adequate and is in accordance with the Council’s guidelines and with 
Welsh Government policies. 

5.  The issue of the parking bay is discussed above. As part of the highway 
works in the vicinity of this site, the parking bay can be relocated. This 
will be a matter between the developer and the Highway Authority. Such 
works are not shown on the plans as the public highway is not within the 
application site. 

6.  Highways officers have raised no concerns regarding the width of the 
access. This is a private drive serving a small number of private parking 
spaces and as such does not need to be wide enough for two vehicles to 
pass. 

7.  See point 5. This is a matter that will be resolved between the developer 
and the Highway Authority. Details do not need to be included in the 
planning application. Highways officers have no objections to the 
proposals. 

8.  The plans were amended to remove the overhanging windows. 
9.  Western Power Distribution have not responded to consultation but the 

developer can be advised to contact them before work commences to 
ensure that no equipment is disturbed. Welsh Water have not identified 
any water main in the area that could be affected. 

 
8.9 In response to the additional points, it is not considered necessary to request 

any amendments to the scheme. The applicant was not obliged to consult the 
local community before submitting the application, and an adequate amount of 
information has been supplied by the applicant to enable a full assessment of 
the proposals. As this is not a case where further information is necessary to 
enable the application to be determined, it is not appropriate to request a 
Design and Access Statement. 

 
8.10 With regard to the objections raised by Councillor Graham Hinchey: the issues 

of noise, litter etc are addressed in the response given at paragraph 8.5 above. 
The guidance contained in the “Food, Drink and Leisure Uses” SPG has been 
taken into consideration but in this instance it is felt that as the site is already in 



commercial use and as there are commercial premises adjacent (including an 
A3 use) and opposite (under construction) the area is not purely residential but 
is mixed in character and the replacement of a garage use with a mixed 
residential and commercial use is acceptable in principle. Furthermore, the A3 
use will not necessarily be a fast food takeaway and conditions will be used to 
restrict its opening and cooking hours and control the installation of kitchen 
extraction equipment. 

 
8.11 Restricted opening hours are recommended to ensure that the commercial use 

does not cause disturbance to residents. A closing time of 18:00, and no 
opening on Sundays, is suggested as this will tie in with the hours that the 
adjacent A3 use is permitted to cook hot food. Requiring the proposed use to 
close at 17:30, which would be an hour earlier than the existing A3 premises 
has to stop cooking hot food, would be unreasonable. The adjacent A3 
premises can be open to customers between 09:00 and 22:30 Monday to 
Saturday but can only sell hot food between 12 noon and 18:30. 

 
8.12 The issue of the height and scale of the building is addressed at 8.2 above. 
 
8.13 The plans have been amended so that windows will not project over the lane 

but will be flush with the building. They will not face towards habitable room 
windows or private garden areas of the adjacent properties therefore do not 
need to be obscurely glazed. 

 
8.14 There are no doors directly into the building on the side elevation, only a 

doorway in the boundary wall leading to the rear of the site from the public path, 
from which the building is accessed. Pedestrian access to the building can also 
be gained via the access drive off Caerphilly Road on the southern side. There 
are no planning reasons in this instance to require access into the upper floors 
of the building to be from the front of the building only. 

 
8.15 The issue of the electrical substation is addressed above. The proposed 

development will have no impact on access to the substation. 
 
8.16 Highways and Transportation officers have raised no concerns regarding 

access or parking issues, which area addressed earlier in this report. There is 
space within the site to turn a vehicle so as to avoid reversing onto Caerphilly 
Road. 

 
8.17 In conclusion, there are no reasonable grounds for refusal of this application 

and approval is recommended subject to the signing of a S106 Obligation 
relating to a financial contribution in lieu of affordable housing (which the 
applicant’s agent has confirmed is acceptable) and subject to the conditions set 
out above.  

 
9. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 
9.1  Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

 Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 imposes a duty on the Local 
Authority to exercise its various functions with due regard to the likely effect of 



the exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can 
to prevent, crime and disorder in its area. This duty has been considered in the 
evaluation of this application. It is considered that there would be no significant 
or unacceptable increase in crime and disorder as a result of the proposed 
decision. 

 
9.2 Equality Act 2010 

The Equality Act 2010 identifies a number of ‘protected characteristics’, namely 
age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or 
belief; sex; sexual orientation; marriage and civil partnership. The Council’s 
duty under the above Act has been given due consideration in the 
determination of this application. It is considered that the proposed 
development does not have any significant implications for, or effect on, 
persons who share a protected characteristic, over and above any other 
person. 

 
9.3  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 places a duty on the 
Welsh Ministers (and other public bodies) to produce well-being objectives and 
take reasonable steps to meet those objectives in the context of the principle of 
sustainable development. The duty to improve the economic, social, 
environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, in accordance with the 
sustainable development principle, under section 3 of the Well-Being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the WBFG Act), has been considered and 
account has been taken of  the ways of working set out at section 5 of the 
WBFG Act in the determination of this application, and it is considered that this 
decision is in accordance with the sustainable development principle through its 
contribution towards one or more of the well-being objectives referred to in 
section 9 of the WBFG Act.       

 
 
 
 
 



North

C
 A

 E
 R

 P
 H

 I L
 L

 Y
     R

 O
 A

 D

PROJECT

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE DATE DRAWN BY CHECKED BY

REVISIONDRAWING NUMBER

Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling from 
this drawing.  All construction information should be taken from figured 
dimensions only.

A3 Original Sheet 
Size

0mm 50mm

date rev name chk note

Systems House   89 Heol Don    Cardiff    CF14 2AT
T  02920316857    M  07785582007     info@dlparchitecture.co.uk

Architectural Design - Feasibility - Planning - Building Control - Construction Details - Sustainable Design

Copyright © DLP Architecture Ltd. All rights reserved worldwide.

1 : 1250

2
1
/0

2
/2

0
1
8
 1

6
:0

6
:0

3

304A Caerphilly Rd, Cardiff CF14 4NS

Location Plan

21/02/18 PL JR

L_001P551a

Proposed demolition of 304a Caerphilly Rd &
erection of new development to form A3
commercial unit to GF with 5 No flats over

1 : 1250

L o c a t i o n  P l a n

Planning Issue



 



 



 



 



-

-

L_211
2

L_210

1

L_210
2

L_110

1

-

N
o
rt

h

P
a

rk
in

g

L_214

1

L_211

1

2.1m high brickwork 
boundary wall

C A E R P H I L L Y     R O A D
Create new crossover to 

highways standards

Pavement
Pavement

2.1m high brickwork 
boundary wall 

2.1m high rendered 
boundary wall 

2.1m high 
brickwork 

boundary wall 

F
o

o
tp

a
th

Grass

6" foul sewer

0.75m high rendered 
boundary wall with 0.60m 
black metal railings over

Surface water  drainage to new 
soakaway to be designed in 
accordance with BRE 365 

0.75m high brickwork wall with 
0.60m black metal railings over

c
y
c
le

s

P
a

rk
in

g

P
a

rk
in

g

L_212

1

- GRASS

HARDSTANDING FINISHES KEY:

- PERMEABLE PAVIOURS

-FOUL DRAINAGE RUN - EXISTING

DRAINAGE LEGEND:

-FOUL DRAINAGE RUN - PROPOSED

-SURFACE WATER DRAINAGE RUN

PROJECT

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE DATE DRAWN BY CHECKED BY

REVISIONDRAWING NUMBER

Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling from 
this drawing.  All construction information should be taken from figured 
dimensions only.

A3 Original Sheet 
Size

0mm 50mm

date rev name chk note

Systems House   89 Heol Don    Cardiff    CF14 2AT
T  02920316857    M  07785582007     info@dlparchitecture.co.uk

Architectural Design - Feasibility - Planning - Building Control - Construction Details - Sustainable Design

Copyright © DLP Architecture Ltd. All rights reserved worldwide.

As
indicated

2
4
/0

5
/2

0
1
8
 1

1
:0

3
:1

4

304A Caerphilly Rd, Cardiff CF14 4NS

Site Plan as Proposed

21/02/18 PL JR

L_003P551a

Proposed demolition of 304a Caerphilly Rd &
erection of new development to form A3
commercial unit to GF with 5 No flats over

Planning Issue

1 : 250

S i t e  P l a n  a s   P r o p o s e d

DRAINAGE NOTES:

Surface water  drainage to new 
soakaway to be designed in accordance 
with BRE 365

WASTE STORAGE

Flats:
Recycling: 1 x 660L bins
Composting: 1 x 240L bins
Waste: 1 x 660L bins
Commercial: 5 x 360L bins

C

24/04/18 A PL Refuse storage amended

26/04/18 B PL Parking & cycle storage amended

28/04/18 C PL Side windows amended 



-FOUL DRAINAGE RUN - EXISTING

DRAINAGE LEGEND:

-FOUL DRAINAGE RUN - PROPOSED

-SURFACE WATER DRAINAGE RUN

- GRASS

HARDSTANDING FINISHES KEY:

- PERMEABLE PAVIOURS

Pavement

F
o

o
tp

a
th

Tarmacadam

Grass
73 m²

Shared Amenity

Sub 
Station

Side access to rear 
of development

8 No covered 
cycles

P
a

rk
in

g

P
a

rk
in

g

P
a

rk
in

g

No 304 not surveyed

rwp

rwp

Paviours

A
C

C
E

S
S

 R
O

A
D

98 m²
Commercial Unit

Parking

Paviours

Paviours

14 m²
Store

Note:
Bins to be moved to edge 

of main road on refuse 
collection day

4 m²
Waste store

Parking

8
 m

²
W

a
s
te

 s
to

ra
g
e

PROJECT

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE DATE DRAWN BY CHECKED BY

REVISIONDRAWING NUMBER

Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling from 
this drawing.  All construction information should be taken from figured 
dimensions only.

A3 Original Sheet 
Size

0mm 50mm

date rev name chk note

Systems House   89 Heol Don    Cardiff    CF14 2AT
T  02920316857    M  07785582007     info@dlparchitecture.co.uk

Architectural Design - Feasibility - Planning - Building Control - Construction Details - Sustainable Design

Copyright © DLP Architecture Ltd. All rights reserved worldwide.

As
indicated

2
4
/0

5
/2

0
1
8
 1

0
:5

7
:5

9

304A Caerphilly Rd, Cardiff CF14 4NS

Ground Floor Site Plan

21/02/18 PL JR

L_004P551a

Proposed demolition of 304a Caerphilly Rd &
erection of new development to form A3
commercial unit to GF with 5 No flats over

Planning Issue

DRAINAGE NOTES:

Surface water  drainage to new 
soakaway to be designed in accordance 
with BRE 365

1 : 150

G r o u n d   F l o o r   S i t e   P l a n

WASTE STORAGE

Flats:
Recycling: 1 x 660L bins
Composting: 1 x 240L bins
Waste: 1 x 660L bins
Commercial: 5 x 360L bins

B

24/04/18 A PL Refuse storage amended

26/04/18 B PL Parking & cycle storage amended



FINISHES KEY:

A : SLATE GREY ROOFING TILES
B : GREY WINDOWS & DOORS 
C : BLACK UPVC RAINWATER GOODS
D : WHITE SMOOTH FACED RENDERED 
EXTERNAL WALLS
E : BROWN / RED BRICKWORK EXTERNAL 
WALLS
F : ANTHRACITE GREY CLADDING
G : GLAZED BALUSTRADE

00_GF

0

01_1st

2700

02_2nd

5400

A

B

B

G

C

A

B

B

D

F

D

D

00_GF

0

01_1st

2700

02_2nd

5400

D

B

D

D

D

C

C

D

A

F

B

A

PROJECT

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE DATE DRAWN BY CHECKED BY

REVISIONDRAWING NUMBER

Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling from 
this drawing.  All construction information should be taken from figured 
dimensions only.

A3 Original Sheet 
Size

0mm 50mm

date rev name chk note

Systems House   89 Heol Don    Cardiff    CF14 2AT
T  02920316857    M  07785582007     info@dlparchitecture.co.uk

Architectural Design - Feasibility - Planning - Building Control - Construction Details - Sustainable Design

Copyright © DLP Architecture Ltd. All rights reserved worldwide.

 1 : 100

2
4
/0

5
/2

0
1
8
 1

1
:0

4
:1

7

304A Caerphilly Rd, Cardiff CF14 4NS

Elevations 1 of 3 as Proposed

21/02/18 PL JR

L_210P551a

Proposed demolition of 304a Caerphilly Rd &
erection of new development to form A3
commercial unit to GF with 5 No flats over

Planning Issue

 1 : 100

W e s t  (Front)  E l e v a t i o n

 1 : 100

N o r t h   (Side)  E l e v a t i o n
A

28/04/18 A PL Side windows amended 



FINISHES KEY:

A : SLATE GREY ROOFING TILES
B : GREY WINDOWS & DOORS 
C : BLACK UPVC RAINWATER GOODS
D : WHITE SMOOTH FACED RENDERED 
EXTERNAL WALLS
E : BROWN / RED BRICKWORK EXTERNAL 
WALLS
F : ANTHRACITE GREY CLADDING
G : GLAZED BALUSTRADE

00_GF

0

01_1st

2700

02_2nd

5400

A

A

B
B

C

B

G

D

D

E

B

00_GF

0

01_1st

2700

02_2nd

5400

B

E

C

A

F

D

D

C

D

F

B

E

A

C

PROJECT

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE DATE DRAWN BY CHECKED BY

REVISIONDRAWING NUMBER

Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling from 
this drawing.  All construction information should be taken from figured 
dimensions only.

A3 Original Sheet 
Size

0mm 50mm

date rev name chk note

Systems House   89 Heol Don    Cardiff    CF14 2AT
T  02920316857    M  07785582007     info@dlparchitecture.co.uk

Architectural Design - Feasibility - Planning - Building Control - Construction Details - Sustainable Design

Copyright © DLP Architecture Ltd. All rights reserved worldwide.

 1 : 100

2
4
/0

5
/2

0
1
8
 1

1
:0

4
:5

0

304A Caerphilly Rd, Cardiff CF14 4NS

Elevations 2 of 3 as Proposed

21/02/18 PL JR

L_211P551a

Proposed demolition of 304a Caerphilly Rd &
erection of new development to form A3
commercial unit to GF with 5 No flats over

Planning Issue

 1 : 100

E a s t   (Rear)  E l e v a t i o n

 1 : 100

S o u t h   (Side)  E l e v a t i o n

A

28/04/18 A PL Side windows amended



00_GF

0

01_1st

2700

02_2nd

5400

FINISHES KEY:

A : SLATE GREY ROOFING TILES
B : GREY WINDOWS & DOORS 
C : BLACK UPVC RAINWATER GOODS
D : WHITE SMOOTH FACED RENDERED 
EXTERNAL WALLS
E : BROWN / RED BRICKWORK EXTERNAL 
WALLS
F : ANTHRACITE GREY CLADDING
G : GLAZED BALUSTRADE

PROJECT

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE DATE DRAWN BY CHECKED BY

REVISIONDRAWING NUMBER

Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling from 
this drawing.  All construction information should be taken from figured 
dimensions only.

A3 Original Sheet 
Size

0mm 50mm

date rev name chk note

Systems House   89 Heol Don    Cardiff    CF14 2AT
T  02920316857    M  07785582007     info@dlparchitecture.co.uk

Architectural Design - Feasibility - Planning - Building Control - Construction Details - Sustainable Design

Copyright © DLP Architecture Ltd. All rights reserved worldwide.

 1 : 100

2
4
/0

5
/2

0
1
8
 1

1
:0

5
:5

8

304A Caerphilly Rd, Cardiff CF14 4NS

Street View as Proposed

21/02/18 PL JR

L_214P551a

Proposed demolition of 304a Caerphilly Rd &
erection of new development to form A3
commercial unit to GF with 5 No flats over

Planning Issue

 1 : 100

Street View  - Caerphilly Road

A

28/04/18 A PL Side windows amended



Project

Aldi Stores, Caerphilly Road, Cardiff

Client

ALDI Stores Ltd

Drawing Title

Proposed Site Plan 

Project Number

120334 P(1)103 G
Drawing Number - Revision

Scale

1:250 11/5/17
Date Drawn CheckedPaper Size StatusFilename

HB NR PLANNING 120334 SITE MASTER.vwxA1
Check all dimensions and levels on site

Only to be used on the site for which designed.  The electronic transmission of designs/information contained in this drawing is carried out entirely at the User's risk and Kendall Kingscott Ltd. will have no liability for any errors or inaccuracies 
arising therefrom.  The production of amended or updated information from the said designs/information by the User is entirely the responsibility of the User and Kendall Kingscott Ltd. shall have no responsibility in respect thereof whatsoever.

Rev Date By Note

A 13/6/17 BH Addition of a red brick boundary wall 
around the eastern boundary. Addition of 
bollards along the southern boundary. 
Alterations to the trolley bay and other 
minor alterations and notes amended.

Ap

NR 

© Copyright

+44 (0)117 931 2062
www.kendallkingscott.co.uk

Glentworth Court, Lime Kiln Close
Stoke Gifford, Bristol BS34 8SR

Do not scale this drawing

Various amendments following Public 
Consultation: -
Highways amended, soft landscaping 
amended, site parking amended, notes 
added.

B 20/6/17 NRBH

Addition of lighting columnsC 22/6/17 NRBH

Revision based on planners comments 
received 26/07/17. Alterations to the 
southern boundary to include a metal 
fence and a crash barrier. The pedestrian 
footpath to the west of the site has been 
relocated tot he eastern side of the car 
park. minor alterat

D 28/7/17 BHMW

Removal of the low brick wall and the low 
level soft landscaping to the east of the 
proposed store. Existing bus shelter 
repositioned to be included within the Aldi 
demise.

E 18/8/17 NRBH

Pedestrian crossing to site entrance 
moved further within the site

F 24/8/17 NRHB

Pedestrian crossing widenedG 10/10/17 NRBH

El Sub Sta

WAUN DDYFAL

Phoenix Estate

 C
AER

PH
ILLY R

O
A

D

BD

BD BD BD BD BD BD BD BD BD BD BD BD BD BD BD BD
BD BD BD

BD

BD

BD

BD

5354555657585960616263646566676869707172

31
32

33
34

35
36

37
38

39
40

41
42

43
44

45
46

47
48

49
50

51
52

1
2

373 74 75 76 77 78 79 80 81 82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91

101102103104105106107108109

456789101112131415161718192021222324252627282930

HDB BD

123 PARKING SPACES

Typical 2.5m x 5m

ET

TM

TM

TM

TM

TM

SL

TM

TM

TM

SL

SL

SL

SL

CS

CS

C
B

F 1.8m

C
B

F 1.8m

CYS

RETAINED BRICK WALL

RETAINED BRICK WALL 1.8M HIGH
ET

RETAINED BRICK WALL 1.8M HIGH

TOP OF WALL 40.53

BD

HDB 

BD

BDBD

ET

ET

BD

BD

BD

BD

BD

110
111

D
A

S
H

E
D

 LIN
E

 IN
D

IC
A

TE
S

 A
C

O
U

S
TIC

 FE
N

C
IN

G

Electric
Sub Station

Raised kerb approx 150 mm

IN

TKR

P
roposed low

 level red brick

 w
all approx 450 m

m
 high

P
roposed red brick

 w
all approx 1800 m

m
 high

P
roposed low

 level red brick

 w
all approx 450 m

m
 high

BD

TM

Existing red brick wall approx 1000mm high

Existing tarmac area with flush kerb

Existing landscaping

116115
117 118 119 120 121 122 123

93 92
94

TM

TM

LC

LC

LC

LC

LC

LC

LC

LC

LC

LC

LC

LC

LC Vehicle barrier and metal railings approx 1200mm high

P
roposed low

 level red brick

 w
all approx 450 m

m
 high

BD
BD

BD BD BD BD

113 114
112

TKR

9596979899

BD
BD

BD

BD

BD

BD

BD

BD

BD

BP

BP

BP

Warehouse
337 sq m

Welfare
125 sq m

Retail
1254 sq m

E METER

147 TROLLIES

OUT

Approx FFL - 38.05

Approx level
     36.75

GY

GY

GY

GY

GY

S
W

S

BUS
STOP

BP

BP

FYS IAU
LON

LANE
BUS

Cycle SpacesCYS

Tarmacadam Surfacing
to Car Park

Parking Bays Tarmacadam Surface

200sq 'ARGELITH FEINSTEINZEUG R12'
External Tiles under canopy. Colour 'Dark Grey'

KEY:

Surface finish with soft landscaping

Application Area

TarmacTM

Stainless steel bollard 

Heavy duty bollard

Lighting Column LC

HDB

BD

Trolley RailsTR

TM

TM

SL

ET

Close Boarded Fence (1.8m high)CBF

CS Concrete Slabs

C/C Concrete Surface

Proposed/Retained Tree / green

Timber Knee Rail FenceTKR

0 10 15 20 25 30 M

1:250 At A1

Aldi 6M double pole sign 

Proposed pedestrian footpath

Retained sub station

Existing bus shelter repostioned

New paved public realm area

Removed Trees

SERVICES KEY

Existing surface water sewer 

Existing foul water sewer, with 3M easement

Existing foul water sewer 

Blue line indicates water main - Easement 
required    

Fire hydrant location 
(approximate) 

Existing fire hydrants 

Existing wall

Proposed pedestrian access

Dashed blue line indicates 
acoustic enclosure to external plant 

 Pedestrian route      

Existing Brick Wall

Proposed red brick wall approx 1.8m high

Proposed low level red brick wall approx 
450mm high

Existing water mains

Landscaping to street frontage

Site access and right turn lane 

Proposed repositioning of bus shelter 

   

Tactile / blister pavingBP



FINISHES KEY:

A : SLATE GREY ROOFING TILES
B : GREY WINDOWS & DOORS 
C : BLACK UPVC RAINWATER GOODS
D : WHITE SMOOTH FACED RENDERED 
EXTERNAL WALLS
E : BROWN / RED BRICKWORK EXTERNAL 
WALLS
F : ANTHRACITE GREY CLADDING
G : GLAZED BALUSTRADE

PROJECT

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE DATE DRAWN BY CHECKED BY

REVISIONDRAWING NUMBER

Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling from 
this drawing.  All construction information should be taken from figured 
dimensions only.

A3 Original Sheet 
Size

0mm 50mm

date rev name chk note

Systems House   89 Heol Don    Cardiff    CF14 2AT
T  02920316857    M  07785582007     info@dlparchitecture.co.uk

Architectural Design - Feasibility - Planning - Building Control - Construction Details - Sustainable Design

Copyright © DLP Architecture Ltd. All rights reserved worldwide.

 1 : 100

304A Caerphilly Rd, Cardiff CF14 4NS

Perspective Views as Proposed

21/02/18 Pete
Legg

JR

L_220P551a

Proposed demolition of 304a Caerphilly Rd &
erection of new development to form A3
commercial unit to GF with 5 No flats over

Planning Issue

W e s t  P e r s p e c t i v e   V i e w s

A

28/04/18 A PL Side windows amended 



T
his page is intentionally left blank



LOCAL MEMBER OBJECTION 
 

COMMITTEE DATE: 10/06/2018  
 
APPLICATION No. 13/00979/DCH     DATE RECEIVED:  03/05/2018 
 
ED:  CATHAYS 
 
APP: TYPE:  Full Planning Permission 
 
APPLICANT:  Mrs Jones 
LOCATION:  42 Treherbert Street, Cathays, Cardiff 
PROPOSAL:  ENLARGEMENT OF REAR ANNEX AT GROUND FLOOR, 

 EXTENSION AT FIRST FLOOR AND REAR DORMER 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

RECOMMENDATION 1: That planning permission be GRANTED subject to 
the following conditions: 

 
1 C01 – Statutory Time Limit 

 
2 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 

drawings numbered 03C and 04B. 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory completion of the development and for 
the avoidance of doubt in line with the aims of Planning Policy Wales to 
promote an efficient planning system. 
 

3 The external surfaces of the dormer shall be finished in materials which 
as far as is practicable match the appearance of the materials used in 
the equivalent element of the existing building. 
Reason: To ensure the external materials harmonise with the existing 
building in the interests of the visual amenity of the area in accordance 
with Policy KP5 of the Local Development Plan. 
 

4 The first floor window in the west elevation shall be non-opening below 
a height of 1.7m above internal floor level and glazed with obscure 
glass, and thereafter be retained. 
Reason: To ensure that the privacy of adjoining occupiers is protected 
in accordance with Policy KP5 of the Local Development Plan. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 2: The applicant must make an application to Housing 
Enforcement (029 2087 1762) for a variation of their HMO licence. 

 
1. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
1.1 The application seeks planning permission to erect single storey, first floor 

and rear dormer extensions to a dwelling house. 
 

Agenda Item 7b



1.2 An existing single storey extension would be demolished and replaced with a 
structure up to 8m long and 4m wide with a flat roof 2.6m high, finished in 
render. The rear 2m would be angled away from the west side boundary. 

 
1.3 A 3.5m long 2.7m wide two storey extension is proposed with a lean-to 

pitched roof 4.6m high at eaves and 5.5m at maximum height, finished in 
render. 

 
1.4 A flat roofed dormer would project from the main roof by up to 3.1m at a width 

of 4.2m, finished in artificial slate. 
 
1.5 The application originally proposed a longer ground floor extension adjacent 

to the boundary with no. 44 Treherbert Street. However the architect was 
advised that it would be likely to have an overbearing impact upon no. 44 
Treherbert Street. The extension was subsequently reduced in length 
adjacent to the west side boundary. 

 
2. DESCRIPTION OF SITE 
 
2.1 The site comprises a two storey terraced dwelling, which is used as a House 

in Multiple occupation falling within use class C4 as specified by the Town and 
Country Planning (Use Classes) (Amendment) (Wales) Order 2016. 

 
3. SITE HISTORY 
 
3.1 None. 
 
3.2 Related History: 
 

10/00731/C - planning permission granted for ground and first floor extension 
and rear dormer to 34 Treherbert Street and first floor extension and rear 
dormer to 32 Treherbert Street. 

 
4. POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 
4.1 Relevant National Planning Guidance: 
 
 Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 2016) 

Technical Advice Note 12: Design 
 

4.2 Relevant Cardiff Local Development Plan (2006-2026) policies: 
 
 Policy KP5 (Good Quality and Sustainable Design) 

Policy H5 (Subdivision or Conversion of Residential Property) 
 
4.3 Relevant Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

Residential Extensions & Alterations (2017). 
 



5. INTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
 
5.1 Private Sector Housing – This property was licensed by Housing Enforcement 

on 28/05/14 for a maximum of 3 occupants. The second floor bedrooms will 
be of sufficient size provided that the floor area where the ceiling is 1.5 metres 
high or above is 6.5 square metres. The property will have sufficient bathroom 
facilities for 6 persons. The landlord should be advised that they must make 
an application to Housing Enforcement for a variation of the licence. For a 
property with 6 occupants, the kitchen facilities will need to include: Two full 
size cookers or one full size cooker and one convector microwave oven; Two 
kitchen sinks or one sink & a dishwasher; Two average fridge freezers; 
Additional work surface & kitchen storage. 

 
6. EXTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
 
6.1 None. 
 
7. REPRESENTATIONS 
 
7.1 The application was publicised by neighbour letter, no representations were 

received. 
 
7.2 Cllrs Merry, Weaver & Mackie object to the application as follows: 
 

We believe it breaches our Supplementary guidance Cardiff Residential 
Extensions and Alterations on the following grounds: 7:2 As the extension is 
the full width of the plot it is not subservient to the original dwelling. Neither is 
it set in from the gable end as advised in 7:3. It is overbearing to the 
neighbouring property as referred to in 7:15.  In fact it has a remarkable 
resemblance to the side extension that is used as an example of what a side 
extension should not be in our guidelines, except for the fact that the 
extension is to the rear as well as the side and thus even more overbearing in 
7:17, with a flat roof. 7:26 states “Extensions should not be overbearing to 
your neighbours or result in an unacceptable loss of daylight or sunlight to 
neighbouring properties”  Due to the proximity to the boundary, the size of the 
extension and the fact there is a first floor extension we believe this 
development to be both overbearing and resulting in an unacceptable loss of 
light. 7:27 continues “As a general rule, two-storey extensions should not be 
positioned very close to the boundary adjacent to the garden of a neighbour’s 
property. Generally, two storey rear extensions should not come nearer than 2 
metres of a boundary that forms a party wall between terraced and semi-
detached properties and 1 metre of other boundaries.” This is a two storey 
extension that will be within that boundary. We also believe that it will break 
the 45 degree rule laid down in 7.37-7.40 although without a plan of the 
neighbouring properties we cannot confirm that. The dormer also is overly 
large and top heavy breaching our guidance laid down in 7.79, 7.80 & 7.81 as 
it is not set in sufficiently. We are very concerned about the principle of the 
lightwell left for the rear ground floor bedroom. By definition this will lead to a 
poor outlook for this room as it will be almost immediately faced by a wall, in 
fact it will be surrounded by walls and make the room dark. We also worry 



about the potential for this area to become a collection point for rubbish with 
resulting hygiene issues with poor drainage. It breaches the principles of KP5 
of our LDP in terms of good design: we believe this to be the case for the 
application as a whole. We note that the application refers to extensions at the 
neighbouring properties but we cannot see that there have been applications 
for extensions at the neighbouring properties. We would like to know when 
such extensions were built and permission granted. In any case it is clear that 
due to the size of this extension a “tunnelling effect” is inevitable for the 
adjoining properties unless they have full width extensions. We cannot tell 
from the application whether the amenity space would still meet our minimum 
requirements under our SPG for HMO’s after the extension is built. We would 
ask for confirmation of the remaining amenity space after the extension and 
we believe that it is important that this is considered when existing HMO’s put 
in planning applications for extensions.  

 
8. ANALYSIS 
 
8.1 Design Considerations 

 
It is considered that the proposed extensions are acceptable in regards to 
their scale and design and will provide a subservient addition to the building 
and will not prejudice the general character of the area. The proposal is 
considered compliant with Policy KP5 (i) of the Local Development Plan and 
paragraph 7.2 of the Residential Extensions & Alterations SPG. 
 
The scale of the first floor extension would be suitably subservient, of similar 
scale to the existing two storey rear annexe structures in this terrace and 
would have a shorter projection into the rear garden than the larger two storey 
rear annexe extensions that exist at other properties in this terrace. 
 
The rear dormer roof extension is considered an acceptable addition to the 
property as it would be set back from the rear elevation (eaves) and finished 
in materials to match the existing building in accordance with the Residential 
Extensions & Alterations SPG. Whilst the structure will occupy much of the 
available roof slope it should be noted that the structure could be constructed 
without the formal permission of the Council under Class B of Part 1 in 
Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (Amendment) (Wales) Order 2013 on the basis that: it does not 
exceed the highest part of the existing roof, does not exceed 40 cubic metres, 
is set back by 0.2m from the eaves of the roof, and the appearance of the 
materials used will far as practicable match the appearance of the materials 
used in the equivalent elements of the existing dwellinghouse. 
 
It is considered that the scale of the single storey extension would not be an 
overly dominant feature and be of an appropriate scale in proportion to the 
overall site, of similar scale to the existing single storey structures in this 
terrace including the single storey extensions approved within close proximity 
to this property. An adequate external amenity area of approximately 28 
square metres would be retained beyond the single storey extension. 

 



8.2 Residential Amenity Considerations 
 

It is considered that the proposal would not be overbearing or generally un-
neighbourly which would justify a reason for refusal. The proposal is 
considered compliant with Policy KP5 (x) of the Local Development Plan and 
paragraph 7.2 of the Residential Extensions & Alterations SPG. 
 
The first floor extension should not have any unreasonable overbearing or un-
neighbourly impact as it would be set off the boundary with no. 44 by 1.8m 
and directly adjoin an existing two storey annexe structure of identical length 
and height at no. 40. The existing pairs of two storey rear annexe structures in 
this terraced row of properties are set off the side boundary by the same 
distance (1.8m) as proposed in this instance. 
 
It is noted that the first floor side facing window would be sited 1.8m from the 
side boundary of no. 44 which is less than the minimum of 10.5m specified by 
the Residential Extensions & Alterations SPG. Condition 4 is considered 
necessary to ensure this window is obscure glazed and non-opening below an 
internal height of 1.7m. 

 
The single storey element of this proposal should not have any unreasonable 
impact on the neighbouring property. It should be noted that the rear most 
part of the extension would be angled away from the boundary with no. 44 
such that its impact upon the outlook from the ground floor rear facing window 
at no. 44 would be reduced. Also, the single storey extension would have 
would have no adverse impact upon no. 40 as it would adjoin an existing 
structure of a similar length at no. 40. 

 
8.3 Representations 
  

The representation received from Cllrs Merry, Weaver & Mackie is noted. The 
issues raised are considered below within the context of the guidance as set 
out in the Residential Extensions & Alterations SPG. Paragraph 2.5 states 
that the design guidance ‘sets out broad principles to guide and assess the 
most common forms of development’. 

 
a) Extensions not subservient: The scale of the extensions and their 

relationship with the existing building and that of neighbouring properties is 
considered acceptable, having regard to the context of this particular 
terrace as detailed in the design analysis above. In this respect the 
proposal is considered to fully accord with the rear extension design 
principles set out in paragraph 7.2 of the Residential Extensions & 
Alterations SPG which states that ‘a rear extension should be subordinate 
to the original dwelling’. The advice referred to within paragraph 7.3 of the 
Residential Extensions & Alterations SPG references a two storey 
extension but it is important to note that the application site is a terraced 
dwelling, not a semi-detached/terraced dwelling with a gable end. It is not 
considered that the proposal closely resembles the example of an 
unacceptable flat roofed side extension referred to within paragraph 7.17 
of the Residential Extensions & Alterations SPG, the example indicates a 



taller structure in relation to the side boundary but it is important to note 
that the proposal is only 0.6m taller than a standard boundary wall. In this 
respect the proposal is considered to fully accord with the rear extension 
design principles set out in paragraph 7.14 of the Residential Extensions & 
Alterations SPG which states that ‘a successful side return extension is 
dependent on the design proposed (scale, form, roof pitch and finish)’. It 
should also be noted that whilst Supplementary Planning Guidance is a 
material consideration when making planning decisions site circumstances 
may also influence the decision making process. 

 
b) Overbearing impact of two storey extension: It is considered that the 

proposal would not result in any unreasonable loss of amenity to adjoining 
properties. There are other examples of two storey annexes within the 
terraced row and general area. It is not untypical for a first floor annexe to 
break the horizontal and vertical 45 degree rules referred to within the 
Residential Extensions & Alterations SPG. In this case the vertical 45 
degree rule is only broken marginally and only at the maximum roof height 
not at eaves height. In this respect the proposal is considered to fully 
accord with the rear extension design principles set out in paragraph 7.2 of 
the Residential Extensions & Alterations SPG which states that ‘a rear 
extension should avoid blocking natural light and outlook to habitable 
rooms in neighbouring properties’. It should be noted that the Residential 
Extensions & Alterations SPG Supplementary Planning Guidance sets out 
broad principles to guide and assess the most common forms of 
development, and is not intended to be an exhaustive document. All 
applications are judged on their individual merits, particularly as the 
scenarios of residential extensions will vary substantially between terraced 
inner city dwellings and less dense semi-detached suburban dwellings. 

 
c) Dormer size: It is noted that the dormer extension is of a larger size than 

recommended by the Residential Extensions & Alterations SPG. However 
in this case it has to be recognised that the dormer extension constitutes 
‘permitted development’ and would not require planning permission as 
detailed in the above report. 

 
d) Outlook from rear bedroom and rubbish in light well: It is not uncommon 

for natural light to be retained in such a manner and while not ideal it 
would be possible for this area to be ‘filled in’ through the ability to extend 
the property using permitted development rights. It should be noted 
however that the provision of natural light and ventilation to the bedroom 
would be controlled by Housing Enforcement under the HMO Licensing 
regulations, so in the event that this room is not licensed for use as a 
bedroom it could be used for another purpose such as a store room, dining 
room, kitchen or bathroom. With regard to rubbish potentially collecting in 
the ‘light well’ area, the plans indicate that a door will be provided in the 
rear elevation enabling access to this area. 

 
e) Extensions at adjoining property: Although there is no record of planning 

permissions for the extensions at no. 40 Treherbert Street, aerial 
photographs confirm that these structures have existed since at least 



2004, therefore they are lawful in planning terms as they have existed for 
more than four years. 

 
f) Tunnelling effect to adjoining properties: It is considered that the extension 

would not have any unreasonable impact upon the outlook from the 
adjoining ground floor rear facing window at no. 44. It should be noted that 
the structure now applied for would be shorter adjacent to the boundary 
than the existing annexe/extension at no. 44 and the rear part would be 
angled away from the boundary, as indicated by the splayed dotted lines 
on the proposed floor plans. It is not considered that the extensions would 
have any impact upon no. 40 as it would adjoin the existing structures of 
similar length at no. 40. In this respect the proposal is considered to fully 
accord with the rear extension design principles set out in paragraphs 7.2 
of the Residential Extensions & Alterations SPG which states that ‘a rear 
extension should avoid blocking natural light and outlook to habitable 
rooms in neighbouring properties.’ 

 
g) Remaining amenity space: An external amenity area of approximately 28 

square metres would be retained beyond the single storey extension. In 
this respect the proposal is considered to fully accord with paragraph 7.58 
of the Residential Extensions & Alterations SPG which states that ‘a 
minimum of 25 square metres of an appropriate shape and siting should 
be retained’. This is applicable to class C3 dwellings and class C4 houses 
in multiple occupation. 

 
8.4 Conclusion 
 

It is concluded that the application is acceptable in accordance with the 
planning policies listed, and is recommended that planning permission be 
granted, subject to conditions. 



This copy of the title plan is incomplete without the preceding notes page.

Mae'r copi hwn o'r cynllun teitl yn anghyflawn heb y dudalen flaenorol o nodiadau.



REAR ELEVATION EXISTING

SECTIONAL SIDE ELEVATION (AA) EXISTING

OUTLINE OF NEIGHBOURS ANNEX

FRONT ELEVATION EXISTING

FRONT ELEVATION PROPOSED

SECTIONAL SIDE ELEVATION (AA) PROPOSED

REAR ELEVATION PROPOSED

Dai2a.co.uk



ROOM 1

9.2m²

LIVING

KITCHEN

BATHROOM

GROUND FLOOR EXISTING

L
E

N
G

T
H

 
O

F
 
N

E
I
G

H
B

O
U

R
S

 
E

X
T

E
N

S
I
O

N
S

ROOM 2

12.9m²

ROOM 3

12.2m²

FIRST FLOOR EXISTING

L
E

N
G

T
H

 
O

F
 
N

E
I
G

H
B

O
U

R
S

 
A

N
N

E
X

ROOM 1

9.2m²

ROOM 2

KITCHEN

GROUND FLOOR PROPOSED

L
E

N
G

T
H

 
O

F
 
N

E
I
G

H
B

O
U

R
S

 
E

X
T

E
N

S
I
O

N
S

8.3m²

LIVING / DINING

22m²

rooflight over

NEW MH

OLD MH

ROOM 3

7.8m²

ROOM 4

8.6m²

FIRST FLOOR PROPOSED

L
E

N
G

T
H

 
O

F
 
N

E
I
G

H
B

O
U

R
S

 
A

N
N

E
X

FLAT ROOF

ROOM 5

7.4m²

ROOM 6

8m²

line of 1.5m headroom

velux over velux over

line of 2m headroom

SECOND FLOOR PROPOSED

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT

The existing house is a terraced property with masonry walls and a slate clad roof.  The rear annex

is single storey but the neighbouring property also has a lean to first floor extension.

The proposal is to enlarge the current ground floor annex and extension and enlarge the space at

ground floor level to the same length as the neighbour on the annex side, thus creating a living area

closer to the garden.

There will be a small extension at first floor level mirroring that of the neighbour and a box dormer is

proposed at second floor level thus allowing the current three bedded HMO accommodation to be

increased to six bedrooms.

Wall finish material for both extensions will be render to match existing but on a timber framed

construction at first floor level. The roof of the first floor extension will be pitched to match the

neighbour. The dormer will

be clad in artificial slate and the front of the roof will incorporate Velux rooflights.

Existing access levels and parking arrangements will be unaffected.

Dai2a.co.uk



COMMITTEE DATE: 13/06/2018 
 
APPLICATION No. 17/02130/MJR APPLICATION DATE:  08/11/2017 
 
ED:   SPLOTT 
 
APP: TYPE:  Outline Planning Permission 
 
APPLICANT:   Parc Calon Gwyrdd Limited 
LOCATION:  LAND AT ROVER WAY, PENGAM 
PROPOSAL:  THE REMOVAL OF FILL MATERIAL AND THE CONSTRUCTION  
   OF A BIOMASS POWER PLANT (UP TO 9.5MW) AND A   
   MAXIMUM OF 130,000 SQ. FT. OF INDUSTRIAL    
   ACCOMMODATION (B8 USE CLASS), NEW ACCESS ROADS  
   AND ASSOCIATED LANDSCAPING WORKS     
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
 RECOMMENDATION 1 :  That, having taken the environmental information 

into consideration, planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following 
conditions: 

 
1. A. Approval of the details of the layout, scale, and appearance of the 

buildings and the landscaping of the site (hereinafter called "the reserved 
matters") shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority in writing 
before any development is commenced.    

 B. Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in condition 1A 
above, relating to the layout, scale, and appearance of the buildings and the 
landscaping of the site shall be submitted in writing to the local planning 
authority and shall be carried out as approved. 

 C. Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the 
Local Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date 
of this permission.                                                                                 

 D. The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the 
expiration of five years from the date of this permission or before the 
expiration of two years from the date of the last of the reserved matters to be 
approved, whichever is the later.                                                                            

 Reasons: 
 A. In accordance with the provisions of Article (3)1 of the Town and Country 

Planning (General Development Procedure) Order 1995. 
 B. and C. In accordance with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
PLANS AND DOCUMENTS 
 
2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in broad 

accordance with following approved plans: 
(i) Location Plan (A(P)-01); 
(ii) Site Plan (A(P)-02); 
(iii) Site Existing (A(P)-03); 
(iv) Proposed Site Sections (A(P)-04); 

Agenda Item 7c



(v) Landscape Plan (A(P)-07); 
 
 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with 

following approved plan: 
(vi) Ghost Island Junction Arrangement With 16.5m Articulated Vehicle 

Swept Path Analysis (173097/SK/11 Revision A); 
 
 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with 

following approved document: 
(i) Parameter Schedule, Downs Merrifield Architects, 8 November 

2017; 
 
 Reason: The plans and documents form part of the permission.  
 
PHASING STRATEGY 
 
3. No reserved matters shall be approved until a phasing strategy for the 

development of the site (including the removal of fill material) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved phasing 
strategy. 

 Reason: To ensure an orderly form of development. 
 
VIRGIN WOOD FUEL  
 
4. The total tonnage of virgin wood treated at the plant hereby approved shall 

not exceed 75,000 dry tonnes per annum (Virgin wood includes trees, 
branches and bark derived from forestry work, woodland management, tree 
surgery and other similar operations including sawmills). No material other 
than virgin wood shall be processed at the Power Plant. Records of the 
amount of fuel processed shall be retained and made available to the Local 
Planning Authority on request. 

 Reason: The application has been assessed on the basis of this tonnage 
limit. 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL PERMIT 
 
5. No processing or removal of the ‘overburden’ material (that above the 

membrane underlying the original capping layer) shall take place until an 
appropriate assessment/waste classification of the material has been 
undertaken and an appropriate Environmental Permit has been granted by 
the relevant Permitting Authority. All subsequent works to process and 
remove this material shall be undertaken in accordance with the permit 
conditions, and all necessary additional sampling requirements of the 
material as required under the permit, for which evidence of their approval 
shall first be submitted to the Local Planning Authority.  

 Reason: To ensure that any unacceptable risks from land contamination to 
the future users of the land, neighbouring land, controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems are minimised, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 



and other offsite receptors. 
 
 
GROUND GAS PROTECTION 
 
6. Following the completion of the reworking of materials in Zone 2, and prior 

to the construction of any building in Zone 2 (see ‘Profile Makeup’, 
Environmental Statement, Appendix 7.5 ), the developer shall submit to the 
Local Planning Authority a scheme to investigate and monitor the site for 
the presence of gases* including a plan of the area to be monitored. The 
monitoring shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme 
prior to the construction of any building in Zone 2.  

 
 Following completion of the approved monitoring scheme details of 

appropriate gas protection measures to ensure the safe and inoffensive 
dispersal or management of gases and to prevent lateral migration of gases 
into or from land surrounding the application site shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. If no protection 
measures are required than no further actions will be required. 

 All gas protection measures required by the Local Planning Authority shall 
be installed and appropriately verified prior to the occupation of any part of 
the approved development and the approved protection measures shall be 
retained and maintained until such time as the Local Planning Authority 
agrees in writing that the measures are no longer required. 

 * ‘Gases’ include landfill gases, vapours from contaminated land sites, and 
naturally occurring methane and carbon dioxide, but does not include radon 
gas.  Gas Monitoring programmes shall be designed in line with current 
best practice as detailed in CIRIA 665 and or BS8485 year 2007 Code of 
Practice for the Characterization and Remediation from Ground Gas in 
Affected Developments.  

 Reason: To ensure that the safety of future occupiers is not prejudiced. 
 
CONTAMINATED LAND MEASURES – ASSESSMENT 
 
7. No works below the membrane underlying the original capping layer or 

elsewhere below the overburden shall take place until an assessment of the 
nature and extent of contamination of the underlying material has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This 
assessment shall be carried out by or under the direction of a suitably 
qualified competent person * in accordance with BS10175 (2011) Code of 
Practice for the Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites and shall 
assess any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the 
site. The report of the findings shall include:  
(i)  a desk top study to identify all previous uses at the site and potential 

contaminants associated with those uses and the impacts from 
those contaminants on land and controlled waters.  The study shall 
establish a ‘conceptual site model’ (CSM) which identifies and 
assesses all identified potential source, pathway, and receptor 
linkages;  

(ii)  an intrusive investigation to assess the extent, scale and nature of 



contamination which may be present, if identified as required by the 
desk top study; 

(iii)  an assessment of the potential risks to: 
• human health 
• groundwaters and surface waters 
• adjoining land 
• property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, 

livestock, pets, woodland and service lines and pipes 
• ecological systems 
• archaeological sites and ancient monuments; and 
• any other receptors identified at (i) 

(iv)  an appraisal of remedial options, and justification for the preferred 
remedial option(s).  

 All work and submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition shall 
be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s 
‘Model procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ 
(September 2004) and the WLGA / WAG / EA guidance document ‘Land 
Contamination: A guide for Developers’ (2012), unless the Local Planning 
Authority agrees to any variation in writing. 

 * A ‘suitably qualified competent person’ would normally be expected to be 
a chartered member of an appropriate professional body (such as the 
Institution of Civil Engineers, Geological Society of London, Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors, Institution of Environmental 
Management) and also have relevant experience of investigating 
contaminated sites. 

 Reason: To ensure that information provided for the assessment of the risks 
from land contamination to the future users of the land, neighbouring land, 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems is sufficient to enable a 
proper assessment. 

 
CONTAMINATED LAND MEASURES – REMEDIATION & VERIFICATION PLAN 
 
8. No works below the membrane underlying the original capping layer or 

elsewhere below the overburden shall take place until a detailed 
remediation scheme and verification plan to bring the site to a condition 
suitable for the intended use by removing any unacceptable risks to human 
health, controlled waters, buildings, other property and the natural and 
historical environment has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include all works to be 
undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, a 
timetable of works and site management procedures. The scheme shall 
ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of 
the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the 
land after remediation. 

 
 All work and submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition shall 

be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s 
‘Model procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ 
(September 2004) and the WLGA / WAG / EA guidance document ‘Land 
Contamination: A guide for Developers’ (July 2006), unless the Local 



Planning Authority agrees to any variation in writing. 
 Reason: To ensure that any unacceptable risks from land contamination to 

the future users of the land, neighbouring land, controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems are minimised, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 
and other offsite receptors. 

 
9. The remediation scheme approved by Condition 8 (Remediation & 

Verification Plan) shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details prior to the occupation of any permanent structure of the approved 
development unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Local Planning Authority shall be given two weeks written 
notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works.  

 Within 6 months of the completion of the measures identified in the 
approved remediation scheme, a verification report that demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the remediation carried out shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 All work and submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition shall 
be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s 
‘Model procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ 
(September 2004) and the WLGA / WAG / EA guidance document ‘ Land 
Contamination: A guide for Developers’ (July 2006), unless the Local 
Planning Authority agrees to any variation in writing 

 Reason: To ensure that any unacceptable risks from land contamination to 
the future users of the land, neighbouring land, controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems are minimised, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 
and other offsite receptors. 

 
CONTAMINATED LAND MEASURES – UNFORESEEN CONTAMINATION 
 
10. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 

approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 
in writing within 2 days to the Local Planning Authority. All associated works 
must stop, and no further development shall take place unless otherwise 
agreed in writing until a scheme to deal with the contamination found has 
received the Local Planning Authority’s written approval. An investigation 
and risk assessment shall be undertaken and where remediation is 
necessary a remediation scheme and verification plan shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Following 
completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a 
verification report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The timescale for the above actions shall be agreed 
with the Local Planning Authority within 2 weeks of the discovery of any 
unsuspected contamination.  

 Reason: To ensure that any unacceptable risks from land contamination to 
the future users of the land, neighbouring land, controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems are minimised, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 
and other offsite receptors. 



 
 
IMPORTED SOIL 
 
11. Any topsoil [natural or manufactured], or subsoil, to be imported shall be 

assessed for chemical or other potential contaminants in accordance with a 
scheme of investigation which shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority in advance of its importation. Only material 
approved by the Local Planning Authority shall be imported. All measures 
specified in the approved scheme shall be undertaken in accordance with 
the relevant Code of Practice and Guidance Notes.  

 Subject to approval of the above, sampling of the material received at the 
development site to verify that the imported soil is free from contamination 
shall be undertaken in accordance with a scheme and timescale to be 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 Reason: To ensure that the safety of future occupiers is not prejudiced. 
 
IMPORTED AGGREGATES  
 
12. Any aggregate (other than virgin quarry stone) or recycled aggregate 

material to be imported shall be assessed for chemical or other potential 
contaminants in accordance with a scheme of investigation which shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
advance of its importation. Only material approved by the Local Planning 
Authority shall be imported. All measures specified in the approved scheme 
shall be undertaken in accordance with the relevant Code of Practice and 
Guidance Notes.  

 Subject to approval of the above, sampling of the material received at the 
development site to verify that the imported material is free from 
contamination shall be undertaken in accordance with a scheme and 
timescale to be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 Reason: To ensure that the safety of future occupiers is not prejudiced. 
 
USE OF SITE WON MATERIALS 
 
13. Any site won material including soils, aggregates, recycled materials shall 

be assessed for chemical or other potential contaminants in accordance 
with a sampling scheme which shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority in advance of the reuse of site won 
materials. Only material which meets site specific target values approved by 
the Local Planning Authority shall be reused.  

 Reason: To ensure that the safety of future occupiers is not prejudiced. 
 
INTEGRITY OF THE MDPE MEMBRANE 
 
14. Upon completion of the investigation into material underlying the membrane 

below the original capping layer, a weekly scheme of repairs to 
restore/maintain the integrity of the membrane where necessary shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
repairs shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details within a 



timescale that shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  
 Reason: To ensure that any unacceptable risks from land contamination to 

the future users of the land, neighbouring land, controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems are minimised, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 
and other offsite receptors. 

 
NO PILING 
 
15. Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall not 

be permitted other than with the express written permission of the Local 
Planning Authority, which may be given for those parts of the site where it 
has been demonstrated that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to 
groundwater. 

 Reason: There is an increased potential for pollution of controlled waters 
from inappropriate methods of piling. 

 
DRAINAGE DETAILS 
 
16. No development shall take place until a drainage scheme for the site has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The scheme shall demonstrate how the site will be effectively drained; the 
means of disposal of surface water and indicate how foul flows will 
communicate to the public sewerage system. Thereafter, the scheme shall 
be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to the 
occupation of the development and no further surface water or land 
drainage shall be allowed to connect directly or indirectly with the public 
sewerage system. 

 Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, 
to protect the health and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution 
of or detriment to the environment. 

 
POTABLE WATER SCHEME 
 
17. No building shall be constructed until a potable water scheme to serve the 

site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall demonstrate that the existing water supply 
network can satisfactorily accommodate the proposed development site. If 
necessary a scheme to upgrade the existing public water supply network in 
order to accommodate the site shall be delivered prior to the occupation of 
any building. Thereafter, the agreed scheme shall be constructed in full and 
remain in perpetuity. 

 Reason: To ensure the site is served by a suitable potable water supply. 
 
AIR QUALITY ASSESSMENT 
 
18. No reserved matters application shall be approved until an Air Quality 

Assessment (AQA) for the detailed design of the Biomass Plant has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
AQA shall include an assessment of the impact of the plant emissions and 



any necessary mitigation measures to ensure the overall impacts of the 
plant are acceptable. The plant shall be constructed in accordance with the 
approved details and maintained thereafter. 

 Reason: To ensure air quality is maintained to satisfactory levels. 
 
PLANT NOISE ASSESSMENT 
 
19. Prior to beneficial occupation of the Biomass Power Plant a noise 

assessment shall be carried out and submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority to ensure the noise emitted from fixed plant and equipment on the 
site achieves a rating noise level of background -10dB at the nearest noise 
sensitive premises (Rover Way Traveller Site) when measured and 
corrected in accordance with BS 4142: 2014 (or any British Standard 
amending or superseding that standard). This assessment shall include an 
assessment of the impact of the noise from this proposed development 
after the removal of material from the site which may currently act as a noise 
barrier to the nearest noise sensitive receptors at the traveller site on Rover 
Way.  

 Reason: To ensure that the amenities of occupiers of other premises in the 
vicinity are protected. 

 
DELIVERY TIMES 
 
20. Deliveries shall only take place at the site between the hours of 08:00 and 

18:00 Monday to Saturday and at no time on Sundays or Bank Holidays. 
 Reason: To ensure that the amenities of occupiers of other premises in the 

vicinity are protected. 
 
ODOUR ASSESSMENT 
 
21. No material shall be removed from the site until an odour assessment has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The assessment shall detail any potential adverse impact from odours 
during the removal of material and shall quantify the potential impact of 
generated odour upon business users and residents in the vicinity utilising 
methodology set out in the Institute of Air Quality Management’s  (IAQM) 
best practise guidance; “Guidance on the assessment of odour for 
planning.” In the event that the assessment indicates a negative impact 
upon local residents or businesses then the assessment shall include 
appropriate mitigation measures that shall be implemented to the written 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority prior to the development 
commencing. 

 Reason: To safeguard the amenity of nearby and future residents. 
 
NO CHIPPING ON SITE 
 
22. No wood chipping shall take place on the application site. 
 Reason: To safeguard the amenity of nearby and future residents. 
 
 



 STORAGE OF MATERIALS 

23. There shall be no open storage of materials of any kind outside any 
approved buildings on the site. 

 Reason: To safeguard the amenity of nearby and future residents. 
 
CHP ARRANGEMENTS 
 
24. Prior to the construction of the Biomass Power Plant hereby approved, 

details of the creation of electricity and thermal energy, arrangements for 
establishing a connection to the local grid and the timing for such energy 
provision shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details. 

 Reason: To maximise the potential for renewable energy in accordance 
with LDP Policy EN12 (Renewable Energy and Low Carbon Technologies) 

 
FUEL ASH 
 
25. Prior to the approval of any reserved matters application for the Biomass 

Power Plant, details of a scheme for the management and disposal of fuel 
ash arising from the development shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The disposal of the fuel ash shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved scheme. 

 Reason: In order to ensure the disposal of waste from the site without harm 
to local amenity, 

 
CONSTRUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT PLAN (CEMP) 
 
26. Prior to the commencement of any removal of existing material, 

construction works or development on any phase, a Construction 
Environmental and Management Plan (CEMP) for that phase shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
order to manage the impacts of construction on that phase. The CEMP shall 
include: 
(ii) The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;  
(iii) Loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
(iv) Storage of plant and materials; 
(v) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including 

decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where 
appropriate; 

(vi) Details of highways/footway closures; 
(vii) Wheel washing facilities; 
(viii) Measures to monitor and control the emission of dust and dirt during 

material removal and construction; 
(ix) A scheme for the recycling/disposing of waste resulting from the 

removal of fill material and construction works; 
(x) A plan showing the routes for vehicles undertaking material removal, 

construction and operational activity (i.e. delivery of Biomass Fuel) 
and the destination of any material removal. No routes through 



residential areas will be permitted; 
(xi) A list of on-site contacts and their responsibilities; 
(xii) A Construction Drainage Scheme indicating how surface water and 

land drainage flows will be controlled to prevent contamination, 
nuisance, subsidence or flooding to land, buildings, watercourses or 
highways within that phase (or part thereof) or adjacent land, 
buildings, watercourses and highways during the construction 
period; 

 The details so approved and any subsequent amendments as shall be 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall be complied with 
in full throughout the construction period for that phase.  

 Reason: In the interests of highway safety, and protection of the 
environment and public amenity.  

 
SITE WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN (SWMP) 
 
27. Prior to the commencement of any removal of existing material, 

construction works or development on any phase, a Site Waste 
Management Plan (SWMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The SWMP shall include (where relevant): 
(i) Details for the transportation of all excavated material, including the 

type of vehicles to be used; 
(ii) Details of how contaminated material will be treated and disposed; 
(iii) Measures to reduce environmental impacts of construction waste. 

 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
SWMP for that phase. Transfer/consignment notes of all material 
transported off-site shall be made available upon request to the Local 
Planning Authority. 
Reason: To reduce environmental impacts of construction waste. 

 
PROVISION OF ROVER WAY JUNCTION 
 
28. No development shall take place, including the removal of overburden 

down to the level of the existing membrane, until the Rover Way/Site 
Access priority junction hereby approved (Drawing No. 173097/SK/11 
Revision A) has also been approved in writing by the overseeing highway 
authority and implemented to their written satisfaction. 

 Reason: To facilitate safe and efficient access to and egress from the 
proposed development in the interests of highway and pedestrian safety. 

 
PEAK HOUR RESTRICTIONS 
 
29. No vehicles shall access or egress the site during the morning and 

afternoon peak periods of 8am to 9am and 5pm to 6pm.  
 Reason: To avoid congestion on the local highway network. 
 
AUTOMATED TRAFFIC COUNTERS  
 
30. Prior to the commencement of development details of Automated Traffic 

Counters (ATCs) to be installed to both the Rover Way and Tide Fields 



Road access/egresses shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The approved ATCs shall be installed prior to the 
commencement of development and shall be retained thereafter. The ATCs 
shall record the number of vehicles accessing and egressing the site. 
Records of the number, arrival time and departure time of each vehicle shall 
be submitted to the Local Planning Authority upon request. 

 Reason: To monitor the number of vehicles accessing and egressing the 
site 

 
OPERATIONAL TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 
 
31. Prior to the operation of the Biomass Plant and associated industrial 

floorspace, a detailed Operational Traffic Management Plan (OTMP) shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The OTMP shall include details of the times of operation of the Biomass 
Plant and commercial units, a schedule of operational related vehicle 
movements to and from the site as described in Chapter 10 of the 
Environmental Statement and Technical Appendix 10.1 (para 5.15), any 
restrictions of movements on the highway network, and the routing of 
operational related traffic on the local highway network to avoid sensitive 
receptors as indicated in the Outline Planning Application Environmental 
Statement and technical Appendix 10.1 (Transport Statement). The 
development shall operate in accordance with the approved OTMP.  

 Reason: In the interests of highway safety, and protection of the 
environment and public amenity.  

 
ECOLOGY DATA SHELF LIFE 
 
32. If site clearance in respect of the development hereby approved does not 

commence (or, having commenced, is suspended for more than 12 
months) within 2 years from the date of the most recent survey, the 
approved ecological measures secured through (other planning conditions) 
shall be reviewed and, where necessary, amended and updated. The 
review shall be informed by further ecological surveys commissioned to i) 
establish if there have been any changes in the presence and/or 
abundance of habitats and species and ii) identify any likely new ecological 
impacts that might arise from any changes. 

 Where the survey results indicate that changes have occurred that will 
result in ecological impacts not previously addressed in the approved 
scheme, the original approved ecological measures will be revised, and 
new or amended measures, and a timetable for their implementation, shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
prior to the commencement of development. Works shall then be carried out 
in accordance with the new approved ecological measures and timetable. 

 Reason: To ensure that the assessment of the impacts of the development 
upon the species concerned, and any measures to mitigate those impacts, 
are informed by up-to-date information.  

 
 
 



GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE STRATEGY (GIS) 
 
33. A comprehensive Green Infrastructure Strategy (GIS) for the site detailing 

measures to avoid, mitigate and compensate for impacts upon ecological 
interests, together with measures to provide habitat enhancement shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
the approval of any reserved matters applications. The GIS shall 
incorporate other elements of green infrastructure including trees, a soil 
resource survey, landscaping and public rights of way, as well as ecology. It 
shall also encompass each phase of the development as well as the future 
management of habitats. 

 The ecological element of the GIS shall include, but not be limited to: 
(i) Timing of works to avoid visual and noise disturbance to 

overwintering and migratory wetland birds; 
(ii) Landscaping details, based upon pages 19 to 21 inclusive of the 

Ecology Survey Report 2017, to ensure that the current open mosaic 
habitats and species-rich grassland form the majority of the 
semi-natural habitat on site, such that they continue to support the 
present range of invertebrates and plants; 

(iii) Long-term management prescriptions for buddleia and other 
invasive scrub species to prevent species-rich grassland and open 
mosaic habitats from becoming overgrown; 

(iv) Timing of works to avoid destruction of bird nests where possible, 
and contingency in the event that nesting birds are detected if works 
need to take place during the nesting season; 

(v) Contingency in the event that reptiles are discovered during site 
clearance / construction; 

(vi) Eradication plan for Japanese Knotweed and other invasive 
non-native plant species; 

(vii) Details of green roofs and birds boxes, especially Swift nest boxes, 
on the new buildings; 

(viii) Details of other enhancement measures such as a pond, reptile 
habitat piles / hibernacula, bug hotels and bee banks etc. 

 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved GIS. 
 Reason: To maintain and enhance green infrastructure provision on the 

site. 
 
WALES COAST PATH 
 
34. Details submitted in pursuance of Condition 1A shall include a scheme of 

improvements to the Wales Coast Path. The submitted details shall include, 
but not be limited to, resurfacing and clearer way marking. The approved 
scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior 
to the occupation of the development. 

 Reason: To maintain and enhance the Wales Coast Path. 
 
SEVERN ESTUARY COASTAL BUND AND SCREEN 
 
35. No development shall take place until details of measures to construct a 

coastal bund and screen to shield earth movements and construction 



activities from the Severn Estuary European Sites has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The bund and 
screen shall be constructed in accordance with the approved details and 
shall be retained and maintained for the entire construction period. The 
approved details shall include: 
(i) full details of the design of the bund and screen; 
(ii) line-of sight sections to demonstrate that all aspects of the 

construction including the biomass power plant and industrial 
buildings, cranes, scaffolding, site operatives and piling rigs are not 
visible to wetland birds on the foreshore within 200 metres of the 
application site; 

(iii) a timetable for their provision; 
(iv) a written commitment to only construct the bund and screen between 

April to September; 
(v) outside of April to September, a written commitment to avoid any 

construction activity between two hours before high tide and two 
hours after; 

 Reason: To avoid any adverse effect upon the integrity of the Severn 
Estuary European Sites and the SSSI. 

 
EXTERNAL LIGHTING 
 
36. Prior to their installation on site details of all external lighting shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
and retained thereafter. 

 Reason: To safeguard nature conservation interests. 
 
FINISHED FLOOR LEVELS 
 
37. Details submitted in pursuance of condition 1A shall include the proposed 

floor levels of any building in relation to the existing ground level and the 
finished levels of the site. The development shall be constructed and 
completed in accordance with the approved details. 

 Reason: Confirmation of the ground and floor levels are required to ensure 
an orderly form of development. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 2  : To protect the amenities of occupiers of other premises 
in the vicinity attention is drawn to the provisions of Section 60 of the Control of 
Pollution Act 1974 in relation to the control of noise from demolition and 
construction activities. Further to this the applicant is advised that no noise audible 
outside the site boundary adjacent to the curtilage of residential property shall be 
created by construction activities in respect of the implementation of this consent 
outside the hours of 0800-1800 hours Mondays to Fridays and 0800 - 1300 hours 
on Saturdays or at any time on Sunday or public holidays. The applicant is also 
advised to seek approval for any proposed piling operations. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 3 : The contamination assessments and the effects of 
unstable land are considered on the basis of the best information available to the 
Planning Authority and are not necessarily exhaustive.  The Authority takes due 



diligence when assessing these impacts, however you are minded that the 
responsibility for  
 
(i)  determining the extent and effects of such constraints and; 
(ii)  ensuring that any imported materials (including, topsoils, subsoils, 

aggregates and recycled or manufactured aggregates / soils) are 
chemically suitable for the proposed end use.  Under no circumstances 
should controlled waste be imported.  It is an offence under section 33 of 
the environmental Protection Act 1990 to deposit controlled waste on a site 
which does not benefit from an appropriate waste management license.  
The following must not be imported to a development site: 
• Unprocessed / unsorted demolition wastes. 
• Any materials originating from a site confirmed as being 

contaminated or potentially contaminated by chemical or radioactive 
substances. 

• Japanese Knotweed stems, leaves and rhizome infested soils.  In 
addition to section 33 above, it is also an offence under the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 to spread this invasive weed; and 

 
(iii)  the safe development and secure occupancy of the site rests with the 

developer. 
 
Proposals for areas of possible land instability should take due account of the 
physical and chemical constraints and may include action on land reclamation or 
other remedial action to enable beneficial use of unstable land. 
 
The Local Planning Authority has determined the application on the basis of the 
information available to it, but this does not mean that the land can be considered 
free from contamination. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 4: Prior to the commencement of development, the 
developer shall notify the Local Planning Authority of the commencement of 
development, and shall display a site notice and plan on, or near the site, in 
accordance with the requirements of Article 12 of the Town & Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (Wales) (Amendment) Order 2016. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 5 : That the applicant be advised that the Wales Coast Path 
cannot be closed or worked on at any point without the necessary license. If 
investigative works or new apparatus is to be installed on the right of way or 
temporary closures are required, an application must be made to Cardiff Council’s 
PROW Team and Network Management for the appropriate licenses. 
 

 RECOMMENDATION 6 : That the applicant be advised that the works to Rover 
Way approved under this permission will require the approval of the Highways 
Authority under a Section 278 Agreement. The applicant is also advised that if they 
intend to adopt the internal access roads a Section 38 Agreement will be 
necessary.  

  



1. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
1.1 Outline planning permission is sought for the construction of the removal of fill 

material and the construction of a c.9.5MW biomass power plant and 12,000 
square metres of industrial accommodation (Use Class B8), new access roads 
and associated landscaping works on land at Rover Way, Splott (see attached 
location plan). 
 

1.2 A pre-application enquiry for the proposed was submitted by the applicant in 
May 2017. The Council provided its written response on 8 September 2017. 
This application has been made in outline with all matters except access 
reserved.  

 
1.3 Development is envisaged to take place in the following phases: 

 
(i) Phase 1: Progressive removal of the overburden; 
(ii) Phase 2: Automotive Shredded Residue (ASR) re-processing; 
(iii) Phase 3: Site re-profiling using residual overburden; 
(iv) Phase 4: Construction phase. 
 

1.4 The Power Plant will produce electricity and thermal energy via steam. It would 
be constructed on a development plateau at 12 metres AOD with a maximum 
flue height of 51 metres and a maximum building height of approximately 32 
metres (44 metres AOD). 
 

1.5 The plant will burn virgin timber, which will be transported to the site by road 
and/or rail from either Liverpool docks or Felixstowe, having been shipped from 
overseas (possibly Latvia). 
 

1.6 The industrial accommodation will be Low to Zero Carbon and will be 
predominantly powered by the Biomass Plant. The units will range in size from 
15,000 sqft to 25,000 sqft, each accessible by articulated lorry. The units would 
be constructed on a development plateau at 14 metres AOD. 
 

1.7 A re-profiled landscaped bund would be provided around the development 
along both the southeast and northwest site boundaries to a height of 
approximately 20 – 22 metres AOD. The application includes a commitment to 
make improvements to the Wales Coast Path. 
 

1.8 A new vehicular access is proposed onto Rover Way which would be the 
primary access/egress serving the development. A second/emergency 
access/egress would utilise the existing entrance via Tide Fields Road at the 
southern end of the site. 
 

1.9 Parking would be provided in accordance with the Council’s stated parking 
standards (Access, Circulation and Parking Standards Jan 2010) as follows: 
 
(i) Warehousing: 40 operational spaces and 100 staff parking spaces; and  
(ii) Biomass Plant: 11 staff parking spaces (based upon the provision at a 

similar biomass plant in Barry) and 2 HGV spaces; 



(iii) 24 no. cycle parking spaces would be provided in accordance with the 
Council’s standards.  

 
1.10 The Council issued its screening opinion on 10th August 2017 which 

determined that the development would constitute EIA development under The 
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (Wales) 
Regulations 2017. Therefore, an Environmental Statement would be required 
to accompany any future application for planning permission (ref: 
SC/17/00005/MJR). A subsequent scoping opinion was issued by the Council 
on 12 October 2017 (ref: SC/17/00008/MJR). 
 

1.11 The application is accompanied by an Environmental Statement (ES) which 
considered whether the development would be likely to have significant effects 
on the environment. The ES included chapters on the following topics: 
 
(i) Ecology 
(ii)  Land Contamination 
(iii) Air Quality 
(iv) Visual; 
(v) Transport 
(vi) Noise 
(vii) Hydrology 
(viii) Health 
 

1.12 A copy of the non-technical summary of the ES is appended to this report which 
provides a summary of the findings of the assessment and the conclusions 
made on each topic.  

 
2. DESCRIPTION OF SITE 
 
2.1 The site previously accommodated a non-domestic land fill site and extends to 

approximately 17 hectares. It is currently used by as an off-road motorcycle 
facility which is managed by the Council. The site contains earth mounds to a 
height approximately 30 metres above sea level. Rover Way is approximately 8 
metres above sea level. 
 

2.2 The site is known as the former ‘frag tip’ site and adjoins the Severn Estuary to 
the south east. A traveller site abuts the site to the northeast, with Rover 
Way/existing industrial operations to the northwest and southwest. 
 

2.3 Further away to the northwest are the existing residential communities of 
Tremorfa and Pengam Green. 
 

2.4 The Wales Coast Path adjoins the southeast boundary to the Severn Estuary, 
which is designated as a Special Area of Conservation (SAC), a Special 
Protection Area (SPA), RAMSAR site, and a Site of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSI). A Site of Importance for Nature Conservation also exists beyond Rover 
Way at Pengam Moors. 
 

2.5 The majority of the site, including the indicative area of built development, 



would be located within Zone B as defined by the Development Advice Map 
(DAM) referred to under Technical Advice Note 15: Development and Flood 
Risk (TAN15) (July 2004). However part of the site to the North East includes 
an access road within DAM zone C2. 

 
3. SITE HISTORY 
 
3.1 14/01765/DCI: Permission granted in March 2015 for a single 500kW wind 

turbine with associated electrical infrastructure and crane hardstanding. 
 

3.2 06/02438/E: Permission granted in December 2006 for the construction of an 
off-road motorcycle track using recycled aggregate (electric arc slag), sub soil 
and top soil, provide containerised facilities for office, first aid, training and 
drying.  
 

3.3 97/02263/R: Permission granted in March 1998 to create a new landform to be 
used for informal public recreation and nature conservation. 

 
4. POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 
4.1 Planning Policy Wales, Edition 9 (November 2016): 
 

4.1.3 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 places a duty on 
public bodies (including Welsh Ministers) that they must carry out sustainable 
development. In carrying out this duty, actions which public bodies must take 
include: 
• setting and publishing objectives (“well-being objectives”) that are designed 

to maximise its contribution to achieving each of the well-being goals; and 
• taking all reasonable steps (in exercising its functions) to meet those 

objectives. 
 

4.1.4 The Act puts in place seven well-being goals to help ensure that public 
bodies are all working towards the same vision of a sustainable Wales: 
• A prosperous Wales 
• A resilient Wales 
• A healthier Wales 
• A more equal Wales 
• A Wales of cohesive communities 
• A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language 
• A globally responsible Wales 

 
4.2.2 The planning system provides for a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development to ensure that social, economic and environmental issues are 
balanced and integrated, at the same time, by the decision-taker when…taking 
decisions on individual planning applications. 
 
4.2.4 Legislation secures a presumption in favour of development in 
accordance with the development plan for the area unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  
 



4.3.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act establishes a 
‘sustainable development principle’ which means that a defined public body 
must act in a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are 
met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own 
needs. In order to achieve this principle we expect all those involved in the 
planning system to adhere to: 

 
• putting people, and their quality of life now and in the future, at the centre 

of decision-making; 
• taking a long term perspective to safeguard the interests of future 

generations, whilst at the same time meeting needs of people today; 
• respect for environmental limits, so that resources are not irrecoverably 

depleted or the environment irreversibly damaged. This means, for 
example, mitigating climate change, protecting and enhancing 
biodiversity, minimising harmful emissions, and promoting sustainable 
use of natural resources; 

• tackling climate change by reducing the greenhouse gas emissions that 
cause climate change and ensuring that places are resilient to the 
consequences of climate change;  

• applying the precautionary principle. Cost-effective measures to prevent 
possibly serious environmental damage should not be postponed just 
because of scientific uncertainty about how serious the risk is; 

• using scientific knowledge to aid decision-making, and trying to work out 
in advance what knowledge will be needed so that appropriate research 
can be undertaken; 

• while preventing pollution as far as possible, ensuring that the polluter 
pays for damage resulting from pollution. In general the Welsh 
Government will seek to ensure that costs are met by those whose 
actions incur them; 

• applying the proximity principle, especially in managing waste and 
pollution. This means solving problems locally rather than passing them 
on to other places or to future generations; and 

• taking account of the full range of costs and benefits over the lifetime of a 
development, including those which cannot be easily valued in money 
terms when making plans and decisions and taking account of timing, 
risks and uncertainties. This also includes recognition of the climate a 
development is likely to experience over its intended lifetime. 

 
4.4.1 The following sustainability objectives for the planning system reflect our 
vision for sustainable development and the outcomes we seek to deliver across 
Wales. These objectives should be taken into account…in taking decisions on 
individual planning applications in Wales. These reflect the sustainable 
development outcomes that we see the planning system facilitating across 
Wales. 
 
4.4.3 In contributing to the Well-being of Future Generations Act goals planning 
policies, decisions, and proposals should (inter alia): 

 
• Foster improvements to transport facilities 



• Foster social inclusion. 
• Promote resource-efficient and climate change resilient settlement patterns 

that minimise land-take and urban sprawl, especially through preference for 
the re-use of suitable previously developed land and buildings, wherever 
possible avoiding development on greenfield sites; 

• Locate developments so as to minimise the demand for travel, especially by 
private car; 

• Support the need to tackle the causes of climate change by moving towards 
a low carbon economy.  

• Play an appropriate role to facilitate sustainable building standards (including 
zero carbon) that seek to minimise the sustainability and environmental 
impacts of buildings. 

• Contribute to the protection and improvement of the environment, so as to 
improve the quality of life, and protect local and global ecosystems.  

• Promote access to employment, shopping, education, health, community, 
leisure and sports facilities and open and green space, maximising 
opportunities for community development and social welfare. 

• Play an appropriate role in securing the provision of infrastructure to form the 
physical basis for sustainable communities (including water supplies, 
sewerage and associated waste water treatment facilities, waste 
management facilities, energy supplies and distribution networks and 
telecommunications), while ensuring proper assessment of their 
sustainability impacts 

• Foster improvements to transport facilities and services which maintain or 
improve accessibility to services and facilities, secure employment, 
economic and environmental objectives, and improve safety and amenity.  

• Foster social inclusion by ensuring that full advantage is taken of the 
opportunities to secure a more accessible environment for everyone that the 
development of land and buildings provides. This includes helping to ensure 
that development is accessible by means other than the private car. 

• Maximise the use of renewable resources, including sustainable materials 
(recycled and renewable materials and those with a lower embodied 
energy). Where it is judged necessary to use non-renewable resources they 
should be used as efficiently as possible. The use of renewable resources 
and of sustainably produced materials from local sources should be 
encouraged and recycling and re-use levels arising from demolition and 
construction maximised and waste minimised. 

• Encourage opportunities to reduce waste and all forms of pollution and 
promote good environmental management and best environmental practice. 
Waste arising from demolition and construction should be minimised, and 
opportunities to recycle and re-use this waste promoted. 

• Promote a low carbon economy and social enterprises. 
• Minimise the risks posed by, or to, development on or adjacent to unstable or 

contaminated land and land liable to flooding. This includes managing and 
seeking to mitigate the consequences of climate change by building 
resilience into the natural and built environment 

• Contribute to the protection and, where possible, the improvement of 
people’s health and wellbeing… Consideration of the possible impacts of 
developments – positive and/or negative – on people’s health 



• Support the need to tackle the causes of climate change by moving towards 
a low carbon economy. This includes facilitating development that reduces 
emissions of greenhouse gases in a sustainable manner, provides for 
renewable and low carbon energy sources at all scales and facilitates low 
and zero carbon developments 

 
4.2 Technical Advice Notes (TANs): 
 

5  Nature Conservation and Planning 
8  Renewable Energy 
11   Noise  
12  Design 
14  Coastal Planning  
15  Development and Flood Risk 
16   Sport, Recreation and Open Space 
18  Transport  
21  Waste 

 
4.3 Local Development Plan (January 2016):  

 
KP1  Level of Growth 
KP4  Masterplanning Approach 
KP5  Good Quality and Sustainable Design 
KP6  New Infrastructure 
KP7  Planning Obligations 
KP8  Sustainable Transport 
KP9  Responding to Evidenced Economic Needs 
KP12  Waste 
KP13  Responding to Evidenced Social Needs 
KP14  Healthy Living 
KP15  Climate Change 
KP16  Green Infrastructure 
KP18  Natural Resources 
EC1  Existing Employment Land 
EC7  Employment Proposals on Land Not Identified for Employment 
Use 
EN5  Designated Sites 
EN6  Ecological Networks and Features of Importance for Biodiversity 
EN7  Priority Habitats and Species 
EN8  Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows 
EN10  Water Sensitive Design 
EN11  Protection of Water Resources 
EN12  Renewable Energy and Low Carbon Technologies 
EN13  Air, Noise, Light Pollution and Land Contamination 
EN14  Flood Risk 
T1  Walking and Cycling 
T2  Strategic Rapid Transit and Bus Corridor Enhancement 
T5  Managing Transport Impacts 
T6  Impact on Transport Networks and Services 
T7  Strategic Transportation Infrastructure 



T8  Strategic Recreational Routes 
R7  Retail Provision Within Strategic Sites 
C3  Community Safety/Creating Safe Environments 
C6  Health 
W2  Provision for Waste Management Facilities in Development 

 
4.4 The following guidance documents were supplementary to the City of Cardiff 

Local Plan (1996), now superseded by the Local Development Plan (LDP). 
They remain a material consideration insofar as they are consistent with LDP 
policy: 

 
Access, Circulation and Parking Standards (January 2010) 
Open Space (March 2008) 
 

4.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
 
Green Infrastructure (November 2017) 
Waste Collection and Storage Facilities (October 2016) 
Planning Obligations (January 2017) 
Planning for Health and Well-Being (November 2017) 

 
5 INTERNAL CONSULTEES RESPONSES 

 
5.1 The Operational Manager, Transportation, through consideration of the 

application and additional information, has reached an agreed understanding 
consensus with the applicant in the absence of an amended Transport 
Assessment (TA). He expresses some concern that an incorrect understanding 
of the assumptions may lead to confusion. This is important as some of the 
background information provided shows differences between the assertions 
directly presented in support of the application in the TS and provided as 
back-up of the assertions. For example, the back-up material provided from 
other sites in the UK indicates that the quantum of fuel required to feed a similar 
plant would equate to some 85/95,000 tonnes a year.   However, as indicated 
in the council’s note, it is accepted that the assumption that the proposed 9MW 
plant would operate with circa 75,000 tonnes per annum. 
 

5.2 The Vectos response note (21 March 2018) appears to confirm that the 
Council’s understanding of the transportation assumptions is correct, namely 
that; 
 
(i) The derivation of potential traffic movements during the site clearance 

stage is based upon the premise that overburden material (estimated at 
1,000,000 tonnes) and  contaminated material (estimated at 1,000,000 
tonnes) will need to removed; 

(ii) Material removal vehicles would be tipper vehicles with a 20 tonne 
payload. No other assumptions have been made relating to any 
restrictions associated with the removal of contaminated waste / 
material.   

(iii) The material removal phase would require a minimum of 100 HGV trips 
(200 movements) a day for a period of four years assuming that the 



estimated material to remove does not exceed the 2,000,000 tonnes 
indicated. 

(iv) All vehicles removing material would exit the site via M4/A48/Rover Way 
(and possibly Tide Fields Road) from the east, or via M4/A4232/Eastern 
Bay Link, Rover Way (and possibly Tide Fields Road) to/from the west.  

(v) The construction phase for the CHP unit, divided between major civil 
engineering works (taking 12 months) and subsequent construction, 
M&E and commissioning, followed by construction of the B8 units (two 
years) would generate between 30 and 50 vehicles a day (or 60 to 100 
vehicle movements) assuming a 5.5 day working week. 

(vi) That the CHP biomass will require a maximum of 75,000 tonnes of fuel 
each year to operate (confirmed 9 April email); 

(vii) Vehicles delivering fuel material (wood chip) to the operational biomass 
site would be via either the Stobart rail facility on Lamby Way, or via 
Cardiff Docks. Both options would make use of Rover Way (from Lamby 
Way including the gyratory or from the docks) and possibly Tide Fields 
Road. 

(viii) The access points (Rover Way and Tide Fields Road) and facilities 
within the site would be connected by an appropriate internal road 
network. 

(ix) That the overall additional HGV traffic on Rover Way would be 
acceptable, with the proviso that the road is at, or exceeds, acceptable 
capacity during and adjacent to the peak hours. 

(x) It is accepted that the access junctions at Tide Fields Road (existing) and 
Rover Way (proposed) would be acceptable.  Swept path analysis has 
been provided. 

 
5.3 The Council would determine a number of conditions to facilitate acceptance of 

the proposal, based primarily upon the agreed assumptions. In reaching this 
position, he makes the following comments and observations which are 
summarised as follows: 
 

5.4 The section of Rover Way between the Tesco access junction in the east and 
the Eastern Bay Link in the west experiences congestion during both the 
morning and evening peak periods. It is anticipated that vehicular 
deliveries/collections from elsewhere in the UK/from the site would use the site 
via M4/A48/Rover Way from the east, or via M4/A4232/Eastern Bay Link from 
the west. These would increase vehicular pressure on the Cardiff road network 
at a number of sensitive locations and network interchanges.  
 

5.5 The site has the opportunity for people to walk or cycle to the site for work and 
limited public transport (bus) connections. The site is served by a number of 
public highways from the M4/A48/Rover Way in the east, the M4/A4232 from 
the west and Ocean Way.   
 

5.6 Rover Way, from the west, has undergone a number of developments including 
the construction of a section of the Eastern Bay Link in June 2017. Rover Way 
“forms one of the main commuter routes into Cardiff” and has a daily traffic 
profile (shown in Chart 2.1). The data was collected during a 4 day survey 
period (Saturday to Tuesday) in October 2017. The TS illustrates Monday data. 



The survey illustrates that the peak period on Rover Way extends beyond the 
traditional Cardiff-wide 5pm to 6pm evening period. It could also be noted that 
the 5pm to 6pm period on Rover Way recorded fewer vehicles than its 
shoulders as the road experiences significant congestion at this time.   
 

5.7 A review of the traffic data presented in the TS indicates: 
 
(i) twelve hour weekday two way flows (7am to 7pm) are 20,740 vehicles, 

or an average of 1,728 per hour; 
(ii) local morning peak hour (7am to 8am) 2,088 vehicles (with a 46/54 

directional split); 
(iii) Cardiff background morning peak (8am to 9am) 1,996 vehicles (with a 

41/59 directional split); 
(iv) local evening peak hour (4pm to 5pm) 1,780 vehicles (with a 47/53 

directional split); 
(v) Cardiff background morning peak (5pm to 6pm) 1,605 vehicles (with a 

43/57 directional split) 
 

5.8 There are three phases associated with the preparation and development of the 
site: clearance of overburden (estimated at 1,000,000 tonnes), clearance of 
contaminated material (estimated at 1,000,000 tonnes) and construction. 
During the first two phases, the TA states that “no noticeable impact” would be 
experienced on Cardiff’s road network. It was confirmed during the discussions 
that the site would be cleared utilising 8 wheel tipper lorries with an approximate 
20 tonne payload. The works would be undertaken Monday to Friday 8am to 
6pm and Saturday morning (8am to 1pm). The quantum of vehicle movements 
to remove material would be thus for a period of four years. There would also be 
a number of journeys to work for on-site based staff associated with the site 
clearance. Therefore, it would be anticipated that: 
 
(i) 90 to 100 vehicles will be used per day to collect the material, equating to 

200 vehicle movements per day. 
(ii) An average of 10 vehicles per hour (20 vehicle movements per hour) 
(iii) Equating to 1% of average daily traffic on Rover Way.   

 
5.9 It should be noted that during discussions it was indicated that should the peak 

periods be avoided then it would be an anticipated that the hourly flow would be 
12.5 per hour (25 vehicle movements). It is assumed that the waste material will 
be removed from site to an appropriate location via one of the routes identified 
above. 
 

5.10 It is anticipated that the construction phase (of the biomass plant and 
warehousing) would take some three years. No indication of the anticipated 
traffic movements associated with the construction phase are provided. The TS 
states construction “will not generate the amount of traffic movement as that 
anticipated from the pre-construction traffic. It is therefore reasonable to 
suggest that there is no adverse impact upon the local highway network” (para. 
5.27).  
 



5.11 There are two aspects to consider during the operational phase of the 
development. It is stated that some 75,000 tonnes of biomass material would 
be delivered to the site per annum (email dated 8 February 2018) (The TS V6 
assumed 130,000 tonnes of material). The biomass plant would anticipate “20 
two-way trips per day” (email dated 8 February 2018) equating to 40 vehicle 
movements, to service the biomass plant with fuel. It is stated that these would 
be spread throughout the day, resulting in less than one trip per hour.   In 
addition to the fuel supply movements there would be some 22 vehicle 
movements associated with staff operating the plant (based on 11 on-site 
parking spaces).   
 

5.12 The ash created by burning the fuel would be removed from site via road. It is 
understood that the intention would be to use purpose built skips. It is 
understood that typically biomass feedstock is rendered to 10% of its weight in 
ash. Therefore from 75,000 tonne of fuel material the ash production would 
expected to be 7,500 tonnes.  It is proposed that specialist 20t skips would be 
employed. This would equate to some 375 two-way trips (or 750 vehicle 
movements) per year, or approximately 7.5 two-way trips (15 vehicle 
movements) per week.  
 

5.13 It is stated following application of TRICS that 332 vehicles movements would 
be generated a day (5am to 9pm) by the proposed warehousing (or 213 
movements 7am to 7pm). It is considered that the early (pre-7am) and late 
(post 7pm) vehicle movements would primarily be staff arriving / departing from 
work. It is assumed that the site would generate some 278 vehicle movements 
during a 12 hour day, of which some 250 could be assumed to be daily HGV 
operations. These would comprise: 

 
(i) 40 associated with fuel delivery; 
(ii) 3 associated with ash collection; 
(iii) 22 biomass plant operatives; 
(iv) 213 associated with the warehousing. 

 
5.14 The pedestrian public access would be provided from the new junction on 

Rover Way through the site. There are existing footways along Tide Fields 
Road that enable access into the site. An outline of works for the Coastal Path 
is contained in the Design and Access Statement.  
 
Review 
 

5.15 Site access – The proposed access points, the existing access from Tide Fields 
Road and the new access from Rover Way appear to be acceptable. It should 
be noted that both junctions would be accessed from Rover Way, making the 
local traffic on Rover Way a significant consideration.  
 

5.16 Delivery routes – The identified routes to/from the site via M4/A48/Rover Way 
from the east; M4/A4232/Eastern Bay Link/Rover Way, from the west; or via 
Rover Way from Cardiff docks are acceptable. No other HGV routes to/from the 
proposed site should be considered as appropriate during site clearance, site 
construction and operation.  



 
5.17 Biomass Plant Traffic generation – The traffic generation associated with the 

development during the four year clearance stages (overburden and 
contaminated material) is accepted as an appropriate estimate (assuming that 
1,000,000 tonnes of material is to be removed at each stage. No estimation has 
been provided for site based staff during the clearance stages of the 
development.   
 

5.18 The pre-construction phase would entail a minimum of 100 HGV trips (200 
movements) a day for a period of four years. 
 

5.19 No estimate is provided during the three year construction stage, therefore no 
assessment can be made.  It is however assumed that the construction stage 
would generate similar numbers of vehicles to the clearance stages. The 
comparative data provided cannot be utilised to provide an estimate of vehicle 
movements. No estimation has been provided/made for site based staff during 
the construction phase of the development. 
 

5.20 No estimation can be made for the three year construction phase.  
 

5.21 The operational traffic generation estimates for the warehousing, derived by 
application of TRICS database, is accepted. The operational estimates for the 
biomass plant (accepting that the type of plant and type of fuel is unknown at 
this stage) has been considered. It is assumed that the plant will operate using 
biomass chips. However, due to the varying composition of biomass material 
(in terms of pelletised / a mix of pelletised and non-pelletised woodchip, density 
and moisture) it is difficult to accurately quantify the number of delivery vehicles 
required. 
 

5.22 In addition to the basic fuel other deliveries (including, flue gas treatment 
reagents, sand, dosing chemicals for cooling system, boiler and water 
treatment plant chemicals, reagents and chemicals for use in the flue gas 
treatment process) would be required whilst the plant is operational.  Ash 
would also need to be removed from the site. 
 

5.23 The assessment has been based on a 5.5 day working week, as it is anticipated 
that road deliveries and ash removal would take place Monday to Friday 
(between 7am and 7pm) and on Saturday (between 7am and 1pm). It is also 
likely that other operational delivery/collection restrictions would also apply. No 
abnormal loads would be anticipated during normal operation. 
 

5.24 A review of the comparative data provided indicates that on a pro-rata basis the 
expected quantum of biomass fuel to operate the facility would be in the region 
of 85,000 / 95,000 tonnes would be required to operate a 9MW plant.   
However, as indicated above variance may occur depending on the type and 
moisture (etc) of the biomass fuel.  For assessment purposes it has been 
assumed by the applicant (and accepted by the council at this stage) that 
75,000 tonnes of wood chip pellets would be delivered by road, using 20 tonne 
payload tippers during a year.    
 



5.25 The anticipated daily flow of vehicles to supply a biomass plant is shown in the 
table below: 

 
5.26 It is, therefore assumed that 30 daily HGV movements would be associated 

with maintaining an operational biomass plant. It should be considered that if 
less calorific/more moist wood chip were to be utilised the anticipated delivery 
schedule could double. 
 

5.27 In addition to the delivery needs of the plant there would be operational staff 
traffic movements associated with the plant. It is assumed that three shifts 
would operate across the day to manage the plant. It is assumed that the 
daytime shift would include nine vehicles using the staff car park. 
 

5.28 Warehouse Units Traffic Generation – No estimate is provided during the three 
year construction stage, therefore no assessment can be made.  No 
estimation has been provided for site based staff during the construction stage 
of the development. An estimation based upon the TRICS database has been 
provided and is accepted by the council. This estimates that 332 trips would be 
generated during the day (5am to 9pm), or 213 during a twelve hour day (7am 
to 7pm).  
 

5.29 Therefore the operational aspects of the development would generate at least 
360 trips during the day (5am to 9pm), or 243 HGV trips during a twelve hour 
day (7am to 7pm).    
 

5.30 Local road network capacity – There is some concern that the traffic generated 
during both the four year pre-construction and the operational periods may 
have a detrimental impact upon the surrounding road network. It is accepted 
that the additional traffic movements would appear to constitute less than 2% of 
the existing daily traffic flow. However, it should be considered that the existing 
road network along Rover Way is already operating at its design capacity, as 

 

Anticipated 
annual 
tonnage 

Anticipated 
vehicle 
payload 

Total 
annual 
HGVs 

Average 
daily 
HGV 
trips 

Average 
daily HGV 
movements 

      INPUT 
     biomass 75,000 20 tonnes 3,750 13.6 27.3 

lime 750 23 tonnes 33 0.1 0.2 
carbon 30 7.5 tonnes 4 0.0 0.0 
chemicals 1,500 16 tonnes 94 0.3 0.7 

     
28.2 

EXPORT 
     ash 2,400 20 tonnes 120 0.4 0.9 

flue 
residue 1,000 20 tonnes 50 0.2 0.4 

     
1.3 

      TOTAL 
    

29.5 



evidenced by the queueing during the peak periods. It is considered that 
additional traffic on the local network could be expected to exacerbate the 
situation. 
 

5.31 The design flows for Rover Way would, in accordance with the DfT’s TA 79/99 
Traffic Capacity on Urban Roads (Tables 1 and 2), indicates that Rover Way 
would fall into the UAP1 category with a typical carriageway width of 6.75m.  
The design capacity for such a road (assuming a 60/40 directional split and 
HGVs constituting less than 15% of the vehicles) would be 2,200 during an 
hour. The capacity would reduce if the directional split were different, or the 
percentage of HGVs greater than 15%.    
 

5.32 During the local morning peak (07:00 – 08:00) the recorded flow on a Tuesday 
(October 2017) was 2,129. The percentage of HGVs (including generated 
traffic) would be less than 15%. The directional split during the local peak is 
45/55. 
 

5.33 During the Cardiff Peak (08:00 – 09:00) the recorded flow on a Tuesday 
(October 2017) was 2,063. The percentage of HGVs (including generated 
traffic) would be less than 15%, but the directional split during the Cardiff peak 
is 42/57.  
 

5.34 In summary, due to the level of information provided with the application and 
the future operations, his assessment of the application is based upon a 
number of assumptions as follows: No assumption has been provided, or 
made, for the construction phase and timing.   
 
(i) That a bio fuel storage facility would be provided to mitigate against 

transportation delays (weather impacted ships, weather impacted road 
deliveries, unforeseen delays, etc). It is assumed that the storage facility 
could store up to 5 days’ supply (2000 tonnes); 

(ii) The pre-construction phase would entail a minimum of 100 HGV trips 
(200 movements) a day for a period of four years assuming that the 
estimated material to remove does not exceed the 2,000,000 tonnes 
indicated. 

(iii) No estimation of traffic generation or programme can be made for the 
three year construction phase as no information provided, except that it 
is envisaged to create less traffic generation that the pre-construction 
period. 

(iv) The operational aspects of the development (biomass plant & 
warehousing) would generate at least 360 trips a day (5am to 9pm), or 
243 HGV trips during a twelve hour day (7am to 7pm).    

(v) The biomass operation is dependent upon the type of biofuel utilised.  It 
is assumed in the proposal that no more than 75,000 tonnes of fuel 
would be required requiring 30 HGV movements per day. These HGV 
movements would take place during the day (outside the peak periods) 
resulting in an average of between 3 or 4 movements per hour.  

(vi) Delivery and material removal vehicles would be tipper vehicles with a 
20 tonne payload. No other assumptions have been made relating to any 



restrictions associated with the removal of contaminated waste / 
material.   

(vii) The internal road network would be provided to an adequate standard; 
(viii) Whatever the route taken to deliver goods and remove waste (ash) the 

vehicles would use Rover Way. The background traffic is at capacity on 
Rover Way during the peak periods. 

(ix) All HGVs would be limited to the main routes outlined in the submission. 
These are from the docks via Rover Way (and possibly Tide Fields 
Road); from the M4 either A48/ Rover Way (and possibly Tide Fields 
Road) or A4232/Eastern Bay Link/Rover Way (and possibly Tide Fields 
Road).   

 
5.35 The Operational Manager, Environment (Contaminated Land), notes that 

this development will be achieved in various phases: removal of the 
overburden; ASR assessment; ASR processing/treatment; reforming of zones 
1 & 2 for development plateau; and the construction phase. It is appreciated 
that at this stage not all the necessary investigations/assessments have been 
undertaken due to the nature of the site and thus it has not been possible to 
provide full remediation design and methodologies etc in order to mitigate the 
risks to the identified receptors. As per best practice a phased approach to the 
assessment, design and remediation of land affected by contamination will be 
required for this site. The Welsh Land Contamination Working Group’s most up 
to date guidance has been provided in order to ensure that best practice is 
followed. 
 

5.36 Therefore owing to the fact that a phased assessment and remediation 
approach will be required for this site, standard land contamination conditions 
must be attached to any approval in order to ensure that the 
necessary information is provided to demonstrate that all contamination issues 
have been considered and assessed adequately and that appropriate remedial 
measures are designed/implemented to mitigate any unacceptable risks to the 
identified receptors. 
 

5.37 At this stage details of the Environmental Permit to process and remove the 
overburden material have not been provided. In a meeting with the developer 
(13/03/2018) the applicant indicated that they are in discussions with 
appropriate officers in NRW regarding the permit. However no application has 
yet been made and it is understood that the issuing of such a permit could take 
some 4 months 
 

5.38 The Council’s Tree Officer assumes that that planting soils will be imported 
unless a Soil Resource Survey (SRS) and Plan (SRP), prepared in accordance 
with the 2009 DEFRA Construction Code of Practice for the Sustainable Use of 
Soils on Construction Sites, demonstrates that site won soil is available and is 
suitable to be re-used for the proposed landscaping functions. The landscaping 
scheme should be submitted at the earliest opportunity and comprise a scaled 
planting plan, plant schedule, tree pit section (as appropriate), topsoil and 
subsoil specification (informed by an SRS & SRP as appropriate), planting 
methodology, aftercare methodology and implementation programme.  
 



5.39 The Operational Manager, Waste Management, advises that current site 
plans make no reference to the storage of waste and recycling. Future plans will 
need to show the storage area for the industrial accommodation. They request 
that the agent/applicant be reminded that a commercial contract is required for 
the collection and disposal of all commercial waste. By law (Environmental 
Protection Act, 1990, section 34) all commercial premises have a duty of care to 
ensure that their waste is transferred to and disposed of by a registered waste 
carrier. Owners or developers of commercial developments/properties can 
make arrangements for Cardiff County Council to collect and dispose of their 
waste. They refer the agent/architect to the Waste Collection and Storage 
Facilities Supplementary Planning Guidance for further relevant information. 

 
5.40 The Council’s Ecologist, in commenting on this application, has taken into 

account the Ecology Survey report by Sturgess Ecology dated August 2017 
and the Environmental Statement Chapter 8 dated October 2017. He makes 
these comments without prejudice to any further comments that he may make 
in the light of any new information or of alterations to the plans as submitted. 
 

5.41 In respect of internationally designated sites, he advises that an Appropriate 
Assessment (AA) of this project has been undertaken, and is appended to this 
report.  Natural Resources Wales must be consulted on this AA, and the Local 
Planning Authority should have regard to their comments. 
 

5.42 The proposed development site also borders the Severn Estuary Site of 
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).  However, the features for which the SSSI 
is designated are broadly the same as the SAC, SPA and Ramsar features. 
Therefore, measures to avoid, mitigate and compensate for impacts upon the 
SAC, SPA and Ramsar will be taken as having the same affect upon the SSSI. 
This being the case, no further consideration will be given as to the impact of 
the proposed scheme upon the SSSI, on the assumption that these impacts will 
be the same as those considered in the HRA. 
 

5.43 He would not say that the proposed project is likely to impact any other SSSI in 
the region, subject to control of emissions from the biomass plant by NRW. 
 

5.44 There are no existing Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs) 
nearby which may be affected directly by the proposed scheme. However, 
based upon the Ecology Survey Report and Chapter 8 of the Environmental 
Statement (ES), the site itself would qualify as a SINC in accordance with the 
Guidelines for the Selection of Wildlife Sites in South Wales 2004 (The ‘SINC 
Selection Criteria’). 
 

5.45 The species lists for this site were compared with the SINC selection criteria, 
and the results are set out below: 
 

 
 
 
 



 

 
5.46 Therefore it can be seen that the proposed development site could qualify as a 

SINC under any one of 9 criteria. In many cases, the indicator species 
qualifying threshold is vastly exceeded. 
  

5.47 The Ecology section of the ES has identified the presence of Open Mosaic 
Habitat on Previously Developed Land as defined by the UK BAP, at this site. 
This equates broadly to the ‘H18 Post-industrial Land’ SINC selection criterion 
above. 
 

5.48 As a precedent in cases such as these reference is made to the Planning 
Inspectorate’s comments on the Monmouthshire Unitary Development plan, 
wherein: ‘The Council will assess sites proposed for development to ascertain 
whether they fulfil the criteria for designation and may request information from 
applicants to assist in that process. If a site satisfies the criteria it will, for 
planning purposes, be treated as if it were a SINC.’ In other words, even if a site 
has yet formally to be designated as a SINC, if it meets the qualifying 
thresholds, it should be treated as a SINC for planning purposes. 
 

5.49 In accordance with Section 5.5.3 of Technical Advice Note (TAN) 5, the 
conservation and enhancement of locally designated sites (such as SINCs) is 
an important contribution to the implementation of Biodiversity Action Plans and 

SINC Selection 
Criterion 

Qualifying 
threshold – 
number of 
indicator species 

Number of 
indicator species 
recorded 

Qualifies? Yes 
/ No 

H1 Woodland 12 6 No 
H4 Neutral 
Grassland 

8 21 Yes 

H5 Calcareous 
Grassland  

8 20 Yes 

H7 Marshy 
Grassland 

12 10 No 

H18 
Post-industrial 
Land 

20 49 Yes 

S7 Vascular plants 
‘A’ list 

1 Great Lettuce Yes 

S7 Vascular plants 
‘A’ list 

1 Dittander Yes 

S7 Vascular plants 
‘B’ list 

5 8 Yes 

S6 Invertebrates 
‘A’ list 

1 Long-winged 
Conehead 

Yes 

Environment Act 
Section 7 species 

1 Brown-banded 
Carder Bee 

Yes 

Environment Act 
Section 7 species 

1 Cinnabar Moth Yes 



to the management of features of the landscape of major importance for wild 
flora and fauna; developers should avoid harm to those interests where 
possible. Where harm is unavoidable it should be minimised by mitigation 
measures and offset as far as possible by compensation measures designed to 
ensure there is no reduction in the overall nature conservation value of the area 
or feature. 
 

5.50 In this instance, of particular importance are the species-rich neutral and 
calcareous grassland communities, the post-industrial land habitat, certain 
species of vascular plant, and important terrestrial invertebrate communities. 
 

5.51 He is satisfied that the policy requirements of Section 5.5.3 of TAN 5 as above 
can be addressed at this site, however this is dependent upon the final 
landscaping scheme of the proposed development incorporating substantial 
areas of open mosaic habitat, calcareous and neutral grassland, and suitable 
habitats for a range of terrestrial vertebrates. Equally importantly, management 
provisions must be in place to maintain these habitats in the long term. 
 

5.52 Turning to protected species, he notes that no reptiles were detected during 
surveys at this site. In this case, no specific mitigation measures are required, 
beyond a contingency for the event that reptiles are discovered during site 
clearance and preparation.  
 

5.53 Birds which are features of the SPA do not nest at this site, so the issue of 
nesting birds does not relate to the SPA. However, other species may nest in 
the scrub on this site or indeed in the areas of open ground in the case of 
ground-nesting species such as Skylark, Oystercatcher or Lapwing.  This 
being the case, any site clearance or clearance of vegetation will either have to 
avoid the main nesting season, roughly March to August inclusive, or be 
preceded by a survey immediately beforehand. 
 

5.54 A number of species of invasive non-native plant were detected on site, and 
there will need to be a strategy in place to eradicate and avoid spreading these 
species. 
 

5.55 He supports the recommended enhancement measures set out on page 21 of 
the Ecology Survey Report, and would add that new buildings should support 
bird boxes, specifically Swift nest boxes, in accordance with the advice given in 
‘Designing for Biodiversity: A Technical Guide for New and Existing Buildings,  
Second Edition.  RIBA Publishing, London.  Gunnell, K. et al., 2013’, or most 
recent subsequent edition thereof. 
 

5.56 As a general principle, survey work which is more than 2 years old will be 
regarded with caution, as certain species may colonise or leave an area in the 
interim period.   This is referred to on page 22 of the Ecology Survey Report.  
A planning condition should therefore be attached stating that survey work 
should be repeated if works which may affect the species concerned haven’t 
taken place within two years of the date of the most recent survey. 
 



5.57 All measures to avoid, mitigate and compensate for impacts upon ecological 
interests, together with measures to provide habitat enhancement, should be 
brought together in a comprehensive Green Infrastructure Strategy (GIS) for 
the site.  This should be required by a planning condition and submitted prior to 
the submission of reserved matters.  The GIS should incorporate other 
elements of green infrastructure such as trees, soils and landscaping and 
public rights of way, as well as ecology. It should also encompass the 
construction phase, the implementation phase, and the ongoing management 
of habitats. 
 

5.58 The ecological element of a Green Infrastructure Strategy for this site should 
include, but not be limited to, the following elements, most of which are set out 
in section 5 of the Ecology Survey Report: 
 
(i) Timing of works to avoid visual and noise disturbance to overwintering 

and migratory wetland birds 
(ii) Landscaping details, based upon pages 19 to 21 inclusive of the Ecology 

Survey Report 2017, to ensure that the current open mosaic habitats 
and species-rich grassland form the majority of the semi-natural habitat 
on site, such that they continue to support the present range of 
invertebrates and plants 

(iii) Long-term management prescriptions for buddleia and other invasive 
scrub species to prevent species-rich grassland and open mosaic 
habitats from becoming overgrown 

(iv) Timing of works to avoid destruction of bird nests where possible, and 
contingency in the event that nesting birds are detected if works need to 
take place during the nesting season 

(v) Contingency in the event that reptiles are discovered during site 
clearance / construction 

(vi) Eradication plan for Japanese Knotweed and other invasive non-native 
plant species 

(vii) Details of green roofs and birds boxes, especially Swift nest boxes, on 
the new buildings.  

(viii) Details of other enhancement measures such as a pond, reptile habitat 
piles / hibernacula, bug hotels and bee banks etc. 

 
5.59 These comments contribute to this Authority’s discharge of its duties under 

Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.  This duty is that we must seek 
to maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of our functions, and in so 
doing promote the resilience of ecosystems, so far as is consistent with the 
proper exercise of those functions. In complying with this duty we will have to 
have taken account of the resilience of ecosystems, in particular the diversity 
between and within ecosystems; the connections between and within 
ecosystems; the scale of ecosystems; the condition of ecosystems and the 
adaptability of ecosystems. 

 
5.60 The Noise Pollution Officer advises that baseline data regarding a noise 

assessment undertaken as part of the Environmental Statement has been 
submitted by the applicant. He recommends that conditions requiring a further 



noise assessment, plant noise, delivery times, and fuel type be attached to any 
permission granted.  
 

5.61 The Air Quality Officer has reviewed the air quality technical note submitted 
by Air Quality Consultants as further information to the original Environmental 
Statement. He is satisfied by the report’s approach to the further analysis, 
outcomes and suggested condition. 
 

5.62 He does query the use of the critical level and quantifying the level of 
significance. As correctly indicated the process contribution for 24-hour mean 
NOx is below 10% of the critical level and therefore can be screened out in 
accordance with the EA guidance – Air Emissions Risk Assessment for the 
Environmental Permit, 2018. Guidance suggests that regardless of the baseline 
concentration if the short term (24- hour) process contribution is less than 10% 
of the critical level the process contribution is therefore deemed insignificant. 
However, he seeks further clarification from Natural Resources Wales (NRW) 
to understand what is deemed best practise when faced with a baseline 
concentration that already exceeds the critical level. In this instance the 24-hour 
mean NOx Critical Level of 75μg/m³ is already exceeded before consideration 
is given to process contribution. The biomass plant as a stand-alone process 
shows no adverse impact, however the current scenario without the biomass 
plant already exceeds the critical level. Provided NRW are satisfied with this 
scenario then he is content to condition the application. 

 
5.63 The Operational Manager, Drainage Division, advises that there are three 

major areas of concern relating to this application from a drainage and flood 
risk perspective, which the current documents have not adequately covered: 
 
1. The knowledge of ground contamination; 
2. The management of leachate; and  
3. The risk from coastal erosion. 

 
5.64 Concerning ground contamination, the ‘Frag’ tip is a large contaminated 

industrial waste tip, that currently has no effective sealed liner, and nor is there 
clarity about what it contains. The documents as part of this application do not 
refer to a large underground fire within the tip, which continued for months if 
not years. It was eventually extinguished using chemical techniques used to 
put out colliery waste tip fires, but he does not believe the implications of this 
fire have been fully investigated, from a perspective of the chemical 
compounds contained. As the liner around the known ‘zone 1’ waste has been 
compromised, this also means that some of the ground around and most 
certainly under the waste, will also be exposed to the leachate from it. 
 

5.65 In respect of leachate management, leachate from the current ‘zone 1’ waste is 
being produced, due to the liner around the waste being compromised. It can 
be seen seeping out of the side of the tip along the coastal path, as well as out 
through the remnants of the coastal protection. There is no detail in this 
application of how the existing leachate shall be managed during construction 
(as part of the CEMP). The segregation of this leachate from the surface water 
run-off will be critical, but there is not yet any proposal for this. Furthermore, 



the documents refer to the ‘zone 1’ material being taken off site for treatment, 
but there is no more information on this. Ensuring that leachate does not leak 
during transport or causes problems wherever the material is taken, needs 
clarification. Finally, the report is assuming fairly precise levels and locations 
for the ‘zone 1’ waste, which does not appear to backed up by any detailed S.I. 
Whilst it is understandable that much of the S.I. work has yet to take place, 
both the area and depth of ground contamination will be critical to the viability 
of the proposal. 
 

5.66 Regarding coastal erosion risk, the current site boundary includes two areas of 
tipping and a storm beach composed largely from blast furnace slag, washed 
away from the remnants coastal defence for the main tip. There is also another 
tip of different material to the south of the frag tip, which has absolutely no 
coastal protection and is periodically undermined by every high tide. The whole 
tip coastline within the site is effectively nothing more than a receding 
conglomerate of industrial waste, but there is no reference to this as an issue 
within the reports. The storm beach is of concern in terms of flooding from the 
sea due to its level and having little form of engineered defence.  
 

5.67 He advises that the Council is currently in a position to proceed with detailed 
design for the coastal defences, pending approval from Welsh Government. 
The outline business case has identified rock armour as the preferred option at 
this location and the defences will need to be in place in order to defend the 
proposed development. His preference is that the development, if permitted, 
and the coastal defences are constructed at the same time although he states 
that the sea defences must happen prior to the construction of the plant. 
 

5.68 He concludes that there are there are significant challenges in delivering this 
proposal from a drainage and flood risk perspective. Although not 
insurmountable, they will require far greater clarity - primarily in terms of 
leachate management and coastal protection. 
 

5.69 The Public Rights of Way Officer considers that the site will impact on the 
Wales Coast Path which skirts the perimeter of the building site. Currently the 
path at this location is rough terrain and needs improvement, especially from 
the east end of the path closest to the Traveller site. As part of the landscaping 
for the proposed development, it is recommended that the path is considered 
for improvements through resurfacing and clearer way marking. Currently the 
footpath to the eastern side of the site is very rough underfoot with graduated 
steps linking down towards the Traveller’s site. As part of the landscaping 
plans, the PROW Team is requesting the applicant to construct a path with a 
stone dust finish, or an alternative option to be agreed with PROW Officers, to 
enhance the overall experience and accessibility for walkers. Currently there is 
an information board and bench which will need to be retained along this 
section. The site will need to be secure to prevent illegal motorbike access or 
potential fly tipping therefore both ends of the site will need to have barriers to 
allow access only for walkers. As the footpath is a Public Right of Way, the 
footpath cannot be closed or worked on at any point without a license. If 
investigative works or new apparatus is to be installed in the right of way or 
temporary closures are required, the applicant must contact PROW Team and 



Network Management within Cardiff Council to apply for the appropriate 
licenses.  
 

5.70 Following the guidance provided in the Public Rights of Way Strategic Planning 
Guidance there are several points to highlight regarding work carried out on a 
development site as referenced below: 
 
(i) The granting of planning permission does not give a developer any right 

to interfere with, obstruct or move a public right of way.  
(ii) Temporary Diversions/Stopping up orders can be applied for, to Cardiff 

Council, to allow works to be undertaken or prevent a danger to the 
public. This restriction is only temporary and the route must be 
reopened. These orders cannot be used in lieu of a permanent order and 
again the developer will be expected to pay the costs of producing and 
implementing the order. 

(iii) Should any Temporary Traffic Order be required on a PRoW (Public 
Right of Way), the developer is required to submit a plan providing a 
temporary alternative route for path users for PRoW Officers’ approval. 
The maximum length of time a PRoW path can be temporarily closed is 6 
months and extensions must be applied to Welsh Government for their 
consent.   

(iv) Where a development affects a highway and it appears to the Council 
that the highway may become damaged as a result of construction or 
operation of the new development, the Council will seek to cover the 
additional expense of repairs under Section 59, Highways Act 1980) 
which is recovery of expenses due to extraordinary traffic. 

(v) The developer and the Highway Authority shall carry out a joint condition 
survey before the development commences and after the development 
has been completed, or at an interval to be agreed. The developer shall 
in conjunction with the Council make an assessment of the extra over 
damage caused to the fabric of the highway and agree on compensation 
for making good the additional damage caused by the extra ordinary 
traffic and load. 

 
6 EXTERNAL CONSULTEES RESPONSES 

 
6.1 The Welsh Government Transport Division, advise that as highway authority 

for the A48(M) trunk road, does not issue a direction in respect of this 
application.  

 
6.2 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water advises that potable water and sewerage strategies 

should preferably be ‘front-loaded’ though they are willing to condition the 
undertaking of a Hydraulic Modelling Assessment (HMA) and control the need 
for any identified reinforcement works to be completed prior to occupation. 
They advise that the HMA will take several weeks to complete so the applicant 
should allow sufficient time to avoid any delays to their programme. They are 
available to liaise and progress matters though the control to comply with the 
HMA would come through the planning permission. 
 



6.3 They confirm that the water mains serving this area are known to have minimal 
pressures at times of peak demand. Any increased demand will exacerbate the 
situation and would adversely affect their service to existing customers and 
potential users of this proposed development. It may be possible for the 
developer to fund the accelerated provision of essential improvements by way 
of water requisition under Sections 40-41 of the Water Industry Act 1991 or 
through planning obligations of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 

6.4 Within the Flood Consequences Assessment (FCA) and Drainage Strategy 
under the heading existing drainage, the report acknowledges that there are a 
number of public assets located within the site boundary. A number of these are 
of strategic importance to the business and should be awarded sufficient 
attention/protection during and post construction. They note the proposed 
protection zones, however those offered are not sufficient to ensure they can 
maintain future access and avoid risk of damage to the sewer. They have 
previously had the opportunity to provide comments on this proposal via their 
own pre planning advice service and the mandatory Article 2D process where 
they recommended the following easements would apply. 12 metres either side 
of the centreline of the 2400mm public combined sewer 12 metres either side of 
the centreline of the 2500 public combined sewer overflow. 8 metres either side 
of the centreline of the 1850mm public combined sewer 6 metres either side of 
the centreline of the 1200 public surface water sewer They acknowledge that 
the only operational development in the vicinity of the assets is a new access 
road. Further details will need to be provided to ensure the sewers are 
protected at all times. 
 

6.5 Concerning surface water, the report identifies that the method to dispose of 
surface water is to drain to the nearby sea, however drawing reference A(P)-02 
shows two infiltration ponds which are positioned in close proximity to public 
sewers. This aspect needs to be clarified and if used the pond shall be located 
away from the public sewers.  
 

6.6 In respect of foul water they recommended that foul water can drain to the 
225mm public combined sewer between manholes ST21766601 and 
ST21767604 located either side of Rover Way to the North East of the site. The 
drainage works to achieve this connection point would need to avoid crossing 
the strategic assets within close proximity and a route should be chosen 
carefully to avoid damage or restrict future access to these assets.  
 

6.7 The submitted Drainage Strategy relies upon further correspondence and will 
need to be updated accordingly. They also request that a plan be submitted to 
show the proposed route of the foul water drainage in order to make the 
connection point in Rover Way. Therefore, if minded to grant planning 
permission, they request that the relevant conditions and advisory notes are 
included. 
 

6.8 Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust (GGAT) advises that information in 
the Historic Environment Record notes that the application area is formed from 
industrial material placed to reclaim ground from the Severn Estuary during the 
1970s. The ground is formed from layers of material tipped in different events 



since then, which now comprises a deep formation which has created a 30m 
AOD land surface. If the proposal were to involve any works which would 
significantly penetrate beneath the dumped material, essentially entering the 
estuarine deposits, then there would be the potential for archaeological 
deposits to be encountered. However, the details provided state that whilst 
some material will be removed, enough will remain to provide a foundation level 
at between 12m and 14m to allow enabling works for platforms for the various 
elements of the development.  
 

6.9 Archaeological works adjacent to the south west have not shown any significant 
archaeological features or finds. There has been no change to their 
understanding of the archaeological resource since their last letter and 
therefore they reiterate their previous opinion, that the proposed development 
will not adversely impact on any archaeological resource, and that 
consequently they do not recommend any mitigation measures. 
 

6.10 Natural Resources Wales (NRW) advise that a Habitat Regulations 
Assessment (HRA) is required to be undertaken that demonstrates that the 
development will not have an adverse effect on site integrity.  
 

6.11 The Severn Estuary Special Area of Conservation (SAC), Special Protection 
Area (SPA), Wetland of International Importance (Ramsar Site) and Site of 
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) lie adjacent to the application boundary. They 
note that aspects of the construction works will be undertaken within the 
designated sites’ boundary. The Gwent Levels – Rumney and Peterstone SSSI 
lies approximately 1.5km from the application boundary. 
 

6.12 From the information provided (prior to their consideration of the AA), they are 
unable to conclude that the proposed development would have no likely 
significant effect on the Severn Estuary SAC and SPA. They recommend that 
Cardiff Council, as the competent authority, carry out an ‘appropriate 
assessment’ of the proposal in accordance with Regulation 63(1) of the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. This should not be an 
onerous task. They can provide additional advice and guidance on the HRA 
process and the undertaking of appropriate assessments if required. 
 

6.13 The purpose of the appropriate assessment is to assess the implications of the 
proposed development, with respect to the conservation objectives of the 
Severn Estuary SAC and SPA. The conclusions of the appropriate assessment 
should enable Cardiff Council to ascertain whether or not the proposed 
development would adversely affect the integrity of the Severn Estuary SAC 
and SPA. R 
 

6.14 Regulation 63(6) states that, as part of the appropriate assessment processes, 
the competent authority ‘shall have regard to the manner in which it (the 
development) is proposed to be carried out or to any conditions or restrictions 
subject to which they propose that the consent, permission or other 
authorisation should be given’. In addition, there is a need to consider this 
proposal ‘in combination’ with other developments in the vicinity, particularly 



the possible in-combination impacts from other proposed developments along 
this stretch of the Severn Estuary. 
 

6.15 Their main concerns relate to the possible adverse impacts of the proposed 
development on the features of the Severn Estuary SAC and SPA, in particular 
with respect to: 
 
(i) Site drainage and release of any existing land contamination causing 

pollution of the Severn Estuary during construction; 
(ii) Disturbance to bird features arising from construction activities; 
(iii) Aerial emissions causing pollution of the Severn Estuary during 

operation. 
 
6.16 In respect of (i), the reworking and removal of contaminated material, 

particularly along the foreshore, and the potential to create/reopen pathways 
through the retained material may cause polluted material to enter the Severn 
Estuary and adversely impact the habitat and species features of the sites. 
Whilst they welcome reference in Chapter 7 of the Environmental Statement 
(ES) to mitigation measures to be detailed in the site Construction and 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), they advise the appropriate 
assessment needs to detail specific measures to prevent adverse impact on the 
Severn Estuary SAC and SPA. 
 

6.17 Regarding (ii), they welcome the measures stated to minimise disturbance to 
SPA bird features during construction, such as the phasing of works and the 
creation of a bund (Chapter 8 of the ES and supporting documents). However, 
winter working at the construction site behind the bund is likely to require 
additional mitigation measures such as temporary screening along the top of 
the bund. They note and welcome the intention to agree a working method with 
NRW in advance. All measures to avoid detrimental impact on the SPA features 
need to be detailed in the appropriate assessment. 
 

6.18 They note the intention to re-route the Wales Coast Path along the foreshore 
only in summer and, once the bund is completed, the intention to route the path 
along the top of the bund. This should also be referred to within the appropriate 
assessment. 
 

6.19 Finally, concerning (iii), they have reviewed the information provided in Chapter 
9 of the ES - Air Quality and the Air Quality Assessment Report (Appendix 9.6 
of the ES). They welcome the inclusion of the Severn Estuary SAC as a 
potential receptor in addition to the Severn Estuary SPA in the revised air 
quality assessment. From the information provided, the emissions of NOx and 
nitrogen deposition at the designated site exceed the criteria of significance, 
based on the appropriate critical levels and critical loads. Therefore, they 
cannot concur with a conclusion of no likely significant effect; they consider the 
emission of nitrogen oxide and the deposition of nitrogen on the features of the 
Severn Estuary Ramsar/SPA/SAC to be significant and that an appropriate 
assessment needs to be completed by the Council. 
 



6.20 They welcome the mitigation, to avoid adverse effects on the features of the 
Severn Estuary SAC and SPA, as proposed in the Air Quality Assessment 
Report (Appendix 9.6 of ES, paragraph 7.1, p.30), including emission 
abatement technologies to reduce NOx and PM emissions, and an appropriate 
stack height and exhaust exit velocity to maximize dispersion. These measures 
need to be detailed in the appropriate assessment. 
 

6.21 (A copy of the Appropriate Assessment (AA), undertaken by the Council as the 
competent authority, is attached. NRW have been consulted on its contents 
and their final comments will be reported to Planning Committee). 
 

6.22 They advise that it is Welsh Government policy to treat developments 
potentially affecting Ramsar sites in the same way as for SACs and SPAs. Their 
concerns for the Severn Estuary Ramsar Site are the same as for the Severn 
Estuary SPA and SAC highlighted above. 
 

6.23 The application site lies adjacent to the Severn Estuary Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI). Their concerns for the Severn Estuary SSSI are the same as 
those for the SAC and SPA outlined above. 
 

6.24 Providing the HRA demonstrates that there is no adverse effect on site integrity, 
they would raise no objection to the application, subject to appropriate 
conditions being attached to any future permission. This list is not exhaustive, 
providing that the above matter is satisfactorily resolved they will provide a final 
list of conditions at that point. They currently recommend a set of conditions to 
prevent contamination and pollution including requirements for a 
remediation strategy, verification report, long-term monitoring, maintenance, 
and contingencies, unforeseen contamination, surface water drainage, and 
piling prevention. 
 

6.25 Concerning flood risk management, the application site lies partially within 
Zone C2 as defined by the Development Advice Map (DAM) referred to under 
Technical Advice Note 15: Development and Flood Risk (TAN15) (July 2004). 
Their Flood Map, which is updated on a quarterly basis, confirms the site to be 
partially within the 0.5% (1 in 200 year) and 0.1% (1 in 1000 year) annual 
probability flood outlines. The Flood Consequences Assessment (FCA) dated 
August 2017 by Vectos indicates that the majority of the site is located within 
DAM Zone B. The proposed built development is to be located in Zone B. As 
such, they have no adverse comments to offer in this regard. It should be noted 
that the FCA suggests an area of the site to the North East includes an access 
road within DAM zone C2, which could be at risk from a tidal event. As such, the 
Council may wish the applicant to further consider site access and egress, in 
terms of potential depths and velocities of floodwaters in this area and the 
implications of this should a flood event occur. If so, they would be happy to 
provide further advice. However, they note there is an alternative access route 
at the western end of site which is shown to be outside zone C2 and therefore 
they have no adverse comments from a flood risk perspective. 
 

6.26 They note the comments in the ES regarding European Protected Species 
and accordingly have no further comment on the proposals. 



 
6.27 The scoping opinion referred to the site as being a non-domestic landfill site 

with capping, leachate collection and gas venting. Any material removed from 
the landfill site will need to be regarded as a waste with appropriate 
considerations and transfer / consignment notes. For non-landfill material, there 
needs to be a suitable treatment facility to transfer the material to, which is 
permitted to accept that material. 
 

6.28 Due to the location of the site, consideration should be given to surface water 
discharges. This will need to consider spillages on site as well as firewater 
containment in the case of an incident. 
 

6.29 The site will need to be connected to mains sewerage due to the locality of 
sensitive sites. 
 

6.30 Should an Environmental Permit be required a Fire Risk and Management 
Plan will need to be submitted with the permit application. Noise from the site 
would be required to be assessed taking into consideration other noise sources 
in the locality. Any activities on site that have the potential to generate high 
noise levels, such as chipping, should have considerations for alternative 
techniques. With regard to energy efficiency, it should be confirmed what 
arrangements are to be put in place to ensure that the waste heat and steam 
generated are to be used and not discharged to atmosphere. 
 

6.31 CADW, having carefully considered the information provided with this planning 
application, consider that the proposed development will have no more than a 
negligible effect on the two scheduled monuments in the vicinity. Within 3km 
are Penylan Roman Site (GM296), which is not inter visible with the proposed 
development, and Relict Seawall on Rumney Great Wharf (GM474), where 
they consider that the proposed development would have a negligible effect on 
the setting of the monument. They therefore have no objections to the impact of 
the proposed development on the scheduled monuments. 
 

6.32 Their statutory role in the planning process is to provide the local planning 
authority with an assessment concerned with the likely impact that the proposal 
will have on scheduled monuments, registered historic parks and gardens, 
registered historic landscapes where an Environmental Impact Assessment is 
required and development likely to have an impact on the outstanding universal 
value of a World Heritage Site. They do not provide an assessment of the likely 
impact of the development on listed buildings or conservation areas, as these 
are matters for the local authority. It is for the local planning authority to weigh 
their assessment against all the other material considerations in determining 
whether to approve planning permission. 
 

6.33 Applications for planning permission are considered in light of the Welsh 
Government’s land use planning policy and guidance contained in Planning 
Policy Wales (PPW), Technical Advice Notes and guidance. PPW (Chapter 6 – 
The Historic Environment) explains that the conservation of archaeological 
remains is a material consideration in determining a planning application, 
whether those remains are a scheduled monument or not. Where nationally 



important archaeological remains, whether scheduled or not, and their settings 
are likely to be affected by proposed development, there should be a 
presumption in favour of their physical protection in situ. It will only be in 
exceptional circumstances that planning permission will be granted if 
development would result in an adverse impact on a scheduled monument (or 
an archaeological site shown to be of national importance) or has a significantly 
damaging effect upon its setting. Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic 
Environment elaborates by explaining that when considering development 
proposals that affect scheduled monuments or other nationally important 
archaeological remains, there should be a presumption in favour of their 
physical preservation in situ, i.e. a presumption against proposals which would 
involve significant alteration or cause damage, or would have a significant 
adverse impact causing harm within the setting of the remains. 

 
7. REPRESENTATIONS 
 
7.1 Local Members have been consulted and any comments received will be 

reported to Planning Committee. 
 

7.2 The application was publicised by press and 9 no. site notices on 23 
November 2017 and 28 December 2017 under Regulation 18 (Environmental 
Statements) of The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) (Wales) Regulations 2017 and Article 12 (Publicity for 
Applications for Planning Permission) of The Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012. The application 
was subsequently publicised in the press on 3 May 2018 and by 9 no. site 
notices on 10 May 2018 under Regulation 24 (Further Information and 
Evidence in Respect of Environmental Statements) of the aforementioned EIA 
Regulations.  
 

7.3 The site notices were displayed adjacent to the application site at Rover Way 
and Tide Fields Road, as well nearby on Seawall Road and at 6 no. other 
locations in the nearby residential communities at Tremorfa, and Pengam 
Green including Tesco and Willows High School.  
 

7.4 Neighbouring occupiers adjoining and in the vicinity of the site were also sent 
written notification by post at each consultation stage. 
 

7.5 Celsa Steel express a number of concerns as follows: 
 
(i) Potential smells from the power station. They are concerned about 

"polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons" (PAH) and sulphur dioxide (S02), 
which can be generated in biomass plants depending on type of source 
material and on combustion conditions. These chemical compounds can 
generate smells and other consequences to people. They think there 
should be Air Quality Assessments regarding those compounds to 
evaluate their impact; 

(ii) Comments on the Air Quality Assessment undertaken. They think there 
should be a more accurate calculation of Annual Mean Nitrogen Oxides 
(µg/m3): 23.9 and 24-Hour Mean Nitrogen Oxides (µg/m3) :75.1, which 



are both included in Table 11 of the Air Quality Assessment, in order to 
define more clearly the contributions of existing emitters  to those 
values. The meteorological conditions of Cardiff Airport, at 17km 
distance, has been used for the assessment. They understand that 
those conditions include wind directions and intensity. They think more 
accurate data in the ADMS-5 dispersion model should be used to 
evaluate concentrations and changes. 

(iii) Noise levels. Additional background noise measurements should be 
taken at the border between Mineral land (neighbouring slag handling) 
and new Biomass site, in order to define baseline conditions to compare 
with new conditions in the future generated by new industrial incomers. 

(iv) Treatment and destination of contaminated soils. In Chapter 7 
GEOTECHNICAL CONDITIONS & CONTAMINATED LAND the ground 
conditions have been analysed, their effect during development and 
operational phases, and mitigation strategies. It has been mentioned 
that a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) and Site 
Waste Management Plan (SWMP) will be developed .They think that 
those plans should be a precondition for a permit and also they should 
have the option to study them. Because part of the site is made up of 
slag or shredded residues, they are concerned that the moving of these 
materials may be wrongly construed as being part of the CELSA 
operation and problems associated with these movements could be 
wrongly addressed to CELSA. 

(v) Risk analysis of the activity and potential effect on their workers needs to 
be undertaken e.g. explosion. 

(vi) How CELSA's activities on its adjoining Mineral Site are considered. 
Both the Biomass Power Plant and future occupants of the site should be 
made aware of the adjacent CELSA activities to avoid any future claims 
or objections. 

(vii) Effect of deliveries to and from this proposed site on traffic flows on Units 
will affect future layout of Eastern Bay Link Road to the East and 
deliveries to and from the CELSA plant. The proposed new junction will 
be only at 73 m from the existing one to Seawall road which appears 
impractical. They suggest the consideration of a roundabout solution, 
integrated into the future solution of Eastern Bay Link Road extension; 

(viii) Drainage and sewage systems, which may have an effect on the 
adjoining Celsa Mineral Site Land. They understand that details of the 
solution will be developed during detailed design phase of the project 
and will require approval from Welsh Water but they would wish to be 
involved in those discussions. 

 
7.6 The occupier of 30 Cae Syr Dafydd, Canton, requests that the planning 

department notes their concern whether all of the fuel will be waste, and 
whether it will continue to be, and how the council will monitor that. Concern 
was expressed that the use of wood as a biofuel can and often does turn out to 
be worse for climate change than burning fossil fuel. Subsequently, it was also 
stated that "biomass" can mean anything from sustainable to biomass to 
thoroughly unsustainable biomass and further information can be provided if 
required. 
   



7.7 Gypsy and Traveller Wales write on behalf of the residents of Rover Way 
Caravan Site. They met with residents on two separate occasions as well as 
going door to door on the site over two days. They would like to offer feedback 
on the concerns expressed and discussed with the residents. 
 

7.8 Firstly, they need to address this public consultation. It is difficult to imagine that 
ordinary residents should be expected to read through, never mind understand, 
the documentation that has been made available for the public consultation 
process let alone a community known to suffer low literacy. The information 
should be available in a format that can be understood to the layman as well as 
the expert. Surely there is a duty to ensure understanding and effective 
participation by the public? At the meeting with the residents there were also 
questions around why the council (planning office) were not leading the 
meeting. The main concerns of the residents are: 
 
(i) Fire risks: Where is the fire assessment? This was of great concern, the 

residents on site are living in chalets and caravans in very close quarters 
right next door. They could not find a fire risk assessment in the available 
documentation; 

 
(ii) Traffic: There is concern that 40 daily HGV movements to transport the 

biomass, plus all the staff and other traffic generated by the industrial 
units would have a negative impact on air quality as well as noise. The 
road is already extremely busy and many of the resident’s pitches back 
on to this road. 

 
(iii) Noise: The planning documents say that the maximum noise levels at 

the Gypsy and Traveller Site would be 20 decibels. In reality, noise levels 
endured by people living near a biomass power plants are often much 
higher. They would appreciate further clarification of how this estimate 
was made and if current noise levels have been measured. It was 
suggested that current noise levels already exceed this so surely the 
proposed development would increase that? 

 
(iv) Air pollution: The proposal argues that no residents (including those on 

the Traveller Site) will be exposed to unlawful air pollution levels if the 
plant is built. There are a few concerns around this claim:  

 
• Firstly, particulate concentrations are not being monitored 

anywhere nearby even though there are steel works, already likely 
sources of particulates, together with traffic.  

• Secondly, legal limits for small particulates in England and Wales 
are already far higher than what the World Health Organisation 
recommends.  

• Thirdly, legal nitrogen dioxide limits are being breached at Ocean 
Way which isn't that far away, yet the consultants for the developer 
has ran their model using the figures from monitoring stations 
elsewhere with lower reading, rather than the Ocean Way one; 

• There are a significant number of Gypsies and Travellers living on 
the Rover Way Caravan site that have a long‐term illness, health 



problem or disability, many of which include respiratory problems. 
• There is concern that the proposed development would result in 

significant impacts on air quality and would consequently harm the 
health and well-being of residents living next to the site.    

 
7.9 Cardiff Heliport objects to the proposed Biomass Plant on the grounds that 

they require further clarification on the following issues: 
 
(i)   The emissions that are likely to be expelled through the chimney. They 

would appreciate assurances that these emissions will not affect the 
pilots and helicopters on final approach to runway 20 at Cardiff Heliport; 

 
(ii) The exact location of the chimney stack as well as confirmation of its 

maximum height; 
 
(iii) The proposed plan appears to indicate that the Chimney stack is on the 

extended runway centre line to the heliport and could jeopardize any 
future developments for Cardiff Heliport so far as mission critical 
services (e.g. Air Ambulance, SAR etc...) in terms of future GPS let down 
approaches.   

 
8. ANALYSIS 

 
8.1 The key issues for the consideration of this outline application are the principle 

of development, pollution issues in respect of noise, air quality and 
contaminated land, transportation and access, ecology, hydrology and 
drainage, visual impact, third party representations, and residential amenity 
including health considerations.  
 
Principle of Development 
 

8.2 The site is located within the settlement boundary as defined by the Local 
Development Plan (LDP) Proposals Map and, whilst the majority of the site has 
no specific land use allocation or designation, part of the site (the Tide Fields 
Road access) falls within land identified as existing employment land. 
Therefore LDP Policies EC1 (Existing Employment Land) and EC7 
(Employment Proposals on Land Not Identified for Employment Use) are 
therefore also relevant. In addition, the Wales Coast Path traverses the site 
along the southeast boundary, for which LDP Policy T8 (Strategic Recreational 
Routes) applies.  
 

8.3 The proposed use of the site for a Biomass Power Plant and new industrial 
floorspace would be consistent with LDP Policy EC1. LDP Policy EC7 permits 
proposals for employment use on unallocated sites provided that: 
 
(i) The proposal cannot reasonably be accommodated on existing 

employment land and in the case of offices in the Central Enterprise 
Zone 
(Policy KP2) and the Central and Bay Business Areas (Policy EC4); 



(ii) The site falls within the settlement boundary and has no specific policy 
designation; 

(iii) The use is compatible with uses in the surrounding area and; 
(iv) The proposal is well related to the primary highway network and 

accessible to sustainable modes of transport 
 

8.4 It would appear reasonable to locate a new Biomass Power Plant and industrial 
accommodation on this site, which is partly within recognised employment land 
and is adjacent to comparable uses in a location that is well-served by the 
primary highway network. According to these policies the principle of the 
proposed development would appear to be acceptable. 
 

8.5 LDP Policy T8 makes a commitment to maintain and develop the coast path as 
one of the City’s Strategic Recreational Routes, facilitating access to them by 
the local communities which will form an integral part of the City’s walking and 
cycling routes. This aspect of the application is considered in the Transport and 
Access section below. 
 

8.6 The site is currently being used as an off-road motorcycle track in line with the 
planning permission granted in December 2006 (see paragraph 3.2). This 
facility is operated by the Council and opportunities to relocate the facility to 
another site are being investigated. In any event, there is no planning policy 
protection afforded to the facility. 
 
Contaminated Land 
 

8.7 The removal of the overburden and partial removal of the contaminated 
material below the membrane is estimated to require the removal of 
approximately 2 million tonnes of fill material. The removal of this material 
would take place in phases across a number of years. LDP Policy EN13 (Air, 
Noise, Light Pollution and Land Contamination) states that development will not 
be permitted where it would cause or result in unacceptable harm to, amongst 
other things, health, local amenity, or interests of nature conservation or 
landscape through the presence of unacceptable levels of land contamination.  
 

8.8 Through a dialogue that commenced at the beginning of the consultation 
process, and has included face to face meetings between the applicant, the 
Council’s Contaminated Land team, and Natural Resources Wales, the 
information contained in the application in respect of land contamination has 
been carefully considered, mindful of the existing site conditions. It is 
recognised that removal of such a large volume of fill material is difficult to 
comprehensively assess through site surveys. In considering the 
environmental information and the ensuing dialogue with the Council’s 
Contaminated Land Team and Natural Resources Wales (NRW), it has been 
agreed that further surveys will be required as the development progresses. A 
set of conditions has therefore been agreed between the relevant consultees to 
control the removal of the fill material. Subject to compliance with relevant 
conditions, they consider that pollution through land contamination can be 
avoided.   

 



8.9 It should also be noted that the applicant, in addition to acquiring planning 
permission for the development, will also need to apply to Natural Resources 
Wales for an Environmental Permit for the removal of the material as well as the 
operation of the Biomass Plant itself.  
 

 Noise 
 

8.10 The Environmental Statement accompanying the application includes a chapter 
assessing the likely noise impacts of the proposed development and concludes 
that they are unlikely to have significant environmental effects. Noise Pollution 
Officers from Shared Regulatory Services, having considered the submitted 
baseline survey, consider that conditions are required to ensure compliance 
with LDP Policy EN13. Conditions are recommended to control plant noise, 
delivery times, and confirmation of the use of virgin timber only. 

 
Air Quality 
 

8.11 The key source of emissions with the potential to harm air quality are the 
emissions from the Biomass Power Plant. 
 

8.12 Following the receipt of the Environmental Statement, which includes a chapter 
examining air quality impacts, further information was submitted in the form of a 
technical note, following a request by the Council’s Air Quality Officer. 
 

8.13 Although the Environmental Statement concluded that the Biomass Plant would 
not lead to any significant impacts on human health, it did identify the potential 
for significant impacts in relation to concentrations of nitrogen oxide in the 
Severn Estuary Special Protection Area (SPA) bordering the application site, 
specifically an area of salt marsh habitat at the mouth of the River Rhymney, 
approximately 350 metres northeast of the application site and 900 metres 
northeast of the proposed siting of the Biomass Power Plant. The technical 
concluded the following: 
 
(i) Emissions from the plant on the saltmarsh habitat are judged to be not 

significant; 
(ii) Stack height modelling confirms that a 51 metre high stack as proposed 

is sufficient to ensure that the air quality impacts of the Biomass Plant 
are not significant and a taller stack is therefore not considered to be 
necessary; 

(iii) In the event that mitigation is required in future, emissions reduction 
technologies can be incorporated into the plant design to safeguard 
interests. They recommend a relevant condition to this effect.  

 
8.14 The Council’s Air Quality Officer, having reviewed the further information 

provided in the technical note, is satisfied with the approach taken and the 
conclusions therein. A condition is recommended to require a further Air Quality 
Assessment to be undertaken once the final Biomass Plant Design is known. It 
is considered that this approach will ensure unacceptable harm from air 
pollution will be avoided. 
 



8.15 It is not considered that the traffic generated by the development will result in 
unacceptable levels of air pollution, mindful of the level of traffic already using 
Rover Way on a daily basis and the nature of the existing neighbouring 
industrial operations. 
 
Ecology 
 

8.16 The application site, being adjacent to the Severn Estuary Marine Sites, and the 
Severn Estuary Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), amongst other 
interests, must be carefully considered in respect of its impact upon these 
nature conservation interests which are of international and national 
importance.  
 

8.17 The Council’s Ecologist has undertaken an ‘Appropriate Assessment’ (AA) on 
behalf of the Council as the ‘competent authority’ which concludes that, based 
upon the submitted application, the proposed development will not have an 
adverse effect upon the integrity of the Severn Estuary sites, provided certain 
conditions are attached to any permission. The AA has been forwarded to 
Natural Resources Wales (NRW) for their comments which will be reported to 
Planning Committee to consider prior to their determination of this application. 
A copy of the AA is appended to this report. 
 

8.18 The surveys undertaken to inform the Ecology Chapter of the Environmental 
Statement (ES) identify that the site would comfortably qualify as a Site of 
Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC) in accordance with 9 no. of the 11 
no. Guidelines for the Selection of Wildlife Sites in South Wales 2004 (The 
‘SINC Selection Criteria’) (see paragraph 5.45). The Council’s Ecologist refers 
to an appeal decision which states that, in such circumstances, a site displaying 
the criteria should be treated as a SINC even if it has not officially been 
designated as such. It is recognised that the landscaping proposals for this 
development, which are a reserved matter requiring future approval by the 
Local Planning Authority, will be important in the future protection of the existing 
habitats. 
 

8.19 The Council’s Ecologist is satisfied that the policy requirements of Section 5.5.3 
of TAN 5 as above can be addressed at this site, however this is dependent 
upon the details of the final landscaping scheme of the proposed development. 
 

8.20 The Ecologist recommends that a comprehensive Green Infrastructure 
Strategy (GIS) for the site is secured via condition to secure details of all 
measures to avoid, mitigate and compensate for impacts upon ecological 
interests, together with measures to provide habitat enhancement. The GIS will 
need to cover all phases of the development from the first phase of removal of 
fill material to the construction, and future operations of the development, to 
guarantee the ongoing management of habitats. 
 
Transport and Access 
 

8.21 The creation of a new vehicle access/egress into the site from Rover Way, to 
function as the main route for vehicles and pedestrians entering the site, is a 



matter for detailed consideration at this outline stage. During the course of the 
application process the junction design has been amended to reflect the 
comments of the Council’s Highways Authority, who required the creation of a 
right turn filter lane for vehicles entering the site from the east in order to avoid 
congestion on the is part of Rover Way. The Council’s Highways Officers are 
satisfied with the amended junction design that has been submitted by the 
applicant and a relevant condition is attached to secure its details to the 
satisfaction of the Highways Authority. A Section 278 Agreement under the 
Highways Act would also be required for these works. 
 

8.22 Rover Way is an important route for traffic serving the operational dock and city 
centre, as well as commuter traffic from the east. It will eventually 
accommodate the future extension to the Eastern Bay Link. The impacts of the 
proposed development upon this important highway network must therefore be 
given careful consideration. 
 

8.23 The Council’s Highways Officer, in commenting on the application (from 
paragraph 5.1), has had to make certain assumptions to understand the likely 
traffic impacts of the development on the existing road network. His 
assumptions include the estimated volume of fill material requiring 
transportation (2,000,000 tonnes), the use of 20 tonne tippers, 100 HGV trips 
per day for four years (200 vehicle movements), vehicle routes to avoid 
residential communities and the city centre, 30 – 50 daily HGV trips during the 
construction period assuming a 5.5 day working week, and a maximum fuel 
amount of 75,000 tonnes per annum for the Biomass Power Plant. On the basis 
that these assumptions are correct, he considers that the overall additional 
HGV traffic on Rover Way would be acceptable, with the proviso that the roads 
is at, or exceeds, acceptable capacity during and adjacent to the peak hours. 
 

8.24 During the removal of fill material and the construction of buildings and 
infrastructure he anticipates that an average of 10 no. 20 tonne tippers will 
access the site per hour which equates to 1% of the average daily traffic on 
Rover Way. If peak hours were avoided the hourly flow would increase to 12.5 
tippers per hour. 
 

8.25 During the operational phase of the development the applicant has estimated 
that 20 two-way trips per day would be required in respect of fuel delivery, and 
would be spread throughout the day resulting in less than one trip per hour. In 
addition to the fuel supply movements there would be some 22 vehicle 
movements associated with staff operating the plant (based on 11 on-site 
parking spaces).  
 

8.26 The transfer of ash from the Biomass would also occur by road and, at an 
estimate of ash being 10% of the weight of the feedstock, 7,500 tonnes of ash 
would be generated per annum. This ash would be transferred by road using 
purpose built skips and would equate to some 375 two-way trips (or 750 vehicle 
movements) per year, or approximately 7.5 two-way trips (15 vehicle 
movements) per week. 
 



8.27 TRICS has been used to calculate that 332 vehicles movements would be 
generated a day (5am to 9pm) by the proposed warehousing (or 213 
movements 7am to 7pm). It is considered that the early (pre-7am) and late 
(post 7pm) vehicle movements would primarily be staff arriving / departing from 
work.  
 

8.28 In summary, it is assumed that the site would generate some 278 vehicle 
movements during a 12 hour day, of which some 250 could be assumed to be 
daily HGV operations. These would comprise: 
 
(i)  40 associated with fuel delivery; 
(ii) 3 associated with ash collection; 
(iii) 22 biomass plant operatives; 
(iv) 213 associated with the warehousing. 

 
8.29 The traffic generated during both the four year pre-construction and the 

operational periods may have a detrimental impact upon the surrounding road 
network. It is accepted that the additional traffic movements would appear to 
constitute less than 2% of the existing daily traffic flow. However, it should also 
be considered that the existing road network along Rover Way is already 
operating at its design capacity, as evidenced by the queueing during the peak 
periods. It is considered that additional traffic on the local network could be 
expected to exacerbate the situation. 
 

8.30 Although Rover Way is identified as being the route for the future extension to 
the Eastern Bay Link (EBL), no details on the precise route are available. The 
route will have to avoid private land in any event and therefore the future EBL 
extension is not considered to be an issue that could reasonably prevent the 
delivery of this development. 
 

8.31 In respect of non-car modes of travel car and cycle parking provision would be 
provided for commuters in accordance with the Council’s adopted guidelines. 
There are limited opportunities for bus connections. Pedestrian public access 
would be provided from the new junction on Rover Way through the site. 
 

8.32 The Wales Coast Path crosses the site and the application makes a 
commitment to improve and enhance this important recreational route in 
accordance with LDP Policy T8. A relevant condition is attached. This 
enhancement of this route complies with national and local planning policies to 
encourage active forms of travel. 
 
Hydrology and Drainage 
 

8.33 The site is complex is respect of its hydrology due to its location immediately 
adjacent to the Severn Estuary. There is an opportunity through this 
development to introduce sustainable drainage solutions and address existing 
site issues which will protect the Severn Estuary marine sites from 
contaminated material known to be in the ground. 
 



8.34 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water (DCWW) recommend conditions be attached to any 
planning permission that will be granted to secure a hydraulic modelling 
assessment and full details of the proposals for foul and surface water 
drainage. The indicative site plans suggest the creation of attenuation ponds in 
the southeast corner of the site which may be an acceptable solution. DCWW 
have advised of opportunities for foul connection to existing sewers in the 
vicinity of the application site.  
 

8.35 The coastal defences along this part of the Severn Estuary are due to be 
upgraded through a project between Welsh Government and the Council. 
Although the precise details are still being finalised, it is likely that rock armour 
would be used to improve the defences along this section of coastline (from the 
River Rhymney to south of the application site) to prevent further erosion of the 
site. The applicant has been advised of this project which will take place on land 
adjacent to the application site. 
 

8.36 The leaching of material from the site into the estuary was also identified as a 
cause for concern by the Council’s Drainage Division due to the failure of the 
membrane covering the contaminated material. He advises that further details 
of the management of this leachate during construction and segregating this 
from the surface water run-off will be important. Relevant conditions are 
attached to secure these details. 
 

8.37 The part of the site that falls within Zone C2 on flood defence maps includes 
part of the access road that could be affected by a tidal event. However, the site 
has a secondary/emergency access at Tide Fields Road in the southwest which 
could be utilised in an extreme tidal event. Natural Resources Wales have no 
objection in this regard. 
 

8.38 It is considered that satisfactory drainage solutions can be designed to ensure 
compliance with LDP Policies EN11 (Protection of Water Resources) and EN14 
(Flood Risk). 
 
Landscape and Visual Impact  
 

8.39 The existing site contains significant earth bunds to a height of approximately 
30 metres AOD and therefore the site is potentially more visible from the 
surrounding area than would be otherwise be the case. In considering the 
visual impacts of the proposed development the neighbouring heavy industrial 
uses to the north and west form an important context.  
 

8.40 As a result of the development the removal of fill material will facilitate the 
creation of a development plateau at approximately 12 – 14 metres AOD. The 
indicative site plans show the formation of bunds along the southeast and 
northwest boundaries to screen the development and provide enhanced 
landscaping features. The bunds would be a maximum of 22 metres AOD, thus 
creating approximately 8 to 10 metres screening to the development. The 
height parameters provided on the submitted schedule confirm the stack height 
would be between 35 and 55 metres above the ground level, therefore the final 
development would likely be visible above the landscaped bunds. However, 



this in itself is not considered to be an issue as the final building designs and the 
landscaped bunds will be subject to detailed reserved matters approval. It is 
considered that these bunds have the potential to provide significant screening 
to the proposed development, subject to their detailed design. 
 

8.41 It is considered that the proposed development, whilst being visible from 
various viewpoints in the locality, is likely to have a negligible visual impact, 
mindful that the detailed design has not yet been finalised and the site will 
largely be viewed in the context of the existing heavy industrial operations 
immediately north and west of the site. 
 

8.42 Views will also be possible from the Wales Coast Path, which will be upgraded 
as a result of this development. The precise route of the path through the 
development is again subject to detailed design. It currently runs along the foot 
of the existing bunds adjacent to the foreshore and from this point the site would 
not be visible. However, if it were to be routed higher on the bund the 
development may become visible. In any event it is considered that through the 
sensitive landscaping of the site, any views from this Public Right of Way would 
not have be significantly harmful. 
 
Third Party Representations 
 

8.43 In respect of issues raised during the public consultation process which have 
not already been addressed in this analysis: 
 
(i) A risk analysis of the activity and potential effect on the workers of the 

neighbouring steel plant is not required for this planning application. 
(ii) Any future occupier of the development would be responsible for 

understanding the existing neighbouring site operations prior to taking 
up their occupancy. Any existing operations by neighbouring occupiers 
could not be prejudiced by the proposed development. 

(iii) The applicant has confirmed that the Biomass Power Plant will burn 
virgin timber, which will be transported to the site by road and/or rail from 
either Liverpool docks or Felixstowe, having been shipped from 
overseas (possibly Latvia); 

(iv) By publicising the application in the press, by site notice and sending 
letters to neighbouring occupiers and other properties in close proximity, 
the Local Planning Authority has exceeded the minimum requirements 
for publicising applications as set out in the relevant legislation (see 
paragraphs 7.2 and 7.3). 

(v) A fire assessment is not a requirement for planning permission. This is a 
matter for building control; 

(vi) It is recognised that the development would generate increased traffic, 
however compared to the existing situation on Rover Way, it is not 
considered that an objection on traffic grounds would be sustainable as 
the impacts are not likely to be significant; 

(vii) The parameter schedule in the application confirms that the chimney 
stack height for the Biomass Plant would be between 35 and 55 metres. 
Although an indicative site layout is included with this application, 
matters relating to appearance, scale and layout are reserved for 



subsequent approval therefore the precise location of the stack cannot 
be confirmed at this outline stage. The precise relationship between the 
proposed development and the Heliport will be considered during the 
consideration of reserved matters when full details of the plant design 
will be submitted. 

 
Other Considerations 
 

8.44 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 – Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 
1998 imposes a duty on the Local Authority to exercise its various functions 
with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the 
need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder in its area. 
This duty has been considered in the evaluation of this application. It is 
considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable increase in crime 
and disorder as a result of the proposed decision. 
 

8.45 Equality Act 2010 – The Equality Act 2010 identifies a number of ‘protected 
characteristics’, namely age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and 
maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation; marriage and civil 
partnership. The Council’s duty under the above Act has been given due 
consideration in the determination of this application. It is considered that the 
proposed development does not have any significant implications for, or effect 
on, persons who share a protected characteristic. 
 

8.46 Well-Being of Future Generations Act 2016 – Section 3 of this Act imposes a 
duty on public bodies to carry out sustainable development in accordance with 
the sustainable development principle to act in a manner which seeks to ensure 
that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs (Section 5). This duty has been 
considered in the evaluation of this application. It is considered that there would 
be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the achievement of wellbeing 
objectives as a result of the recommended decision. 
 

9. CONCLUSIONS 
 
9.1 It is considered that the submitted Environmental Statement (ES) provides a 

comprehensive assessment of the potential impacts of the proposed 
development and this has been taken into consideration in the assessment of 
the application. The conclusions of the submitted ES are considered sound. 
For reasons set out in this report, it is considered that the proposal is policy 
compliant and that there are no reasonable grounds for refusal.  
 

9.2 It is noted that the application is made in outline with all matters except access 
reserved for subsequent approval. Therefore full details of the building design, 
landscaping, layout and scale of the development will require approval through 
reserved matters submissions.  
 

9.3 It is recommended that outline planning permission be granted, subject to the 
recommended conditions. 
 



R
ov

er
 W

ay

T
id

e
 F

ie
ld

s 
R

o
ad

N
scale @

date

job number

status

please consider the environment before printing this document
refer to dimensions where provided

t  02921 672672

www.downsmerrifield.com

drawing number rev

project

title

first issue

rev description by

A1

- do not scale from drawing

1 : 2500

1

Location Plan

129

Parc Calon Gwyrdd

First-Step Group

18/8/17RB

A(P)-01

Planning

1 Amended red line 12/10/17



Landscaped bund

Landscaped bund

Biomass
CHP Plant

15,000ft² low to zero carbon unit

4 no. 25,000ft² low to zero
carbon units

Primary entrance

Secondary /
emergency
entrance

15,000ft² low to zero carbon unit

Boiler / Turbine

Fuel
Processing

Cooling

Leachate interception

Packaged Soil
Washing Plant

Potential
Fuel
Supply
route

Potential Fuel
Supply route

*�+��	)�! "
��
�
��
�

*
��
�

*�+��	)�!

,

Coastal path

Infiltration ponds

Foreshore

scale @

date

job number

status

please consider the environment before printing this document
refer to dimensions where provided

t  02921 672672

www.downsmerrifield.com

drawing number rev

project

title

first issue

rev description by

A1

- do not scale from drawing

1 : 1250

Site Plan

129

Parc Calon Gwyrdd

First-Step Group

18/8/17RB

A(P)-02

Planning

Area = 16.45 Hectares (40.6 Acres)



OUTLINE PLANNING APPLICATION 
 

 

 

 

 

 

LAND AT ROVER WAY, CARDIFF, CF24 2RX 

 

 

 

 

THE REMOVAL OF FILL MATERIAL AND THE CONSTRUCTION OF 

A CIRCA 9.5MW BIOMASS POWER PLANT AND 130,000 SQ. FT. 

OF INDUSTRIAL ACCOMMODATION, NEW ACCESS ROADS AND 

ASSOCIATED LANDSCAPING WORKS 

 

 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL STATEMENT: NON-TECHNICAL SUMMARY 

 
 

 

 

 

OCTOBER 2017 

 

 

 

 



Planning Application: Land at Rover Way       October 2017 
Outline Application for Proposed Biomass Combined Heat and Power Plant and Industrial Accommodation 
Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary         

 

 

 

LAND AT ROVER WAY, CARDIFF, CF24 2RX 

 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL STATEMENT: NON-TECHNICAL SUMMARY 

 

CONTENTS 

 

Preface 

 

Background 

 

The Site 

 

The Proposed Development 

 

Environmental Effects and Mitigation 

 

Conclusion 

 

APPENDICES 

 

Appendix A Illustrative Site Layout 

  



Planning Application: Land at Rover Way       October 2017 
Outline Application for Proposed Biomass Combined Heat and Power Plant and Industrial Accommodation 
Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary         

 

 

 

PREFACE 

 

A planning application has been submitted to Cardiff Council for the redevelopment of Land at Rover 

Way, Cardiff, CF24 2RX. The applicant is Parc Calon Gwrydd Ltd 

 

An Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) of the proposed development has been undertaken, and 

Parc Calon Gwrydd Ltd have commissioned a range of technical experts to prepare a comprehensive 

Environmental Statement (ES) to accompany the planning application. 

 

The purpose of the ES is to identify the possible environmental effects of the development, and the 

measures that are available to reduce these effects (where such action is appropriate). 

 

The ES is presented in two volumes: 

 

 Volume 1: which records the main findings of the assessment; and 

 Volume 2: which includes technical information to support the findings of the environmental 

assessment exercise. 

 

This document – the ‘Non-Technical Summary’ – is designed to provide an overview of the main ES. It 

draws out the key issues contained within the individual chapters of the ES. 

 

Copies of the ES can be inspected at the following premises: 

 

Cardiff Council, 

Planning Services, 

County Hall, 

Atlantic Wharf 

Cardiff 

CF10 4UW. 

 

Printed copies or electronic CD copies of the ES and Technical Appendices can be purchased from the 

Application agent: 

 

Geraint John Planning Ltd, 

33 Cathedral Road, 

Cardiff, 

CF11 9HB. 

 

The cost of a printed copy will be provided upon request. Electronic copies on CD of the full 

Environmental Statement and the Non-Technical Summary can be provided at a cost of £20 per copy 

including postage. Printed copies of the Non-Technical Summary will be provided free of charge upon 

request. 

  



Planning Application: Land at Rover Way       October 2017 
Outline Application for Proposed Biomass Combined Heat and Power Plant and Industrial Accommodation 
Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary         

 

 

 

The following documents have been submitted as part of the planning application which this 

Environmental Statement Supports: 

 

Planning Statement Plans and Drawings 

Design and Access Statement Ecology Survey 

Noise Impact Assessment Land Contamination Site Investigation 

Transport Statement Landscape Scheme 

Flood Consequences Assessment Visual Impact Assessment 

 

 

BACKGROUND 

 

The application for which this ES has been prepared relates to the development of Land at Rover Way, 

Cardiff, CF24 2RX. The site is located on the south-eastern extent of the city and on the eastern side 

of Rover Way adjoining existing industrial uses, a sewage treatment works (STW) and the adjoining 

Anaerobic Digestion (AD) renewable energy plant. This area is considered to be the main industrial core 

of the City where heavy industry has long been located. The range and type of uses and activities 

present is a product of its proximity to the coast and the docks. 

 

Planning Application 

 

The application has been submitted in outline, with all matters reserved except access. An ‘outline’ 

application seeks to establish the principle of development. Should ‘outline’ planning permission be 

granted, more in-depth ‘reserved matters’ applications will need to be submitted to the Local Planning 

Authority in order to agree the detail of the scheme. 

 

The application seeks planning permission for the following: 

 

‘The Removal of Fill Material and the Construction of a Circa 9.5MW Biomass Power Plant And 130,000 

Sq. Ft. Of Industrial Accommodation (Use Class B8), New Access Roads and Associated Landscaping 

Works’ 

 

Due to the site’s sensitive nature and prominent location, a significant amount of survey and assessment 

work has been undertaken to inform and support the outline application. 

 

Environmental Impact Assessment Process 

 

The applicants have been asked by Cardiff Council to undertake an EIA of the development proposals. 

This process, introduced by the European Union in 1985, is designed to improve the environmental 

design of a development scheme as it is drawn up, whilst also providing those making the final decision 

about the planning application with sufficient information about the possible environment effects of the 

proposal before that decisions is made. 

 

The applicants have therefore prepared an ES to examine the potential environmental effects of the 

proposals. The ES accompanies the planning application and has been prepared by a team of 

environmental specialists. 

  



Planning Application: Land at Rover Way       October 2017 
Outline Application for Proposed Biomass Combined Heat and Power Plant and Industrial Accommodation 
Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary         

 

 

 

THE SITE 

 

Site Characteristics 

 

The site, which was previously used as a non-domestic land fill site, known as the former ‘frag tip’ site, 

is currently used as an off-road motorcycle facility managed by Cardiff Council’s Parks Service. The 

motorcycle facility utilises less than half of the site area. The site extends to an area of approximately 

16.65 hectares (41.0 acres). 

 

The site directly abuts: 

 

 The Bristol Channel to the east; 

 Its north-east boundary abuts the Rover Way Traveller site; 

 The north-western boundary adjoins both Rover Way and the Sims Metals Ltd site; and 

 To the south the Dwr Cymru Welsh Water STW and the AD plant. 

 

The site was previously used for non-domestic landfill and specifically as a frag tip, now commonly 

known as ASR (automotive shredded residue). It is understood that this area was reclaimed, partially 

remediated and landscaped during the construction of the adjacent STW site to provide a local amenity. 

These works included the provision of a capping and membrane system, leachate collection, and gas 

venting provisions. 

 

Subsequent to the completion of these works a large amount of uncertified fill was deposited on the 

site from various construction projects in the locality, notably St Davids 2 retail scheme, rendering a 

substantive amount of the previous remediation ineffective. 

 

The site is located within close proximity to the Cardiff suburbs of Tremorfa and East Moors, in a south-

easterly and easterly direction, respectively. The character of the site and its surrounds is a product of 

both its history, as a non-domestic landfill site and industrial workings including waste recycling, and 

its present function as a motocross track with further adjacent industrial facilities including a sewage 

treatment works and an anaerobic digester. 

 

The site is located adjacent to a Site of Important Nature Conservation (SINC), Pengam Moors, to the 

north of the site and a Special Area of Conservation (SAC); Special Protection Area (SPA); Ramsar; and 

Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), the Severn Estuary mudflats.  

 

The site is located within the settlement boundary, as designated on the Proposals Map of the Cardiff 

County Council Local Development Plan. 

 

  



Planning Application: Land at Rover Way       October 2017 
Outline Application for Proposed Biomass Combined Heat and Power Plant and Industrial Accommodation 
Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary         

 

 

 

PLANNING POLICY 

 

The ninth edition of PPW was published in November 2016 and sets out the land use policies of the 

Welsh Government (WG). The document states that land use planning should set the framework for 

the development and use of land, taking full account of economic, social and environmental issues. 

 

The document identifies a number of key policy objectives which include: 

 

 Promote resource-efficient and climate change resilient settlement patterns that minimize 

land-take and urban sprawl; 

 Locate developments so as to minimize the demand for travel, especially by private car; 

 Maximise the use of renewable resources, including sustainable materials (recycled and 

renewable materials and those with a lower embodied energy). 

 Ensure that development does not produce irreversible harmful effects on the natural 

environment; and 

 Support the need to tackle the causes of climate change by moving towards a low carbon 

economy. 

 

One of the key aims of PPW is to promote sustainable development through the planning process. PPW 

sets out a number of broad objectives in order to deliver the sustainable development agenda of WG. 

These are set out at paragraph 4.4.3 of PPW and include the following: 

 

 Facilitating development that reduces emissions of greenhouse gases; 

 Facilitates sustainable building standards; 

 Securing the provision of infrastructure to form the physical basis for sustainable 

communities, while ensuring proper assessment of their sustainability impacts; 

 Maximize the use of renewable resources; 

 Encourage opportunities to reduce waste and all forms of pollution; 

 Foster improvements to transport facilities and improve accessibility to services and 

facilities; 

 

PPW sets out policies relating to planning for sustainable buildings (Section 4.12) – stating that 

development proposals should mitigate the causes of climate change and confirming an overall 

aspiration to secure zero carbon buildings. In order to move towards more sustainable and zero carbon 

buildings in Wales, the Assembly has introduced a minimum BREEAM standards for commercial 

development. 

 

The Welsh Government’s objectives in relation to transport are set out in Chapter 8 of PPW. The 

objectives include reducing the need to travel, especially by the private car, by locating development 

where there is good access to public transport, walking and cycling; locating development near other 

related uses to encourage multi-purpose trips and reduce the length of journeys; and improving 

accessibility by walking, cycling and public transport. 

 

The Cardiff Local Development Plan was adopted in January 2016 and forms the statutory development 

plan for the area.  Within the LDP, the key planning designations at the local level of relevance to the 

site and proposals are that the site is located partly within the Existing Employment Land identified as 

EC1.3 (Rover Way (Celsa Steel Works, Tremorfa Industrial Estate, Seawall Road)). 



Planning Application: Land at Rover Way       October 2017 
Outline Application for Proposed Biomass Combined Heat and Power Plant and Industrial Accommodation 
Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary         

 

 

 

 

The LDP also includes a constraints map which identifies constraints to development within Cardiff. The 

constraints of relevance to the site are as follows: 

 

 The Eastern Bay Transport Link; 

 A Strategic Recreation Route – The Wales Coastal Footpath; 

 A Site of Important Nature Conservation (SINC), Pengam Moors, to the north of the site; 

and 

 The Severn Estuary mudflats to the south and east, which is designated as the following – 

Special Area of Conservation (SAC); Special Protection Area (SPA); Ramsar; and Site of 

Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). 

 

 

THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 

 

The proposed development is for a circa 9.5 MWe Combined Heat and Power station which will produce 

electricity and thermal energy via steam. The fuel source for the power station will be biomass, which 

is a sustainable fuel, will be delivered either via the adjacent Cardiff Docks or sourced from established 

UK distributors or a combination of both. 

 

In addition to the CHP, the proposed development also includes industrial accommodation, which will 

be mostly energized by the power station. The industrial units vary in size, from 15,000 sq. ft. units on 

each corner and a terrace of four 25,000 sq. ft. units, all with full articulated lorry access. This would 

provide circa 12,000m2 (130,000 sq. ft.) of Low to Zero Carbon (LZC) industrial accommodation. To 

note, the roof form of the industrial units have a saw tooth shape so to provide south facing angled 

roofs for long term photo-voltaic use and north facing roof lights. This together with the electric and 

thermal energy from the power station will ensure that the units will be low to zero carbon generation 

during use. 

 

Development Principles 

 

The site has been conceived to appear from behind a landscaped mound which surrounds the whole of 

the proposed development. The re-profiling of the material on site and partial removal, will allow 

sensitively landscaped bunds to be created, with a recessed platform provided for the power station 

and warehousing. Vehicle movements within the site will not be visible from the adjacent locations.  

 

Whilst the application is to be submitted in outline, the indicative design of both the combined heat and 

power plant and the low to zero industrial units, have been heavily influenced by the environmentally 

sustainable nature of the development. The warehousing would be laid out as a pair of terraces, 

allowing flexibility depending on the ultimate demand for space. The roof design would comprise a 

triangulated pattern which creates south facing pitched plains ideal for the installation of photo-voltaic 

panels. The north side of these roofs are vertical and will be glazed to provide high levels of natural 

illumination. The saw tooth nature of the profile, reminiscent of some of the historic warehouse 

buildings in Cardiff docks is further enhanced through the use of sail like translucent panels. 

 

This triangular theme would be further explored in the skin applied to the chimney, the tallest element 

of the Bio Mass Plant. A series of identical, perforated aluminium panels are proposed to twist up the 



Planning Application: Land at Rover Way       October 2017 
Outline Application for Proposed Biomass Combined Heat and Power Plant and Industrial Accommodation 
Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary         

 

 

 

50m high structure to provide a faceted, semi-transparent foil for the orange chimney. The translucent 

sail like panel theme is also proposed to be continued on the outer corners of two of the largest buildings 

and the main turbine building would be finished in an orange cladding panel, in contrast to the dark 

grey used on the other buildings.  

 

The general site levels will be reduced from a current maximum of 30m above sea level to form building 

platforms at 12m AOD for the power station and 14m AOD for the industrial units. A bund will surround 

the development at around 20m – 22m AOD. 

 

The power station is anticipated to have a flue approximately 51m high, with the top of the flue 62m 

AOD. The maximum height of the power station buildings would be approximately 32m (44m AOD). 

 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL EFFECTS AND MITIGATION 

 

Key Issues 

 

Consultation has taken place at various levels with Planning Officers’ and the relevant departments of 

the LPA to influence the form and content of the proposals. 

 

A Screening Opinion was received on 10th August 2017 (see Technical Appendix 1.3) under application 

reference SC/17/00005/MJR which determined that the proposed development of a 9.5MWE Biomass 

Power Plant and 130,000 sq. ft. Of Industrial Accommodation would constitute EIA development. 

Therefore, an Environmental Statement would be required to be prepared to accompany any future 

application for planning permission.  

 

Following the receipt of Screening Opinion on 10th August 2017,  in accordance with Part 4 of the Town 

and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (Wales) Regulations 2017,  a request to 

Cardiff Council for a Scoping Opinion was submitted on 17th August 2017. 

 

A Scoping Opinion was received from Cardiff Council on Thursday 12th October. The Scoping Opinion 

provided comments from Natural Resources Wales and Dwr Cymru Welsh Water, along Cardiff Council’s 

Transportation, Contaminated Land and Noise Pollution departments. 

 

The Scoping opinion states that: 

 

‘The proposals will include the removal of an unknown, but significant, amount of fill material which, 

due to the presence of harmful contaminants, has the potential to have significantly harmful effects on 

the European Sites, which could be wide ranging, mindful of the coastal location…Other impacts 

requiring assessment include air emissions (dust traffic and stack emissions), visual, human health, 

ecology and transportation.’ 

  

The Scoping Opinion concludes that the following matters should be ‘Scoped In’ to the ES for 

consideration: 

 Ecology; 

 Land Contamination; 

 Air Quality; 



Planning Application: Land at Rover Way       October 2017 
Outline Application for Proposed Biomass Combined Heat and Power Plant and Industrial Accommodation 
Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary         

 

 

 

 Visual; 

 Transport; 

 Noise; 

 Hydrology; 

 Health. 

 

In terms of health, this is referenced in the Scoping Opinion as relating to “impacts for site operative 

and nearby residential communities with particular reference to emissions”. The Air Quality and Land 

Contamination chapters of this ES contains sufficient detail to demonstrate that the impacts to human 

health of site operatives and nearby residential communities would be minor or negligible after 

mitigation. As such, the Health issues scoped into the ES are covered in detail by these chapters. 

 

Ecology 

 

The site occupies an area of approximately 16.5 hectares. It lies immediately adjacent to the Cardiff 

foreshore, which is part of the Severn Estuary. This is a statutory protected site, designated as a Special 

Protection Area (SPA), Special Area of Conservation (SAC), Ramsar site and Site of Special Scientific 

Interest (SSSI), mainly because of its value to estuarine waders and wildfowl. 

 

Information on the statutory protected sites was obtained from the Natural Resources Wales (NRW) 

web-site. This search was limited to sites within 5km of the study area. A South East Wales Biodiversity 

Records Centre (SEWBReC) search was commissioned to provide data on protected and priority species 

and protected sites within a 500m radius of the 2014 wind turbine site. This covered the whole of the 

current study area but yielded very few records from the site itself.  

 

A number of ecology surveys have been carried out since 2014. An extended Phase 1 habitat survey 

was undertaken on 7 July 2014, and this was followed by a series of bird studies between October 2014 

and March 2015, to investigate whether the proposed turbine would affect overwintering birds using 

the estuary. Most recently the extended Phase 1 habitat survey was extended and revised to cover the 

current development site, by a survey on 1 August 2017, and a specialist survey of bees has also been 

carried out. A further Reptile survey of the site has also been undertaken. Relevant data from each of 

these reports has been included in this assessment.  The results of earlier surveys that were carried 

out prior to the recapping of the Frag Tip have not been considered in the assessment because the site 

was almost totally reprofiled during the engineering works so that virtually none of the former habitat 

remains. 

 

The Severn Estuary which lies immediately outside the site boundary is an important protected area, 

designated as SAC, SPA, Ramsar site and SSSI. There are five SSSIs within 5km of the site. The closest 

of these is the Severn Estuary. There is a high degree of overlap between the SSSI features and those 

already outlined above as part of the European site designations, so this SSSI is not discussed further 

here. The Gwent Levels Rumney and Peterstone SSSI lies approximately 2.5km north-west of the site, 

east of the Rhymney estuary. This is one of six Gwent Levels SSSIs between Cardiff and Chepstow. 

The levels are made up of low-lying fields which are drained by an extensive network of drainage 

ditches. The nature conservation interest in the Gwent Levels is primarily associated with the ditches, 

which support a rich diversity of plants and invertebrates, many of which are nationally rare or notable. 

The hedgerows and flower-rich reen banks also provide valuable habitat for invertebrates. The Gwent 

Levels SSSI is evaluated as being of nature conservation importance in a National context. 



Planning Application: Land at Rover Way       October 2017 
Outline Application for Proposed Biomass Combined Heat and Power Plant and Industrial Accommodation 
Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary         

 

 

 

 

The Rhymney Quarry, Rhymney River Section and Penylan Quarry SSSIs lie approximately 2.6km, 

2.8km and 3.2km north of the site respectively. These are all designated for their geological importance. 

They are not discussed further in this document because there would clearly be no potential impact on 

them from the proposed development. 

 

The closest Site of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC) is Pengam Moors, which lies to the 

north-west. Its closest point is approximately 20m from the Parc Calon Gwyrdd site, on the north side 

of Rover Way. Pengam Moors SINC occupies the former site of Cardiff airport, and later the Rover Car 

Works. Following demolition, the site has reverted to saline, marshy conditions. It includes a network 

of drainage channels with good emergent aquatic vegetation. It also includes areas of bare ground and 

scrub. The SINC supports a number of locally rare plants including Sea Clover, Brackish Water Crowfoot 

and Water Whorl-grass. It is also considered important for water fowl and wintering birds of prey. 

 

There are no other SINC sites within 500m of the proposed development, but several lie just beyond 

this. The Rhymney River SINC is approximately 570m north at its closest point. This is connected to 

the Lamby Saltmarsh SINC where it meets the estuary, and the Rhymney River Complex SINC further 

upstream. Between them they form a corridor of relatively unmodified estuarine and river habitats, with 

associated scrub and diverse grassland, which extends from the coast to approximately 2.5km inland. 

The Tidal Sidings SINC lies approximately 590m south west of the proposed development at its closest 

point. And beyond this lies the Cardiff Heliport Fields SINC. Both sites occupy post-industrial land that 

now supports a mix of flower-rich neutral and calcareous grassland and scrub. SINC sites are evaluated 

as being important for nature conservation in a County context.  

 

A summary of the ecological features described above and their value at geographic scale are 

summarised below: 

 

Ecological feature Value (at geographical scale) 

Severn Estuary International (outside application boundary) 

Rumney and Peterstone SSSI  National (outside application boundary) 

Pengam Moors SINC  County (outside application boundary) 

Rhymney River and associated SINCs  County (outside application boundary) 

Tidal Sidings and Cardiff Heliport SINCs  County (outside application boundary) 

Open Mosaic Habitat on Previously Developed 

Land /flower-rich grassland  

County 

Scrub and landscape planting Within site boundary 

Upper shoreline Within site boundary 

Plants County 

Invertebrates County (precautionary assumption) 

Amphibians Within site boundary (precautionary assumption) 

Birds (within site) Local 

Mammals Within site boundary 

 

The most important ecological feature in this assessment is the Severn Estuary, with several 

designations giving it international significance. This lies immediately adjacent to the site so the 

development proposals incorporate a number of measures to reduce potential disturbance of 

overwintering estuary birds and limit any temporary increase in the contamination from the tip would 

mean that there is no significant impact on the protected site during the construction works. The 



Planning Application: Land at Rover Way       October 2017 
Outline Application for Proposed Biomass Combined Heat and Power Plant and Industrial Accommodation 
Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary         

 

 

 

creation of a coastal bund would screen much of the potentially disturbing construction and operational 

activities, and the removal and remediation of tipped material would ensure that there is no impact on 

the protected site in the long term. In addition, there would be no impact on the Gwent Levels SSSI or 

any of the nearby SINCs. 

 

The features of greatest nature conservation value within the site are the mix of open mosaic habitat 

and flower-rich grassland, which support a diverse assemblage of wild plants and insects. These are all 

assessed as being important in a county context, yet they have all developed since 2001, and in the 

central area since 2009, following previous engineering works on the site. Virtually all of the existing 

habitats and their associated flora and fauna would be lost during the construction phase, because this 

would require the whole landform to be reprofiled. This would be a very severe impact, but one of a 

temporary nature. The proposed development would include at least 9 hectares of new landscaping on 

the bunds around the industrial area. The new landform would support less scrub habitat and bare 

ground, but a higher proportion of flower-rich grassland, with small patches of scrub and south-facing 

ridges that would be specifically designed and managed to favour wildlife. This would ensure that it 

retains SINC quality habitat for plants and insects in the long term. In particular, suitable conditions for 

the nationally notable Brown-banded Carder Bee that is currently found on the site. 

 

Birds and mammals were considered valuable for nature conservation in a more local context. 

Amphibians were also assumed to fall within this category for the assessment but may not actually be 

present. All of these groups would be taken into account in the new landscaping design, so that the 

overall effect on them would be neutral. In the case of amphibians, the creation of new ponds would 

probably be beneficial in the long term. The new landform would inevitably support a different mix of 

species than those that currently occupy the site, but many of the less common species should be 

retained and the management priorities would aim to favour species of greater nature conservation 

significance. Taking all of these factors together the proposed development would ensure that there is 

no overall loss of nature conservation value.  

 

Contaminated Land 

 

The circa 16.5 hectare development site sits in the industrial part of Cardiff Bay and has played a role 

in the long steel making history of the region. The site was reclaimed from the River Severn estuary in 

the 1970’s by the placing of a layer of circa 8m of blast furnace slag generated by the adjacent steel 

making processes. The site was then used to support the scrap metal feedstock required by the adjacent 

Celsa steel making plant (formerly Allied Steel & Wire) which included the processing of scrap motor 

vehicles. The site was abandoned during the 90’s with large quantities of non-ferrous automotive 

shredded residue (ASR) and other fill evident on the site. The shredded residue was contained to the 

south west of the site in a formal cell but the residue deposits to the north east of the site were not 

contained and believed to be interspersed in a random fashion with general non-domestic fill of the 

era.  

 

ASR was produced in developed countries throughout the world from the 1970s through and beyond 

the 1990s. The shredding process of vehicles allowed with the use of electro- magnets the recovery of 

substantial quantities of ferrous residue. The remaining substantive residue constituents were: 

 PVCs; 

 PCBs; 

 Heavy metals; 



Planning Application: Land at Rover Way       October 2017 
Outline Application for Proposed Biomass Combined Heat and Power Plant and Industrial Accommodation 
Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary         

 

 

 

 Duff which comprised of fines including dirt. 

 

Whilst the materials would generally be inert if undisturbed there were previous recordings of elevated 

levels of gas being generated from the ASR. 

 

The site was then subject to a major landscaping and remediation scheme at the turn of the century 

which converted the site to a rich tract of grassed amenity land. The scheme essentially provided a 

containment solution of the ASR with importation of fill from the adjacent Dwr Cymru Sewage 

Treatment Works (STW) site and re-profiled the land with gentle gradients which were capped with 

imported sub and top soils before the implementation of a substantive landscaping and planting 

scheme. Potential risks for the site prior to remediation were essentially seen as: 

 

 Combustion of the ASR by the self-ignition of gas pockets 

 Leachate containing contaminants being generated by the passage of ground water through the 

ASR and mobilizing contaminants 

 

The remediation proposals mitigated these effects by: 

 

 The introduction of a passive gas venting system 

 A site wide MDPE membrane overlaid with a drainage blanket to interrupt potential pathways and 

intercept and shed any ground water to the foreshore before it could percolate through to the lower 

horizons of the ASR and mobilize contaminants.  

 

During 2006 Cardiff County Council developed a scheme to place substantive quantities of subsoils and 

blast furnace slags and re-profile the site for use as motor cross track. As developer, CCC applied for 

planning permission and implemented the scheme during 2007. There are no records of an Engineering 

Risk Assessment being carried out and these works could have compromised the mitigation measures 

previously carried out during the then recent landscaping and remediation as the works: 

 

 Capped the passive gas vents 

 Surcharged the existing overburden materials causing further settlements of the compressible ASR 

with potentially consequential tensile tears in the MDPE membrane. This could allow pathways to 

be created for groundwater allowing ground water to pass through the ASR and generate 

contaminated leachate. 

 

It has been established that site has a substantive amount of overburden comprising subsoils and blast 

furnace slag. These overlay the ASR which historically was arranged in  

 

 A capped cell with a clay type of capping material and believed to be 100% ASR located towards 

the south west end of the site – Zone 1; 

 An uncapped cell and believed to be 60% ASR located towards the north east end of the site. The 

remaining 40% is believed to be general building waste and rubble – Zone 2. 

 

Part of the reclamation scheme was to provide for the full containment of the ASR over the site and to 

ensure that no pathways were created for groundwater to pass through the ASR and mobilize 

contaminants. This would prevent the production of contaminated leachate. 

 



Planning Application: Land at Rover Way       October 2017 
Outline Application for Proposed Biomass Combined Heat and Power Plant and Industrial Accommodation 
Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary         

 

 

 

The capping details included an MDPE membrane overlain with a drainage blanket which prevented 

groundwater percolation and the creation of ‘pathways’ between ‘sources’ of contamination (the ASR) 

and ‘receptors’ (the adjacent protected estuary). 

 

In tandem with the MDPE membrane a passive gas venting system was also installed at this time. 

 

As previously noted it is possible that following the surcharging of the site during the creation of the 

motor cross track in 2007, the MDPE membrane has been ruptured as the ASR is compressible and if 

compressed would have created substantial tensile forces within the MDPE. 

 

The proposed development therefore proposes: 

 

 To remove up to 1,000,000 tonnes of the overburden material to local development schemes that 

require general up-filling; 

 The removal of the ASR in the Zone 1 cell by a specialist re-processor; 

 Re-profiling of the site to give an interesting setting for development; 

 The installation of a new gas venting system; 

 The installation of a sealed membrane laid to positive falls overlaid with a drainage blanket to all 

unpaved areas to Zone 2; 

 Monitoring of potential leachate pathways; 

 ‘Pathway’ interception at +8.00 AOD of leachate with extraction wells; 

 Soil washing of any leachate that has elevated levels of contaminants. 

 

The site is a disused industrial site that had substantial quantities of ASR left in 2 distinct zones, one of 

which was in a formal capped cell and the other in an uncapped cell and intermingled with other waste 

thought to be mostly building related. The site was subjected to a comprehensive reclamation scheme 

at the turn of the century but was subsequently turned into a motor cross site with addition of 

substantial overburden materials in 2007. 

 

The geology of the area typically comprises of the made ground associated with the site history, sitting 

over estuarial alluvium. Channel Gravels are situated beneath the alluvium which overlays the rock 

head comprising a stratum of the Triassic Mercia Mudstone Group (formerly known as Keuper Marl). 

 

The proposal assumes a reduction by circa 1,000,000 tonnes of the overburden material and the 

reprocessing off site of the ASR from Zone 1 of the development site. The surpluses of overburden 

from Zone 2 will then be used by consolidating them over the whole of the site to form the development 

plateau. 

 

The main impacts of the development with respect to ground conditions and contamination during the 

delivery and the operation of the development are: 

 

i) Health of construction workers  

ii) Creation of pathways between source and receptor for leachate to become contaminated and 

initially to reach the foreshore and possibly reach the tidal flow of the River Severn 

iii) Health of future site users from contaminants and landfill gas in the Zone 2  

iv) Migration of radon from the natural geology of the area 

 



Planning Application: Land at Rover Way       October 2017 
Outline Application for Proposed Biomass Combined Heat and Power Plant and Industrial Accommodation 
Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary         

 

 

 

Mitigation measures to be implemented in response are: 

 

i) include the use of safe working procedures and good environmental practices, the Construction 

(Design and Management) Regulations 2015 and Pollution Prevention Guidelines 

ii) Monitor the underlying slag ‘plate’ at +8.00am to look for evidence of perched contaminated 

leachate during the construction process and ensure interception and remediation measures 

are put in place should the situation arise 

iii) Provide similar measures to those that were installed circa 2000 for the retained contaminants 

in Zone 2 

iv) Provide radon protection to vulnerable areas of the development that could be vulnerable to a 

build of radon gases. 

 

Following the implementation of mitigation measures it is considered that a minor to moderate adverse 

impact remains for the health and safety of construction workers but other impacts are considered 

negligible following mitigation. 

 

Air Quality 

 

The proposed development site is located approximately 1.5 km to the north east of Cardiff Docks and 

3 km east of Cardiff city centre.  The site is bounded by the Severn Estuary which runs along the south 

and east of the site, and a number of existing industrial facilities including a steelworks and associated 

aggregate storage and processing areas, scrap metal recycling and a waste water treatment works.  

The site is accessed from Rover Way and currently consists of an area of scrubland. 

 

The nearest residential properties to the site are a small number of caravans at a travellers site adjacent 

to Rover Way to the northeast of the proposed development site (approximately 650 m northeast of 

the proposed biomass CHP).  There are also a number of other residential properties within 1 km of 

the site, to the north, northeast and northwest. 

 

Dispersion modelling of emissions from the proposed biomass CHP plant have been modelled using the 

ADMS-5 dispersion model using 5-years of hourly sequential meteorological data (2012-2016). 

 

The operational air quality impacts of the proposed development at Rover Way in Cardiff have been 

assessed. The proposed development is predicted the generate emissions to air from road traffic and 

from a proposed biomass CHP plant which forms part of the scheme. 

 

In terms of road traffic emissions, the predicted number of vehicle trips that will be generated by the 

development is below published air quality screening criteria and as such the potential for significant 

impacts can be discounted. 

 

The impacts of emissions of nitrogen oxides, nitrogen dioxide and fine particulate matter (PM10 and 

PM2.5) from the proposed biomass CHP have been assessed at a number of sensitive human and 

ecological receptors. 

 



Planning Application: Land at Rover Way       October 2017 
Outline Application for Proposed Biomass Combined Heat and Power Plant and Industrial Accommodation 
Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary         

 

 

 

The impacts of emissions from the biomass CHP to concentrations of nitrogen dioxide, PM10 and PM2.5 

at sensitive human receptors has been demonstrated to be negligible and the impacts are not 

significant. 

 

In terms of ecological sites, the assessment has focussed upon the Severn Estuary SPA/SAC, which lies 

to the south of the proposed development site. The assessment has demonstrated that with the 

biomass boiler in operation, nutrient nitrogen deposition rates in the Severn Estuary SPA/SAC will 

remain below the relevant critical load and the impacts are not significant.  In terms of nitrogen oxides, 

the biomass CHP has the potential to contribute towards exceedances of the annual mean NOx objective 

and 24-hour mean NOx critical level; however the 24-hour NOx critical level is already exceeded and 

potentially significant (>1%) changes in annual mean NOx concentrations affects only a small area 

where saltmarsh habitats are known to exist.  

 

Overall the air quality impacts of the proposed development are judged to be not significant. The 

proposals are in outline and the detailed design of the biomass CHP will allow for mitigation to be 

applied to minimise emissions from the operation of the plant and the associated air quality impacts. 

 

Transportation 

 

The Transportation Chapter of the ES considers the potential impacts on various means of transport 

associated with the proposed development and the predicated associated effects on sensitive receptors 

in the area. The assessment follows the methodology set out in the IEMA Guidelines, which is 

considered the appropriate and acceptable methodology for assessing the environment impact of traffic 

upon means of transport. 

 

Rover Way serves the site and connects with Ocean Way in the south and Lamby Way/Southern Way 

in the north. There are footways present on Rover Way from Seawall Road heading west. Heading 

north of the site Seawall Road has footways on both sides of the carriageway.  Dropped kerbs and 

tactile paving are provided to assist pedestrians to cross Rover Way. The Welsh Coastal Path which 

forms part of the Public Rights of Way (PRoW) Network runs to the east of the site.  

 

The Local Cycle Network provides routes across Cardiff, and comprises traffic free paths, sign-posted 

cycle routes, advisory cycle routes and main road routes.  Cardiff Bus and New Adventure Travel operate 

one bus each in the vicinity of the Proposed Development routing along Willows Avenue and Mercia 

Road.  A total of 2 bus services operate in the vicinity of the Proposed Development. The study are is 

served by 12 buses an hour in both directions during the weekday. There are two main rail stations 

within Cardiff, Cardiff Central and Cardiff Queen Street. Cardiff Central provides l links to London, 

Manchester Birmingham, services for the Valley Lines and the wider Cardiff area.  

 

The scoping for the transport statement was agreed with the officers from CC on 2nd August, 2017. The 

following scenarios have been assessed in the AM (0800-0900) and PM (1700-1800) peak periods, 

times with the greatest potential impact; 

 Scenario 1 – Baseline (2017) 

 Scenario 2 – Baseline (2017) + Development 

 

Scenario 1 is informed by the traffic surveys undertaken in 2017, and reflects the baseline position on 

the local highway network.  The traffic surveys comprise of ATC data taken from Rover Way. Similarly, 



Planning Application: Land at Rover Way       October 2017 
Outline Application for Proposed Biomass Combined Heat and Power Plant and Industrial Accommodation 
Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary         

 

 

 

classified 12 hour link count data recorded by Cardiff Council (2013) were made available for the 

purpose of this assessment.  

 

Scenario 2 is informed by the 2017 traffic surveys, with the development growth applied to the data to 

create a robust baseline position on to which the Proposed Development traffic flows have been added, 

it provides a robust assessment of the future operation of the local highway network.  

 

The ES considers the overall impacts of Construction Traffic on the pedestrian and cycling environment, 

public transport, pedestrian severance, junctuion delay / driver delay, pedestrian delay and amenity, 

fear and intimidation, hazardous loads and parking. The main issue highlighted relating to construction 

traffic results from the change in HGV movements on Tide Fields Roads. Based on IEMA Guidelines the 

magnitude of impact is classed as high and receptor sensitivity is very low. As such, During the 

construction phase the impact from construction related traffic will be minor/moderate adverse. The 

rest of the impacts during construction phase are identified to be minor / negligible or no adverse 

impact. 

 

Once complete, the proposed development is likely to give rise to direct impacts from additional HGV 

movements and car bourne trips to and from the site. The Transportation chapter of the ES and 

supporting Transport Statement concludes that the potential completed development would result in a 

1.6% change in flows on Rover Way. This is considered reflective of both the change in peak period 

traffic flows and off-peak period traffic flows. The impact of the development traffic on the remaining 

links is considered insignificant in the context of this assessment. As such, the environmental statement 

concludes that the overall impacts of the operational phase of the development would be negligible 

across all areas, except in terms of hazardous loads, where no adverse impact has been determined. 

 

Visual Impacts 

 

The site is currently reasonably prominent in the immediate vicinity due to the elevated earth mound. 

It is clearly visible from Rover Way both from the Northeast and the Southwest and can be seen from 

the Severn Estuary.  It can also be seen from the rear of a few houses in Tremorfa, primarily those to 

the south of Hind Close. The site is screened by planting and buildings from the majority of Tremorfa, 

and is significantly screened from Splott and the rest of the city by the Celsa steel works. Due to the 

relative flatness of the city and the orientation of streets there are few distant views of the site from 

within further afield in the city, although the existing steelworks can be glimpsed from a few locations, 

such as Splott and Moorland parks, from the A4232 flyover and Robert Street to the north in Cathays. 

Only from the east is the site distinguishable from the steelworks. Any visual impact of development on 

the site has to be viewed in the context of the other industrial uses in the site’s vicinity.  

 

The only significant views will be from domestic property located to the south of Tremorfa and from 

the Wales Coastal Path. Given the context, the change in visual impact from these viewpoints would be 

the addition of an industrial building and flue in to a highly industrialised setting. The scale of the 

building is significantly smaller than those associated with the steelworks, and not dissimilar to those 

at the southern end of the sewage treatment works. Although the exact height of the proposed flue is 

still to be determined, at an estimated maximum of 50m it is similar in height to the steelworks but 

significantly narrower in profile than any of the steelworks flues. It is also much shorter than the 90m 

Viridor flue. 

 



Planning Application: Land at Rover Way       October 2017 
Outline Application for Proposed Biomass Combined Heat and Power Plant and Industrial Accommodation 
Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary         

 

 

 

In terms of mitigation measures, It is proposed that the existing mounding on the site be reduced by 

approximately 16-18m to form a table at around 12-14m above sea level. Surrounding this table will 

be raised bunds rising to around 20-22m above sea level, having the effect of screen the development 

on all sides. 

 

An architectural metal screen is proposed for the flue, and dark grey and orange cladding to power 

plant. The industrial units will have a mixture of grey cladding and opaque glazing. The aim with these 

proposals is to put forward a high standard of architectural detail, in order improve the quality of the 

visual environment in this area. 

 

The supporting Visual Impact Assessment reviews the visual impact of the development from 8 

viewpoints in the surrounding area, including the Severn Estuary. Of these 8 vantage points, the VIA 

determines that impacts from three vantage points would be minor / neutral with four being negligible 

/ neutral. The final vantage point is from the Severn Estuary, where the residual impact was considered 

to be moderate / positive. The view from the estuary to the site is of an overgrown brownfield site in 

the foreground with heavy industry uses in the background. The foreshore edge of the site is heavily 

eroded and of poor quality, and the previous uses of the site have left ugly scarring on the landscape. 

The proposed development would be highly visible from this location, but is likely to be a significant 

improvement to the current view, as it would screen the unslightly steelworks, repair the foreshore 

boundary and present a much higher quality of architecture than the current developments in the area. 

 

As such, it is concluded that the proposed development is likely to be barely visible from the vast 

majority of the city, and its impact on the few viewpoints it can be seen from ranges from negligible to 

moderate (positive). 

 

Hydrology and Flooding 

 

The hydrology and flooding chapter of the ES aassesses the hydrological impacts associated with the 

development and incorporates a summary of the surface water drainage, foul drainage and flood risk. 

 

The closest body of water, River Rhymney, is located 900m east of the site, where it outfalls into the 

Severn Estuary. The mouth of the River Taff is located approximately 3km to the south west of the site. 

Generally, the majority of the principal site area is open space. There are no significant existing 

impermeable areas located within the site. Hence, the overall site area can be described as having 

‘natural’ drainage. 

 

DCWW network map shows that there is a public sewer crossing the site where the proposed north 

entrance to the site is proposed. This sewer is of a combined nature and is shown to be 2.4m diameter. 

The sewer runs from a north east to south west direction and ultimately ends in the treatment works. 

The sewer will have a designated easement which will need to be respected as part of the final layout 

of the proposed development. There are also a series of further DCWW sewers on the most northern 

corner of the site with combined sewers and surface water sewers located in the vicinity. These are 

located in an area that is not likely to impact the development proposals. 

 

The potential for contamination of controlled waters from site plant and activities during the works can 

occur from intrusive works or general construction activities. The construction phase could potentially 

lead to ponding of water on site, accidental runoff and increased runoff rates as the impermeable areas 



Planning Application: Land at Rover Way       October 2017 
Outline Application for Proposed Biomass Combined Heat and Power Plant and Industrial Accommodation 
Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary         

 

 

 

are increased. This may impact on local watercourses. The adverse impacts associated with the surface 

water runoff on local watercourses of medium sensitivity, with no mitigation, are likely to be local, 

temporary, of moderate magnitude and of moderate-minor significance. 

 

Should no mitigation be incorporated and the runoff waters be allowed to preferentially flow offsite 

then the construction phase of the development could potentially impact the water quality of the 

surrounding water features through a potential increase in fine sediments, hydrocarbons and other 

chemical loads, the introduction of cement, accidental spills and/or other wastes discharged from the 

site to the Severn Estuary. 

  

The adverse impacts associated with the site runoff on the water quality of the Severn Estuary of 

medium sensitivity, with no mitigation, are likely to be local, temporary, of moderate magnitude and of 

moderate-minor significance. 

 

The main potential impacts relate to changes to the current drainage regime, which may result in 

increases in the volume of surface water runoff. This may impact on the local surface water flooding.  

 

The adverse impacts associated with the surface water runoff on the local sewers of medium sensitivity, 

with no mitigation, are likely to be local, permanent, of moderate magnitude and of moderate-minor 

significance. 

 

There is potential for the operational phase of the development to impact upon the water quality of the 

surrounding waters. The operational causes are likely to be significantly different than those 

experienced during the construction phases. As a result of the development there is potential for an 

increase in hydrocarbons and other chemical loads, accidental spills and/or other wastes discharged to 

the water receptors. This may impact on the water quality of Severn Estuary. The adverse impacts 

associated with the site runoff on the water quality of Severn Estuary of medium sensitivity, with no 

mitigation, are likely to be local, permanent, of moderate magnitude and of moderate-minor 

significance. 

 

The development will contain two principal drainage networks, consisting of separate foul water and 

surface water systems, with the surface water being discharged into the sea. The surface water runoff 

from potentially polluted areas (e.g. parking areas) will be discharged via source control measures. This 

effectively reduces total suspended solids, heavy metals and hydrocarbons from the runoff, providing 

water quality treatment. 

 

The surface water runoff during the construction phase will be managed through a temporary drainage 

network strategy incorporating sediment controls, whilst the operational strategy is being constructed. 

The early phasing of the operational surface water drainage strategy and additional temporary 

construction measures will ensure that the surface runoff is controlled and discharged so as not to 

increase the overall runoff rate. The temporary mitigation measures will be incorporated into a 

Construction Environmental Management Plan, and be applied across the development in order to 

mitigate against any impacts to water quality during the construction phase of development. 

 

The completed development will not be required to provide on-site retention of surface water to restrict 

flows due to discharging into the sea. Therefore the impact on this medium sensitivity receptor will be 

negligible, resulting in a neutral effect which is not considered to be significant. 



Planning Application: Land at Rover Way       October 2017 
Outline Application for Proposed Biomass Combined Heat and Power Plant and Industrial Accommodation 
Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary         

 

 

 

 

With the incorporation of the Enhancement and Mitigation Proposals the residual impact of magnitude 

would be negligible. The potential significance of impacts during the construction phase on surface 

water runoff, on and off site, would be considered to be reduced from moderate-minor adverse to 

negligible. 

 

With the incorporation of the Enhancement and Mitigation Proposals the residual impact magnitude 

would be slight. The potential significance of impacts of the construction on water quality on and off 

site would be considered to be reduced from moderate-minor adverse to minor adverse. 

 

The proposed drainage design and master planning for the site ensures that the runoff from the site is 

maintained by incorporating principles of SuDS techniques. 

  

With the incorporation of the Enhancement and Mitigation Proposals the residual impact of surface 

water runoff rate would be negligible. The potential significance of impacts during the operation phase 

on surface water runoff, on and off site, would be considered to be reduced from moderate-minor 

adverse to negligible. Similarly, significance of impacts from the reduction of volume generated from 

the proposed development on the local watercourses will be negligible. 

 

Due to the implementation of SuDS (at source and locally), surface water runoff from the proposed 

development will be subjected to minimum of two levels of treatment prior to discharging into the 

watercourse. 

 

With the incorporation of the Enhancement and Mitigation Proposals, the potential impacts of the 

operation phase of the development on water quality on and off site would be considered to be reduced 

from moderate-minor to negligible. 

 

Should DCWW conclude that mitigation/upgrades are required to serve the development, those 

Mitigation/upgrades in the local network would be carried out prior to the completion of the 

development. Therefore, the potential significance of impacts during the operation phase on local sewer 

network, would expect to be reduced from moderate-minor to negligible.  

 

Noise Impacts 

 

Submitted as part this Environmental Statement is a Noise Impact Assessment undertaken in support 

of the proposed development. This determines that the existing background noise at the site was 

recorded to be 63 LAeg and 52 / 59 LA90 measured from two locations in close proximity to the application 

site. 

 

Given the high ambient and background noise levels, site preparation works and activities will not be 

audible at the nearest residential receptors or at Williams High School. At the caravan site, site 

preparation and construction phase works will be audible, albeit given the level of any potential impact, 

the occupants could be suitably protected from excessive noise by an appropriate prior consent 

agreement, to ensure that daytime levels are kept to a practical minimum. A noise management plan 

can be put into place to ensure the work is undertaken having regard to local residents. 

 

Given the nature of the area, the Noise Impact Assessment determines that heavy goods vehicle 

movements to and from the site will not perceptibly increase noise levels in the area.  



Planning Application: Land at Rover Way       October 2017 
Outline Application for Proposed Biomass Combined Heat and Power Plant and Industrial Accommodation 
Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary         

 

 

 

 

The noise levels from the operational phase of the development have been assessed using data from 

another biomass power station of similar size and by applying a robust formula and assumption. 

 

The Noise Impact Assessment contains considerable detail on the position. The assessment summarises 

that the predicted noise levels from the biomass power station using worst case assumptions and the 

existing ambient and background levels, indicate that the power station will not be audible at any of 

the noise sensitive locations. 

 

As such, it is considered that this is sufficient to demonstrate that the impacts of the development 

would be negligible, given the background noise levels which pre-exist at the site. 

 

 

CONCLUSION 

 

The proposed mitigation measures include those that have been incorporated within the scheme as it 

has been designed, and those that have been specifically identified in order to overcome a potentially 

adverse effect. 

 

Those mitigation measures that have either been ‘designed in’ to the scheme, or can be incorporated 

as part of the detailed design stage, are known as ‘inherent mitigation’. These measures have been 

identified where relevant within the ES, as they are intended to reduce or minimise the likelihood of an 

adverse environmental effect occurring. 

 

With proper consideration and careful design of the mitigation measures, the development schemes at 

the application site need not conflict with environmental concerns. In terms of the scheme’s 

environmental consequences, it can be concluded from the assessment carried out and recorded in the 

ES that the proposed development can proceed without causing an unacceptable impact on the local 

or wider environment, including the adjoining SSSI, Ramsar, SAC and SPA. 

 

In terms of land contamination, following the implementation of mitigation measures it is considered 

that a minor to moderate adverse impact remains for the health and safety of construction workers but 

other impacts are considered negligible following mitigation. Given the issue of the damaged membrane 

and the likely environmental impacts of a ‘do-nothing’ scenario due to this, it is considered that the 

resultant negligible residual impact after mitigation is a significant environmental benefit of the 

proposed development. 

 

Overall the air quality impacts of the proposed development are judged to be not significant. The 

proposals are in outline and the detailed design of the biomass CHP will allow for mitigation to be 

applied to minimise emissions from the operation of the plant and the associated air quality impacts. 

 

The Transportation chapter of the ES and supporting Transport Statement concludes that the potential 

completed development would result in a 1.6% change in flows on Rover Way. This is considered 

reflective of both the change in peak period traffic flows and off-peak period traffic flows. The impact 

of the development traffic on Rover Way and remaining links is considered insignificant in context of 

the existing baseline scenario and would not result in significant environmental impacts. 

 



Planning Application: Land at Rover Way       October 2017 
Outline Application for Proposed Biomass Combined Heat and Power Plant and Industrial Accommodation 
Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary         

 

 

 

The site is screened by planting and buildings from the majority of Tremorfa, and is significantly 

screened from Splott and the rest of the city by the Celsa steel works. Due to the relative flatness of 

the city and the orientation of streets there are few distant views of the site from further afield in the 

city. The main visual impact of the development would fall from the Severn Estuary as the proposed 

development would be highly visible from this location. The development would likely be a significant 

improvement to the current view, as it would screen the unsightly steelworks, repair the foreshore 

boundary and present a higher quality of architecture than the current developments in the area. As 

the proposed development is likely to be barely visible from the vast majority of the city, except a few 

local viewpoint where the impacts are considered to be minor / negligible, the overall impact of the 

development is considered to be negligible to moderate (positive) in terms of landscape / visual impacts. 

 

The completed development will not be required to provide on-site retention of surface water to restrict 

flows due to discharging into the sea. Therefore the impact on this medium sensitivity receptor will be 

negligible, resulting in a neutral effect which is not considered to be significant. 

 

With the incorporation of the Enhancement and Mitigation Proposals the residual impact of magnitude 

would be negligible. The potential significance of impacts during the construction phase on surface 

water runoff, on and off site, would be considered to be reduced from moderate-minor adverse to 

negligible. 

 

The noise levels from the operational phase of the development have been assessed using data from 

another biomass power station of similar size and by applying a robust formula and assumption. The 

Noise Impact Assessment contains considerable detail on the position. The assessment summarises 

that the predicted noise levels from the biomass power station using worst case assumptions and the 

existing ambient and background levels, indicate that the power station will not be audible at any of 

the noise sensitive locations. 

 

It will be important to manage the development process on the site so that effects can be limited in 

duration, magnitude or extent (including during construction). This can be achieved through the 

imposition of conditions and other obligations and controls. 

 

The overall effect of the scheme will be positive in some regards – i.e. it has been shown that positive 

effects will occur with regard to Land Contamination compared to the existing scenario, in some aspects. 

In other areas the effect has been shown to be neutral / negligible after mitigation. For this reason, it 

is recommended that, subject to the consideration of planning policy issues, the measured 

environmental consequences of the scheme support a recommendation to grant planning permission 

for the project.  

 

 



 
Habitats Regulations Appraisal  
 
Severn Estuary Special Protection Area (SPA), Special Area of Conservation (SAC), and 
Wetland of International Importance (Ramsar Site)  
 
 
Application No: 17/02130/MJR 
Proposal: The removal of fill material and the construction of a biomass power 

plant (up to 9.5MW) and a maximum of 130,000 sq. ft. of industrial 
accommodation (B8 use class), new access roads and associated 
landscaping works. 

Location: Land at Rover Way, Pengam 
DC Officer: Tim Walter 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
City of Cardiff Council  
June 2018 



 2  
 
 

Contents 
 

0 Introduction 
1 Stage 1 Test of Likely Significance 
2 Stage 2 Appropriate Assessment 
3 Cumulative and In-combination Effects  
4 Severn Estuary SSSI 
5 Conclusion 
6 Consultation with Natural Resources Wales 
7 References 

 
Tables 
 

Table 1 HRA Key Stages 
Table 2 SAC Vulnerabilities 
Table 3 SPA Vulnerabilities 
Table 4 Ramsar Site Vulnerabilities  
Table 5 Comparison of likely impacts of the project with categories of operations which 

may cause deterioration or disturbance 
Table 6 Levels of sensitivity of Severn Estuary SAC, SPA and Ramsar site features to 

identified pathways for adverse effect 
Table 7 Summary of Test of Likely Significance  
Table 8 Summary of Test of Adverse Effect upon Integrity 

  



 3  
 
 

 
Introduction 
 
0.1 This planning application was identified as requiring a Habitats Regulations Appraisal 
in accordance with section 1.5.11 of the approved Green Infrastructure Supplementary 
Planning Guidance. 
 
0.2 Under Regulation 63(1) of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017, referred to as the ‘Habitats Regulations’, a competent authority, before deciding to 
undertake, or give any consent, permission or other authorisation for, a plan or project 
which… 
 

a) is likely to have a significant effect on a European site or a European offshore marine 
site (either alone or in combination with other plans or projects), and 

b) is not directly connected with or necessary to the management of that site, 
 
…must make an appropriate assessment of the implications for that site in view of that site’s 
conservation objectives. In the light of the conclusions of the assessment, the competent 
authority may agree to the plan or project only after having ascertained that it will not 
adversely affect the integrity of the European site. 
 
0.3 The European Sites considered here are the Severn Estuary Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) and the Severn Estuary Special Protection Area (SPA).   
 
0.4 As a matter of Welsh Government policy, Ramsar sites (sites listed under the Ramsar 
convention as wetlands of international importance) should be treated in the same way as 
SACs and SPAs, including in particular in relation to the consideration of plans and projects 
likely to affect them.  Therefore following a procedure analogous to Regulation 63 in 
relation to the Severn Estuary Ramsar Site would also help ensure adherence to WG policy. 
For the remainder of this document these three designations will be referred to as the 
Severn Estuary European Marine Site (Severn Estuary EMS). 
 
0.5 This procedure, known as a Habitats Regulations Appraisal (HRA), has been invoked 
because it has been identified that the current project has the potential to affect the Severn 
Estuary EMS and it is not directly connected with or necessary to the management of those 
sites. 
 
0.6 Table 1 below sets out the main stages in undertaking a HRA.  The subsequent HRA 
text will refer to Stage 1, Stage 2 etc as described in this table.  It may not be necessary to 
complete all stages for all factors which may affect the designated sites. 
 
 
 
 
Table 1 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Key Stages 
 



 4  
 
 

Table 1 
Habitats Regulations Assessment: Key Stages 

 
Stage 1 
 
 
 
 
 
Screening for 
likely 
significant 
effect 
 
 
 
 

 Describe the project being considered 
 Identify international sites in and around the plan/ strategy area in a 

search area agreed with the Statutory Body Natural Resources Wales 
 Examine conservation objectives of the interest feature(s)(where 

available) 
 Review proposals and consider potential effects on European sites 

(magnitude, duration, location, extent) 
 Examine other plans and programmes that could contribute to in 

combination effects 
 Produce Screening Assessment  
 If no effects likely – report no significant effect (taking advice from 

NRW if necessary). 
 If effects are judged likely or uncertainty exists – the precautionary 

principle applies proceed to stage 2 
Stage 2 
 
 
 
 
Appropriate 
Assessment 

 Agree scope and method of AA with NRW 
 Consider how project, in combination with other projects, will 

interact when implemented, taking into account inherent avoidance 
and mitigation measures (the Appropriate Assessment) 

 Using the AA, and any conditions or restrictions which may be applied 
to any planning consent, undertake Integrity Test 

 Report outcomes of HRA including mitigation measures, conditions or 
restrictions, and consult with NRW  

 If plan will not significantly affect European site proceed without 
further reference to Habitats Regulations 

 If effects or uncertainty remain following the consideration of 
alternatives and development of mitigations proceed to stage 3 

Stage 3 
 
Procedures 
where 
significant 
effect on 
integrity of 
international 
site remains 

 Consider alternative solutions, delete from plan or modify 
 Consider if priority species/ habitats affected 
 Identify ‘imperative reasons of overriding public interest’ (IROPI) 

economic, social, environmental, human health, public safety 
 Notify Welsh Government 
 Develop and secure compensatory measures  
 

 
0.7 Because the application being considered here is an outline planning application, 
Regulation 70(3) of the Habitats Regulations applies, i.e. ‘Where the assessment provisions 
apply, outline planning permission must not be granted unless the competent authority is 
satisfied (whether by reason of the conditions and limitations to which the outline planning 
permission is to be made subject, or otherwise) that no development likely adversely to 
affect the integrity of a European site or a European offshore marine site could be carried 



 5  
 
 

out under the permission, whether before or after obtaining approval of any reserved 
matters.’ 
 
0.8 In simpler terms this means that, taking into account any planning conditions which 
may be attached to an outline planning consent, that consent can not permit any 
subsequent development with could adversely affect the integrity of the Severn Estuary 
EMS. 
 
0.9 The check for likelihood of significant effects is an initial filter, and should be a 
relatively quick way of deciding whether the project would be likely to negatively affect the 
site in a significant way. The subsequent appropriate assessment stage would normally form 
the more in depth assessment. The term ‘likelihood’ is important. The test is a likelihood of 
effects rather than a certainty of effects. The check should only allow those projects to 
proceed where it is clear that any significant effect is unlikely. If there is doubt and further 
information is needed, it should be concluded that there is a likelihood of significant effects. 
In this context, and using the normal meaning of the words, “significant” effects are taken to 
be effects that are worthy of attention, noteworthy. A likely effect is one that is probable or 
well might happen. (Tyldesley, D. 2009). 
 
0.10 In the Waddenzee case the ECJ ruled that a project should be subject to appropriate 
assessment “if it cannot be excluded, on the basis of objective information, that it will 
have a significant effect on the site, either individually or in combination with other plans 
and projects”. This is an important ruling because it establishes that ‘likely’ should not be 
interpreted as ‘probable’ or ‘more likely than not’. Rather an effect should be considered 
likely if it cannot be ruled out on the basis of objective information. (Tyldesley, D. 2009). 
 
0.11 When undertaking an appropriate assessment, the competent authority should 
distinguish clearly between mitigation (avoidance and reduction) measures and 
compensatory measures. It should take account of the avoidance and reduction measures 
built into the project and forming part of the project as proposed or applied for (Tyldesley, 
D. 2009). 
 
0.12 In considering whether it can ascertain whether the project would have an adverse 
effect on the integrity of the European site, the competent authority should consider 
whether the imposition of conditions, or other restrictions, on the project, and the way in 
which it would be carried out, would enable it to be ascertained that the project would not 
have an adverse effect on the integrity of the site. (Tyldesley, D. 2009). 
 
0.13 The following definition of the integrity of a site has been adopted by the UK 
Government. The integrity of the site is “the coherence of its ecological structure and 
function, across its whole area, that enables it to sustain the habitat, complex of habitats 
and/or the levels of populations of the species for which it was classified”. 
 
 
 
 
1.0 Stage 1 



 6  
 
 

 
1.1   Project Description (as set out in Design and Access Statement submitted in 
support of this application) 
 
1.1.1  The proposed development is for a circa 9.5 MWe Combined Heat and Power 
station which will produce electricity and thermal energy via steam. The fuel source for the 
power station will be biomass which is a sustainable fuel and will be delivered either via the 
adjacent Cardiff Docks or sourced from established UK distributors or a combination of 
both. 
 
1.1.2 The power station will be a cornerstone for the production of green energy and be 
the heart of a proposed ‘green quarter’ for Cardiff – supplying both electric and thermal 
energy for future developments. 
 
1.1.3 In addition to the CHP, the proposed development also includes “high-bay” industrial 
accommodation, which will be mostly energized by the power station. The industrial units 
vary in size, 15,000 sq. ft. units on each corner and a terrace of four 25,000 sq. ft. units – all 
with full articulated lorry access. This would provide circa 12,000m2 (~130,000 sq. ft.) of low 
to zero carbon industrial accommodation. The roof form of the industrial units have a saw 
tooth shape so to provide south facing angled roofs for long term photo-voltaic use and 
north facing roof lights. This together with the electric and thermal energy from the power 
station will ensure that the units will be low to zero carbon generation in accordance with 
the Welsh Government National Planning Policy. 
 
1.1.4 The site sits within the heart of a historically heavily industrialized area of Cardiff. As 
such, any analysis must take into account the back drop of material remediation, recycling 
of metals and plastics and waste water remediation including an anaerobic digestion unit on 
three sides of the site.  The fourth side comprises the Severn Estuary. 
 
1.1.5 Access to the site will be from two positions. The main access point will be from 
Rover Way towards the north eastern boundary of the site. The secondary access point will 
be from Tide Fields Road to the south west. 
 
1.1.6 Noise is a key factor within the immediate area as a result of the industrial processes 
carried out at the Celsa plant, most notably from the Melt Shop directly to the west of Parc 
Calon Gwyrdd. In order to reduce the impact of noise breakout from this site it is proposed 
to carefully reprofile the landscaped mounds around the new development, only broken by 
the location of the two access roads. 
 
1.1.7 The existing footpath on the south of the site will be enhanced as it forms part of the 
Wales Coast Path. A landscape maintenance strategy will be provided to ensure that the 
path remains in good condition for walkers and seating and viewpoints provided to enhance 
the experience for all users. 
 
 
1.2   Designated sites and their features  
 



 7  
 
 

1.2.1 Severn Estuary Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 
 
SAC Habitat Features 

• Estuaries; 
• Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at low tide;  
• Atlantic salt meadow (Glauco-Puccinellietalia maritimae). 
• Sandbanks which are slightly covered by sea water all the time; and 
• Reefs. 

 
SAC Species Features 

• Sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus; 
• River lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis; and 
• Twaite shad Alosa fallax. 

 
1.2.2 Severn Estuary Special Protection Area (SPA)  
 
The Severn Estuary SPA supports internationally important assemblages of wildfowl and 
waders during the winter months and migratory periods.  These designations are based on:  
 

• Internationally important populations of the Annex 1 species Bewick’s Swan. 
• Internationally important populations of regularly occurring migratory species 

(Gadwall, Shelduck, Redshank, Dunlin and European White-Fronted Goose).  
 
The site also qualifies as an SPA since it regularly supports in excess of 60,000 waterfowl 
during the winter.  The species listed on the SPA citation as forming part of the assemblage 
include Wigeon, Teal, Pintail, Pochard, Tufted Duck, Ringed Plover, Grey Plover, Curlew, 
Whimbrel and Spotted Redshank.  Mallard, Lapwing and Shoveler have also been added as a 
result of the 1995 SPA review. 
 
1.2.3 Severn Estuary Ramsar Site  
 

• Estuaries           
• Assemblage of migratory fish species        
• Bewick’s swan           
• European white-fronted goose          
• Dunlin            
• Redshank           
• Shelduck           
• Gadwall           
• Assemblage of waterfowl         

 
1.3 Conservation Objectives of the Relevant Designated Sites 
 
1.3.1 The Conservation Objectives of the Severn Estuary SAC are:- 
  



 8  
 
 

Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as appropriate, and ensure 
that the site contributes to achieving the Favourable Conservation Status of its 
Qualifying Features, by maintaining or restoring; 
 

• The extent and distribution of qualifying natural habitats and habitats of 
qualifying species 

• The structure and function (including typical species) of qualifying natural 
habitats 

• The structure and function of the habitats of qualifying species 
• The supporting processes on which qualifying natural habitats and the habitats of 

qualifying species rely 
• The populations of qualifying species, and, 
• The distribution of qualifying species within the site. 

 
Further information on the Severn Estuary SAC can be found at :-
http://www.jncc.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/sac.asp?EUCode=UK0013030    
 
 
1.3.2 The Conservation Objectives Severn Estuary SPA are:  
 

Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as appropriate, and ensure 
that the site contributes to achieving the aims of the Wild Birds Directive, by maintaining 
or restoring; 
 

• The extent and distribution of the habitats of the qualifying features 
• The structure and function of the habitats of the qualifying features 
• The supporting processes on which the habitats of the qualifying features rely 
• The population of each of the qualifying features, and, 
• The distribution of the qualifying features within the site. 

 
Further information on the Severn Estuary SPA and Ramsar Site can be found at:-
http://www.jncc.gov.uk/default.aspx?page=2066.   
 
The Conservation Objectives for the features of the Ramsar site are the same as those for 
the homologous features of the SAC and SPA. 
 
Further information on the Severn Estuary Ramsar Site can be found 
at http://www.jncc.gov.uk/pdf/RIS/UK11081.pdf.   
 
 
1.4 Factors to which site features are sensitive 
 
1.4.1 With reference to the Conservation Objectives for the features of each site, the 
tables below list the factors to which each feature is sensitive for issues other than harm to 
birds.  These tables are duplicated from those set out in ‘Regulation 33’ advice for these 
sites – see references below.   

http://www.jncc.gov.uk/ProtectedSites/SACselection/sac.asp?EUCode=UK0013030
http://www.jncc.gov.uk/default.aspx?page=2066
http://www.jncc.gov.uk/pdf/RIS/UK11081.pdf


 9  
 
 

Table 2 SAC Vulnerabilities 
 

 
 
 
 



 10  
 
 

Table 3 SPA Vulnerabilities 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Table 4 Ramsar Vulnerabilities (as related to tables 1 & 2 above, and referring to sections 
and tables in Reg 33 advice (ref 12.1)). 



 11  
 
 

 

 
 
1.4.2 Potential Impacts Arising From Project 
 
1.4.2.1 The proposed development site is between 5 and 200 metres to the northwest of 
the foreshore of the Severn Estuary, which at this point is designated as a Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI), as a Special Area of Conservation (SAC), is classified as a Special 
Protection Area (SPA), and listed as a Ramsar site.   
 
1.4.2.2 However, the proposed development will not encroach upon the Severn Estuary 
EMS, so there is no potential for effects due to land take or immediate physical disturbance 
of habitats.  Nonetheless, mindful of the vulnerabilities in Section 4 above, there is potential 
for the proposed development to have the following impacts: 
 

• Disturbance to bird features arising from removal of overburden, construction 
activities and from operation of the development; 

• Site drainage and release of any existing land contamination causing pollution of the 
Severn Estuary EMS during removal of overburden, construction and operation of 
the development ; 

• Aerial emissions causing pollution of the Severn Estuary EMS during operation of the 
development. 



 12  
 
 

• Dust arising from removal of overburden and construction causing contamination 
and smothering of Severn Estuary EMS habitats 

• Increased disturbance to birds caused by use of a temporarily  re-aligned Wales 
Coastal Path at this site 

 
1.4.2.3 These impacts correlate with the categories of operations which may cause 
deterioration or disturbance as set out in tables 2 to 4 above, as follows:- 
 
Table 5.  Comparison 
of likely impacts of 
the project with 
categories of 
operations which 
may cause 
deterioration or 
disturbance 

Impacts arising from proposed development as set out in Tables 2 to 
4 above 

Di
st

ur
ba

nc
e 

to
 b

ird
s 

du
rin

g 
w

or
ks

 
 Di

st
ur

ba
nc

e 
to

 b
ird

s d
ue

 
to

 c
ha

ng
es

 in
 c

oa
st

al
 p

at
h 

M
ob

ili
sa

tio
n 

of
 e

xi
st

in
g 

co
nt

am
in

an
ts

 d
ur

in
g 

w
or

ks
 

Ae
ria

l e
m

iss
io

ns
 d

ur
in

g 
op

er
at

io
n 

Du
st

 e
m

iss
io

ns
 d

ur
in

g 
w

or
ks

 

Su
rf

ac
e 

an
d 

fo
ul

 w
at

er
 

dr
ai

na
ge

 d
ur

in
g 

op
er

at
io

n 

Ca
te

go
rie

s o
f o

pe
ra

tio
ns

 w
hi

ch
 m

ay
 c

au
se

 
de

te
rio

ra
tio

n 
or

 d
ist

ur
ba

nc
e 

Smothering × ×     
Noise & 
Visual 
presence 

  × × × × 
Introduction 
of synthetic 
compounds 

× ×  × ×  
Introduction 
of non-
synthetic 
compounds 

× ×  × ×  

Changes in 
nutrient 
loading 

× × ×    
 
 



1.4.2.4 Tables 2 to 4 above also set out the levels of sensitivity of each of the features of the designations to the categories of operations which may cause deterioration or disturbance.  These are summarised in Table 6 below.   
These levels of sensitivity will be used to assess the likelihood of any significant effect and subsequently and any adverse effect upon the integrity of the Severn Estuary EMS. 
 
Table 6.  Levels of sensitivity of Severn Estuary EMS features to identified pathways for adverse effect. 
 

Receptors – Severn Estuary 
EMS Features 

Pathway for adverse effect 
Mobilisation of existing 

ground/groundwater contaminants 
Disturbance Smothering Changes in nutrient loading 

Toxic 
Contamination – 
Introduction of 
Synthetic 
Compounds 

Toxic Contamination – 
Introduction of Non-
synthetic Compounds 

Noise Visual Aerial Emissions Dust Surface water 
run-off 

Aerial Emissions Dust Surface water 
run-off 

SAC 
Annex I 
Habitats 

Estuaries High High Low Low High High High Low Low Low 
Subtidal 
Sandbanks 

High High Low Low Low Low Low Moderate Moderate Moderate 

Mudflats & 
sandflats 

High High Low Low Moderate Moderate Moderate High High High 

Atlantic Salt-
meadow 

High High Low Low High High High High High High 

Reefs Moderate Unknown Low Low Low Low Low Moderate Moderate Moderate 
SAC 
Annex II 
Species 

Fish Unknown Unknown Unknown Unknown Low Low Low Unknown Unknown Unknown 

Habitats 
of SPA 
Annex I 
species 

Intertidal mudflats 
& sandflats 

Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate Low Low Low 

Saltmarsh Moderate Moderate High High Moderate Moderate Moderate High High High 

Habitats 
of SPA 
migratory 
species 
and 
waterfow
l 
assembla
ge  

Intertidal mudflats 
& sandflats 

High High High High Moderate Moderate Moderate High High High 

Saltmarsh High High High High Moderate Moderate Moderate High High High 
Hard substrates High High High High Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate 

 
 
 
1.4.2.5 The potential impacts from section 1.4.2.2 above are considered in turn, as part of the test of likely significant effect, in the following section.





1.4.3  Disturbance to birds during works 
 
1.4.3.1 There is potential for removal of overburden and construction activities to cause 
visual and noise disturbance to overwintering and migratory wetland birds which are 
features of the SPA, as set out in Table 6 above.  For example, use of cranes, together with 
noisy activities such as drilling, piling and operation of machinery, could disturb wetland 
birds while they are roosting or foraging on nearby foreshore habitats.   
 
1.4.3.2 Table 6 illustrates that most of the Severn Estuary EMS features are either highly or 
moderately sensitive to this type of disturbance. 
 
1.4.3.3 As a general rule, a distance of 200m between the receptor (i.e. the birds) and the 
activity (i.e. construction) is taken as the maximum distance over which the activity can 
affect the receptor.  The entirety of the proposed project is within 200m of mean high 
water, and therefore potentially all construction or spoil removal works at this site may 
cause disturbance to wetland birds on the foreshore. 
 
1.4.3.4 The ES, for example at sections 8.5.7, 8.5.8 and 8.5.9, makes reference to the 
construction of a bund to shield birds using the foreshore habitats from disturbance during 
removal of the overburden and construction of buildings.  The ES also makes reference to 
undertaking works during the summer months when overwintering and migratory SPA-
feature birds are in low numbers.  These are valid suggestions for avoidance and mitigation 
of impacts, however I do not see that they are integral to or guaranteed by the project, as 
submitted, in sufficient detail so as to assure me that they will completely remove any 
possibility of a significant effect. 
 
1.4.3.5 For example, as set out in section B.2.7.b) of Tyldesley 2009, counteracting 
measures:- 
 
‘…must be an integral part of the project, as proposed, so it is concluded that the project as a 
whole, including its mitigation measures, is unlikely to have an effect on the site. Possible or 
potential additional measures, such as conditions that might be applied later on, cannot be 
relied upon at this stage to determine that significant effects are not likely.’ 
 
1.4.3.6 Therefore it cannot be excluded, on the basis of the information provided thus far, 
that the project is likely to have a significant effect upon the Severn Estuary EMS, so an 
appropriate assessment of this factor is needed. 
 
1.4.4 Disturbance to birds due to changes in coastal path 
 
1.4.4.1 I am advised by my colleague in our Highways department (Jenn Griffiths email 
dated 22/01/18), that there is no expected increase in footfall in relation to the proposed 
biomass plant development.  However, any measures which could be implemented as part 
of this proposed development which would discourage coastal path users from accessing 
the foreshore, would be welcomed.  Those measures should be seen in the context of a 
wider predicted increase in coast path use in this area due to improvements elsewhere, and 



 16  
 
 

any such increase should be considered in the light of the HRA of the Wales Coast Path as a 
whole, conducted by NRW. 
 
1.4.4.2 Therefore the proposed development is not likely to have a significant effect upon 
the Severn Estuary EMS via the medium of increased footfall along the coastal path at this 
point, so an appropriate assessment does not need to consider this factor. 
 
1.4.5 Contamination of habitats caused by mobilisation of existing ground contaminants 
during works 
 
1.4.5.1 The site for this proposed development is on the former ‘Frag Tip’, a historical 
landfill which has been identified by Pollution Control as a site with potential significant 
contamination and ground gas issues present.  Therefore, during groundworks, soil 
contaminants may be disturbed and mobilised into groundwater, which may in turn migrate 
horizontally into surface waters.  These contaminants could potentially harm Severn Estuary 
EMS habitats. 
 
1.4.5.2 Table 6 illustrates that most of the Severn Estuary EMS features are either highly or 
moderately sensitive to all of these potential pathways. 
 
1.4.5.3 I note the statement in section 8.5.11 of the ES that:- ‘There is potential for an 
increase in contamination of the estuary habitats during re-working and removal of the 
tipped slag and other waste material’.   However, I also note from comment provided by 
Jason Bale on 22nd January 2018 that ‘The report provides very little detail on how the works 
will be undertaken, and what mitigation measures will be implemented, only that such 
measures will be detailed in the (CEMP)’.    The same communication also indicates that 
further details remain to be provided, and also that ‘…there are no details on appropriate 
mitigation measures to (sic) that the identified receptors are not adversely impacted from 
this element of the works’.  Those receptors include the sensitive habitats of the Severn 
Estuary EMS. 
 
1.4.5.4 Some mitigation measures are proposed, and these are valid suggestions for 
avoidance and mitigation of impacts, however I do not see that they are integral to or 
guaranteed by the project, as submitted, in sufficient detail (as confirmed by Jason Bale as 
above) so as to assure me that they will completely remove any possibility of a significant 
effect. 
 
1.4.5.5 It should be noted that the liner protecting the underlying ‘frag’ has already been 
compromised by coastal erosion and by the deposition of the overburden.  Therefore any 
existing contaminants are already leaching out into the Severn Estuary EMS and nearby 
habitats, and any new mobilisation of existing contaminants should be seen in the context 
of this existing leaching.  Equally, construction of a bund may serve to stop the existing 
leaching, but no details of the bund or of its detailed impact upon existing leaching are 
provided. 
 



 17  
 
 

1.4.5.5 Therefore it cannot be excluded, on the basis of the information provided thus far, 
that the project is likely to have a significant effect upon the Severn Estuary EMS, so an 
appropriate assessment of this factor is needed. 
 
1.4.6 Dust during works 
 
1.4.6.1 As set out in section 8.5.11 of the ES, ‘There is potential for an increase in 
contamination of the Severn Estuary habitats during re-working and removal of the tipped 
slag and other waste material.  This could occur as contaminants are mobilised…as wind-
blown dust’. 
 
1.4.6.2 Furthermore, Section 1.4 of the Construction Phase Impact Assessment October 
2017 states that the dust emission class for earthworks at this site is considered to be 
‘large’.  It further states in section 1.5 that dust will arise from piling of foundations, vehicles 
travelling over unpaved ground, and from the cutting of concrete.   
 
1.4.6.3 Table 6 illustrates that most of the Severn Estuary EMS features are either highly or 
moderately sensitive to the impact of dust deposition. 
 
1.4.6.4 Some mitigation measures are proposed, for example in sections 2.3 and 2.4 of the 
Construction Phase Impact Assessment, sections 9.6.2 to 9.6.4 of  Chapter 9 – Air Quality  - 
of the ES,  and sections 7.6.6 to 7.6.8 of the ES Chapter 7 Geotechnical Conditions & 
Contaminated Land. These are valid suggestions for avoidance and mitigation of impacts, 
however I do not see that they are integral to or guaranteed by the project, as submitted, in 
sufficient detail (as confirmed by Jason Bale as above) so as to assure me that they will 
completely remove any possibility of a significant effect. 
 
1.4.6.5 Therefore it cannot be excluded, on the basis of the information provided thus far, 
that the project is likely to have a significant effect upon the Severn Estuary EMS, so an 
appropriate assessment of this factor is needed. 
 
1.4.7 Aerial emissions during operation 
 
1.4.7.1 The proposed development is for a circa 9.5 MWe Combined Heat and Power station 
which will produce electricity and thermal energy via steam.  However the exact nature and 
quantities of aerial emissions will not be determined until a later stage in the planning 
process. 
 
1.4.7.2 With reference to Table 6 above, deposition of aerial emissions of particulates and 
NOx have the potential the affect the features of the Severn Estuary EMS.  I note from the 
consultation response provided by Craig Lewis of Shared Regulatory Services on 12th January 
2018 that he considers the air quality impacts on the Severn Estuary EMS to be significant.  
Mr Lewis also notes that mitigation technologies and measures to reduce NOx and 
particulates emissions have yet to be finalised.   
 



 18  
 
 

1.4.7.3 Therefore it cannot be excluded, on the basis of the information provided thus far, 
that the project is likely to have a significant effect upon the Severn Estuary EMS so an 
appropriate assessment of this factor is needed. 
 
1.4.8 Surface and foul water drainage during operation 
 
1.4.8.1 It is noted that foul water arising from an operational development will be 
discharged via the Public Combined Sewer and treated accordingly.  Therefore the proposed 
development is not likely to have a significant effect upon the Severn Estuary EMS via the 
medium of foul water emission, so an appropriate assessment does not need to consider 
this factor. 
 
1.4.8.2 Surface water run-off may lead to contamination, smothering and nutrient 
enrichment of habitats, so in accordance with Tables 2 to 4 above there is a potential 
pathway to impact upon the Severn Estuary EMS features. 
 
1.4.8.3 The Surface/Foul Water Drainage Strategy August 2017 identifies the method to 
dispose of surface water is to drain to the nearby sea, however drawing reference A(P)-02 
shows two infiltration ponds which are presumably intended to intercept surface water run-
off. 
 
1.4.8.4 Therefore, while there remains uncertainty as to how surface water run-off will be 
treated, it cannot be excluded, on the basis of the information provided thus far, that the 
project is likely to have a significant effect upon the Severn Estuary EMS so an appropriate 
assessment of this factor is needed. 
 
1.5 Other plans and programmes that could contribute to in combination effects 
 
1.5.1 Applications 13/00686 and 15/00591 propose a small-scale (2MW) anaerobic 
digestion facility at the Waste Water Treatment Works (WWTW) immediately (200m) to the 
south west of the Frag Tip.  These applications were subject to a HRA, with the following 
outcomes:- 
 
1.5.2 Atmospheric Pollution - Aerial emissions of NOx, SOx and particulates have the 
potential to affect habitats which are features of the Severn Estuary EMS, such as Saltmarsh 
and Coastal Grazing Marsh.  However, the effects modelling within the Local Air Quality 
Impact Assessment indicate that Predicted Environmental Concentrations are within the 
critical levels for these habitats. 
 
1.5.3 Water-borne pollution and mobilisation of existing ground contaminants - Given 
the distance between the proposal site and the Severn Estuary (about 350m), and the 
intervening land use (waste-water treatment tanks) it is unlikely that water-borne pollutants 
and mobilised existing ground contaminants will migrate laterally to the Severn Estuary 
EMS. 
 
1.5.4 In addition, in their response of 12 May 2015, NRW have indicated that provided the 
development is carried out as stated in the application and supporting documents, they are 



 19  
 
 

of the opinion that the proposal would not be likely to have a significant effect on the 
Severn Estuary EMS.  On this basis it can be assumed that there is not likely to be a 
significant effect upon the Ramsar site as well. 
 
1.5.5 Therefore, given that the present application for a biomass plan has been identified 
as being likely to have a significant effect on the Severn Estuary EMS, but the WWTW 
anaerobic digestor has not, the scale of potential contribution of the latter project to the 
overall atmospheric and waterborne pollution in this area is likely to be minor.    However, 
even a minor addition to an already likely significant effect still results in a small overall 
increase in LSE, so the appropriate assessment of the present application should consider 
the in-combination effects of these projects. 
 
1.6 Summary of Test of Likely Significant Effect (‘Significance Test’)  
 
1.6.1 The first step in considering a plan or project in accordance with Article 6.3 of the 
Habitats Directive is to determine whether it was likely to have a significant effect on a SAC 
or SPA (or Ramsar site).  This is a coarse filter intended to identify those plans/projects 
which require further assessment of their implications and those where significant effects 
can be ruled out without further assessment.  According to ECJ case law, this test should be 
applied in a precautionary way, such that a plan/project should be considered likely to have 
a significant effect if it cannot be excluded, on the basis of objective information, that it will 
have a significant effect.  A significant effect is one likely to undermine a site’s conservation 
objectives. 
 
1.6.2 In considering this test, account is taken of any proposed mitigation measures which 
are integral to and guaranteed by the project, and which would counteract the potential 
effects described in Section 1.4 above.   A summary of the results of the test of likely 
significance is set out in Table 7 below. 
 

Table 7 – Summary of Test of Likely Significance 
Factor Likely Significant Effect? 
Disturbance to bird features arising from construction 
activities and from operation of the development; 

Yes 

Site drainage and release of any existing land 
contamination causing pollution of the Severn Estuary 
EMS during construction; 

Yes 

Aerial emissions causing pollution of the Severn Estuary 
EMS during operation of the development. 

Yes 

Dust arising from construction causing contamination and 
smothering of Severn Estuary EMS habitats 

Yes 

Increased disturbance to birds caused by use of a 
temporarily  re-aligned Wales Coastal Path at this site 

No 

Surface and foul water drainage during operation Yes (surface water run-off 
only) 

 



 20  
 
 

1.6.3 Where it is identified in Table 7 above that a factor is likely to have a significant 
effect upon features of the Severn Estuary EMS, then an Appropriate Assessment and test of 
adverse effect on integrity is required, and this is set out in section 2 below. 
 
2.  Appropriate Assessment 
 
2.1   Agree scope and method of AA with NRW 
 
2.1.1 NRW provided comprehensive comments on this application on 14th December 
2017, and their recommendations for the scope of the HRA are as follows:- 
 

• Disturbance to bird features arising from construction activities and from operation 
of the development; 

• Site drainage and release of any existing land contamination causing pollution of the 
Severn Estuary EMS during construction; 

• Site drainage causing pollution of the Severn Estuary EMS during operation of the 
development; and 

• Aerial emissions causing pollution of the Severn Estuary EMS during operation of the 
development.  

 
2.1.2 These are broadly the same as those identified in section 1.4.2.2 above.  In the same 
correspondence, NRW offered advice on the methodology of the HRA, and this offer was 
taken up in a series of telephone calls between the County Ecologist for Cardiff and NRW 
conservation officers. 
 
2.2 Consideration of how the project, in combination with other projects, will interact 
when implemented, taking into account inherent avoidance and mitigation measures (the 
Appropriate Assessment) 
 
2.2.1 The purpose of this stage of the HRA is to undertake an appropriate assessment of 
the proposed project in relation to the conservation objectives of the Severn Estuary SAC, 
SPA and Ramsar sites.  Subsequently this assessment, in combination with any conditions or 
restrictions which may be applied to any planning consent granted, will be used to 
determine whether the project will have an adverse effect on the integrity of those 
designated sites.  The factors arising from the test of likely significance above, are 
considered in turn below. 
 
2.2.2 Survey work to inform this assessment has been undertaken as part of the EIA 
process 
The survey results and the conclusions drawn from them have been incorporated into this 
assessment of the impact of the proposed development upon the features of the Severn 
Estuary EMS, taking into account the vulnerabilities of those features as set out in Table 6 
above. 
 
2.3 Disturbance - Noise/visual disturbance of overwintering and migratory bird 
features of the SPA during construction of the turbine and associated infrastructure 
 



 21  
 
 

2.3.1 There is potential for construction activities to cause visual and noise disturbance to 
overwintering and migratory wetland birds which are features of the SPA, as set out in Table 
6 above.  For example, use of cranes, or personnel working at height on scaffolding etc, 
together with noisy activities such as drilling, piling and operation of machinery, could 
disturb bird features while they are roosting or foraging on nearby foreshore habitats.  
Overwintering birds are disturbed by sudden movements and sudden noises. This can 
displace the birds from their feeding grounds. Disturbance can prevent the birds from 
feeding and in response they either a) decrease their energy intake at their present 
(disturbed) feeding site through displacement activity, or b) move to an alternative less 
favoured feeding site. Such a response affects energy budgets and thus survival. There is 
intermittent disturbance from both the landward and seaward side of the site. Bewick’s 
swans are mainly affected by disturbance from the landward side and any increase in 
disturbance should be avoided. At present NE and NRW assess that the Annex 1 species are 
moderately sensitive to noise and visual disturbance on the intertidal mudflats and sandflats 
and highly sensitive to this category of operation on the saltmarsh.  
 
2.3.2 It is acknowledged in the ES that here is a risk of disturbance of overwintering and 
migratory estuary birds by construction noise and vibration while the work is undertaken. 
Visual disturbance due to the presence of people and machinery is also possible. The 
construction of the coastal bund is proposed during the summer months, at a time of year 
when relatively few birds use the estuary, and the physical presence of the bund would 
reduce the potential for disturbance of the estuary once it is completed. It is also suggested 
that it is likely that birds feeding out on the mudflats in front of the tip would quickly 
become habituated to construction noise behind the coastal bund. 
 
2.3.3 However, beyond this information, no details of the timing of works or of 
construction of the coastal bund are available at this time, as the present application is for 
outline consent. 
 
2.3.4 Integrity Test: Disturbance - Noise/visual disturbance of overwintering and 
migratory bird features of the SPA during construction of the biomass plant and 
associated infrastructure 
 
2.3.5 In principle, it is possible to avoid disturbance to birds during construction.  For 
example, overwintering and migratory bird species are at their greatest concentration in the 
Severn Estuary between October and March inclusive.  Therefore construction during the 
April to September period (inclusive) would not cause significant disturbance.  However, it is 
recognised that it may not be feasible to restrict works to this period. 
 
2.3.6 During the overwintering / migratory period, it is possible to avoid disturbance to 
birds on the foreshore by avoiding works activity during the period between two hours 
before high tide and two hours after high tide.  It is during this four hour window that SPA-
feature birds are most likely to occur within 200m of the construction activity.  This is the 
distance within which we typically consider disturbance effects to be significant.  However, 
again it is recognised that it may not be feasible to restrict construction of the development 
to outside these four-hour windows. 
 



 22  
 
 

2.3.7 The proposal to construct a coastal bund, with temporary screening along the top as 
suggested by NRW in their comments of 14th December, would shield the birds from the 
development activity provided:- 
 

• Construction of the bund is completed within the April to September period, and 
• Where construction of the bund takes place outside the April to September period, 

no construction activity can take place between two hours before high tide and two 
hours after high tide, and 

• Line-of-sight cross sections can demonstrate that, taking account of the bund and 
temporary screening along the top, all aspects of construction of the biomass plant 
and other buildings, including cranes, scaffolding, site operatives, piling rigs etc., are 
not visible to wetland birds on the foreshore within 200m of the boundary of the 
construction site. 

 
2.3.8 These measures will be secured by the following planning condition:- 
 
‘Severn Estuary Coastal Bund & Screen 
 
No development shall take place until details of measures to construct a coastal bund and 
screen to shield earth movements and construction activities from the Severn Estuary 
European Sites has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The bund and screen shall be constructed in accordance with the approved 
details and shall be retained and maintained for the entire construction period. The 
approved details shall include: 
 

(i) full details of the design of the bund and screen; 
(ii) line-of sight sections to demonstrate that all aspects of the 

construction including the biomass power plant and industrial 
buildings, cranes, scaffolding, site operatives and piling rigs are not 
visible to wetland birds on the foreshore within 200 metres of the 
application site; 

(iii) a timetable for their provision; 
(iv) a written commitment to only construct the bund and screen 

between April to September; 
(v) outside of April to September, a written commitment to avoid any 

construction activity between two hours before high tide and two 
hours after; 

 
Reason: To avoid any adverse effect upon the integrity of the Severn Estuary European Sites 
and the Severn Estuary SSSI.’ 
 
2.3.9 Provided this planning condition is attached and implemented then in my view there 
would be no adverse effect upon the integrity of the Severn Estuary EMS, via the medium 
of Noise/visual disturbance of overwintering and migratory bird features. 
 
2.4 Site drainage and release of any existing land contamination causing pollution of 
the Severn Estuary during construction 



 23  
 
 

 
2.4.1 The site for this proposed development is on the former ‘Frag Tip’, a historical 
landfill which has been identified by Pollution Control as a site with potential significant 
contamination and ground gas issues to be present.  Therefore, during groundworks, soil 
contaminants may be disturbed and mobilised into groundwater, which may in turn migrate 
horizontally into surface waters.  As set out above, these contaminants are likely to 
significantly harm Severn Estuary EMS habitats. 
 
2.4.2 Comment provided by Jason Bale on 22nd January 2018 states that ‘The (ES) report 
provides very little detail on how the works will be undertaken, and what mitigation 
measures will be implemented, only that such measures will be detailed in the (CEMP)’.    
The same communication also indicates that further details remain to be provided, and also 
that ‘…there are no details on appropriate mitigation measures to (sic) that the identified 
receptors are not adversely impacted from this element of the works’.  Those receptors 
include the sensitive habitats of the Severn Estuary.   As this is an outline planning 
application, and remediation of the pollutants on site will take place on a phased basis, the 
fine details of those mitigation measures are not available at present. 
 
2.4.3 Waterfowl are subject to the accumulation of toxins through the food chain or 
through direct contact with toxic substances when roosting or feeding. Their ability to feed 
can also be affected by the abundance or change in palatability of their prey caused by toxic 
contamination. At the moment there is no evidence to show that this is the case on the 
Severn Estuary, but the estuary is vulnerable to oil spills and there is a continuous discharge 
of toxins into the estuary, some of which bind to the sediments. This is an area that requires 
further assessment. The intertidal mudflats and sandflats and the saltmarsh are currently 
highly vulnerable to the introduction of synthetic and non-synthetic compounds, in 
accordance with Tables 2 and 3 above. 
 
2.4.4 Integrity Test - Site drainage and release of any existing land contamination 
causing pollution of the Severn Estuary EMS during construction 
 
2.4.5 Based on the above concerns and lack of detailed information provided to date, the 
following conditions are requested to be attached to any approval of the development to 
counteract any adverse effect upon integrity of the EMS:-  
 
‘PC Non Standard Requirement for Environmental Permit 
 
The processing and removal of the ‘overburden’ material (above MDPE membrane.), shall 
not commence until an appropriate assessment/ waste classification of the material has 
been undertaken and an appropriate Environmental Permit, has been granted by the 
relevant permitting authority.  All subsequent works to process and remove this material 
must be undertaken in accordance to the permit conditions, and all necessary additional 
sampling requirements of the material as required under the permit must be reported to 
the LPA.  
 
Reason: To ensure that any unacceptable risks from land contamination to the future users 
of the land , neighbouring land, controlled waters, property and ecological systems are 



 24  
 
 

minimised, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with 
policy EN13 of the Cardiff Local Development Plan.’ 
 
‘PC13. GROUND GAS PROTECTION 
 
Following the completion of the reworking of materials in Zone 2, and prior to the 
construction of any building in Zone 2, the developer must ensure a scheme to investigate 
and monitor the site for the presence of gases*  including a plan of the area to be 
monitored, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for its approval. 
 
Following completion of the approved monitoring scheme the proposed details of 
appropriate gas protection measures to ensure the safe and inoffensive dispersal or 
management of gases and to prevent lateral migration of gases into or from land 
surrounding the application site shall be submitted to and approved in writing to the LPA.  If 
no protection measures are required than no further actions will be required. 
 
All required gas protection measures shall be installed and appropriately verified before 
occupation of any part of the development which has been permitted and the approved 
protection measures shall be retained and maintained until such time as the Local Planning 
Authority agrees in writing that the measures are no longer required. 
 
* ‘Gases’  include landfill gases, vapours from contaminated land sites, and naturally 
occurring methane and carbon dioxide, but does not include radon gas.  Gas Monitoring 
programmes should be designed in line with current best practice as detailed in CIRIA 665 
and or BS8485 year 2007 Code of Practice for the Characterization and Remediation from 
Ground Gas in Affected Developments,.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the safety of future occupiers is not prejudiced in accordance with 
policy EN13 of the Cardiff Local Development Plan.’ 
 
‘PC14A. CONTAMINATED LAND MEASURES – ASSESSMENT 
 
Prior to the commencement of any works below the MDPE membrane or elsewhere below 
the overburden,  an assessment of the nature and extent of contamination of the underlying 
material shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  This 
assessment must be carried out by or under the direction of a suitably qualified competent 
person * in accordance with BS10175 (2011) Code of Practice for the Investigation of 
Potentially Contaminated Sites and shall assess any contamination on the site, whether or 
not it originates on the site.   
 
The report of the findings shall include:  
 

(i) a desk top study to identify all previous uses at the site and potential 
contaminants associated with those uses and the impacts from those 
contaminants on land and controlled waters.  The desk study shall establish a 



 25  
 
 

‘conceptual site model’ (CSM) which identifies and assesses all identified 
potential source, pathway, and receptor linkages;  

(ii) an intrusive investigation to assess the extent, scale and nature of contamination 
which may be present, if identified as required by the desk top study; 

(iii)        an assessment of the potential risks to: 
- human health,  
- groundwaters and surface waters 
- adjoining land, 
- property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets,  
   woodland and service lines and pipes, 
- ecological systems,  
- archaeological sites and ancient monuments; and 
- any other receptors identified at (i) 

 
(iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and justification for the preferred remedial 

option(s).  
 

All work and submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition must be conducted 
in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ (September 2004) and the WLGA / WAG / EA 
guidance document ‘ Land Contamination: A guide for Developers’ (2012), unless the Local 
Planning Authority agrees to any variation. 
 
* A ‘suitably qualified competent person’ would normally be expected to be a chartered 
member of an appropriate professional body (such as the Institution of Civil Engineers, 
Geological Society of London, Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, Institution of 
Environmental Management) and also have relevant experience of investigating 
contaminated sites. 
 
Reason: To ensure that information provided for the assessment of the risks from land 
contamination to the future users of the land, neighbouring land, controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems is sufficient to enable a proper assessment in accordance 
with policy EN13 of the Cardiff Local Development Plan.’  
 
‘PC14B. CONTAMINATED LAND MEASURES – REMEDIATION & VERIFICATION PLAN 
 
Prior to the commencement of any works below the MDPE membrane or elsewhere below 
the overburden a detailed remediation scheme and verification plan to bring the site to a 
condition suitable for the intended use by removing any unacceptable risks to human 
health, controlled waters, buildings, other property and the natural and historical 
environment shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The scheme shall include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and 
remediation criteria, a timetable of works and site management procedures. The scheme 
must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the land after 
remediation. 
 



 26  
 
 

All work and submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition must be conducted 
in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ (September 2004) and the WLGA / WAG / EA 
guidance document ‘ Land Contamination: A guide for Developers’ (July 2006), unless the 
Local Planning Authority agrees to any variation. 
 
Reason: To ensure that any unacceptable risks from land contamination to the future users 
of the land , neighbouring land, controlled waters, property and ecological systems are 
minimised, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with 
policy EN13 of the Cardiff Local Development Plan.’ 
 
‘PC14C. CONTAMINATED LAND MEASURES - REMEDIATION & VERIFICATION 
 
The remediation scheme approved by condition PC14B must be fully undertaken in 
accordance with its terms prior to the occupation of any permanent structure of the 
approved development unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written notification of 
commencement of the remediation scheme works.  
 
Within 6 months of the completion of the measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme, a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried 
out must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
All work and submissions carried out for the purposes of this condition must be conducted 
in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’ (September 2004) and the WLGA / WAG / EA 
guidance document ‘ Land Contamination: A guide for Developers’ (July 2006), unless the 
Local Planning Authority agrees to any variation. 
 
Reason: To ensure that any unacceptable risks from land contamination to the future users 
of the land , neighbouring land, controlled waters, property and ecological systems are 
minimised, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with 
policy EN13 of the Cardiff Local Development Plan.’  
 
‘PC14D. CONTAMINATED LAND MEASURES – UNFORESEEN CONTAMINATION 
 
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing within 2 days 
to the Local Planning Authority, all associated works must stop, and no further development 
shall take place unless otherwise agreed in writing until a scheme to deal with the 
contamination found has been approved.  An investigation and risk assessment must be 
undertaken and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme and verification plan 
must be prepared and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a 
verification report must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 



 27  
 
 

Authority. The timescale for the above actions shall be agreed with the LPA within 2 weeks 
of the discovery of any unsuspected contamination.  
 
Reason: To ensure that any unacceptable risks from land contamination to the future users 
of the land , neighbouring land, controlled waters, property and ecological systems are 
minimised, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with 
policy EN13 of the Cardiff Local Development Plan.’ 
 
‘PC15A IMPORTED SOIL 
 
Any topsoil [natural  or manufactured], or subsoil, to be imported shall be assessed for 
chemical or other potential contaminants in accordance with a scheme of investigation 
which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
advance of its importation. Only material approved by the Local Planning Authority shall be 
imported. All measures specified in the approved scheme shall be undertaken in accordance 
with the relevant Code of Practice and Guidance Notes.  
 
Subject to approval of the above, sampling of the material received at the development site 
to verify that the imported soil is free from contamination shall be undertaken in 
accordance with a scheme and timescale to be agreed in writing by the LPA.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the safety of future occupiers is not prejudiced in accordance with 
policy EN13 of the Cardiff Local Development Plan.’ 
 
‘PC15B IMPORTED AGGREGATES 
 
Any aggregate  (other than virgin quarry stone) or recycled aggregate material to be 
imported shall be assessed for chemical or other potential contaminants in accordance with 
a scheme of investigation which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority in advance of its importation. Only material approved by the Local 
Planning Authority shall be imported. All measures specified in the approved scheme shall 
be undertaken in accordance with the relevant Code of Practice and Guidance Notes.  
 
Subject to approval of the above, sampling of the material received at the development site 
to verify that the imported material is free from contamination shall be undertaken in 
accordance with a scheme and timescale to be agreed in writing by the LPA.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the safety of future occupiers is not prejudiced in accordance with 
policy EN13 of the Cardiff Local Development Plan.’ 
 
‘PC15C USE OF SITE WON MATERIALS 
 
Any site won material including soils, aggregates, recycled materials shall be assessed for 
chemical or other potential contaminants in accordance with a sampling scheme which shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in advance of the 



 28  
 
 

reuse of site won materials. Only material which meets site specific target values approved 
by the Local Planning Authority shall be reused.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the safety of future occupiers is not prejudiced in accordance with 
policy EN13 of the Cardiff Local Development Plan.’ 
 
‘PC Non Standard Condition –Integrity of the MDPE Membrane 
 
In order to minimise, any potential environmental impacts, of the investigation works of the 
material underlying the MDPE membrane, where the integrity of the membrane is 
damaged, then upon completion of the investigation repairs to restore/ maintain the 
integrity of the membrane must be completed. All areas of damage and subsequent repairs 
must be recorded and a reported and documented in a weekly report to the LPA.  Where 
the repairs are not deemed suitable the LPA will request that further repairs are 
implemented as necessary.  
 
Reason: To ensure that any unacceptable risks from land contamination to the future users 
of the land , neighbouring land, controlled waters, property and ecological systems are 
minimised, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with 
policy EN13 of the Cardiff Local Development Plan.’ 
 
2.4.6 If these conditions are attached to consent and subsequently enforced, then there 
would be no adverse effect on the integrity of the Severn Estuary EMS via this pathway. 
 
2.5 Aerial emissions causing pollution of the Severn Estuary EMS during operation of 
the development. 
 
2.5.1 The proposed development is for a circa 9.5 MWe Combined Heat and Power station 
which will produce electricity and thermal energy via steam.  However the exact nature and 
quantities of aerial emissions will not be determined until a later stage in the planning 
process. 
 
2.5.2 With reference to Table 6 above, deposition of aerial emissions of particulates and 
NOx have the potential the affect the features of the Severn Estuary EMS.  The Atlantic 
Saltmeadow / Saltmarsh and mudflats & sandflats habitats are particularly sensitive to the 
effects of aerial pollution. 
 
2.5.3 I note from the consultation response provided by Craig Lewis of Shared Regulatory 
Services on 12th January 2018 that he considers the air quality impacts on the Severn 
Estuary EMS to be significant.  Mr Lewis also notes that mitigation technologies and 
measures to reduce NOx and particulates emissions have yet to be finalised because the 
present application is for outline planning consent. 
 
2.5.4 Integrity Test: Aerial emissions causing pollution of the Severn Estuary EMS during 
operation of the development 
 



 29  
 
 

2.5.5 A series of mitigation measures are suggested in section 9.6 of the Air Quality section 
(Chapter 9) of the ES.  These may include emissions abatement technologies to reduce NOx 
and PM in the exhaust, and an appropriate stack height and exhaust exit velocity to 
maximise dispersion.  In order to have confidence that there would be no adverse effect on 
integrity of the Severn Estuary EMS as a result of this factor, the following planning 
condition, together with other controls (such as Environmental permitting) must be applied 
to require and enforce counteracting measures which would eliminate any adverse 
impacts:- 
 
‘Condition: No reserved matters application shall be approved until an Air Quality 
Assessment (AQA) for the detailed design of the Biomass Plant has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The AQA shall include an assessment of 
the impact of the plant emissions and any necessary mitigation measures to ensure the 
overall impacts of the plant are acceptable. The plant shall be constructed in accordance 
with the approved details and maintained thereafter. 
Reason: To ensure air quality is maintained to satisfactory levels.’ 
 
2.6 Dust arising from construction causing contamination and smothering of Severn 
Estuary EMS habitats 
 
2.6.1 The site covers some 166,500 m2 and most of this will be subject to earthworks, 
involving excavation and haulage of material, tipping stockpiling and site landscaping. The 
earthworks will last around 6 months and dust will arise mainly from earth-moving vehicles 
travelling over unpaved ground and from the handling of dusty materials (such as dry soil). 
Construction will involve a number of steel framed and cladded buildings on concrete slabs, 
with a total building volume of around 270,000 m3. Dust will arise from piling of 
foundations, vehicles travelling over unpaved ground, and from the cutting of concrete. The 
construction will take place over a 24-month period. The number of heavy vehicles 
accessing the site, which may track out dust and dirt, is currently unknown, but it is 
estimated that there will be a maximum of around 100 outward heavy vehicle movements 
per day. The unpaved roadway length at the site will be around 300 m.  Based upon these 
parameters, the dust emission class for earthworks is considered to be large. 
 
2.6.2 Integrity Test: Dust arising from construction causing contamination and 
smothering of Severn Estuary EMS habitats 
 
2.6.3 The Construction Phase Impact Assessment submitted as part of the ES for this 
application lists a set of best-practice measures from the IAQM guidance (IAQM, 2016) that 
it is suggested should be incorporated into the specification for the works. These measures 
should ideally be written into a Dust Management Plan. Some of the measures may only be 
necessary during specific phases of work, or during activities with a high potential to 
produce dust, and the list should be refined and expanded upon in liaison with the 
construction contractor when producing the Dust Management Plan. 
 
2.6.4 This Dust Management Plan, and its implementation, will be secured by the 
following planning condition:- 
 



 30  
 
 

‘Dust Management Plan 
 
No development shall take place until a Dust Management Plan (DMP) has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved DMP. 
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory control of dust.’ 
 
2.6.5 In this case there would be no adverse effect on the integrity of the Severn Estuary 
EMS via this pathway. 
 
2.7 Surface drainage during operation 

2.7.1 Surface water running off impervious surfaces can become contaminated with 
petrol, oil, heavy metals other pollutants from roads and parking areas, as well as fertilizers 
and pesticides from soft-landscaped areas. Roads and parking area can be sources of 
polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), which are created as combustion byproducts of 
petrol, diesel and other fossil fuels, as well as of heavy metals such as lead, nickel, zinc 
copper and cadmium, Fertilizer use on landscaped areas can result in nitrates and 
phosphorus in urban runoff when improperly applied or over-used. 

2.7.2 Eroding soils or poorly maintained construction sites can often lead to increased 
turbidity in runoff. Increased levels of sediment in water bodies can cause smothering of 
habitats, toxic contamination, and nutrient enrichment. These high levels of nutrients can 
reduce oxygen and boost algae growth while limiting native vegetation growth. Limited 
native vegetation and excessive algae has the potential to disrupt the entire aquatic 
ecosystem due to limited light penetration, lower oxygen levels, and reduced food reserves.  

2.7.3 Integrity Test: Surface water drainage causing contamination and smothering of 
SAC / SPA habitats 

2.7.4 Interception of contaminated surface water run-off is vital to avoid the adverse 
effects set out in Table 6 above.  This can be achieved by the enforcement of a planning 
condition which requires the applicant to demonstrate that surface water will be managed 
in such a way as to avoid significant adverse impact upon the features of the Severn Estuary 
EMS, e.g. 

‘Condition: No development shall take place until a drainage scheme for the site has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall 
demonstrate how the site will be effectively drained; the means of disposal of surface water 
and indicate how foul flows will communicate to the public sewerage system. Thereafter, 
the scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to the 
occupation of the development and no further surface water or land drainage shall be 
allowed to connect directly or indirectly with the public sewerage system. 
Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the 
health and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the 
environment.’ 
 



 31  
 
 

2.7.5 If this were implemented then there would be no adverse effect on the integrity of 
the Severn Estuary EMS via this pathway. 
 
3.  Cumulative and in-combination effects 
 
3.1 Applications 13/00686 and 15/00591 propose a small-scale (2MW) anaerobic 
digestion facility at the Waste Water Treatment Works (WWTW) immediately (200m) to the 
south west of the Frag Tip.  These applications were subject to a HRA, with the outcome 
that Atmospheric Pollution and Water-borne pollution and mobilisation of existing ground 
contaminants were not likely to have a significant effect on the Severn Estuary EMS.  In 
addition, in their response of 12 May 2015, NRW indicated that provided the development 
is carried out as stated in the application and supporting documents, they are of the opinion 
that the proposal would not be likely to have a significant effect on the Severn Estuary EMS 
 
3.2 Therefore, any counteracting measures secured in relation to the present application 
to ensure that there is no adverse effect upon the integrity of the Severn Estuary EMS, 
together with any similar measures required to ensure that the 15/00591 application is not 
likely to have a significant effect upon the same site, will ensure that there is no overall 
adverse effect upon the integrity of the Severn Estuary EMS. 
 
4.  Severn Estuary SSSI. 
 
4.1 The Severn Estuary SSSI underpins the international designations and its features are 
largely similar to the features of those designations.  Therefore, any measures identified 
above to avoid adverse effect upon the integrity of the Severn Estuary EMS will similarly 
avoid impact upon the SSSI features. 
 
5.  Conclusion 
 
5.1 Table 8 below summarises the results of the test of adverse effect upon integrity for 
all of the factors identified as being likely to have a significant effect upon the Severn 
Estuary EMS features:- 
 

Table 8  – Summary of Test of Adverse Effect upon Integrity 
Factor Adverse Effect upon 

Integrity? 
Disturbance to bird features arising from construction 
activities and from operation of the development; 

No 

Site drainage and release of any existing land 
contamination causing pollution of the Severn Estuary 
during construction; 

No 

Aerial emissions causing pollution of the Severn Estuary 
EMS during operation of the development. 

No 

Dust arising from construction causing contamination and 
smothering of Severn Estuary EMS habitats 

No 

Increased disturbance to birds caused by use of a 
temporarily  re-aligned Wales Coastal Path at this site 

No 



 32  
 
 

Surface and foul water drainage during operation No 
 
5.2 It is the conclusion of this Habitats Regulation Appraisal that, based upon the 
planning application and supporting documents as submitted, and provided the suggested 
planning conditions are attached and implemented, the proposed development will not 
have an adverse effect upon the integrity of the Severn Estuary EMS. 
 
6.  Consultation with Natural Resources Wales 
 
6.1  In accordance with Regulation 61(3) of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2010 (as amended):- ‘The competent authority must for the purposes of the 
assessment consult the appropriate nature conservation body and have regard to any 
representations made by that body within such reasonable time as the authority specify’.   
 
6.2 Therefore NRW should be consulted on the present HRA. 
 
7.  References 
 
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017  https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1012/contents/made 
 
European Commission (EC) (2000) Managing Natura 2000 Sites: The Provisions of Article 6 of 
the ‘Habitats’ Directive 92/43/EEC. 
 
EC (2001) Assessment of Plans and Projects Significantly Affecting Natura 2000 sites: 
methodological Guidance on the Provisions of Article 6(3) and (4) of the Habitats Directive 
92/43/EEC. 
 
EC (2007) Guidance Document on Article 6(4) of the ‘Habitats Directive’ 92/43/EEC. 
Clarification of Concepts of: Alternative Solutions, Imperative Reasons of Overriding Public 
Interest, Compensatory Measures, Overall Coherence, Opinion of the Commission.  
 
IAQM (2012) Guidance on Air Quality Monitoring in the Vicinity of Demolition and 
Construction Sites, [Online], Available: www.iaqm.co.uk/guidance.html. 
 
IAQM (2016) Guidance on the Assessment of Dust from Demolition and Construction v1.1. 
 
Natural England & CCW (2009) The Severn Estuary / Môr Hafren European Marine Site 
comprising: The Severn Estuary / Môr Hafren Special Area of Conservation (SAC), The Severn 
Estuary Special Protection Area (SPA), The Severn Estuary / Môr Hafren Ramsar Site.  Natural 
England & the Countryside Council for Wales’ advice given under Regulation 33(2)(a) of the 
Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c.) Regulations 1994, as amended.  June 2009.  
 
Tyldesley, D., (2009) Draft Guidance for Plan Making Authorities in Wales: The Appraisal of 
Plans under the Habitats Directive, for Countryside Council for Wales CCW Bangor. 
 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1012/contents/made
http://www.iaqm.co.uk/guidance.html


 33  
 
 

‘Waddenzee ruling’ Case C-127/02, JUDGMENT OF THE COURT (Grand Chamber) 7 
September 2004 (1) (Directive 92/43/EEC – Conservation of natural habitats and of wild 
flora and fauna – Concept of ‘plan’ or ‘project’ – Assessment of the implications of certain 
plans or projects for the protected site). 
 



Applications decided by Delegated Powers between 01/05/2018 and 31/05/2018 

Total Count of Applications: 275

ADAM

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00873/DCH 13/04/2018  32 TrueKayhanian 15/05/2018CONSTRUCT A NEW GARAGE TO 

REPLACE PREVIOUS DAMAGED 

GARAGE WHICH HAS BEEN 

REMOVED

30 STACEY ROAD, 

ADAMSDOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF24 1DU

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

14/02704/MJR 11/11/2014  1277 FalseBeck Connroy  

Partnership

11/05/2018ALTERATIONS TO ENABLE CHANGE 

OF USE FOR  A GRADE II LISTED 

BUILDING  LAST USED AS A CHURCH 

TO BE CONVERTED INTO 

RESIDENTIAL APARTMENTS.

 ST JAMES' CHURCH, 

NEWPORT ROAD, 

ADAMSDOWN. CARDIFF 

CF24 0JT

Permission 

be granted

17/00891/MJR 17/10/2017  217 FalseBeck Conroy Consulting 

Ltd

22/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS  3 

(DRAINAGE), 4 (PARKING), 5 

(ROOFLIGHTS), 7 (LANDSCAPING), 8 

(SV PIPES),  9 (MANAGEMENT 

AGREEMENT,  10 (NOISE); 11 

(WASTE), AND 12 AND 13 (BATS) OF 

PLANNING PERMISSION 14/02635

ST JAMES' CHURCH, 

NEWPORT ROAD, 

ADAMSDOWN

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

17/02902/MJR 30/11/2017  175 FalseCardiff Community 

Housing Association

24/05/2018DEMOLITION OF EXISTING 

LONGCROSS HOUSE AND THE 

CONSTRUCTION OF 35 

AFFORDABLE RESIDENTIAL UNITS

LONGCROSS HOUSE, 

LONGCROSS STREET, 

ADAMSDOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF24 0JW

Resolved to 

Grant

18/00922/MJR 23/04/2018  28 TrueBoardroom Properties 

Ltd

21/05/2018AMENDMENTS TO 17/01063/MJR - 

REPLACE ALL STUDIOS WITH 

CLUSTER FLATS RESULTING IN A 

NET INCREASE IN 14 BED SPACES

HALLINANS HOUSE, 22 

NEWPORT ROAD, 

ADAMSDOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF24 0TD

Permission 

be granted

A
genda Item

 8



Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00380/MNR 22/02/2018  83 FalseIqra Investments 16/05/2018INTERNAL ALTERATIONS TO FORM 4 

FLATS WITH NEW INTERNAL 

OPENINGS

96-99 CLIFTON STREET, 

ADAMSDOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF24 1LU

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

17/02594/MNR 30/10/2017  185 FalseS & A Properties 03/05/2018CONVERSION TO 2 X 5 BED, 1 X 8 

BED AND 1 X 11 BED UNITS IN 

MULTIPLE OCCUPATION PLUS 

GROUND FLOOR AND TWO STOREY 

REAR EXTENSIONS AND DORMERS 

AND ASSOCIATED COMMUNAL 

FACILITIES.

FORMER TREDEGAR 

HOTEL, 57-58 CLIFTON 

STREET, ADAMSDOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF24 1LS

Permission 

be granted

18/00716/MNR 26/03/2018  38 TrueDarwish 03/05/2018CONSTRUCTION OF A DETACHED 

DWELLING

REAR OF 182-186 

BROADWAY, 

ADAMSDOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF24 1QJ

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

BUTE

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00510/DCH 12/03/2018  52 TrueRahman 03/05/2018REAR EXTENSION 6 WEST CLOSE, 

BUTETOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF10 5LD

Permission 

be granted

18/00892/DCH 19/04/2018  27 TrueCiaran 16/05/2018SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION 

& LOFT EXTENSION

37 HUNTER STREET, 

BUTETOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF10 5JY

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision



18/00437/MJR 23/02/2018  70 FalseBAPTL 04/05/2018EXTENSION TO HOTEL TO PROVIDE 

32 BEDROOMS WITH GROUND 

FLOOR RETAIL/COMMERCIAL UNIT

TRAVELODGE CARDIFF, 

HEMINGWAY ROAD, 

ATLANTIC WHARF, 

CARDIFF, CF10 4JY

Permission 

be granted

17/02467/MJR 17/10/2017  218 FalseCoal and Brick Ltd 23/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 20 

(ARCHITECTURAL DETAILING), 21 

(SAMPLES OF MATERIALS) AND 22 

(CYCLE PARKING) OF 16/00720/MJR

97 BUTE STREET, 

BUTETOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF10 5NA

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

17/02469/MJR 17/10/2017  218 FalseCoal and Brick Ltd 23/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 8 

(FACADE DETAILS), 9 (BALUSTRADE 

DETAILS), 10 (ARCHITECTURAL 

DETAILING) AND 11 (SAMPLES OF 

MATERIALS) OF 16/00721/MJR

97 BUTE STREET, 

BUTETOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF10 5NA

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

18/00770/MJR 29/03/2018  55 TrueCooper 23/05/2018TO RUN A THIN FIBRE CONCEALED 

CABLE BEHIND THE EXISTING 

DOWN-PIPE, AND AN ANGLED ENTRY 

INTO THE BUILDING TO MINIMISE 

ANY VISIBLE CABLE WORK TO THE 

FACADE OF THE LISTED BUILDING

ELEVATOR DESIGN LTD, 

SUITE 8, 33-35 WEST 

BUTE STREET, 

BUTETOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF10 5LH

Permission 

be granted

18/00792/MJR 06/04/2018  45 TrueABP 21/05/2018PROPOSED HMS CAMBRIA SECURE 

TRAINING AND EDUCATION FACILITY 

(USE CLASS: SUI GENERIS) FOR USE 

BY ROYAL NAVY RESERVE UNIT, 

INCLUDING MEANS OF ACCESS, 

PARKING, LANDSCAPE WORKS, 

BOUNDARY TREATMENT, AND 

EXTERNAL EXERCISE AREA, 

FOLLOWING DEMOLITION OF 

EXISTING BUILDINGS

LAND AT CARGO ROAD, 

CARGO ROAD, CARDIFF

Permission 

be granted

18/00081/MJR 10/05/2018  7 TrueLower West Side Ltd 17/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 28 (SITE 

ENCLOSURE) OF 16/00504/MJR

WILLIAMS COURT, TRADE 

STREET, BUTETOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF10 5DQ

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

18/00838/MJR 12/04/2018  29 TrueBBC Cymru Wales 11/05/2018ERECTION OF BUILDING AS 

SHELTER FOR OUTSIDE 

BROADCAST VEHICLES

BBC CYMRU WALES, 

HEOL PORTH TEIGR, 

BUTETOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF10 4GA

Permission 

be granted



Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

A/18/00022/MNR 15/03/2018  49 TruePhipps 03/05/2018EXTERNAL SIGNAGE 36 JAMES STREET, 

BUTETOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF10 5EY

Permission 

be granted

CAER

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00643/DCH 23/03/2018  63 FalseDjadi 25/05/2018PROPOSED DOUBLE GARAGE WITH 

LOFT ABOVE FOR STORAGE AND 

HOBBY ROOM

441A COWBRIDGE ROAD 

WEST, CAERAU, 

CARDIFF, CF5 5TB

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00495/MNR 07/03/2018  57 FalseCulver MOT Centre 03/05/2018Proposed demolition of existing 

MOT/Service Bay on car forecourt, to be 

replaced with new updated facility and 

minor relocation within the site boundary

CULVER MOT CENTRE, 

HEOL TRELAI, CAERAU, 

CARDIFF, CF5 5PJ

Permission 

be granted

17/02927/MNR 11/01/2018  124 FalseArchdiocese of Cardiff 15/05/2018CONSTRUCTION OF A RETAINING 

WALL ALONG BOUNDARY, VEHICLE 

CROSS OVER, ALTERATIONS TO 

DRIVEWAY AND CAR PARKING AREA. 

WIDENING OF PEDESTRIAN RAMP 

FOR THE UPGRADING TO A VEHICLE 

DRIVEWAY. GARDEN REGRADING 

AND REALIGNMENT OF STEPS.

CHURCH OF ST FRANCIS 

OF ASSISI, 277 

COWBRIDGE ROAD 

WEST, CAERAU, 

CARDIFF, CF5 5TD

Permission 

be granted

18/00796/MNR 05/04/2018  35 TrueDosanjh 10/05/2018DEMOLITION OF SINGLE STOREY 

BUILDING AND CLEARANCE OF SITE

173 COWBRIDGE ROAD 

WEST, CAERAU, 

CARDIFF, CF5 5TB

Prior 

Approval be 

granted



CANT

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00719/DCH 26/03/2018  60 FalseSingh 25/05/2018SINGLE STOREY STORE AND 

PLAYROOM IN REAR GARDEN.

35 BROAD STREET, 

CANTON, CARDIFF, CF11 

8BZ

Permission 

be granted

18/00710/DCH 29/03/2018  56 TrueKeshra 24/05/2018PROPOSED RETENTION OF SINGLE 

STOREY OUTBUILDING TO REAR TO 

BE USED IN AN ANCILLARY 

CAPACITY TO MAIN DOMESTIC 

HOUSEHOLD

61 BROADHAVEN, 

CANTON, CARDIFF, CF11 

8DA

Permission 

be granted

18/00709/DCH 27/03/2018  52 TrueKeshra 18/05/2018PROPOSED RETENTION OF 

AS-BUILT/PROPOSED REAR AND 

SIDE EXTENSION

61 BROADHAVEN, 

CANTON, CARDIFF, CF11 

8DA

Permission 

be granted

18/00781/DCH 04/04/2018  37 TrueHeron 11/05/2018PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR 

KITCHEN REAR EXTENSION

63 BROAD STREET, 

CANTON, CARDIFF, CF11 

8BZ

Permission 

be granted

18/01025/DCH 01/05/2018  10 TrueBrown 11/05/2018ALTERATIONS TO 17/03023/DCH TO 

RAISE THE MAIN ROOF BY 488mm 

AND REMOVE FLAT ROOF ELEMENT 

AS ORIGINALLY APPROVED

25 CHARGOT ROAD, 

CANTON, CARDIFF, CF5 

1EW

Permission 

be granted

18/00847/DCH 13/04/2018  40 TrueChivers 23/05/2018PROPOSED SINGLE STOREY REAR 

EXTENSION WITH ASSOCIATED 

EXTERNAL WORKS

13 FAIRFIELD AVENUE, 

CANTON, CARDIFF, CF5 

1BR

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00748/MNR 04/04/2018  35 TrueCiocca 09/05/2018EXISTING USE AS 3 NO SEPARATE 

FLATS

18 ST JOHN'S CRESCENT, 

CANTON, CARDIFF, CF5 

1NX

Permission 

be granted

18/00757/MNR 11/04/2018  28 TrueMYJM Construction 09/05/2018ALTERATIONS TO 17/02166/MNR - 

ADDITION OF A CABRIO ROOFLIGHT 

TO THE FRONT ELEVATION

54 LECKWITH ROAD, 

CANTON, CARDIFF, CF11 

6HN

Permission 

be granted



CATH

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/01063/DCH 04/05/2018  19 TrueSidhu 23/05/2018REAR DORMER SET BACK 300mm 

FROM ORIGINAL MAIN HOUSE REAR 

WALL TO EXISTING C4 HMO AND 

VELUX ROOF LIGHT TO FRONT NOT 

EXCEEDING 150MM ROOF PLANE

67 MALEFANT STREET, 

CATHAYS, CARDIFF, CF24 

4QD

Permission 

be granted

18/01071/DCH 04/05/2018  19 TrueMorris 23/05/2018REAR DORMER  SET BACK 300mm 

FROM ORIGINAL MAIN HOUSE REAR 

WALL TO EXISTING C4 HMO AND 

VELUX ROOF LIGHT TO FRONT NOT 

EXCEEDING 150mm ABOVE ROOF 

PLANE

7 MINNY STREET, 

CATHAYS, CARDIFF, CF24 

4ER

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00678/MJR 28/03/2018  58 FalseGill 25/05/2018CHANGE OF USE FROM A SHOP (A1) 

TO A CAFE/TAKE AWAY (A3) AND 

EXTENSIONS TO FIRST AND 

SECOND TO CREATE 2 NO. 

APARTMENTS (C3)

33 CAROLINE STREET, 

CITY CENTRE, CARDIFF, 

CF10 1FF

Permission 

be granted

18/00803/MJR 06/04/2018  55 TrueThe Watkin Jones 

Group

31/05/20184NO. RESIDENTIAL UNITS WITHIN 

THE UPPER LEVEL OF THE 

PROPOSED RETAIL UNITS 

CURRENTLY UNDER 

CONSTRUCTION ON CHARLES 

STREET

LAND AND BUILDINGS 

BOUND BY BRIDGE 

STREET, CHARLES 

STREET AND WESLEY 

LANE, CARDIFF

Permission 

be granted

17/03065/MJR 18/12/2017  144 FalseHMCTS Property 

Directorate

11/05/2018INSTALLATION OF PERMANENT 

COMFORT COOLING AND HEATING 

EQUIPMENT TO COURTS 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 

7 AND 8 AT CARDIFF CROWN COURT

CARDIFF CROWN COURT, 

KING EDWARD VII 

AVENUE, CATHAYS PARK, 

CARDIFF, CF10 3PG

Permission 

be granted



18/00967/MJR 30/04/2018  22 TrueRightacres Property 

Company Limited

22/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 8 

(WATER SCHEME) OF 17/01751/MJR

LAND NORTH OF WOOD 

STREET, WEST OF 

HAVELOCK STREET, 

SOUTH OF PARK STREET 

AND EAST OF NO.6 PARK 

STREET

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

18/00910/MJR 20/04/2018  34 TrueLEOM LLP 24/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 16 

(VIBRATION LEVELS) OF 

17/01906/MJR

CUSTOM HOUSE, 

CUSTOM HOUSE STREET 

AND FORMER YORK 

HOTEL, CITY CENTRE, 

CARDIFF, CF10 1AP

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

18/01093/MJR 09/05/2018  16 TrueLEOM LLP 25/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 6 (GAS 

PROTECTION), 7 (CONTAMINATED 

LAND) AND 8 (REMEDIATION AND 

VERIFICATION PLAN) OF 

17/01906/MJR

CUSTOM HOUSE, 

CUSTOM HOUSE STREET 

AND FORMER YORK 

HOTEL, CITY CENTRE, 

CARDIFF, CF10 1AP

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

18/01044/MJR 04/05/2018  7 TrueThe Watkin Jones 

Group

11/05/2018AMENDMENTS TO THE EXTERIOR, 

PREVIOUSLY APPROVED UNDER 

15/03097/MJR

LAND AND BUILDINGS 

BOUND BY BRIDGE 

STREET, CHARLES 

STREET AND WESLEY 

LANE, CARDIFF

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

A/18/00027/MNR 21/03/2018  56 TrueBritish 

Telecommunications Plc

16/05/2018TWO DIGITAL LED DISPLAY 

SCREENS, ONE ON EACH SIDE OF 

THE INLINK

OUTSIDE CASTLE ARMS 

PH, CASTLE STREET, 

CARDIFF, CF10 1BT

Permission 

be granted

18/00679/MNR 21/03/2018  56 TrueBritish 

Telecommunications Plc

16/05/2018REMOVAL OF TWO (2) EXISTING BT 

PAYPHONES AND THE ERECTION OF 

ONE (1) FREESTANDING INLINK 

PROVIDING FREE ULTRAFAST WIFI 

AND OTHER COMMUNITY SERVICES 

AND WITH EXCESS SPACE 

RETURNED TO THE COMMUNITY

OUTSIDE CASTLE ARMS 

PH, CASTLE STREET, 

CARDIFF, CF10 1BT

Permission 

be granted



18/00683/MNR 22/03/2018  55 TrueBritish 

Telecommunications Plc

16/05/2018REMOVAL OF TWO (2) EXISTING BT 

PAYPHONES AND THE ERECTION OF 

ONE (1) FREESTANDING INLINK 

PROVIDING FREE ULTRAFAST WIFI 

AND OTHER COMMUNITY SERVICES 

AND WITH EXCESS SPACE 

RETURNED TO THE COMMUNITY

OUTSIDE STEAK OF THE 

ART, HELMONT HOUSE, 

CHURCHILL WAY, 

CARDIFF, CF10 2SS

Permission 

be granted

A/18/00028/MNR 22/03/2018  55 TrueBritish 

Telecommunications Plc

16/05/2018TWO DIGITAL LED DISPLAY 

SCREENS, ONE ON EACH SIDE OF 

THE INLINK

OUTSIDE STEAK OF THE 

ART, HELMONT HOUSE, 

CHURCHILL WAY, 

CARDIFF, CF10 2SS

Permission 

be granted

18/00691/MNR 23/03/2018  54 TrueBritish 

Telecommunications Plc

16/05/2018REMOVAL OF ONE (1) EXISTING BT 

PAYPHONE AND THE ERECTION OF 

ONE (1) FREESTANDING INLINK 

PROVIDING FREE ULTRAFAST WIFI 

AND OTHER COMMUNITY SERVICES 

AND WITH EXCESS SPACE 

RETURNED TO THE COMMUNITY.

OUTSIDE 6 DUKE 

STREET, CITY CENTRE, 

CARDIFF, CF10 1AY

Permission 

be granted

A/18/00029/MNR 23/03/2018  54 TrueBritish 

Telecommunications Plc

16/05/2018TWO DIGITAL LED DISPLAY 

SCREENS, ONE ON EACH SIDE OF 

THE INLINK.

OUTSIDE 6 DUKE 

STREET, CITY CENTRE, 

CARDIFF, CF10 1AY

Permission 

be granted

18/00692/MNR 23/03/2018  54 TrueBritish 

Telecommunications Plc

16/05/2018REMOVAL OF TWO (2) EXISTING BT 

PAYPHONES AND THE ERECTION OF 

ONE (1) FREESTANDING INLINK 

PROVIDING FREE ULTRAFAST WIFI 

AND OTHER COMMUNITY SERVICES 

AND WITH EXCESS SPACE 

RETURNED TO THE COMMUNITY.

OUTSIDE BOOTS 36 

QUEEN STREET, CITY 

CENTRE, CARDIFF, CF10 

2RG

Permission 

be granted

18/00704/MNR 26/03/2018  51 TrueBritish 

Telecommunications Plc

16/05/2018REMOVAL OF TWO (2) EXISTING BT 

PAYPHONES AND THE ERECTION OF 

ONE (1) FREESTANDING INLINK 

PROVIDING FREE ULTRAFAST WIFI 

AND OTHER COMMUNITY SERVICES 

AND WITH EXCESS SPACE 

RETURNED TO THE COMMUNITY.

OUTSIDE SAINSBURY'S, 

129-139 QUEEN STREET, 

CITY CENTRE, CARDIFF, 

CF10 2BJ

Permission 

be granted

A/18/00031/MNR 26/03/2018  51 TrueBritish 

Telecommunications Plc

16/05/2018TWO DIGITAL LED DISPLAY 

SCREENS, ONE ON EACH SIDE OF 

THE INLINK.

OUTSIDE SAINSBURY'S, 

129-139 QUEEN STREET, 

CITY CENTRE, CARDIFF, 

CF10 2BJ

Permission 

be granted



18/00706/MNR 26/03/2018  51 TrueBritish 

Telecommunications Plc

16/05/2018REMOVAL OF TWO (2) EXISTING BT 

PAYPHONES AND THE ERECTION OF 

ONE (1) FREESTANDING INLINK 

PROVIDING FREE ULTRAFAST WIFI 

AND OTHER COMMUNITY SERVICES 

AND WITH EXCESS SPACE 

RETURNED TO THE COMMUNITY.

OUTSIDE WOK 2 WALK, 90 

ST MARY STREET, CITY 

CENTRE, CARDIFF, CF10 

1DW

Permission 

be granted

A/18/00033/MNR 26/03/2018  51 TrueBritish 

Telecommunications Plc

16/05/2018TWO DIGITAL LED DISPLAY 

SCREENS, ONE ON EACH SIDE OF 

THE INLINK.

OUTSIDE WOK 2 WALK, 90 

ST MARY STREET, CITY 

CENTRE, CARDIFF, CF10 

1DW

Permission 

be granted

18/00730/MNR 27/03/2018  50 TrueBritish 

Telecommunications Plc

16/05/2018REMOVAL OF TWO (2) EXISTING BT 

PAYPHONES AND THE ERECTION OF 

ONE (1) FREESTANDING INLINK 

PROVIDING FREE ULTRAFAST WIFI 

AND OTHER COMMUNITY SERVICES 

AND WITH EXCESS SPACE 

RETURNED TO THE COMMUNITY.

OUTSIDE HODGE HOUSE, 

114-116 ST MARY STREET, 

CITY CENTRE, CARDIFF, 

CF10 1DY

Permission 

be granted

A/18/00036/MNR 27/03/2018  50 TrueBritish 

Telecommunications Plc

16/05/2018TWO DIGITAL LED DISPLAY 

SCREENS, ONE ON EACH SIDE OF 

THE INLINK.

OUTSIDE HODGE HOUSE, 

114-116 ST MARY STREET, 

CITY CENTRE, CARDIFF, 

CF10 1DY

Permission 

be granted

18/00732/MNR 27/03/2018  49 TrueBritish 

Telecommunications Plc

15/05/2018REMOVAL OF ONE (1) EXISTING BT 

PAYPHONE AND THE ERECTION OF 

ONE (1) FREESTANDING INLINK 

PROVIDING FREE ULTRAFAST WIFI 

AND OTHER COMMUNITY SERVICES 

AND WITH EXCESS SPACE 

RETURNED TO THE COMMUNITY.

OUTSIDE NO. 15-17 TGI 

FRIDAYS, BRIDGE 

STREET, CITY CENTRE, 

CARDIFF, CF10 2GS

Permission 

be granted

A/18/00038/MNR 27/03/2018  49 TrueBritish 

Telecommunications Plc

15/05/2018TWO DIGITAL LED DISPLAY 

SCREENS, ONE ON EACH SIDE OF 

THE INLINK.

OUTSIDE NO. 15-17 TGI 

FRIDAYS, BRIDGE 

STREET, CITY CENTRE, 

CARDIFF, CF10 2GS

Permission 

be granted

A/18/00030/MNR 23/03/2018  53 TrueBritish 

Telecommunications Plc

15/05/2018TWO DIGITAL LED DISPLAY 

SCREENS, ONE ON EACH SIDE OF 

THE INLINK.

OUTSIDE BOOTS 36 

QUEEN STREET, CITY 

CENTRE, CARDIFF, CF10 

2RG

Permission 

be granted



18/00711/MNR 26/03/2018  50 TrueBritish 

Telecommunications Plc

15/05/2018REMOVAL OF ONE (1) EXISTING BT 

PAYPHONE AND THE ERECTION OF 

ONE (1) FREESTANDING INLINK 

PROVIDING FREE ULTRAFAST WIFI 

AND OTHER COMMUNITY SERVICES 

AND WITH EXCESS SPACE 

RETURNED TO THE COMMUNITY.

OUTSIDE 42 THE HAYES, 

CITY CENTRE, CARDIFF, 

CF10 1AJ

Permission 

be granted

A/18/00034/MNR 26/03/2018  50 TrueBritish 

Telecommunications Plc

15/05/2018TWO DIGITAL LED DISPLAY 

SCREENS, ONE ON EACH SIDE OF 

THE INLINK.

OUTSIDE 42 THE HAYES, 

CITY CENTRE, CARDIFF, 

CF10 1AJ

Permission 

be granted

18/00403/MNR 16/03/2018  55 TrueTrustees of MCF, 

Cardiff Estate Unit Trust

10/05/2018CHANGE OF USE TO A3 3-7 DUKE STREET 

ARCADE, CITY CENTRE, 

CARDIFF, CF10 1AZ

Permission 

be granted

18/00496/MNR 01/03/2018  70 FalseKnight 10/05/2018DISPLAY OF A FASCIA AND HANGING 

SIGN

90 ST MARY STREET, 

CITY CENTRE, CARDIFF, 

CF10 1DW

Permission 

be granted

18/00671/MNR 21/03/2018  43 TrueEE Ltd 03/05/2018REPLACEMENT OF THE EXISTING 

FRONT AND SIDE ELEVATION 

SHOPFRONTS FOR NEW POWDER 

COATED ALUMINIUM FRAME 

SYSTEM, A PAIR OF DOUBLE 

FRAMELESS ENTRANCE DOORS TO 

THE QUEEN STREET ELEVATION 

AND ALL WITH INTERNALLY 

MOUNTED PERFORATED POWDER 

COATED SLAT ROLLER SHUTTERS 

BEHIND GLAZING

46-48 QUEEN STREET, 

CITY CENTRE, CARDIFF, 

CF10 2GQ

Permission 

be granted

17/02669/MNR 08/11/2017  176 FalseFerndale Prep Co. 

(Newport) Ltd

03/05/2018CHANGE OF USE FROM 

HAIRDRESSERS ON GROUND 

FLOOR AND FIRST FLOOR TO 4 

NO.STUDIO FLATS RETAINING 

EXISTING FLAT ON FIRST FLOOR 

REAR AND MINOR EXTERNAL 

ALTERATIONS TO THE BUILDING 

AND THE DEMOLITION OF SHED TO 

REAR

FIGUREHEAD, 12 

MONTHERMER ROAD, 

CATHAYS, CARDIFF, CF24 

4QW

Permission 

be granted

18/00191/MNR 26/01/2018  97 FalseVidler 03/05/2018ERECTION OF DWELLING RHYMNEY MEWS, 

RHYMNEY STREET, 

CATHAYS, CARDIFF, CF24 

4DG

Planning 

Permission 

be refused



A/18/00035/MNR 29/03/2018  55 TrueMorgans Consult 23/05/20185 NO. FASCIA SIGN AND 1 NO. 

PROJECTING SIGN

PROPOSED PRINCIPALITY 

BUILDING SOCIETY, 

TOWN WALL, CITY 

CENTRE

Permission 

be granted

18/00843/MNR 11/04/2018  30 TrueMorgan 11/05/2018ALTERATIONS TO FORM A 

MAISONETTE FLAT WITH REMOVAL 

OF CONDITION (B) AND CONDITION 

(1) OF PLANNING PERMISSIONS 

84/1838 & 96/01548/W RESPECTIVELY

REAR OF 46 HARRIET 

STREET, CATHAYS, 

CARDIFF, CF24 4BW

Permission 

be granted

18/00673/MNR 11/04/2018  34 TrueBritish 

Telecommunications Plc

15/05/2018REMOVAL OF SIX (6) EXISTING BT 

PAYPHONES AND THE ERECTION OF 

ONE (1) FREESTANDING INLINK 

PROVIDING FREE ULTRAFAST WIFI 

AND OTHER COMMUNITY SERVICES 

AND WITH EXCESS SPACE 

RETURNED TO THE COMMUNITY

OUTSIDE 7-9, GROUND 

FLOOR, CAPITOL 

ARCADE, CHURCHILL 

WAY, CITY CENTRE, 

CARDIFF, CF10 2HQ

Permission 

be granted

A/18/00026/MNR 11/04/2018  34 TrueBritish 

Telecommunications Plc

15/05/2018TWO DIGITAL LED DISPLAY 

SCREENS, ONE ON EACH SIDE OF 

THE INLINK

OUTSIDE 7-9, GROUND 

FLOOR, CAPITOL 

ARCADE, CHURCHILL 

WAY, CITY CENTRE, 

CARDIFF, CF10 2HQ

Permission 

be granted

18/00761/MNR 04/04/2018  36 TrueJT Building and 

Electrical Services

10/05/2018CHANGE OF USE OF SECOND 

FLOOR (YOGA STUDIO) AND THIRD 

FLOOR (OFFICES B1) TO A 

GYMNASIUM (D2)

SECOND AND THIRD 

FLOOR, 39 WINDSOR 

PLACE, CITY CENTRE, 

CARDIFF, CF10 3BW

Permission 

be granted

A/18/00046/MNR 23/04/2018  38 TrueMohammed 31/05/2018ILLUMINATED SIGNS 24 CHURCHILL WAY, CITY 

CENTRE, CARDIFF, CF10 

2DY

Permission 

be granted

A/18/00047/MNR 02/05/2018  23 TrueStickym Limited 25/05/2018HOARDING ADVERTISEMENTS CROWN PLACE, 1-6 ST 

ANDREW'S PLACE, 

CATHAYS PARK, CARDIFF, 

CF10 3BE

Permission 

be granted

18/00849/MNR 16/04/2018  32 TrueAnyaike 18/05/2018TO RETAIN THE USE OF THE 

PROPERTY AS A SUI GENERIS HMO

14 LLANDOUGH STREET, 

CATHAYS, CARDIFF, CF24 

4AW

Permission 

be granted

CRE



Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00755/DCH 29/03/2018  42 TrueLynch 10/05/2018PROPOSED SINGLE STOREY REAR 

EXTENSION AND ALTERATION 

WORKS

4 MAES-Y-GOLLEN, 

CREIGIAU, CARDIFF, CF15 

9JW

Permission 

be granted

18/00756/DCH 24/04/2018  29 TrueWilliams 23/05/2018SINGLE STOREY EXTENSIONS TO 

DINING ROOM & KITCHEN.

11 FFORDD-Y-BARCER, ST 

FAGANS, CARDIFF, CF5 

4QP

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00315/MJR 13/02/2018  94 FalseRedrow Homes (South 

Wales)

18/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 14 

(TREES) OF 14/02188/MJR RELATING 

TO PARCEL 1F SPINE ROAD

LAND SOUTH OF 

PENTREBANE ROAD, 

CARDIFF

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00835/MNR 13/04/2018  46 TrueKERNON 29/05/2018PROPOSED ALTERATION OF 

APPROVED DWELLING TO INCLUDE 

REAR CONSERVATORY EXTENSION

PLOT 74, MULBERRY 

GROVE, ST FAGANS, 

CARDIFF, CF56FA

Permission 

be granted

17/02434/MNR 25/10/2017  212 FalseCreigiau Recreation 

Management 

Committee

25/05/2018PROPOSED EXTENSION TO THE 

EXISTING CHANGING ROOMS 

/PAVILLION TOGETHER WITH THE 

INSTALLATION OF A PERIMETER 

FOOTPATH WITH EXERCISE 

WORKSTATIONS AND A MULTI USE 

GAMES AREA AND PLAY AREA

RECREATION FIELDS, 

CHANGING ROOMS AND 

STORES, HEOL 

PANT-Y-GORED, 

CREIGIAU, CARDIFF, CF15 

9NF

Permission 

be granted

A/18/00013/MNR 16/03/2018  56 Truewilliams 11/05/2018SIGNAGE 30 MINUTE WORKOUT 

LTD, RHYDLAFAR DRIVE, 

ST FAGANS, CARDIFF, 

CF5 6HU

Permission 

be granted



CYNC

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

17/02782/DCH 27/11/2017  168 FalseShen 14/05/2018TWO STOREY FRONT AND REAR 

EXTENSIONS

10 BRYN-GWYN ROAD, 

CYNCOED, CARDIFF, 

CF23 6PQ

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

18/00657/DCH 28/03/2018  48 TrueContractor 15/05/2018REAR SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION 33 CELYN AVENUE, 

LAKESIDE, CARDIFF, CF23 

6EH

Permission 

be granted

18/00728/DCH 27/03/2018  49 TrueJames Carter : Alan 

Barker Partnership

15/05/2018CONSTRUCTION OF AN INSITU 

CONCRETE BASE AND ERECTION 

THERE ON OF A PREFABRICATED 

GARDEN SUMMER HOUSE AS 

SHOWN ON PLAN ATTACHED

29 THE FAIRWAY, 

CYNCOED, CARDIFF, 

CF23 6RF

Permission 

be granted

18/00464/DCH 12/03/2018  59 FalseBari 10/05/2018GROUND FLOOR EXTENSIONS AND 

ALTERATIONS INCLUDING GABLE 

ROOF TO FRONT AND SIDE 

ELEVATIONS.  RAISE ROOF TO 

FRONT, REAR AND SIDE 

ELEVATIONS AND ADDITION OF 

DORMER WINDOWS

302 HEATHWOOD ROAD, 

CYNCOED, CARDIFF, 

CF14 4HT

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

18/00610/DCH 14/03/2018  55 TrueMason 08/05/2018SINGLE STOREY SIDE & REAR 

EXTENSIONS

2 BEATTY AVENUE, 

ROATH PARK, CARDIFF, 

CF23 5QT

Permission 

be granted

18/00810/DCH 06/04/2018  53 TrueGrant 29/05/2018SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION 

TO KITCHEN WITH ADJACENT REAR 

TWO STOREY EXTENSION FOR A  

LIVING ROOM WITH EXTENDED 

REAR BEDROOM ABOVE

7 BRYNDERWEN CLOSE, 

CYNCOED, CARDIFF, 

CF23 6BR

Permission 

be granted

18/00740/DCH 16/04/2018  29 TrueBell 15/05/2018NEW FRONT PORCH TO REPLACE 

EXISTING & ADJUSTED STEPS

42 LAKESIDE DRIVE, 

LAKESIDE, CARDIFF, CF23 

6DG

Permission 

be granted

18/00670/DCH 03/04/2018  29 TrueHocking 02/05/2018REAR EXTENSION TO EXISTING 

DWELLING

10 DAN-Y-COED ROAD, 

CYNCOED, CARDIFF, 

CF23 6NA

Permission 

be granted



18/00789/DCH 11/04/2018  37 TrueRobert-Jones 18/05/2018SINGLE STOREY GROUND FLOOR  

AND FIRST FLOOR EXTENSIONS AT 

THE REAR OF THE DWELLING WITH 

NEW TWO STOREY SIDE 

EXTENSION AND GARAGE 

REPLACING EXISTING SIDE 

EXTENSION AND GARAGE

6 JUSTIN CLOSE, 

LAKESIDE, CARDIFF, CF23 

6HH

Permission 

be granted

18/00793/DCH 17/04/2018  31 TrueDown 18/05/2018CREATION OF TWO NEW GROUND 

FLOOR WINDOWS ON RIGHT-HAND 

(EAST) SIDE ELEVATION

5B CYNCOED PLACE, 

CYNCOED, CARDIFF, 

CF23 6SG

Permission 

be granted

18/00867/DCH 16/04/2018  32 TrueSteer 18/05/2018PROPOSED LOFT CONVERSION 

WITH A FLAT ROOFED DORMER TO 

THE REAR OF THE PROPERTY AND A 

SMALLER PITCHED ROOF DORMER 

ON THE FRONT.

42 WOOLASTON AVENUE, 

LAKESIDE, CARDIFF, CF23 

6HA

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00272/MNR 05/02/2018  108 FalseHUGHES 24/05/2018PROPOSED EXTENSIONS, 

RECONFIGURATION & CONVERSION 

TO FORM TWO FLATS

13 BRYN-AWELON ROAD, 

CYNCOED, CARDIFF, 

CF23 6QR

Permission 

be granted

18/00527/MNR 07/03/2018  57 FalseSomas Kandarajah 03/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 5 

(FUME EXTRACTION), 8 (REFUSE 

CONTAINERS), 9 (BIN DETAILS) AND 

10 (GREASE TRAP) OF 17/01882/MNR

58 CLEARWATER WAY, 

LAKESIDE, CARDIFF, CF23 

6DJ

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

ELY

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00474/DCH 28/02/2018  75 FalseKloss 14/05/2018FRONT AND REAR 2 STOREY 

EXTENSIONS AND ADDITION OF 

PORCH TO SIDE OF HOUSE

109 DROPE ROAD, ELY, 

CARDIFF, CF5 6EP

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

18/00611/DCH 27/03/2018  49 TrueBegum 15/05/2018PROPOSED REAR KITCHEN 

EXTENSION AND A REAR DORMER

106 GRAND AVENUE, ELY, 

CARDIFF, CF5 4HU

Permission 

be granted



18/00776/DCH 09/04/2018  46 TrueBrown 25/05/2018SINGLE STOREY GROUND FLOOR 

SIDE EXTENSION. NEW MEANS OF 

ENCLOSURE (TO 2.0M HIGH) ALONG 

FRONT AND RETURNED TO 

EXTENSION.

1 GRAND AVENUE, ELY, 

CARDIFF, CF5 4GJ

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00640/MJR 21/03/2018  65 FalseWates Residential 25/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 3  

(SOFT LANDSCAPE), CONDITION 4 

(REMEDIATION STRATEGY ), 

CONDITION 11 (DRAINAGE) 

CONDITION 12  (PUBLIC SEWER) 

CONDITION 14  (ELY BIRD AND BAT 

BOX METHOD STATEMENT) 

CONDITION 15  (ECOLOGICAL 

METHOD STATEMENT ) AND 

CONDITION 19 (RENDER)

LAND TO THE SOUTH OF 

SNOWDEN ROAD AND 

EAST OF WILSON ROAD, 

ELY, CARDIFF

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00627/MNR 19/03/2018  73 FalseMillar 31/05/2018NEW DWELLING TO SIDE OF HOUSE 

TO FORM ATTACHED 3 BED 

RESIDENTIAL HOUSE

34 DEERE PLACE, ELY, 

CARDIFF, CF5 4NN

Permission 

be granted

17/02721/MNR 15/11/2017  169 FalseEly Court Care Home 

Ltd

03/05/2018REPLACEMENT OF EXISTING LINK 

BETWEEN ORIGINAL BUILDING AND 

MODERN WING WITH NEW 3 

STOREY LINK, INCORPORATING 

NEW 13 PERSON LIFT

THE COURT NURSING 

HOME, CWRT Y CADNO, 

ST FAGANS, CARDIFF, 

CF5 6XD

Permission 

be granted

17/02720/MNR 15/11/2017  176 FalseEly Court Care Home 

Ltd

10/05/2018REPLACEMENT OF EXISTING LINK 

BETWEEN ORIGINAL BUILDING AND 

MODERN WING WITH NEW 3 

STOREY LINK, INCORPORATING 

NEW 13 PERSON LIFT

THE COURT NURSING 

HOME, CWRT Y CADNO, 

ST FAGANS, CARDIFF, 

CF5 6XD

Permission 

be granted



FAIR

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00631/DCH 16/03/2018  60 FalseMr M Wembridge 15/05/2018PROPOSED GARAGE / WORKSHOP 

WITH HOBBY ROOM / STORAGE TO 

FIRST FLOOR

114 ASHCROFT 

CRESCENT, 

PENTREBANE, CARDIFF, 

CF5 3RP

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

18/00507/DCH 16/03/2018  56 TrueEvans 11/05/2018GROUND FLOOR SIDE EXTENSION 

INCORPORATING NEW GARAGE AND 

REAR DORMER

61 ASHCROFT 

CRESCENT, 

PENTREBANE, CARDIFF, 

CF5 3RL

Permission 

be granted

18/00661/DCH 29/03/2018  49 TrueEvans 17/05/2018PROPOSED FRONT PORCH 32 CEDAR GROVE, 

PENTREBANE, CARDIFF, 

CF5 3RS

Permission 

be granted

18/01066/DCH 15/05/2018  15 TrueWalsh 30/05/2018INCREASE THE FLOOR AREA OF THE 

SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION TO 

ACCOMMODATE ADDITIONAL 

BEDROOM AND EN SUITE. 

ADDITIONAL WINDOWS ADDED ON 

THE FLANK ELEVATION TO OFFER 

LIGHT INTO THE ROOMS - 

PREVIOUSLY APPROVED UNDER 

17/2042/DCH

12 FERN PLACE, 

FAIRWATER, CARDIFF, 

CF5 3HG

Permission 

be granted

18/00961/DCH 25/04/2018  30 TrueTobenas 25/05/2018PROPOSED REAR SINGLE STOREY 

EXTENSION & DORMER LOFT 

CONVERSION

11 CADWGAN PLACE, 

FAIRWATER, CARDIFF, 

CF5 3HX

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00840/MNR 16/04/2018  31 TrueCardiff Council 17/05/2018REFURBISHMENT OF FAIRWATER 

DAY CENTRE TO INCLUDE THE 

REMOVAL OF A CANOPY, NEW 

RENDER AND CANOPY TO PART 

ELEVATION

FAIRWATER DAY CENTRE, 

PLAS MAWR ROAD, 

FAIRWATER, CARDIFF, 

CF5 3JU

Permission 

be granted



A/18/00040/MNR 16/04/2018  31 TrueCardiff Council 17/05/2018NEW SIGNAGE FAIRWATER DAY CENTRE, 

PLAS MAWR ROAD, 

FAIRWATER, CARDIFF, 

CF5 3JU

Permission 

be granted

GABA

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/01015/DCH 30/04/2018  18 TrueBeddows 18/05/2018THE DORMER IS SET BACK 300MM IN 

EXCESS OF SET BACK REQUIRED AS 

PD RIGHTS AND THE ROOF IS 

LOWER THAN RIDGE. EXTERNAL 

MATERIALS TO MATCH EXISTING 

AND VELUX ROOF LIGHT TO FRONT 

NOT EXCEEDING 150MM ABOVE 

ROOF PLANE.

24 NEW ZEALAND ROAD, 

GABALFA, CARDIFF, CF14 

3BR

Permission 

be granted

18/00822/DCH 09/04/2018  32 TrueVarghese 11/05/2018PROPOSED SINGLE STOREY REAR 

EXTENSION

2 MARGAM ROAD, 

MYNACHDY, CARDIFF, 

CF14 3EH

Permission 

be granted

18/00821/DCH 11/04/2018  33 TrueDodd 14/05/2018CREATION OF SINGLE STOREY 

OFFICE AND WOOD STORE TO THE 

REAR OF THE GARDEN

42 SOBERTON AVENUE, 

GABALFA, CARDIFF, CF14 

3NJ

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00806/MNR 05/04/2018  28 TrueJORDAN 03/05/2018AMENDMENTS TO 14/02214/MNR -  

SHOPFRONT DESIGN

188 WHITCHURCH ROAD, 

GABALFA, CARDIFF, CF14 

3NB

Permission 

be granted

GRAN

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision



18/00763/DCH 03/04/2018  30 TrueHeledd 03/05/2018PROPOSED SINGLE STOREY INFILL 

EXTENSION TO REAR

64 MERCHES GARDENS, 

GRANGETOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF11 6RE

Permission 

be granted

18/00747/DCH 03/04/2018  38 TrueStamp 11/05/2018SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION 13 KENT STREET, 

GRANGETOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF11 7DL

Permission 

be granted

18/00884/DCH 18/04/2018  34 TrueKhurshid 22/05/2018PROPOSED SINGLE STOREY 

EXTENSION AND DORMER 

EXTENSION

46 KENT STREET, 

GRANGETOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF11 7DN

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

17/02962/MJR 07/12/2017  166 FalseWales and West 

Housing Association

22/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 22 

(DRAINAGE) AND 25 (GROUND 

LEVELS) OF 17/02962/MJR

LAND TO THE WEST OF, 

CLIVE LANE, 

GRANGETOWN, CARDIFF

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

17/02863/MJR 28/11/2017  178 FalseWales and West 

Housing Association

25/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 9 

(ACCESS ROAD AND JUNCTION 

ARRANGEMENTS) OF 15/02834/MJR

LAND TO THE WEST OF, 

CLIVE LANE, 

GRANGETOWN

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

18/00521/MJR 07/03/2018  78 FalseWWHA 24/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 5 

(CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT 

PLAN) OF 15/02834/MJR

LAND TO THE WEST OF, 

CLIVE LANE, 

GRANGETOWN

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

16/01173/MJR 17/05/2016  744 FalseBECT Building 

Contractors Ltd

31/05/2018Discharge of Conditions 3 (Gas 

Monitoring), 4 (Chemical Monitoring), 7 

(Flood Storage), 8 (Contamination 

Risks), 9 (Drainage) and 13 (Riverside 

Walk) of outline permission 08/2191/C 

as varied by Section 73 applications 

13/310/DCI, 13/1631/DCI, and 

13/2547/DCI

Proposed Temporary 

Floating Marina Facilities 

Building, Watkiss Way, 

Grangetown, CARDIFF, 

CF11 0SF

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

16/02077/MJR 08/09/2016  630 FalseBECT Building 

Contractors Ltd

31/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 16 

(PUBLIC ART STRATEGY) OF 

13/00310/DCI, 13/01631/DCI AND 

13/02547/DCI

PROPOSED TEMPORARY 

FLOATING MARINA 

FACILITIES BUILDING, 

WATKISS WAY, 

GRANGETOWN

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition



18/00537/MJR 08/03/2018  84 FalseBECT Building 

Contractors Ltd

31/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 14 

(DDA COMPLIANT ACCESS), 17 

(PARKING), 18 (CAR PARK BARRIER), 

19 (CAR PARK RAMPS) AND 23 (CAR 

PARK MANAGEMENT PLAN) OF 

13/00310/DCI, 13/01631/DCI AND 

13/02547/DCI

PROPOSED TEMPORARY 

FLOATING MARINA 

FACILITIES BUILDING, 

WATKISS WAY, 

GRANGETOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF11 0SF

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

18/01122/MJR 14/05/2018  7 TrueSytner Group 21/05/2018RE-DESIGN OF NEW BUILD BMW 

DEALERSHIP COMPRISING 

SHOWROOM FOR BMW/I-CAR 

DISPLAY, MOT, SERVICE DRIVE-IN, 

WORKSHOP, EXTERNAL DISPLAY 

AND ASSOCIATED EXTERNAL 

WORKS PREVIOUSLY APPROVED 

UNDER 16/00124/MJR

FORMER MCDONALDS 

AND KISMET PARK, 

PENARTH ROAD, 

LECKWITH, CARDIFF, 

CF11 8TT

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

17/02282/MNR 15/03/2018  70 FalseCunningham 24/05/2018ALTERATIONS TO EXISTING 

GARAGE/COACH HOUSE TO THE 

REAR OF 220 CLIVE STREET FOR 

ANCILLARY USE TO THE GROUND 

FLOOR FLAT ONLY

220 CLIVE STREET, 

GRANGETOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF11 7JG

Permission 

be granted

18/00619/MNR 26/03/2018  52 TrueDGH Ltd 17/05/2018PART REMOVAL OF EXISTING 

SHOWROOM AND REINSTATEMENT 

OF NEW FRONT ELEVATION, 

OVER-CLAD OF REAR AND SIDE 

ELEVATIONS AND REMODELLING OF 

CAR PARKING

CYNHYRCHIADAU 

BOOMERANG 

CYFYNGEDIG, 218 

PENARTH ROAD, 

LECKWITH, CARDIFF, 

CF11 8NN

Permission 

be granted

18/00410/MNR 20/02/2018  78 FalseTufail 09/05/2018CONVERSION OF A PROPERTY WITH 

FOUR BEDROOMS INTO 4 ONE 

BEDROOM SELF CONTAINED FLATS 

WITH SINGLE STOREY REAR 

EXTENSION AND LOFT CONVERSION 

WITH REAR DORMER AND TAKE 

DOWN REAR OUTBUILDING

133 PENARTH ROAD, 

GRANGETOWN, CARDIFF, 

CF11 6JU

Permission 

be granted



18/00824/MNR 10/04/2018  31 TrueAshfield Land (Cardiff) 

Limited

11/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 5 

(FLOOD LIGHTING SCHEME) OF 

17/02646/MNR

UNIT 2A, GLYNSTELL 

PARK, GLYNSTELL CLOSE, 

LECKWITH, CARDIFF, 

CF11 8EY

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

HEAT

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00546/DCH 09/03/2018  55 TrueStenson 03/05/2018PROPOSED ATTIC CONVERSION 

WITH FRONT DORMER EXTENSION

20 HEOL NEST, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 1SY

Permission 

be granted

18/00273/DCH 02/02/2018  105 FalseShahwan 18/05/2018PROPOSED SINGLE STOREY REAR 

EXTENSION, TWO STOREY SIDE 

EXTENSION AND LOFT CONVERSION 

INCLUDING A HIP TO GABLE 

ALTERATION AND REAR DORMER, 

AND SINGLE STOREY OUT BUILDING 

TO REPLACE THE EXISTING 

GARAGE AND GARDEN SHED

97 HEATHWAY, HEATH, 

CARDIFF, CF14 4JS

Permission 

be granted

18/00859/DCH 12/04/2018  49 TrueLittle 31/05/2018SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION TO 

SIDE OF PROPERTY

148 HEATHWOOD ROAD, 

HEATH, CARDIFF, CF14 

4BQ

Permission 

be granted

18/00877/DCH 13/04/2018  42 TrueFox 25/05/2018SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION 61 HEATHWAY, HEATH, 

CARDIFF, CF14 4JR

Permission 

be granted

18/00723/DCH 26/03/2018  38 TrueJones 03/05/2018PROPOSED REAR KITCHEN 

EXTENSION AND DETACHED 

GARAGE.

22 ST EDWEN GARDENS, 

HEATH, CARDIFF, CF14 

4LA

Permission 

be granted

18/00830/DCH 16/04/2018  28 TrueHughes 14/05/2018SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION 

TO REPLACE EXISTING 

CONSERVATORY

283 ALLENSBANK ROAD, 

HEATH, CARDIFF, CF14 

3RA

Permission 

be granted

18/00817/DCH 13/04/2018  40 TrueShort 23/05/2018REAR DORMER AND HIP TO GABLE 

ROOF EXTENSIONS AND 

REPLACEMENT PITCHED  ROOF 

GARAGE

80 BIRCHGROVE ROAD, 

BIRCHGROVE, CARDIFF, 

CF14 1RT

Permission 

be granted



18/00893/DCH 17/04/2018  30 TrueRhodes 17/05/2018REAR AND SIDE SINGLE STOREY 

EXTENSION TO KITCHEN, 

REPLACING EXISTING EXTENSION

184 HEATHWOOD ROAD, 

HEATH, CARDIFF, CF14 

4BR

Permission 

be granted

18/00880/DCH 24/04/2018  37 TrueEdwards Milsom & Co 31/05/2018DEMOLITION OF EXISTING REAR 

EXTENSION. CONSTRUCTION OF 

NEW SINGLE STOREY REAR 

ADDITION.

1 HEATHWOOD GROVE, 

HEATH, CARDIFF, CF14 

3RD

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

17/02919/MJR 05/12/2017  168 FalseALDI Stores Ltd 22/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 3 

(CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT 

STATEMENT), 4 (DRAINAGE), 23 (GAS 

PROTECTION) AND 24 

(REMEDIATION SCHEME) OF 

17/01490/MJR

PHOENIX ESTATE 

DISUSED WAREHOUSE 

AND FIVE OTHER 

BUILDINGS, CAERPHILLY 

ROAD, BIRCHGROVE, 

CARDIFF, CF14 4QF

Partial 

Discharge 

of Condition 

(s)

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00790/MNR 05/04/2018  56 TrueVirgin Media Ltd 31/05/2018NEW EXTERNAL LOUVRES FOR 

INTERNAL AIR HANDLING 

EQUIPMENT

6 FIELD WAY, HEATH, 

CARDIFF, CF14 4HY

Permission 

be granted

A/18/00020/MNR 19/03/2018  52 TrueALDI Stores Ltd 10/05/2018NO. 4 ILLUMINATED AND NO. 2 NON 

ILLUMINATED SIGNS

PART OF FORMER 

PHOENIX ESTATE, 

CAERPHILLY ROAD, 

BIRCHGROVE, CARDIFF, 

CF14 4QF

Permission 

be granted

A/18/00021/MNR 19/03/2018  52 TrueALDI Stores Ltd 10/05/2018NO. 2 TEMPORARY NON 

ILLUMINATED SIGNS

PART OF FORMER 

PHOENIX ESTATE, 

CAERPHILLY ROAD, 

BIRCHGROVE, CARDIFF, 

CF14 4QF

Permission 

be granted

18/00865/MNR 18/04/2018  37 TrueDoyle 25/05/2018CONSTRUCTION OF 2 NUMBER 

DOMESTIC STORAGE SHEDS

149 HEATHWOOD ROAD, 

HEATH, CARDIFF, CF14 

4BL

Permission 

be granted



18/00886/MNR 16/04/2018  17 TrueKassam 03/05/2018AMENDMENTS TO 17/01501/MNR -  

TO WIDEN THE GLAZED CORRIDOR 

THAT CONNECTS THE EXISTING 

BUILDING WITH THE NEW DOUBLE 

STOREY EXTENSION BY 800mm. 

THERE WILL BE NO CHANGE TO THE 

PROPOSED ELEVATION 

TREATMENTS

165 PANTBACH ROAD, 

RHIWBINA, CARDIFF, 

CF14 1TZ

Permission 

be granted

LISV

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00385/DCH 22/02/2018  75 FalseAinsworth 08/05/2018REMOVAL OF EXISTING GARAGE & 

UILTIY TO SIDE AND CONSTRUCTION 

OF NEW TWO STOREY SIDE 

EXTENSION AND SINGLE STOREY 

REAR EXTENSION, INCLUDING 

WIDENING OF VEHICLE 

CROSSOVER.

14 COTSWOLD AVENUE, 

LISVANE, CARDIFF, CF14 

0TA

Permission 

be granted

18/00725/DCH 26/03/2018  44 TrueKinsey 09/05/2018TWO STORY REAR EXTENSION AND 

GARAGE CONVERSION TO CREATE 

SELF CONTAINED UNIT FOR FAMILY 

MEMBER.

1 THE COURT, LISVANE, 

CARDIFF, CF14 0JB

Permission 

be granted

18/00647/DCH 20/03/2018  70 FalseMartin 29/05/2018FIRST FLOOR EXTENSION ABOVE 

EXISTING GROUND FLOOR 

ACCOMMODATION

1 JADE CLOSE, LISVANE, 

CARDIFF, CF14 0GE

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision



18/00367/MNR 14/02/2018  77 FalseHedlund 02/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 3 

(DETAILED SPECIFICATION AND 

METHODOLOGY OF WORK, 

MATERIALS SAMPLES AND 

FINISHING DETAILS), 4 

(JOINERY/REINSTATEMENT OF 

BRICKWORK/DOUBLE GLAZING) AND 

5 (HISTORIC BUILDING RECORDING 

AND ANALYSIS) OF 17/01792/MNR

COACH HOUSE AT TY 

GWYN, LISVANE ROAD, 

LISVANE, CARDIFF, CF14 

0SG

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

LLAN

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00856/DCH 11/04/2018  48 TrueHuntley 29/05/2018PROPOSED SINGLE STOREY REAR 

EXTENSION

61 CHERITON DRIVE, 

LLANISHEN, CARDIFF, 

CF14 9DF

Permission 

be granted

18/00752/DCH 06/04/2018  26 TrueBrown 02/05/2018HIP TO GABLE AND REAR DORMER 

ROOF EXTENSIONS

17 EVEREST AVENUE, 

LLANISHEN, CARDIFF, 

CF14 5AP

Permission 

be granted

18/00724/DCH 03/04/2018  31 TrueBurgess 04/05/2018TWO STOREY EXTENSION TO THE 

SIDE AND REAR OF PROPERTY

22 CAE GARW, 

THORNHILL, CARDIFF, 

CF14 9DX

Permission 

be granted

18/00779/DCH 03/04/2018  38 TrueLillywhite 11/05/2018CONSTRUCTION OF A SIDE AND 

REAR SINGLE STOREY FLAT ROOF 

EXTENSION

153 TY GLAS ROAD, 

LLANISHEN, CARDIFF, 

CF14 5EF

Permission 

be granted

18/00951/DCH 23/04/2018  37 TrueMoore 30/05/2018ERECTION OF TWO-STOREY SIDE 

EXTENSION.

80 LLANGRANOG ROAD, 

LLANISHEN, CARDIFF, 

CF14 5BP

Permission 

be granted

18/00784/DCH 13/04/2018  35 TrueArmstrong 18/05/2018TWO STOREY SIDE EXTENSION 

(WITH CAR-PORT AT GROUND 

FLOOR), HIP TO GABLE ROOF 

EXTENSION, REAR ROOF 

EXTENSION (DORMER WINDOW) 

AND INSERTION OF ROOF LIGHT TO 

REAR.

12 MAYFLOWER AVENUE, 

LLANISHEN, CARDIFF, 

CF14 5HQ

Permission 

be granted



Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00848/MJR 12/04/2018  42 TrueHale Construction Ltd. 24/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 4 

(DRAINAGE LAYOUT), 11 / 12 / 13 

(CONTAMINATION ASSESSMENT AND 

REMEDIATION SCHEME), 15 (GAS 

MONITORING SCHEME), 16 (SOUND 

INSULATION) AND 17 (VIBRATION) OF 

13/01923/DCO

LAND AT CHILTERN 

CLOSE, LLANISHEN, 

CARDIFF, CF14 5DL

Partial 

Discharge 

of Condition 

(s)

18/00198/MJR 25/01/2018  105 FalseMalvern Drive Ltd 10/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 4 

(DRAINAGE) OF 14/00283/DCO

TRAVIS PERKINS 

TRADING CO LTD, 1 

MALVERN DRIVE, 

LLANISHEN, CARDIFF, 

CF14 5DR

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00072/MNR 12/01/2018  112 FalseReginald Moore 04/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 10 OF 

PLANNING PERMISSION 

17/01026/MNR

24 KIMBERLEY TERRACE, 

LLANISHEN, CARDIFF, 

CF14 5EA

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

18/00764/MNR 03/04/2018  56 TrueJeffrey Ross 29/05/2018SHOPFRONT ALTERATION 54 STATION ROAD, 

LLANISHEN, CARDIFF, 

CF14 5LU

Permission 

be granted

LLDF

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision



18/00149/DCH 22/01/2018  116 FalseDENEWOOD 18/05/2018DEMOLITION OF EXISTING TWO 

STOREY LEAN TO. DEMOLITION OF 

EXISTING GABLE TO ENABLE SEMI 

CIRCULAR EXTENSION BE 

CONSTRUCTED. DEMOLITION OF 

EXISTING CHIMNEY. 

CONSTRUCTION OF REPLACEMENT 

LEAN TO WITH DORMER WINDOW. 

CONSTRUCTION OF SEMI CIRCULAR 

EXTENSION. RECONFIGURATION 

AND REPLACEMENT OF ALL 

WINDOWS EXCEPT THOSE IN 

EXISTING EXTENSION.

26 HIGHFIELDS, 

LLANDAFF, CARDIFF, CF5 

2QB

Permission 

be granted

18/00965/DCH 30/04/2018  25 TrueWatts 25/05/2018PROPOSED SINGLE-STOREY REAR 

EXTENSION, ALTERATIONS TO REAR 

DORMER AND ASSOCIATED 

INTERNAL ALTERATIONS.

18 TRISCOMBE DRIVE, 

LLANDAFF, CARDIFF, CF5 

2PN

Permission 

be granted

18/01104/DCH 09/05/2018  13 TrueBarry 22/05/2018ALTERATIONS TO 17/01207/DCH - 

REDUCTION IN SIZE OF SINGLE 

STOREY EXTENSION TO REAR AND 

RE-INSTATEMENT OF EXISTING 

GARAGE. EXTENSION WILL REDUCE 

BY APPROX. 12M2. NEW OBSCURED 

GLASS WINDOW TO GROUND 

FLOOR EAST ELEVATION TO SUIT 

RELOCATION OF DOWNSTAIRS W/C. 

5-OFF VELUX SKYLIGHTS WILL 

REDUCE TO 2-OFF WITH REDUCED 

FOOTPRINT OF EXTENSION

389 WESTERN AVENUE, 

LLANDAFF, CARDIFF, CF5 

2BD

Permission 

be granted

18/00812/DCH 09/04/2018  35 TrueFenwick 14/05/2018PROPOSED SINGLE STOREY REAR 

EXTENSION, PROPOSED GARAGE 

CONVERSION TO MUSIC ROOM

1 INSOLE CLOSE, 

LLANDAFF, CARDIFF, CF5 

2HQ

Permission 

be granted

18/00791/DCH 09/04/2018  36 TrueStock 15/05/2018SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION 396 WESTERN AVENUE, 

LLANDAFF, CARDIFF, CF5 

2BJ

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision



18/00788/MNR 06/04/2018  42 TrueThe Cathedral School 

(Llandaff) Limited

18/05/2018CHANGE OF USE FROM BANK TO 

SCHOOL AND COMMUNITY FACILITY

47A CARDIFF ROAD, 

LLANDAFF, CARDIFF, CF5 

2DP

Permission 

be granted

18/00345/MNR 14/02/2018  93 FalseLove Investments 18/05/2018VARIATION OF CONDITION 2 

(APPROVED PLANS) OF 

17/01547/MNR - ALTERATIONS TO 

PROPOSED EXTENSION HIP ROOF 

FORM TO A GABLE. ALTERATIONS TO 

REAR FENESTRATION. ADDITION OF 

ROOF LIGHT TO REAR ELEVATION. 

REPLACEMENT OF EXISTING 

DORMER WINDOW

9 HEOL FAIR, LLANDAFF, 

CARDIFF, CF5 2EE

Permission 

be granted

18/00921/MNR 18/04/2018  14 TrueMathew 02/05/2018CONTINUE DEVELOPMENT THAT 

COMMENCED ON THE 16TH 

DECEMBER, 2010. PERMISSION 

GRANTED UNDER 07/02964/W

LAND ADJACENT TO 1 

CHAPEL STREET, 

LLANDAFF, CARDIFF, CF5 

2EA

Permission 

be granted

LLDN

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00456/DCH 27/03/2018  48 TrueWilkinson 14/05/2018PROPOSED REAR EXTENSION 

SINGLE STOREY + NEW ROOF ON 

SIDE

17 BACTON ROAD, 

GABALFA, CARDIFF, CF14 

2PN

Permission 

be granted

18/00928/DCH 20/04/2018  33 TruePowell 23/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 4 (TREE 

PROTECTION) OF 17/02612/DCH 

APPLICATION.

SYCAMORE LODGE, 

GABALFA ROAD, 

LLANDAFF NORTH, 

CARDIFF, CF14 2JJ

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00920/MNR 18/04/2018  29 TrueOsman 17/05/2018CHANGING POSITION OF DOOR ON 

SHOP FRONT.

51 GABALFA AVENUE, 

GABALFA, CARDIFF, CF14 

2SH

Permission 

be granted



LLRU

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00419/DCH 21/02/2018  86 FalseOwen 18/05/2018FIRST FLOOR EXTENSION TO SIDE 

ELEVATION OF SEMI-DETACHED 

PROPERTY

15 AXBRIDGE CRESCENT, 

LLANRUMNEY, CARDIFF, 

CF3 5TJ

Permission 

be granted

18/00682/DCH 22/03/2018  57 FalseOrzechowski 18/05/2018SINGLE STOREY SIDE EXTENSION 

AND GARAGE

24 MALMESMEAD ROAD, 

LLANRUMNEY, CARDIFF, 

CF3 5QG

Permission 

be granted

18/00726/DCH 27/03/2018  49 TrueMarshall 15/05/2018PROPOSED KITCHEN EXTENSION TO 

REAR OF PROPERTY (SINGLE 

STOREY)

109 COUNTISBURY 

AVENUE, LLANRUMNEY, 

CARDIFF, CF3 5RQ

Permission 

be granted

PENT

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00645/DCH 19/03/2018  65 FalseHicks 23/05/2018A GROUND FLOOR BATHROOM 

ADAPTATION OFF A BEDROOM

23 LLWYN CASTAN, 

PENTWYN, CARDIFF, 

CF23 7DA

Permission 

be granted

18/00944/DCH 23/04/2018  30 TrueRimko 23/05/2018FIRST FLOOR SIDE EXTENSION AND 

EXTERNAL ALTER ATIONS.

57 BRYN HAIDD, 

PENTWYN, CARDIFF, 

CF23 7JP

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision



18/00976/MNR 26/04/2018  21 TrueNeighbourhood 

Regeneration

17/05/2018AMENDMENT TO THE CLADDING 

DESIGN. THE GROUND FLOOR 

ENTERPRISE UNITS WILL BE STILL 

CLADDING, BUT THE CLADDING 

WORKS TO THE FLATS ABOVE IS 

OMITTED. THE NEW PROPOSAL 

WILL COMPRISE NEW BALCONIES, 

WINDOW REPLACEMENT, PLANT 

SCREENING AND SLAB EDGE 

CAPPINGS - PREVIOUSLY 

APPROVED UNDER 16/02152/MNR

MAELFA HOUSE, MAELFA, 

LLANEDEYRN

Permission 

be granted

PENY

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00760/DCH 04/04/2018  43 TrueAlabaster 17/05/2018PROPOSED LOFT CONVERSION 

COMPRISING OF A REAR FLAT 

DORMER EXTENSION (WITH 2 NO. 

ROOF WINDOWS TO THE FRONT 

ELEVATION / 4 NO. ROOF WINDOWS 

TO THE REAR OF THE DWELLING).

4 STURMINSTER ROAD, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF23 

5AQ

Permission 

be granted

18/00738/DCH 27/03/2018  52 TrueAnstee 18/05/2018PROPOSED CONSERVATORY 119 FFORDD NOWELL, 

PENYLAN, CARDIFF, CF23 

9FB

Permission 

be granted

18/00699/DCH 03/04/2018  56 TrueSmith 29/05/2018DEMOLITION OF EXISTING 

CONSERVATORY AND 

CONSTRUCTION OF SIDE AND REAR 

EXTENSION TO EXISTING HOUSE

170 LLANEDEYRN ROAD, 

PENYLAN, CARDIFF, CF23 

9EA

Permission 

be granted

18/00814/DCH 13/04/2018  46 TrueGreen 29/05/2018SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION 4 LLWYN-Y-GRANT ROAD, 

PENYLAN, CARDIFF, CF23 

9ES

Permission 

be granted

18/00490/DCH 09/03/2018  55 TrueGordon 03/05/2018TO REPLACE EXISTING 

REAR-FACING FIRST FLOOR UPVC 

TOP-OPENING CASEMENT 

WINDOWS WITH UPVC SASH-STYLE 

WINDOWS.

6 PEN-Y-LAN PLACE, 

PENYLAN, CARDIFF, CF23 

5HE

Permission 

be granted

18/00530/DCH 09/03/2018  56 TrueKata 04/05/2018RAISE EXISTING RIDGE HEIGHT AND 

GROUND FLOOR AND FIRST FLOOR 

EXTENSIONS.

KATA HOUSE, EGREMONT 

ROAD, PENYLAN, 

CARDIFF, CF23 5LN

Planning 

Permission 

be refused



18/00633/DCH 16/03/2018  48 TrueMr David Brown 03/05/2018PROPOSED ROOF CONVERSION TO 

FORM ADDITIONAL BEDROOM AND 

BATHROOM WITH ROOFLIGHTS TO 

REAR OF PROPERTY

20 SANDRINGHAM ROAD, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF23 

5BJ

Permission 

be granted

18/00396/DCH 19/02/2018  78 FalseMortimore 08/05/2018SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION TO 

REAR. FRONT PORCH. CONVERSION 

OF GARAGE TO STUDY. LOFT 

CONVERSION WORKS INCLUDE 

FORMING OF TWO GABLES-RAISING 

RIDGE LINE. ADDITION OF DORMER 

TO FRONT ELEVATION PLUS THREE 

DORMERS TO REAR ELEVATION.

10 CLOS DERWEN, 

PENYLAN, CARDIFF, CF23 

5HJ

Permission 

be granted

18/00857/DCH 11/04/2018  37 TrueUlhaque 18/05/2018FIRST FLOOR REAR EXTENSION AND 

EXTERNAL ALTERATIONS

2 OAK WOOD AVENUE, 

PENYLAN, CARDIFF, CF23 

9HA

Permission 

be granted

18/00823/DCH 09/04/2018  39 TrueReynolds 18/05/2018PROPOSED ROOF EXTENSION TO 

INCLUDE HIP TO GABLE 

CONVERSION AND DORMER TO 

REAR OR EXISTING PROPERTY.

18 TURNHAM GREEN, 

PENYLAN, CARDIFF, CF23 

9DL

Permission 

be granted

18/00931/DCH 24/04/2018  35 TrueWalker 29/05/2018SMALL REPLACEMENT SINGLE 

STOREY REAR EXTENSION, WITH 

ADDITIONAL MINOR ELEVATIONAL 

ALTERATIONS

30 CYNCOED ROAD, 

PENYLAN, CARDIFF, CF23 

5SG

Permission 

be granted

18/00804/DCH 05/04/2018  36 TrueASHTON 11/05/2018A LOFT CONVERSION IN THE ROOF 

SPACE OF THE UPSTAIRS FLAT, TO 

INCLUDE A FLAT ROOF DORMER 

WITH BALCONY

62A KIMBERLEY ROAD, 

PENYLAN, CARDIFF, CF23 

5DL

Permission 

be granted

18/00680/DCH 03/04/2018  30 TrueBigg 03/05/2018DEMOLITION OF EXISTING SIDE 

EXTENSION AND CONSTRUCTION 

OF NEW TWO STORY SIDE 

EXTENSION.

24 EGREMONT ROAD, 

PENYLAN, CARDIFF, CF23 

5LN

Permission 

be granted

18/00700/DCH 03/04/2018  36 TrueCollins 09/05/2018SIDE EXTENSION TO EXISTING 

HOUSE TO ENLARGE KITCHEN AND 

PROVIDE ADDITIONAL BEDROOM 

AND BATHROOM

12 PINE WOOD 

CRESCENT, PENYLAN, 

CARDIFF, CF23 9HF

Permission 

be granted



Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00635/MJR 20/03/2018  57 FalseCardiff Council 16/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 23 

(CYCLE STORAGE), 25 (TRAVEL 

PLAN) AND 29 (LIGHTING) OF 

16/02710/MJR

HOWARDIAN CENTRE, 

HAMMOND WAY, 

PENYLAN, CARDIFF, CF23 

9NB

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

18/00427/MJR 22/02/2018  91 FalseHaskoningDHV UK Ltd 24/05/2018AMENDMENTS TO THE FOLLOWING: 

1 - REALIGNMENT OF THE FLOOD 

WALL ON THE SOUTH BANK OF THE 

ROATH BROOK UPSTREAM OF 

WATERLOO ROAD BRIDGE TO AVOID 

SERVICES - INCLUDING ASSOCIATED 

CHANGES TO LANDSCAPING. 2 - 

MODIFICATIONS TO THE PAVING IN 

THE SOUTH EASTERN CORNER OF 

ROATH MILL GARDENS TO REDUCE 

IMPACT ON TREES IN THIS AREA. 3 - 

CONFIRMATION OF DETAILS FOR 

THE RE-INSTALLATION OF THE WALL 

AND RAILINGS TO THE SOUTH OF 

WATERLOO GARDENS, INCLUDING 

SOME NEW LENGTHS OF RAILINGS 

AND GATES - PREVIOUSLY 

APPROVED UNDER 15/02501/MJR

ROATH BROOK, 

WATERLOO ROAD, 

ROATH

Permission 

be granted

18/00688/MJR 22/03/2018  56 TrueNatural Resources 

Wales

17/05/2018DISCHARGEOF CONDITIONS 23 

(EXTERNAL FINISHING MATERIALS) 

and 31 (DETAILS OF THE DESIGN OF 

THE FOOTBRIDGES WITHIN 

WATERLOO GARDENS AND RAILWAY 

GARDENS) OF 15/02501/MJR

ROATH BROOK, 

WATERLOO ROAD, 

ROATH

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision



18/00001/MNR 02/01/2018  126 FalseWitts 08/05/2018DEMOLITION OF EXISTING SUB 

STANDARD PROPERTY, AND 

DETACHED GARAGE. 

CONSTRUCTION OF REPLACEMENT 

DWELLING WITH ATTACHED 

CARPORT AND GARAGE

19 LLANEDEYRN ROAD, 

PENYLAN, CARDIFF, CF23 

9DT

Permission 

be granted

PLAS

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00458/DCH 15/03/2018  56 TrueHolliday-Stacey 10/05/2018INSTALLATION OF ROOFLIGHT TO A 

SMALL EXISTING EXTENSION ON 8 

WOODLAND PLACE. A VELUX 

CONSERVATION ROOFLIGHT 

MEASURING 55CM X 98CM IS BEING 

PROPOSED.

8 WOODLAND PLACE, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF24 

3FL

Permission 

be granted

18/00739/DCH 27/03/2018  56 TrueRussell 22/05/2018INSTALLATION OF REAR ROOF 

WINDOWS

29 LOCHABER STREET, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF24 

3LS

Permission 

be granted

18/00758/DCH 06/04/2018  28 TrueCarter 04/05/2018SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION 

(TO PROVIDE EXTENDED KITCHEN 

AND DINING AREA)

13 MACKINTOSH PLACE, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF24 

4RJ

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

17/02891/MJR 28/11/2017  171 FalseA & A Developments 

Cardiff

18/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 3 

(MATERIAL SAMPLES), 4 

(ARCHITECTURAL DETAILING), 5 

(CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT 

PLAN), 6 (CYCLE PARKING), 7 

(REFUSE STORAGE), 8 (SITE 

ENCLOSURE), 9 (LANDSCAPE), 10 

(CONTAMINATION) AND 11 

(REMEDIATION SCHEME) OF 

16/01711/MJR

LAND TO THE REAR OF 

26-28 CASTLE LANE, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF24 

3EP

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition



18/00211/MJR 26/01/2018  110 FalseGhaffar 16/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 11 

(TRAVEL PLAN) AND 12 (SERVICING 

MANAGEMENT PLAN) OF 

17/00111/MJR

199 CITY ROAD, ROATH, 

CARDIFF, CF24 3JD

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

18/00125/MJR 19/01/2018  116 FalseGhaffar 15/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 3 

(TRAFFIC NOISE), 6 (DRAINAGE), 7 

(REFUSE STRATEGY), 9 (CYCLE 

STORAGE), 10 (CONSTRUCTION 

MANAGEMENT), 14 (CONTAMINATED 

LAND) AND 15 (REMEDIATION 

SCHEME) OF 17/00111/MJR

199 CITY ROAD, ROATH, 

CARDIFF, CF24 3JD

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00603/MNR 15/03/2018  56 TrueMalik 10/05/2018VARIATION OF CONDITION 2 

(APPROVED PLANS) OF 

16/02403/MNR - 2 STOREY REAR 

EXTENSION DORMER LOFT 

CONVERSION AND CONVERSION 

FROM 2-4 FLATS

106 MONTHERMER ROAD, 

ROATH

Permission 

be granted

17/02860/MNR 19/12/2017  136 FalseAMIN 04/05/2018PROPOSED DEMOLITION OF 12A 

MONTGOMERY STREET & ERECTION 

OF NEW DEVELOPMENT TO FORM 6 

NO FLATS

12A MONTGOMERY 

STREET, ROATH, 

CARDIFF, CF24 3LZ

Permission 

be granted

18/00489/MNR 15/03/2018  49 TruePeters 03/05/2018CHANGE OF USE TO 2 SELF 

CONTAINED FLATS

14 ARRAN STREET, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF24 

3HS

Permission 

be granted

18/00565/MNR 12/03/2018  51 TrueBattenbo 02/05/2018CHANGE OF USE FROM USE CLASS 

C3 DWELLING HOUSE TO, USE 

CLASS C4 HOUSE IN MULTIPLE 

OCCUPATION (UP TO 4 INDIVIDUALS)

41 KINCRAIG STREET, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF24 

3HW

Permission 

be granted

17/02639/MNR 02/11/2017  197 FalseMalik 18/05/2018EXTENSIONS AND OTHER 

ALTERATIONS TO REAR ANNEXE TO 

CREATE ADDITIONAL FLAT AND 

EXTEND TWO EXISTING REAR 

FLATS. ALTERATIONS TO PROVIDE 

OUTSIDE AMENITY SPACE AND 

WASTE BIN STORAGE INCLUDING 

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING GARAGE.

27 NINIAN ROAD, ROATH, 

CARDIFF, CF23 5EF

Permission 

be granted



18/00343/MNR 16/03/2018  63 FalseHorizon Properties 18/05/2018PROPOSED DEMOLITION OF 

WORKSHOP BUILDING AND 

ERECTION OF REPLACEMENT 3 

STOREY BUILDING CONTAINING 3 

FLATS

WORKSHOP BUILDING, 

GIBBONS YARD, 

RICHMOND ROAD, ROATH

Permission 

be granted

18/00082/MNR 22/01/2018  127 FalseNEFERTITTI 

FASHIONS LTD 

SPECIAL PENSION 

29/05/2018PROPOSED 2 STOREY REAR 

EXTENSION, LOFT CONVERSION 

AND CONVERSION OF PROPERTY 

TO FORM 4 SELF CONTAINED 

APARTMENTS AND GROUND FLOOR 

COMMERCIAL UNIT WITH CYCLE 

AND REFUSE STORE

216 CITY ROAD, ROATH, 

CARDIFF, CF24 3JH

Permission 

be granted

18/00775/MNR 03/04/2018  56 TrueYang 29/05/2018CONVERSION OF A PROPERTY WITH 

SIX BEDROOM HMO INTO 4 SELF 

CONTAINED FLATS WITH SINGLE 

STOREY REAR EXTENSION AND 

CONSTRUCTION OF TWO REAR 

DORMERS.

209 ARABELLA STREET, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF24 

4SZ

Permission 

be granted

A/18/00039/MNR 06/04/2018  34 TrueAl-Ibraham 10/05/2018NAME OF THE SHOP PRINTED ON 

MAIN SIGN FASCIA WITH ADDITIONAL 

PROJECTED  SIGN CARRYING THE 

SHOP LOGO.

ALADDIN CARDIFF 

LIMITED, 218 CITY ROAD, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF24 

3JH

Permission 

be granted

18/00727/MNR 04/04/2018  36 TrueAL-Ibrahim 10/05/2018CHANGING THE SHOP FRONT TO 

THE EXISTING UNIT.

ALADDIN CARDIFF 

LIMITED, 218 CITY ROAD, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF24 

3JH

Permission 

be granted

18/00908/MNR 18/04/2018  29 TrueWolfson Capital Ltd 17/05/2018CONVERSION OF REAR GROUND 

FLOOR AND UPPER FLOORS INTO 

THREE SELF CONTAINED FLATS 

WITH SINGLE STOREY REAR 

EXTENSION AND LOFT CONVERSION 

WITH REAR DORMER AND 

SHOPFRONT ALTERATIONS AND 

RETAIN GROUND FLOOR FRONT 

AREA AS COMMERCIAL USE

5 ALBANY ROAD, ROATH, 

CARDIFF, CF24 3LH

Permission 

be granted

18/00816/MNR 09/04/2018  39 TruePiazza Estates Ltd 18/05/2018CHANGE OF USE FROM CLASS A1 

USE (RETAIL) TO CLASS A3 USE 

(CAFE)

HOME ZONE DESIGN, 15 

WELLFIELD ROAD, 

ROATH, CARDIFF, CF24 

3NZ

Permission 

be granted



18/00818/MNR 13/04/2018  35 TrueProsser 18/05/2018CONVERSION OF EXISTING 

DWELLING TO CREATE TWO 

NUMBER TWO BEDROOM 

APARTMENT WITH REAR TWO 

STOREY EXTENSION AND INTERNAL 

ALTERATIONS

49 ELM STREET, ROATH, 

CARDIFF, CF24 3QS

Permission 

be granted

PON

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00811/DCH 06/04/2018  48 TrueAlter 24/05/2018PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR 

OFFICE TO BE INCORPORATED INTO 

EXISTING GARAGE SPACE, HIP TO 

GABLE SECOND STOREY 

EXTENSION OVER GARAGE SPACE 

AND OFFICE

24 CRANBOURNE WAY, 

PONTPRENNAU, 

CARDIFF, CF23 8SL

Permission 

be granted

18/00772/DCH 03/04/2018  44 TrueSmitham 17/05/2018ATTACHED GARAGE TO SIDE OF 

PROPERTY

26 YOUGHAL CLOSE, 

PONTPRENNAU, 

CARDIFF, CF23 8RN

Permission 

be granted

18/00625/DCH 16/03/2018  55 TrueA L Kelary 10/05/2018SIDE EXTENSION TO FORM PRIVATE 

LOUNGE & FITNESS ROOM AT 

GROUND LEVEL & PRAYER ROOM IN 

THE LOFT SPACE WITH REAR 

DORMER.

10 AMBLECOTE CLOSE, 

PONTPRENNAU, 

CARDIFF, CF23 8BY

Permission 

be granted

18/00885/DCH 16/04/2018  39 TrueAllen 25/05/2018ERECT A STORM PORCH TO THE 

FRONT ELEVATION

32 CRESSFIELD DRIVE, 

PONTPRENNAU, 

CARDIFF, CF23 8NT

Permission 

be granted

18/00945/DCH 23/04/2018  24 TrueKejriwal 17/05/2018SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION. 22 MAES Y BRYN, 

PONTPRENNAU, 

CARDIFF, CF23 8XQ

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision



18/00639/MJR 21/03/2018  50 TrueTaff Housing 

Association

10/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 

13(ENVIRONMENTAL NOISE 

ASSESSMENT ) OF 17/01801/MJR

DROKE HOUSE, 948 

NEWPORT ROAD, OLD ST 

MELLONS, CARDIFF, CF3 

5UA

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

18/00554/MJR 14/03/2018  49 TrueTaff Housing 

Association

02/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 5 

(CONTAMINATION) AND 

6(REMEDIATION SCHEME) OF 

17/01801/MJR

948 NEWPORT ROAD, 

OLD ST MELLONS, 

CARDIFF, CF3 5UA

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

18/00702/MJR 27/03/2018  49 TrueTaff Housing 

Association

15/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 17 

(CONSTRUCTION ENVIRONMENTAL 

MANAGEMENT PLAN) 21 

(CONSTRUCTION AND DEMOLITION 

MANAGEMENT PLAN) AND 22  

(TRAVEL PLAN) OF 17/01801/MJR

DROKE HOUSE, 948 

NEWPORT ROAD, OLD ST 

MELLONS, CARDIFF, CF3 

5UA

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

18/00701/MJR 27/03/2018  52 TrueTaff Housing 

Association

18/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 16  (BIN 

STORE), 18 (BICYCLE STORE 

DETAILS), 19 (BIN STORE), 25 (SITE 

CLEARANCE) OF 17/01801/MJR

DROKE HOUSE, 948 

NEWPORT ROAD, OLD ST 

MELLONS, CARDIFF, CF3 

5UA

Partial 

Discharge 

of Condition 

(s)

18/00741/MJR 29/03/2018  57 FalseTaff Housing 

Association

25/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 14 

(LIGHTING) AND 20 (HIGHWAY 

WORKS) OF 17/01801/MJR

948-950 NEWPORT ROAD, 

OLD ST MELLONS, 

CARDIFF, CF3 5UA

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

18/00777/MJR 03/04/2018  37 TrueTaff Housing 

Association

10/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 2 

(ARCHAEOLOGY) OF 13/01551/DCO

DROKE HOUSE, 948 

NEWPORT ROAD, OLD ST 

MELLONS, CARDIFF, CF3 

5UA

Partial 

Discharge 

of Condition 

(s)

18/00962/MJR 25/04/2018  28 TrueSWFRS 23/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 11 

(CYCLE PARKING) AND 16 

(LIGHTING) OF 16/02659/MJR

CARDIFF GATE TRAINING 

AND DEVELOPMENT 

CENTRE, CHURCH ROAD, 

OLD ST MELLONS

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

18/00964/MJR 27/04/2018  28 TrueTaff Housing 

Association

25/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 3 

(EXTERNAL FINISHING MATERIALS) 

AND 23 (SITE ENCLOSURES) OF 

17/01801/MJR

DROKE HOUSE, 948 

NEWPORT ROAD, OLD ST 

MELLONS, CARDIFF, CF3 

5UA

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision



18/00575/MNR 14/03/2018  56 TrueDICKINSON 09/05/2018PROPOSED ALTERATION OF 

APPROVED DWELLING TO INCLUDE 

REAR CONSERVATORY EXTENSION

PLOT 124 HIGHFIELDS, 

CHURCH ROAD, ST 

EDERYNS, CARDIFF, CF3 

6YA

Permission 

be granted

PYCH

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00392/DCH 19/02/2018  73 FalseJones 03/05/2018NEW EXTENSION AND GARAGE TO 

ACCOMMODATE FUTURE FAMILY 

NEEDS.

8 CLOS GOCH, 

PENTYRCH, CARDIFF, 

CF15 9RA

Permission 

be granted

18/00749/DCH 03/04/2018  37 TrueJames 10/05/2018VARIATION OF CONDITION 2 

(APPROVED PLANS) OF 

17/00497/DCH - EXISTING APPROVED 

PLANS AND ELEVATIONS 

SUPERSEDED BY THE ATTACHED 

AMENDED SCHEME

33 RIVER GLADE, 

GWAELOD-Y-GARTH, 

CARDIFF, CF15 9SP

Permission 

be granted

18/00785/DCH 04/04/2018  37 TrueEvans 11/05/2018DEMOLITION OF EXISTING REAR 

CONSERVATORY & CONSTRUCTION 

OF SINGLE STOREY REAR 

EXTENSION.

52 MAES-Y-SARN, 

PENTYRCH, CARDIFF, 

CF15 9QQ

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision



18/00429/MNR 22/02/2018  84 FalseHart 17/05/2018VARIATION OF CONDITION 2 

(AMENDED PLANS) OF 17/01956/MNR 

- MINOR INCREASE TO RIDGE 

HEIGHT TO ACCOMMODATE PARTIAL 

FIRST FLOOR, ASSOCIATED 

ALTERATIONS TO WINDOWS AND 

IMPROVE QUALITY OF EXTERNAL 

MATERIALS. ALL AS SHOWN ON 

REVISED DRAWINGS. INCORPORATE 

SOLAR PANEL TO COMPLY WITH 

BUILDING REGULATION 

REQUIREMENTS

LAND ADJACENT TO 1 

PENMAES, PENTYRCH

Permission 

be granted

RADY

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00659/DCH 22/03/2018  56 TrueFAGG 17/05/2018PROPOSED REAR CONSERVATORY 

EXTENSION

3 ( PLOT 17 ) PHILBERT 

ST, PARC PLYMOUTH, 

CARDIFF, CF15 8GW

Permission 

be granted

18/00881/DCH 18/04/2018  27 TrueRoberts 15/05/2018LOFT CONVERSION TO INCLUDE 

HIP-TO-GABLE AND REAR DORMER

61 HEOL ISAF, RADYR, 

CARDIFF, CF15 8DW

Permission 

be granted

18/01052/DCH 17/05/2018  12 TrueFinnegan 29/05/2018CERTIFICATE OF LAWFULNESS 

APPLICATION FOR A PROPOSED USE 

FOR A SINGLE STOREY REAR 

EXTENSION

17 MAES Y BRIALLU, 

MORGANSTOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF15 8FA

Permission 

be granted

18/00915/DCH 23/04/2018  25 TrueHadfield 18/05/2018HIP TO GABLE ROOF EXTENSION 24 WINDSOR AVENUE, 

RADYR, CARDIFF, CF15 

8BW

Permission 

be granted

18/00883/DCH 16/04/2018  31 TruePritchard 17/05/2018NEW LEAN TO SINGLE STOREY 

EXTENSION TO REAR PROPERTY, 

PROVIDING KITCHEN AND LIVING 

SPACE. ADD FIRST FLOOR SPACE 

OVER EXISTING PORCH AND 

GARAGE, TO PROVIDE ENSUITE 

BATHROOM AND EXTENDED 

BEDROOM SPACE

14 WALNUT TREE CLOSE, 

RADYR, CARDIFF, CF15 

8SX

Permission 

be granted



Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00911/MJR 18/04/2018  23 TrueRedrow Homes (South 

Wales) Ltd

11/05/2018RETENTION OF ENGINEERED LEVEL 

CHANGES AND ASSOCIATED 

RETAINING WALL, STEPS AND 

RAILINGS TO THE REAR GARDENS

REAR GARDENS OF 

PLOTS 34-49 AT LAND 

NORTH OF LLANTRISANT 

ROAD, ADJACENT TO 

CLOS PARC RADYR, 

CARDIFF

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00462/MNR 26/02/2018  77 FalseEdge Developments UK 

Ltd

14/05/2018DEMOLITION OF DETACHED 

GARAGE TO SIDE/REAR OF 

PROPERTY

30 SPRINGFIELD 

GARDENS, 

MORGANSTOWN, 

CARDIFF, CF15 8LQ

Prior 

Approval be 

granted

RHIW

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00654/DCH 19/03/2018  56 TrueHarrington 14/05/2018TWO STOREY REAR & SIDE 

EXTENSION

116 WENALLT ROAD, 

RHIWBINA, CARDIFF, 

CF14 6TP

Permission 

be granted

18/00566/DCH 20/03/2018  58 FalseDavies 17/05/2018SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION AND 

FRONT PORCH

14 PEN-Y-GROES ROAD, 

RHIWBINA, CARDIFF, 

CF14 4SU

Permission 

be granted

18/00656/DCH 27/03/2018  43 TrueTarryAdams 09/05/2018AN EXTRA BEDROOM 3X3M IN THE 

FRONT FACING ROOF SPACE OF 

OUR FORMER BUNGALOW

59 WENALLT ROAD, 

RHIWBINA, CARDIFF, 

CF14 6SB

Permission 

be granted

17/02982/DCH 12/12/2017  149 FalseRoche 10/05/2018SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION 41 PEN-Y-DRE, RHIWBINA, 

CARDIFF, CF14 6EJ

Permission 

be granted



17/03017/DCH 13/12/2017  148 FalseRoche 10/05/2018TAKE DOWN GROUND FLOOR REAR 

WALL OF KITCHEN TO PROVIDE A 

SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION 

TO KITCHEN

41 PEN-Y-DRE, RHIWBINA, 

CARDIFF, CF14 6EJ

Permission 

be granted

18/00171/DCH 07/02/2018  92 FalseEdwards 10/05/2018DOUBLE STOREY SIDE EXTENSION 

AND SINGLE STOREY REAR 

EXTENSION WITH ALL ASSOCIATED 

DRAINAGE AND EXTERNAL WORKS

34 ARDWYN, PANTMAWR, 

CARDIFF, CF14 7HF

Permission 

be granted

18/00771/DCH 04/04/2018  44 TrueFrancis 18/05/2018TWO STOREY REAR EXTENSION 

AND NEW ENTRANCE PORCH

14 CAE MAWR ROAD, 

RHIWBINA, CARDIFF, 

CF14 6NX

Permission 

be granted

18/00836/DCH 12/04/2018  41 TrueSmith 23/05/2018PROPOSED 2 STOREY SIDE 

EXTENSION AND SINGLE STOREY 

REAR EXTENSION TO PROVIDE NEW 

BEDROOM, REPLACEMENT 

INTEGRAL GARAGE AND KITCHEN 

LIVING SPACE.

3 GLAS EFAIL, RHIWBINA, 

CARDIFF, CF14 4SQ

Permission 

be granted

18/00441/DCH 23/02/2018  97 FalseShearer 31/05/2018PROPOSED NEW RAISED ROOF, 

NEW ADDITIONAL WINDOWS AND 

NEW PORCH

61 BRYNTEG, RHIWBINA, 

CARDIFF, CF14 6TU

Permission 

be granted

18/00558/DCH 27/03/2018  37 TrueJones 03/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 5 

(ROOFLIGHTS), CONDITION 6 (ROOF 

MATERIALS) AND CONDITION 7 

(WINDOW DETAILS) OF 

16/02432/DCH

69 PEN-Y-DRE, RHIWBINA, 

CARDIFF, CF14 6EJ

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

18/01127/DCH 14/05/2018  11 TrueJones 25/05/2018ALTERATIONS TO 17/02152/DCH - 

PLANS WERE TO DEMOLISH THE 

EXISTING SMALL EXTENSION AND 

NOT REPLACE IT. REBUILD THIS 

EXTENSION BRINGING THE WIDTH 

AND HEIGHT IN LINE WITH THE 

ORIGINAL HOUSE (THIS WILL ADD 

APPROX 500MM TO THE WIDTH AND 

TAKE THE ROOF TO SAME HEIGHT 

AS SINGLE STOREY ROOF TO MAIN 

HOUSE AT REAR)

1 MAES YR HAF, 

PANTMAWR, CARDIFF, 

CF14 7HG

Permission 

be granted

18/00941/DCH 26/04/2018  33 TrueSpragg 29/05/2018SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION QUAINTWAYS, 66 

RHIWBINA HILL, 

RHIWBINA, CARDIFF, 

CF14 6UF

Permission 

be granted



Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00650/MNR 26/03/2018  56 TrueSmith 21/05/2018REPLACEMENT OF DAMAGED AND 

DEMOLISHED BUNGALOW 

DWELLING

87 PANTMAWR ROAD, 

PANTMAWR, CARDIFF, 

CF14 7TD

Permission 

be granted

17/00507/MNR 06/03/2017  443 FalseRhiwbina Recreation 

Club Tennis Section

23/05/2018FLOODLIGHTS ON BLOCK OF TWO 

TENNIS COURTS

RHIWBINA RECREATION 

CLUB, LON-Y-DAIL, 

RHIWBINA, CARDIFF, 

CF14 6EA

Permission 

be granted

18/00607/MNR 23/03/2018  56 TrueWestern Power 

Distribution (South 

Wales)

18/05/2018DEMOLITION OF PART OF EXISTING 

11kV SWITCHROOM BUILDING AND 

CONSTRUCTION OF NEW 

EXTENSION

33/11kV SUBSTATION, 

HEOL ERWIN, RHIWBINA, 

CARDIFF CF14 6QP

Permission 

be granted

RIVE

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00277/DCH 20/03/2018  52 TrueEvans 11/05/2018REPLACEMENT OF EXISTING UPVC 

WINDOWS ON THE FRONT OF THE 

HOUSE WITH UPVC SASH (VERTICAL 

SLIDERS)

31 HAMILTON STREET, 

PONTCANNA, CARDIFF, 

CF11 9BP

Permission 

be granted

18/00815/DCH 06/04/2018  35 TrueThomas 11/05/2018PROPOSED SINGLE STOREY 

EXTENSION AND PROPOSED 

DORMER LOFT CONVERSION WITH 

MAIN ROOF ALTERATIONS

5 MORTIMER ROAD, 

PONTCANNA, CARDIFF, 

CF11 9JZ

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision



18/00693/MJR 23/03/2018  48 TrueWYG 10/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 7 

(SOUND INSULATION) OF 08/00809/W

WELLINGTON HOUSE, 

LEWIS STREET, 

RIVERSIDE CARDIFF

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00499/MNR 08/03/2018  63 FalseKhatib 10/05/2018CHANGE OF USE OF GROUND 

FLOOR TO 2 FLATS, INTERNAL 

ALTERATIONS TO PARTITION WALLS, 

INSERTION OF TWO WINDOWS IN 

SOUTHERN ELEVATION

15 CATHEDRAL ROAD, 

PONTCANNA, CARDIFF, 

CF11 9HA

Permission 

be granted

16/03002/MNR 16/12/2016  518 FalseREHMAN 18/05/2018CONVERSION OF EXISTING 

PROPERTY TO 2 FLATS

15 NEVILLE STREET, 

RIVERSIDE, CARDIFF, 

CF11 6LP

Permission 

be granted

18/00767/MNR 06/04/2018  48 TrueIslam and Mrs G Awan 24/05/2018VARIATION OF CONDITION 5 (NO 

SALE OF HOT FOOD FOR 

CONSUMPTION OFF THE PREMISES 

SHALL TAKE PLACE) OF 14/00341/DCI 

TO ALLOW THE SALE OF HOT FOOD 

TO BE SPLIT BETWEEN 50% 

TAKE-AWAY AND 50% EAT-IN

26 CLARE STREET, 

RIVERSIDE, CARDIFF, 

CF11 6BB

Planning 

Permission 

be refused

17/01429/MNR 22/03/2018  69 FalseHoward 30/05/2018CHANGE OF USE TO THE BUILDING 

AT THE REAR  TO A ONE BEDROOM 

APARTMENT

BUILDING REAR OF 34 

FAIRLEIGH ROAD, 

PONTCANNA, CARDIFF, 

CF11 9JU

Permission 

be granted

18/00864/MNR 12/04/2018  36 TrueEvans 18/05/2018CHANGE OF USE TO A SHARED C4 

HOUSE IN MULTIPLE OCCUPANCY

31 KING'S ROAD, 

PONTCANNA, CARDIFF, 

CF11 9DA

Permission 

be granted

18/00947/MNR 23/04/2018  32 TrueR ONE INVESTMENTS 25/05/2018PROPOSED CONVERSION, 

ALTERATION, EXTENSION AND 

DORMER LOFT EXTENSION TO 

APARTHOTEL FORMING 6 UNITS 

WITH ASSOCIATED ADMINISTRATIVE 

AND LAUNDRY FACILITIES

51 FITZHAMON 

EMBANKMENT, 

RIVERSIDE, CARDIFF, 

CF11 6AN

Permission 

be granted

RUMN



Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00703/DCH 29/03/2018  50 TrueBURNS 18/05/2018PROPOSED SINGLE STOREY FULL 

WIDTH EXTENSION TO FORM A 

KITCHEN

7 CASTLE CRESCENT, 

RUMNEY, CARDIFF, CF3 

4FU

Permission 

be granted

18/00457/DCH 21/03/2018  54 TrueChristopher 14/05/2018PROPOSED REAR EXTENSION 38 NORTHLANDS, 

RUMNEY, CARDIFF, CF3 

3AQ

Permission 

be granted

18/00687/DCH 23/03/2018  53 TrueDAY 15/05/2018FRONT EXTENSION MAGOR HOLLY HOUSE, 

GREENWAY ROAD, 

RUMNEY, CARDIFF, CF3 

3HJ

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00787/MJR 06/04/2018  41 TrueO'Keeffe 17/05/2018NON-MATERIAL AMENDMENT TO 

15/00362/MJR TO AMEND 

CONDITIONS 5, 6, 11, 12, 14, 15, 16, 

17, 18 AND 23 TO EXCLUDE 

DEMOLITION FROM THE MEANING 

OF 'IMPLEMENTATION OF THE 

PLANNING PERMISSION', BY 

SLIGHTLY RE-WORDING THEM TO: 

'PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF 

DEVELOPMENT (EXCLUDING 

DEMOLITION AND SITE CLEARANCE) 

DETAILS OF....'

599 NEWPORT ROAD, 

RUMNEY, CARDIFF, CF3 

4FA

Permission 

be granted

SPLO

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision



18/01159/MNR 16/05/2018  13 TrueTorque Motors 29/05/2018DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 6 (GAS 

MONITORING), 7 (CONTAMINATION), 

8 AND 9 (REMEDIATION SCHEME), 10 

(CONTAMINATION REPORTING) AND 

13 (SITE WON MATERIAL) OF 

16/01877/MNR

27 SINGLETON ROAD, 

SPLOTT, CARDIFF, CF24 

2ES

Full 

Discharge 

of Condition

18/00825/MNR 09/04/2018  29 TrueMorgan 08/05/2018DEMOLTION OF 4 GARAGE UNITS TO 

THE SIDE/REAR OF BLOCK OF FLATS 

19-25 DEEMUIR ROAD

COMMUNAL AREA FOR 

19-25, DEEMUIR ROAD, 

TREMORFA, CARDIFF

Prior 

Approval be 

granted

TROW

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00914/DCH 24/04/2018  28 TruePESTICCIO 22/05/2018TWO STOREY PORCH AND SINGLE 

STOREY REAR EXTENSION

LANCASTER HOUSE, 

NEWPORT ROAD, ST 

MELLONS, CARDIFF, CF3 

2WJ

Permission 

be granted

WHI

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00676/DCH 28/03/2018  56 TrueEMMERSON 23/05/2018SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION 16 THE PARADE, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 2EF

Permission 

be granted

18/00366/DCH 15/02/2018  99 FalseJones 25/05/2018DEMOLITION OF EXISTING GARAGE. 

PROPOSED SIDE AND REAR 

GROUND AND FIRST FLOOR 

EXTENSION. PROPOSED FRONT 

ENTRANCE PORCH

2 WOODLAND ROAD, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 2BU

Permission 

be granted

18/00594/DCH 13/03/2018  56 TrueLEGG 08/05/2018SINGLE STOREY SIDE /REAR 

EXTENSION & EXTERNAL 

ALTERATIONS

89 HEOL DON, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 2AT

Permission 

be granted



18/00559/DCH 15/03/2018  55 TrueNeil Jennings and Katie 

Hutt

09/05/2018REPLACEMENT PORCH 109 VELINDRE ROAD, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 2TG

Permission 

be granted

18/00295/DCH 28/02/2018  64 FalseThomas 03/05/2018TWO STOREY EXTENSION TO THE 

SIDE AND THE REAR OF THE 

PROPERTY.

24 WOODLAND ROAD, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 2BU

Permission 

be granted

18/00742/DCH 03/04/2018  42 TrueJones 15/05/2018SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION TO THE 

REAR OF THE HOUSE

7 CHURCH ROAD, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 2DX

Permission 

be granted

18/00802/DCH 05/04/2018  41 TrueLeek 16/05/2018HIP TO GABLE EXTENSION, REAR 

TWO STOREY AND LOFT EXTENSION

24 PANTMAWR ROAD, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 7TF

Permission 

be granted

18/00917/DCH 18/04/2018  37 TrueDiggins 25/05/2018REAR SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION 49 KELSTON ROAD, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 2AG

Permission 

be granted

18/00630/DCH 06/04/2018  35 TrueJames 11/05/2018SINGLE STOREY INFILL EXTENSION 

TO PROVIDE INCREASED DINING 

SPACE.

13 LITTLE MILL, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 1LS

Permission 

be granted

18/00832/DCH 13/04/2018  27 TrueNute 10/05/2018REPLACEMENT OF A 

CONSERVATORY EXTENSION

50 HEOL Y GORS, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 1HG

Permission 

be granted

18/00797/DCH 11/04/2018  29 TrueGelstharp 10/05/2018ERECTION OF A SECOND STOREY 

SHOWER AND DRESSING ROOM 

ABOVE THE GARAGE AT THE SIDE 

OF THE PROPERTY. ACCESSED 

THROUGH REAR BEDROOM

9 BARRINGTON ROAD, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 1PY

Permission 

be granted

Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00479/MJR 07/03/2018  64 FalseHJW Estates Ltd 10/05/2018MINOR ALTERATIONS TO EXISTING 

CONSENT/ NEW WINDOW TO WC 

FRENCH DOORS TO KITCHEN AND 

REPLACEMENT OF MASONARY 

BRICK WALL VERTICAL BOARDED 

FENCE

88 MERTHYR ROAD, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 1DJ

Permission 

be granted



Application 

Number

Registered Days taken 

to decision

8 Week 

target 

Achieved?

Applicant Name Decision DateProposal Location Decision

18/00597/MNR 29/03/2018  41 TrueHunt 09/05/2018CONSTRUCTION OF A NEW SINGLE 

STORY ENTRANCE EXTENSION TO 

AN EXISTING BUILDING, FORMING A 

NEW LEVEL ENTRANCE TO A NEW 

RECEPTION AREA

GE HEALTHCARE 

CARDIFF LABORATORIES, 

FOREST FARM ROAD, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 7YT

Permission 

be granted

18/00595/MNR 15/03/2018  77 FalseHunt 31/05/2018CONSTRUCTION OF A NEW 

VISITORS CAR PARK ADJACENT THE 

NEW MAIN ENTRANCE, TOTAL 7 

PARKING SPACES INCLUSIVE OF 2 

NO. ACCESSIBLE PARKING BAYS

GE HEALTHCARE, THE 

MAYNARD CENTRE, 

FOREST FARM ROAD, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 7JH

Permission 

be granted

18/01131/MNR 14/05/2018  11 TrueCoray Developments 25/05/2018SINGLE STOREY SIDE EXTENSION 

TO PROVIDE ENTRANCE AND 

KITCHEN SPACE - PREVIOUSLY 

APPROVED UNDER 16/01128/MNR

9 HEOL CHAPPELL, 

WHITCHURCH, CARDIFF, 

CF14 2DA

Planning 

Permission 

be refused



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	7a 304A Caerphilly Road, Birchgrove, Cardiff, CF14 4NS
	1. location plan.pdf
	Sheets
	L_001 - Location Plan


	6. P551a_L_003_Rev C_Site Plan as Proposed.pdf
	Sheets
	L_003 - Site Plan as Proposed


	7. P551a_L_004_Rev B_Ground Floor Site Plan.pdf
	Sheets
	L_004 - Ground Floor Site Plan


	8. P551a_L_210_Rev A_Elevations 1 of 3 as Proposed.pdf
	Sheets
	L_210 - Elevations 1 of 3 as Proposed


	9. P551a_L_211_Rev A_Elevations 2 of 3 as Proposed.pdf
	Sheets
	L_211 - Elevations 2 of 3 as Proposed


	10. P551a_L_214_Rev A_Street View as Proposed.pdf
	Sheets
	L_214 - Street View as Proposed


	11. Aldi site.pdf
	P(1)103 [Alternative Proposed Site]
	Viewport-1


	11. P551a_L_220_Rev A_Perspective Views as Proposed.pdf
	Sheets
	L_220 - Perspective Views as Proposed



	7b 42 Treherbert Street, Cathays, Cardiff, CF24 4JN
	7c Land at Rover Way, Pengam, Cardiff
	site plan.pdf
	Sheets
	A(P)-01 - Location Plan


	appropriate assessment.pdf
	Table 8 Summary of Test of Adverse Effect upon Integrity
	Introduction
	0.3 The European Sites considered here are the Severn Estuary Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and the Severn Estuary Special Protection Area (SPA).
	0.4 As a matter of Welsh Government policy, Ramsar sites (sites listed under the Ramsar convention as wetlands of international importance) should be treated in the same way as SACs and SPAs, including in particular in relation to the consideration of...
	0.5 This procedure, known as a Habitats Regulations Appraisal (HRA), has been invoked because it has been identified that the current project has the potential to affect the Severn Estuary EMS and it is not directly connected with or necessary to the ...
	0.6 Table 1 below sets out the main stages in undertaking a HRA.  The subsequent HRA text will refer to Stage 1, Stage 2 etc as described in this table.  It may not be necessary to complete all stages for all factors which may affect the designated si...
	1.0 Stage 1
	1.2   Designated sites and their features

	 Bewick’s swan
	 European white-fronted goose
	 Dunlin
	 Redshank
	 Shelduck
	 Gadwall
	 Assemblage of waterfowl
	1.4.2 Potential Impacts Arising From Project
	1.4.2.1 The proposed development site is between 5 and 200 metres to the northwest of the foreshore of the Severn Estuary, which at this point is designated as a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), as a Special Area of Conservation (SAC), is c...
	1.4.2.2 However, the proposed development will not encroach upon the Severn Estuary EMS, so there is no potential for effects due to land take or immediate physical disturbance of habitats.  Nonetheless, mindful of the vulnerabilities in Section 4 abo...
	1.4.2.5 The potential impacts from section 1.4.2.2 above are considered in turn, as part of the test of likely significant effect, in the following section.
	1.4.3  Disturbance to birds during works
	1.4.3.1 There is potential for removal of overburden and construction activities to cause visual and noise disturbance to overwintering and migratory wetland birds which are features of the SPA, as set out in Table 6 above.  For example, use of cranes...
	1.4.3.2 Table 6 illustrates that most of the Severn Estuary EMS features are either highly or moderately sensitive to this type of disturbance.
	1.4.3.3 As a general rule, a distance of 200m between the receptor (i.e. the birds) and the activity (i.e. construction) is taken as the maximum distance over which the activity can affect the receptor.  The entirety of the proposed project is within ...
	1.4.3.4 The ES, for example at sections 8.5.7, 8.5.8 and 8.5.9, makes reference to the construction of a bund to shield birds using the foreshore habitats from disturbance during removal of the overburden and construction of buildings.  The ES also ma...
	1.4.3.5 For example, as set out in section B.2.7.b) of Tyldesley 2009, counteracting measures:-
	1.4.3.6 Therefore it cannot be excluded, on the basis of the information provided thus far, that the project is likely to have a significant effect upon the Severn Estuary EMS, so an appropriate assessment of this factor is needed.
	1.4.4 Disturbance to birds due to changes in coastal path
	1.4.4.1 I am advised by my colleague in our Highways department (Jenn Griffiths email dated 22/01/18), that there is no expected increase in footfall in relation to the proposed biomass plant development.  However, any measures which could be implemen...
	1.4.4.2 Therefore the proposed development is not likely to have a significant effect upon the Severn Estuary EMS via the medium of increased footfall along the coastal path at this point, so an appropriate assessment does not need to consider this fa...
	1.4.5 Contamination of habitats caused by mobilisation of existing ground contaminants during works
	1.4.5.1 The site for this proposed development is on the former ‘Frag Tip’, a historical landfill which has been identified by Pollution Control as a site with potential significant contamination and ground gas issues present.  Therefore, during groun...
	1.4.5.2 Table 6 illustrates that most of the Severn Estuary EMS features are either highly or moderately sensitive to all of these potential pathways.
	1.4.5.3 I note the statement in section 8.5.11 of the ES that:- ‘There is potential for an increase in contamination of the estuary habitats during re-working and removal of the tipped slag and other waste material’.   However, I also note from commen...
	1.4.5.4 Some mitigation measures are proposed, and these are valid suggestions for avoidance and mitigation of impacts, however I do not see that they are integral to or guaranteed by the project, as submitted, in sufficient detail (as confirmed by Ja...
	1.4.5.5 Therefore it cannot be excluded, on the basis of the information provided thus far, that the project is likely to have a significant effect upon the Severn Estuary EMS, so an appropriate assessment of this factor is needed.
	1.4.6 Dust during works
	1.4.6.1 As set out in section 8.5.11 of the ES, ‘There is potential for an increase in contamination of the Severn Estuary habitats during re-working and removal of the tipped slag and other waste material.  This could occur as contaminants are mobili...
	1.4.6.2 Furthermore, Section 1.4 of the Construction Phase Impact Assessment October 2017 states that the dust emission class for earthworks at this site is considered to be ‘large’.  It further states in section 1.5 that dust will arise from piling o...
	1.4.6.3 Table 6 illustrates that most of the Severn Estuary EMS features are either highly or moderately sensitive to the impact of dust deposition.
	1.4.6.4 Some mitigation measures are proposed, for example in sections 2.3 and 2.4 of the Construction Phase Impact Assessment, sections 9.6.2 to 9.6.4 of  Chapter 9 – Air Quality  - of the ES,  and sections 7.6.6 to 7.6.8 of the ES Chapter 7 Geotechn...
	1.4.6.5 Therefore it cannot be excluded, on the basis of the information provided thus far, that the project is likely to have a significant effect upon the Severn Estuary EMS, so an appropriate assessment of this factor is needed.
	1.4.7 Aerial emissions during operation
	1.4.7.1 The proposed development is for a circa 9.5 MWe Combined Heat and Power station which will produce electricity and thermal energy via steam.  However the exact nature and quantities of aerial emissions will not be determined until a later stag...
	1.4.7.2 With reference to Table 6 above, deposition of aerial emissions of particulates and NOx have the potential the affect the features of the Severn Estuary EMS.  I note from the consultation response provided by Craig Lewis of Shared Regulatory S...
	1.4.7.3 Therefore it cannot be excluded, on the basis of the information provided thus far, that the project is likely to have a significant effect upon the Severn Estuary EMS so an appropriate assessment of this factor is needed.
	1.4.8 Surface and foul water drainage during operation
	2.3 Disturbance - Noise/visual disturbance of overwintering and migratory bird features of the SPA during construction of the turbine and associated infrastructure
	2.3.1 There is potential for construction activities to cause visual and noise disturbance to overwintering and migratory wetland birds which are features of the SPA, as set out in Table 6 above.  For example, use of cranes, or personnel working at he...
	2.3.2 It is acknowledged in the ES that here is a risk of disturbance of overwintering and migratory estuary birds by construction noise and vibration while the work is undertaken. Visual disturbance due to the presence of people and machinery is also...
	2.3.3 However, beyond this information, no details of the timing of works or of construction of the coastal bund are available at this time, as the present application is for outline consent.
	2.3.4 Integrity Test: Disturbance - Noise/visual disturbance of overwintering and migratory bird features of the SPA during construction of the biomass plant and associated infrastructure
	2.4.1 The site for this proposed development is on the former ‘Frag Tip’, a historical landfill which has been identified by Pollution Control as a site with potential significant contamination and ground gas issues to be present.  Therefore, during g...
	2.5.1 The proposed development is for a circa 9.5 MWe Combined Heat and Power station which will produce electricity and thermal energy via steam.  However the exact nature and quantities of aerial emissions will not be determined until a later stage ...
	2.5.2 With reference to Table 6 above, deposition of aerial emissions of particulates and NOx have the potential the affect the features of the Severn Estuary EMS.  The Atlantic Saltmeadow / Saltmarsh and mudflats & sandflats habitats are particularly...
	2.5.3 I note from the consultation response provided by Craig Lewis of Shared Regulatory Services on 12PthP January 2018 that he considers the air quality impacts on the Severn Estuary EMS to be significant.  Mr Lewis also notes that mitigation techno...
	7.  References




	8 Applications decided by Delegated Powers - May 2018

